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INTRODUCTION.

PRECIS-WRITING AND INDEXING.

THE heads of large departments under Government have seldom
time to read through the multitudinous correspondence with the
office over which they preside ; and a clerk who can summarize
a series of letters on any particular subject, bringing out the
important points prominently, renders valuable services to his
superior officer. -In most offices, instead of referring from day
to day to the original correspondence on a particular subject, an
Index is compiled, and a summary of the contents of the various
letters entered briefly in a book kept for the purpose, the originals
being referred to only in cases of more than ordinary importance.
The merits of such an exercise depend ¢ very much on a correct
appreciation of the relative importance of the different parts.”
The “ instructions” given to candidates are so specific that the
following remarks are almost unnecessary—(1). In making a
Précis, all ornament in language should be avoided. (2). All
unnecessary words and phrases should be omitted. (3). The
narrative should be brought within the shortest possible limits,
consistent with its containing the really important points of the
correspondence. ’
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The/first/ thing ‘the ‘pupil should do is to clearly disti
between a Schedule and a Précis. A Schedule, Docket, or Index
is merely the arrangement of letters in regular order, according
to date, giving clearly and distinctly the substance of each with
the utmost brevity. A Précis is a relation of certain circum-
stances, which have occurred, in the form of a narrative, giving,
with great conciseness, the important particulars only. It is
exactly the opposite exercise to that of writing letters from brief
notes. The very best /ndexing is found in the Parliamentary
papers published by the Foreign Office, where the letters are
arranged with admirable clearness and conciseness.

INDEXING.

The following letters have been copied from the Fifteenth Re-
port of the Civil Service Commissioners recently issued : —

The Secretary Qffice of Works to the Secretary Civil Service
Commission.

Office of Works, 8th April, 1870.

Sm,——I am directed by the First Commissioner of Her Ma-
jesty’s Works, &c., to acquaint you, for the information of the
Civil Service Commissioners, that, with the view of appointing to
a newly created post of an assistant surveyor of works in this de-
partment, the person best qualified to discharge the duties which
will devolve upon him, it is proposed to submit to a competitive
examination certain candidates for the appointment. He will
be obliged to the Civil Service Commissioners if they will be
good enough, therefore, to make arrangements for the examina-
tion of such persons as may be sent to them for the purpose;
and, after such examination, if they will report whether any of
the candidates have successfully passed through it, and, if so,
which of them has acquitted himself most to the satisfaction of
the examiners.

The duties of an assistant surveyor of works, &c., comprise:—

1. The preparation of drawings and specifications for new
buildings, and for the alteration and maintenance of existing
buildings in use, or proposed to be used, for the public service.

2. The preparation of estimates in detail, of the cost of such .
~orks, and the superintendence of their execution.

", The examination for the purpose of certifying of trades-

s accounts for works performed under his direction.
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The First Commissioner will be obliged to the Civil Service
Commissioners if they will have the goodness to inform him
when they will be able to examine the candidates to be sent to
them.

I am, &c.,

The Secretary Civil Service Commission to the Secretary Office

of Works.
11th April, 1870.

Sir,—I am directed by the Civil Service Commissioners to
acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 8th instant, relative
to the situation of Assistant Surveyor of Works &c., under the
the Office of Works.

And in reply I am to acquaint you for the information of the
First Commissioner of Her Majesty’s Works, &c., that the
Commissioners will readily undertake the conduct of the ex-
amination therein referred to in the manner proposed, and that
if the names and addresses of the candidates can be communi-
cated to them not later than the 26th instant, they will be pre-
pated to commence the examination on Tuesday the 3rd May.

I have, &e.

The Secretary Civil Service Commission to the Secrelary Ofice
of Works.
30th April, 1870.

S1r,—With reference to your letter of the 8th instant, and
subsequent correspondence relative to the examination of can-
didates for the post of Assistant Surveyor of Works.

I am directed by the Civil Service Commissioners to request
that you will oblige them by informing me whether they are
right in understanding that it is not the wish of the First Com-
missioner of Works, &c., that they should make inquiries such
as are instituted in ordinary cases, as to the age, health, or
character of the candidates.

I have, &ec.

The Secretary Qffice of Works to the Secretary Civil Service
Commission.
Office of Works, &c., 2nd May, 1870.
81r,—1 am directed by the First Commissioner of Her
Majesty’s Works, &c., to acknowledge the receipt of Mr. Wal-
rond’s letter of the 30th ultimo, relative to the examination of
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candidates’ for the postof Assistant Surveyor of Works, &c.,
and to inform you in reply that the First Commissioner will be
obliged by the Civil Service ‘Commissioners making the in-
quiries usually instituted in ordinary cases, as to the age, health,
or character of a candidate for appointment.

I have, &c.

.’17:c Secretary Office of Works to the Secretary Civil Service
Commission.

Office of Works, &ec., 6th May, 1870.

Sir,—I am directed by the First Commissioner of Her Ma-
jesty’s Works, &c., to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 2nd instant, in reference to the age of candidates for the ap-
pointment of Assistant Surveyor of Works, &c., and to in-
form you in reply that the First Commissioner does not pro-
pose to fix any limit of age in the case of the candidates now
under examination by the Civil Service Commissioners ; but the
limits will be determined in the event of & fature examination

or a similar appointment. A
’ I have, &c.

The Secretary Civil Service Commission to the Secretary
Office of Works.
17th May, 1870.

Sir,—With reference to your letter of the 8th ultimo, and sub-
sequent correspondence, I am directed by the Civil Service
Commissioners to transmit for the information of the First
Commissioner of Works, &c., a table of marks, showing the re-
sult of the examination which they have held.

The Commissioners regret that they are unable to report any
one of the candidates as having passed the examination success-
fully, each having shown himself deficient in some one or more
of the qualifications specified in your letter.

Under these circumstances, the Commissioners will assume,
unless otherwise informed, that it is not the wish of the First
Commissioner that they should proceed to make further in-
quiry as to the health or character of these gentlemen.

I have, &c.
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INDEXING OR DOCKETING.

Recent Indexing or Docketing has taken the following form —

No. Date. C pondent. Subst of Communication.
1 8th April, Sec. Office of Requesﬁng that arrange-
1870. Works to Sec. ment be made for exami-
Civil Service nation of candidates for an
Commission. assistant surveyorship of
works, and stating the
qualifications necessary.
2 11th April, | Sec.CivilService | Stating that the Civil Ser-
1870. Commission to vice Commissioners will be
Sec. Office of ready to examine the can-
Works, didates on 3rd May.
3 30th April, | Sec.CivilService | Asking whether the Civil
1870. Commission to Service Commissioners are
Sec. Office of to inquire as to the age,
Works, health, &c., of the candi-
dates.
4 2nd May, Sec. Office of | Requesting the usual in-
1870. Works to Sec. quiries to be made.
Civil Service
Commission.
5 6th May, Same Stating that no limit of age
1870. to Same. will be fixed for present
candidates.
6 17th May, Sec.Civil Service | Stating that none of the can-
1870. Commission to didates are qualified in all

Sec. Office of
Works.

of the specified subjects.
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INDEXING BY THE FOREIGN OFFICE.

The following is a specimen of the manner in whkick a schedule of
the exercise, page 187, has been written —

Noinl From whom. | Date and No. SUBJECT.

1 | Governor Sir | 15th  July, | Encloses letter from Mr. Carmichael
Harry Ord | 1868. & others—also a Petition drawn
to theDuke | (No.145.) | up by those gentlemen, in pursu-
of Buck-| Extract. ance of certain Resolutions passed
ingham & at a Public Meeting, praying that
Chandos. measures may be taken to secure

the complete Judical Indepen-

dence which the Petitioners en-

joyed under the Government of

India, & a copy of the Governor’s
. reply.

2 | The Duke of | 21st Sept., | Inreply to theabove Depatch Ilof
Bucking-| 1868 opinion thatthealterations which
ham and| (No. 197).| are indicated by the Memorialists
Chandos to, would not be forthe publicinterest
Governor
Sir Harry
Ord.

8 | Memoran-| - - On the subject of the Removal of
dum by Sir Colonial Judges. - - -
Frederic
Rogers,
bart.

4 |Memoran-| - - With reference to the practice of the
dem - Privy Council in the Removal of

Colonial Judges, with Observa-
tions by Lord Chelmsford, and
Opinionsofthe Right Hon Stephen
Lushington and the Right Hon.
Sir Edward Ryan on the subject.

5 | Petitiontothe [ 3rd January, | Praying that their Judges may be
Jords Spi- | 1870. restored to that position of inde-
ritual and pendence which they held under
Temporal, the Government of India. -
from Land-
owners,

Merchants,
and others,
Inbabitants
of Singa-

pore.

Page.

187

190

193

197

204
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DicesTiING RETURNS INTO SUMMARIES,

Digesting returns consisted, in the Open Competitive Exami-
nation of 1871, of drawing a ruled tabular form of which a
specimen was given, and arranging in alphabetical order the
names of several districts and sub-districts in India, with their
respective expenses incurred by the civil officers, and other state
outlay, &c., and bringing the total of all the columns into the last
or “total” column.

The candidate requires to read the instructions given very
carefully before commencing to write.

From the preceding examples in forming an Index or Schedule
together with the specimen given at page 19, the student will be
able in a very short time to perform this exercise to the satisfac-
tion of the Examiners. In the more difficult exercise of writing
a Précis the Schedulewill give considerable assistance if judiciously
employed for that purpose. If, however, the Narrative be com-
piled from the Index alone, it will be too meagre, and many im-
portant points will not receive a sufficient amount of prominence.

With respect to the ¢ Directions” given on page 8, it is
necessary to caution candidates against following them to the
letter, particularly where they are recommended in the first place
to read through all the correspondence. It has been our un-
varying custom to /7dex the letters on the first perusal.

Great difficulty is often experienced in trying to obtain the
actual Government official papers which are given to the candi-
dates, most of them being out of print.
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The following directions are placed in the hands of the Can-
didates, along with the Correspondence of which a Précis is re-
quired :—

Having read the accompanying Correspondence—

1. Make a short Abstract, Schedule, or Docket of the several
latters.

2. Draw up a Memorandum or Précis, i.e., a brief and clcar
statement of what passed, not letter by letter, but in the form
of a narrative.

' DIRECTIONS.

(1) The object of the Abstract, Schedule, or Docket is to serve
as an Index. It should contain the date of each letter ; the
names of the persons by whom and to whom it is written;
and, in as a few words as possible, the subject of it. The
merits of such an Abstract are (1) to give the really important
point or points of each letter, omitting everything else ; (2)
to do this briefly ; (3) distinctly ; and (4) in such a form as
readily to catch the eye.

(2) The object of the Memorandum or Précis, which should be
in the form of a narrative, is, that any one who had not time
to read the original letters might, by reading the Précis. be
put in possession of all the leading features of what passed.
The merits of such a Précis are—(1) to contain all that is im-
portant in the Correspondence, and nothing that is unim-
portant ; (2) to present this in a consecutive and readable shape,
expressed as distinctly as possible ; (3) to be as brief as is
compatible with completeness and distinctness.

You are recommended to read the whole Correspondence
through carefully before beginning to write, as the goodness both
of the Abstract and of the Précis will depend very much on a cor-
rect appreciation of the relative importance of the different parts.
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Brevity should bs particularly etudied,
The Abstract should occupy one page only, or two at the most.
The Précis about two pages, or three at the most, of ordinary

handwriting.

Time allowed, 3 hours.

Copy “of Correspondence between the Office of Public Works
and Mr. E. M. Barry, relative to the New Roof of the
House of Commons.”

1) Mr. E. M. Barry to Mr. Alfred Austin.
21, Abingdon-street, S W.,
29 April 1865.

Sir,—In accordance with the instructions of the First Com-
missioner of Her Majesty’s Works. &c., I have communicated
with Dr. Percy, and hgve carefully examined with him the roof
over the House of Commons, to ascertain -whether the wooden
fittings placed in the roof are secure from risk:of fire.

The roof of the House of Commons- ig. wholly eonstructed of
incombustible materials, and the question of danger can there-
fore only apply to the wooden fittings which have been placed in
the roof since its completion by those entrustéd with the ventila-
tion aund lighting of the House, without any architectural gupervi-
sion. The fittings consist of handrails, bridges, partitions; steps,
and air tubes ; and, as the temperature of the roof is very. high in,
consequence of the mode adopted for lighting the House, ‘there
is no doubt that the whole of the fittings are in a state highly
favourable for ignition in the event of any accidental circum-
stances taking place. The same remark applies to the ribs of
Tlhée ceiling of the House which are in close proximity to the gas

ights. ‘

I advise that the whole of the fittings be removed and re-
placed (as far as they are required for use by Dr. Percy) by
others of incombustible materials ; and I also recommend that
the edges and exposed surfaces of the upper parts of the ribs of
the. ceiling should be protected by a metal covering.—I am, &¢.

Alfred Austin, Esq. (signed) Epwarp M. BarrY.
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2) M. Alfred Austin to Dr. Percy, F.R.S.
Office of Works, &c., 3 May, 1865,

Sir,—T am'directed bythe First Commissioner of Her Majesty’s
‘Works, &c., to send you herewith a copy of a letter dated the
29th ultimo, received by him from Mr. E. M. Barry, respecting
the risk of fire to the fittings over the roof of the House of
Commons, and to inform you that he has requested Mr. Barry
to put himself into communication with you as to the fittings
that will be required in future, and to furnish him with an esti-
mate of the cost of the works recommended by him.—I am, &e.,

Dr. Percy, F.R.5. (signed) ALFRED AuUsTIN, Secretary.

3) Mr. Alfred Austin o Mr. E. M. Barry.
Oi‘ﬁce'of ‘Works, &c., 3 May, 1865.

-Sir,—The First Commissioner of Her Majesty’s Works, &e.,
has had before him your letter of the 29th ultimo, respecting
“the risk of fire to the wooden fittings in the roof over the House
of Commons, and recommending that the whole of the fittings
should be removed and replaced (as far ys they are required for
use by Dr. Percy) by others of incombustible materials, and also
that the edges and exposed surfaces of the upper parts of the
ceiling of the House of Commons should be protected by a
metal covering ; and I am directed by him to request that you
will put yourself into communication with Dr. Percy as to the
fittings that will be required in future, and furnish the First
Commissioner with an estimate of the cost of the works recom-
mended by you.—I am, &c.

" E.M. Barry, Esq.  (signed) ALrrep AustiN, Secretary.

4) Mr. E. M. Barry to My. Alfred Austin.
21, Abingdon-street, 20 May, 1865.

S1r,—In accordance with your letter of the 3rd.instant, I
have to report thatI have placed myself in communication with
-Dr. Percy, and obtained information from him as to the fittings
that will be required for the future in the roof of the House of
,Cfoixinmons for the effectual ventilation of the House without risk
of fire,

The roof is at present encumbered by fittings placed there 2o
carry out modes of ventilation long since abandoned, and their
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Temoval or/ iodification will énable! Dr. Percy to carry out several
important improvements in the method of ventilation at present
‘in use. The changes and improvements which I recommend,
including an alteration of the gas burners under the galleries,
which Dr. Percy states are now much complained of, are de-
scribed in the specification which I enclose herewith for the in-
formation of the First Commissioner of Her Majesty’s Works,
.&c., and I estimate the cost of carrying them into effect at
£1,540, and consider that a period of five months will be ne-
cessary for their execution.—I am, &e.

Alfred Austin, Esq. (signed) Epwarp M. Barry.

Report on Alterations and Improvements proposed to be made
in the Ventilating Chanuels over the House of Commons.

Tte Ventilating Pipes for the Ceiling Burners.

These pipes are all collected into two main horizontal pipes
which are fixed in the upper portion of the roof. As there is
under them, and between them and the wooden ceiling, & floor of
tile and cement arches, I recommend that they be left undisturbed,
for I do not see that they could be rendered safer than they are
at present. But their mouths, which now open into the venti-
lating chamber over the lobby, should T think be connected more
directly with the ventilating shaft, so that its draught should be
always acting with certainty on them, and that the noxious pro-
ducts which they discharge should be carried into the shaft
wigout inconveniencing the attendants in the ventilating chan-
ne

The Partitions for forming Ventilating Channels in the Roof.

At present these partitions are somewhat complex in their ar-
rangement, because they were erected in order to provide cham-
bers of ingress for fresh air to the ceiling, as well as for egress of
vitiated air from it. Moreover they are of lath and plaster, and
no doubt their woodwork is very dry and combustible. I re-
commend that they be entirely removed, and that a single cen-
tral channel for discharge of vitiated air be formed in lieu of the
¢omplex channels now existing. In order to form this channel
I-ghould advise that casings of sheet iron be ‘fixed to "the slop-
ing ties of the iron roof, rivetting those sheets together at the
joints, and geturing them together in their places by hook bolta
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to the principals, providing such stiffening ribs as may be neces-
sary to'make ‘them firm, -and to retain their shape. The outer
portions of the roof chamber are already floored with tile and ce-
ment, and the sheet-iron casing being made good to this flooring,
the whole of the necessary channels would be formed without
any combustible materials. )

Stairs, Gangways, and Valves in Roof.

At present these are of wood, and therefore liable to the same
objections as the partitions. I should advise that they be entirely
removed, that the gangways should be formed of light iron gra-
tings, with handrails of iron tube, that the stairs for giving
access to different levels be light iron ladders, and that the valves
be of sheet iron stiffened ribs.

Passage from Roof of House to Ventilating Skaft.

At present the vitiated air has to rise from its channel in the
roof into a chamber above the lobby, thence it descends to the
base of ventilating shaft which is situated on the floor below.
The vitiated air from the ventilating shaft of the refreshment
rooms has to follow the same course, and the channels are thus
very tortuous and unfavourable to direct ventilation.

I advise that the apartment over the lobby, now used as a gas
fitter’s shop, which is level with the base of the shaft, should
be divided by partitions so as to form channels direct to the shaft.
These partitions might be built of half brick in cement on the ex-
isting fire-proof arches over the lobby.

In order to effect the communication from the roof of the
house to this chamber it would be necessary to remove the two
walls which at present exist. These walls support nothing, as
they terminate at the floor of the present ventilating channels,
and might therefore be removed without prejudice fo the sta-
bility of the building.

Woodwork of Ceiling.

A large extent of wood surface is presented in the ventilating
chambers, and it might be a question whether something could
+ bedone to render it safe from fire. If the fire originated below
the ceiling it is evident that no protecting material above it would
be of any avail, It is, therefore, only against the risk of fire
originating above, that is to say, in the ventilating channels,
that any protection should be sought, and I should therefore,
recommend the covering of these surfaces with thin lead. This,
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without /adding much) weight, would, at all events, guard against
ignition from the dropping of a lighted match or wick, and I do
not see any other probable cause of accidental ignition. Against
wilful incendiarism it is, of course, needless to provide, nor per-
haps is it possible to do 8o unlesa a metal ceiling were substituted
for the present wooden one, .

The Gas Burners under the Side Galleries

At present the products of combustion from these burners
are collected in an iron pipe, laid horizontally under one of the
seats, and communicating with an ascending flue in the wall,
whence they are conducted by an iron pipe into the main pi
in the roof, which serve to ventilate the ceiling burners. ’Ig:
horizontal pipe under the gallery seat becomes so hot that it ren-
ders the seat above it uncomfortably warm. It is of course sub-
ject to the corrosive effects of the carbonic acid and water de-
veloped from the burners, and may, even without leaking, be
worn so thin in some places, that the slightest pressure would
cause it to open. On one occasion, from deficient draught, there
was an accumulation of gas about this pipe, or some of the tubes
connected with it, which caused a slight explosion, and, in order
to secure a draught, a set of burners have been provided in the
ascending portion of the pipe. It is quite possible that gas
might again accumulate in the pipe, and that an explosion might
burst it open. The inflamed gas might thus be spread under
the seats of the galleries, at the imminent risk of setting them
on fire. An earthenware pipe, set within a brick drain, would
better effect the purpose, so far as avoiding the disagreeable
effects of heat in the galleries. But should the accident of an
explosion occur this would be anything but safe as against fire.
Considering the smallness of the burners in question, and that
the products of their combustion are developed above the heads
of the Members, I would strongly advise that their ventilating
pipes should be entirely dispensed with, that the gas should be
burned open, and each burner should have. a tail or other suit-
able deflector, to prevent the smoke from blackening the cove of
‘the gallery. The products of combustion would at once ascend
and mingle with the vitiated atmosphere in the upper part of

_ the House, and would be rapidly withdrawn by the main ven-
_tilating channels, ,
29 May, 1865. Epwarp M. Bagry,
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\5) Zhe First Commissioner.of Works to the Lords Commissioners
: of the Treasury.

Office of Works, &c., 8 August, 1865.

My Lorps,—I have discovered thatl above the ceiling of the
House of Commons there are wooden fittings in too close prox-
imity to the gas lamps, and as wood becomes very inflammable
after a long exposure to a high temperature, I consider the sub-
stitution of metal for wood a necessary precaution against fire.

My attention was not directed to this circumstance until after

. the estimates of the current year had been voted, and conse-
quently the expenditure requisite for this alteration was not in-
serted in them. The required works will interfere with the use
of the apparatus for warming and ventilating the House of
Commons during the period of their execution, and that period
may possibly last for five months.- As these works are of great
urgency and importance, I request your Lordships’ authority to
execute them forthwith, and to defray the cost, viz, £1,500,
out of the Vote for the Houses of Parliament, or in the event
of that vote not proving sufficient for the purpose, out of an ad-
vance from Civil Contingencies, to be repaid out of the Vote
for the Houses of Parliament next year.—I am, &c.

(signed) W. Cowpkr.
The Right Honourable the Lords Commissioners
of Her Majesty’s Treasury.

(6) Mr. Alfred Austinto My. E. M. Barry,
Office of Works, &o., 10 August, 1865.

Sir,—With reference to your letter of the 29th May last, re-
specting the fittings required for the future in the roof of the
House of Commons, for the effectual ventilation of the House,
without risk of fire, I am directed by the First Commissioner of
Her Majesty’s Works, &c., to request that you will procure an
estimate for the work upon which the Board may rely, and sub-

it the same to them as soon as possible.—I am, &c.

E. M. Barry, Esq. (signed) ALPRED AUSTIN, Secretary.

(7) Mr. G. A. Hamilton to the First Commissioner of Works.
Treasury Chambers, 11 August, 1865..

Sir,—With reference to your report of the 8th inst., request-
ing authority to replace certain wooden fittings in the ceiling of
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the-Houss of ‘Commons by metal ones, I am directed by the
Lords Commissioners) of (Her (Majesty’s Treasury to authorise
you to execute this work forthwith, and to defray the cost, viz,,
£1,450, out of the Vote for the Houses of Parliament.

. I am, &c.

: (signed) G. A. Hammutow,
- The First Commissioner of Works. '

). Mr. E. M. Barry to Mr. Alfred Austin.
21, Abingdon-street, S.W., 14 August, 1865.

Sir,—In réply to your letter of the 10th inst., referring to
the work proposed to be done in the roof of the House of Com-
mons, and requesting me to procure an estimate for the same on
which the Board can rely, I have the honour to enclose a ten- -
der from Mr. John Imray, engineer, for carrying out the work
according to the specification forwarded to you in my letter of
the 29th May last, for the sum of £1,400. Mr. Imray is a very
competent engineer, and, from his former connection with the
late Dr. Reid, is conversant with the general character of ven-
tilation arrangements, and with those of the New Palace at
‘Westminster in particular. v

-1 should therefore recommend the acceptance of Mr. Imray’s
tender, which is £140 less than any estimate, as stated in my

letter of the 29th May,—I am, &c.
A. Austin, Esq, (rigned) Epwarp M. Bagmrv.
(Enslosure.)

190, Westminster Bridge-road, 11 August, 1865.
Sir,—1I offer to execute the works required for the House of
Commons according to the specification prepared by you, and
under your superintendence, and to your satisfaction, and to
complete the same in four months for the sum of £1,400.

Yours, &e.
E. M. Barry, Esq. (signed) Jonn ImraY, Engineer.
(ﬁ) Mr. Alfred Austin to My. Jokn Imray.

Office of Works, &c., 16 August, 1865.

S1e,—Mt. E. M. Barry having forwarded to the First Com-
missioner of Her Majesty’s Works, &c., your letter to him of
the 11h instant, offering to execute certain works in the roof
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of the House of Commons, according to the specification pre-
pared by/Mr./Barry, (andunder his superintendence, and to his
satisfaction, for the sum of £1,400, and to complete the same in
four months, I am directed by the First Commissioner to inform.
you that upon your signing the specification and plans, if any,
the Board will accept that offer, and request that you will com-
municate with Mr. Barry, with whom the specification, &e., are.
I am, &c.

Mzr. John Imray. (signed) ALFRED AUSTIN, Secretary.

(10) Myr. Aifred Austin to Mr. E. M. Barry.
Office of Works, &c.,"16 August, 1865.

Sir,—I am directed by the First Commissioner of Her Ma-
jesty's Works, &c., to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 14th instant, enclosing one addressed to you by Mr. Imray,
offering to execute the works proposed to be done in the roof of
the House of Commons within four months, for the sum of
£1,400, of which offer you recommend the acceptance; and I
am to inform you that the Board have this day written to Mr.
Imray, informing him that upon his signing the specification
and plans (if any) they will accept his tender. In signing the
specification, &c., it should be stated that they are those refer-
red to in his tender.

The First Commissioner is anxious that the work should be
proceeded with immediately, and completed within four months,

I am, &c.

E. M. Barry, Esq. (signed) AvLFRED AUsTIN, Secretary.

(11) Mr. E. M. Barry to Mr. Alfred Austin.
] 21, Abingdon-street, 17 August, 1865.

Sr,—TI have to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the
16th instant, informing me that the First Commissioner of Her-
Majesty’s Works has accepted Mr. Imray’s tender to execute the
works proposed to be done in the roof of the House of Commons
for £1,400. I shall feel obliged if you will send me the speci-
fication which was contained in my letter of 29th May, 1865, in-
order that I may obtain Mr, Imray’s signature to the same, and
return it to you. Owing to the peculiar nature of the works,
and the necessity for constant supervision during their progress,
I consider it will be necessary to secure the services of a clerk
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of works, who|shall devote his;whole time to the work ; and
T have therefore to request the authority of the First Commis-
sioner to engage a clerk of works for that purpose, at a salary
not exceeding three guineas a week.—I am, &o.,

Alfred Austin, Esq. (signed) Epwarp M. Barry.

{12) Mr. Alfred Austin to Mr. E. M. Barry.
Office of Works, &c., 18 August, 1865,

Sir,—In compliance with the request made in your letter of
yesterday’s date, I am directed by the First Commissioner of Her
Majesty’s Works, &c., to return to you herewith the specifica-
tion of works in the roof of the House of Commons, which ac-
companied your letter of the 29th May last.

I am also to authorise you to engage a clerk of works to
superintend the works under you at a salary not exceeding
£3 3s. per week, as recommended by you.—I am, &c.

E. M. Barry, Esq. (signed) AvLFRED AuUsTIN, Sec.

{13)  My. E. M. Barry to Mr. Alfred Austin.
21, Abingdon-street, 22 August, 1865.

Str,—T herewith return to you the specification of works in
the roof of the House of Commons, which has been signed by
Mr. Imray. I have directed Mr. Imray to proceed at once with
the works, and have appointed Mr. J. Pullin, the clerk of
works, at a salary of £3 3s. per week, from Monday, the 28th
instant.—I am, &ec.

Alfred Austin, Esq. (signed) Epwarp M. Barry.

(14) Mr. Alfred Austin to Mr. Jokn Imray.
‘ Office of Works, &c., 23 August, 1865.

Str,—With reference to the Board’s letter to you of the 16th
instant, I am directed by the First Commissioner of Her Ma-
Jjesty’s Works, &c., to inform you that he has received from Mr.
E. M. Barry the specification for the works in the House of
Commons’ roof signed by you, and that the Board accordingly
accept your tender to execute the works for the sum of £1,400,
and to complete the same within four months, and I am to' re-
quest that you will proceed with it under Mr. Barry’s superin-
tendence.—I am, &c.

Mr. John Imray. (signed) ALPRED AUSTIN, Secrelary.
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{15) Mr. E. M. Barry to Mr. Alfred Austin.
21, Abingdon-street, 23 December, 1865.

Sir,—T have to report to the First Commissioner of Her
Majesty’s Works, &c., the completion of the works in the roof
of the House of Commons ordered by your letter of the 16th
August, 1865, to be done for a sum of £1,400.

I made a final inspection of the works on Wednesday last,
when Dr. Percy, by my invitation, accompanied me, and I am
authorized to say that he is quite satisfied with all that has been
done, and agrees with me in thinking that the improvements
that have been made in the various air-channels and ventilating
arrangements will have a beneficial effect on the general charac-
ter of the ventilation of the House of Commons. I enclose Mr.
Imray's account for £1,400, on which there are no extras, and
my certificate for payment of the same. I also forward the ac-
count of Mr. Pullin, the clerk of works, and a memorandum of
my professional charge in respect of the work.—I am, &e.

Alfred Austin, Esq. (signed) Epwarp M. Barry.

‘When the Letters are very long it is often difficult to express
in a few words the substance of each; as a general rule the last
paragraph or last but one contains the substance of the letter.
Sometimes it will be necessary to look at the reply before the
Ingex of the previous letter is written out.

We Index the above Correspondence in the following manner—-
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SCHEDULE OR INDEX.

Correspondents and Date of
Letters.

Substance of Communication.

L Mr. E. M. Barry
to Mr. Alfred Austin,
29th April, 1865.

Referring to the inflammable nature of the fittings.
of the roof of the House of Commons, and suggest-
ing their removal.

II. Mr. Alfred Austin
to Dr. Pel:.cey,
8rd May, 1865.

Stating that Mr. Barry has been asked to com-
municate with him in reference to the above, and
enclosing copy of Mr. Barry’s lettter.

11I. Mr. Alfred Austin
to Mr. E. M. Barry,
8rd May, 1865.

Requesting him to communicate with Dr. Percy,
and to furnish an estimate of the works required.

IV. Mr. E. M. Barry
to Mr. Alfred Austin,
29th May, 1865.

Explaining fally the proposed alterations, and
fnmi&ing an estimate of the expense.

V. Mr. W. Cowper Requesting permission to execute the works, the-
to the Lords of the Treasury, | expense not having been included in the Annual
8th August, 1865. Parliamentary Estimates.
VI. Mr. Alfred Austin

to Mr. E. M. Buy,
10th August, 1865.

Asking for a reliable estimate.

VII. Mr. Hamilton

to Mr. Co A Authorizing him to execute the works.
11ith Au’gnst%s.
VIIL Mr. E. M. Recommending a tender from Mr.Imray, C.E.,
to Mr. Alfred Austin which he encloses,
14th August, 1865.
IX. Mr. Alfred Anstin | - ‘ '
to Mr, John Imra; Informing him that his tender has been accepted.
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of C

Correspondeénts and Date of o
Letters.

X. Mr. Alfred Anstin
to Mr. E. M. Barry, Stating that Mr. Imray’s offer had been accepted.
16th August, 1855. .

XI. Mr. E. M. Barry Requesting his specification to be returned; and
to Mr. Alfred- Austin, |asking for authority to engage a clerk of works.
17th August, 1865.

XII. Mr. Alfred Austin | Returning specification and suthorizing him to
to Mr. E M. Barry, |engage a clerk of works.
18th August, 1865.

XIII. Mr.E. M. Barry | Enclosing specification signed by Mr. Imray ; and
to Mr. Alfred Austin, [stating a clerk of works has been appointed.
22nd August, 1865.

X1V. Mr. Alfred Austin | Tender accepted. Requesting him to proceed with
to Mr. John Imray, |the works under Mr. Barry’s superintendence.
23rd August, 1865.

XV. Mr. E. M.
to Mr. Alfred Austia, Reporting completion of the works.*
23rd December, 1865.

* Many prefer the following form of Index—

No Place and Date. Correspondent: Sub of C
1. | 21. Abingdon-street, S.W,,| Mr. E. M. Barry Suggesting the removal
20th April, 1865. | to Mr. Alfred Austin, jof the ﬁttings of the roof
of the Hounse of Commons,
which are much expowi
to risk from fire.
2. Office of Works, Mr. Alfred Austin Informing him that Mr,
8rd May, 1865. to Dr. Percy.  |Barry has been requested
to communicate with him ;
and enclosing copy of Mr.

Barry’s letter.
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PRECIS, OF i THE| PREVIOUS CORRESPONDENCE.

After the completion of the ventilation of the roof of the
House of Commons it was found to be liable to great risk in
consequence of the inflammable nature of the fittings. Mr. E,
M. Barry at the request of the First Commissioner of Works,
having examined the roof, recommended the removal of the
wooden fittings and their being replaced by others of incombus-
tible materials. Dr. Percy was consulted as to the best means
of effecting this object ; Mr. Barry estimated the cost at £1,450,
and gave a specification of the proposed alterations. Mr. Cowper
(Board of Works) asked the sanction of the Treasury to proceed
with the works ; and Mr. Barry having been asked for a reliable
estimate recommended that of Mr. Imray, C.E., which was a
tender to execute the works in four months for £1,400. This
tender having been accepted by the Board of Works and speci-
fication signed by Mr. Imray, Mr. Barry, with the sanction of the
Board, appointed a clerk of works, at a salary of £3 3s. per week,
and by their directions superintended the whole. In four months
Mr. Barry reported the completion of the works to the entire
satisfaction of Dr. Percy, and enclosed the accounts of the
attendant expenses.

Some prefer the following method :—

L 29/4/65. Mr. Barry wrote to inform Mr. Austin that
he had examined the roof the House of Com-
mons, and considered incombustible fittings
should be substituted for those in use at pre-

. 3/5/65. sent. Dr. Percy was then consulted as to the
uL 29/5/65. best means of doing this, and Mr. Barry esti-
mated the cost at £1,450 ; at the same time

enclosing a report on the proposed alterations.

v. 29/5/65. Mr. Cowper then wrote to the Lords of the
i Treasury, as the expense of the works had not

v. 8/8/65. been included in the estimates, asking for

authority to execute them forthwith, and

VL. 10/8/65. Mr. Barry was requested to procure a reliable
vir. 11/8/65. estimate for the Board of Works. TheTreasury
vin. 14/8/65. having granted authority, Mr. Barry sent the
IX. 16/8/65. Board a tender from Mr. Imray, offering to ex-
ecute the works for £1,400 which the Board
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. X. 16/8/65.
x1. 17/8/65.
x11. 18/8/6s.
xI1L. 22/8/65.

xiv. 23/8/6s.

SCHEDULE OR INDEX,

gsaid they would accept, when he had signed the
specification and plans. Mr. Barry, having
been informed of this, asked for authority to
engage a clerk of works, which was granted.
Mr. Imray signed the specification, Mr. Pullin
was appointed clerk of works, and the tender
was finally accepted by the Board, which ordered
the works to be executed under Mr. Barry's

XV. 23/12/65. superintendence. In four months Mr. Barry

reported the completion of the works and en-
closed Mr. Tmray’s account.

‘We are satisfied that a careful read of the above narrative will
be sufficient to acquaint the head of any departmment in the public
service, or any person accustomed to official correspondence, with
the most important points referred to in the previous letters.
‘Writing such a Précis will be of considerable aid to the student
in acquiring a compact and lucid style of English Composition.




FIRST EXEROISE. 28
I.

Correspondence between Dr. Beke, Mr. Purday, Mr. Palgrave,
and the Foreign Office, referred to in the Letter from Dr.
Beke to Lord Clarendon, dated June 11, 1866.*

Time 3 hours.—See Instructions, page 8.

(4] The Earl of Clarendon to Colonel Staniton.
Foreign Office, January 18, 1866.

S1r,—A letter addressed by Dr. Beke to Mr. Purday, the
father-in-law of Mr. Stern, and dated from Cairo the 20th
ultimo, has been shown to a member of this Office, to whom

rmission was at the same time given to make such use of it
as he thought proper. :

In accordance with his duty, that officer immediately laid be-
fore me the following Minute in regard to the statements made
by Dr. Beke :—

The passages in Dr. Beke’s letter were as follow :

¢ Whilst awaiting the arrival of the Marseilles mail, now
overdue, I begin my letter for the steamer of next week by
acquainting you with the substance of a very curious conversa-
tion I have had this morning with Mr. Palgrave. He tells me
that he has seen the instructions given by the Foreign Office to
Mr. Rassam,t+ and that they are restricted to the release of Cap-
tain Cameron. He added, that if Rassam succeeded in bring-
ing away Cameron he would be quite content to leave the mis-
sionaries to their fate. Now if this be true, the Jews’ Society
and Lord Shaftesbury have been deceived by the Foreign Office.

“¢I do not see any harm in your communicating this to Mr.
"Goodhart (or Reichardt) if you think proper, especially as M.
Palgrave did not speak to me at all in confidence, and I believe
"he has told the same thing to others. How far he is to' be re-
Tied upon I will not pretend to say, but his communication ‘ap-
‘peared to be made bona fide.’

’ * Given by the Exuminers, 1868. ,
.# 8ee * Correspondence respecting Abyssinis, 1848 to 1888,” Inclotre in-No.
410, and No. 524,
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“ Dr. Beke then stated that Mr. Palgrave had told him that
Mr. Layard ‘and Mr."Rassam-had a personal dislike to Mr. Stern,
and he then went on to say :

¢ ¢ Before dismissing the subject of Mr. Palgrave, I must add
that he told me that when Earl Russell sent for him and de-
sired him to go out, he made it a condition (as is not unusual)
that he should draw up his own instructions. In these (he says)
he expressly provided for the liberation of all the captives ; and
in fact he made it a condition that all British subjects and all
persons under British protection should be at liberty to leave
the country. Palgrave added, that when he took these instruc-
tions into the Foreign Office to be put into an official form
Layard objected to them ; but that he, Palgrave, insisted on
them as having been approved by Earl Russell, and so carried
the day against the Under Secretary. . . . . :

¢ ¢ Palgrave tells me that he is being kept on here at £100 a
month, and he expects to remain till Lord Russell finds him
something else to do, as the two together have been placed in a
false position by Layard and Rassam., He says he has written
to several of hisfriends—the Editor of “ The Pall Mall Gazette ”
amongst the number, requesting them not to agitate the Abys-
sinian question, or if they do, not to bring his name up. He
does not wish to increase the difficulties of Government, but
he hinted rather significantly that under certain circumstances
(that is, if Lord Russell does not do something for him) he
might be & thorn in their side.’

¢ Dr. Beke then observes to Mr. Purday :

¢ ¢] think that before or soon after the meeting of Parlia-
ment, you or Captain Desborough might be able to inserve Lord
Chelmsford, Sir Hugh Cairns, or Mr. Whiteside, with some of
the particulars thue stated to you. I imagine it will not be
long before they bring the matter to the notice of both Houses.

¢ ¢There is still no news from Rassam, and I do not expect
he will ever do anything. Do not fear for me, I am far more
anxious than you or any one else can be that I should get on,
as the character of my mission and of myself are at stake.
« « o . Letthe Jews’ Society know the facts I have told
you about Rassam’s instructions, for their guidance. If they
choose to act on the knowledge well and good ; if not, it will
be their own fault.’ ” .

The statements thus made by Dr. Beke necessarily require

- immediate investigation, and I have to instruct you to call upon
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M-r. Palgrave for.an explanation in writing in regard to those
statements.~~I-am, &ec.

(signed) ' CLARENDON.

2 Mr. Purday to the Earl of Clarendon.—(Received
January 22.)*

January 22, 1866,

My Lorp,—Your Lordship having kindly promised to inform
me whether Mr. Rassam’s instructions include the release of the
missionaries in Abyssinia, and being anxions to know this fact
in consequence of Mrs. Stern’s anxiety on the subject, I have
taken the liberty to remind your Lordship of the promise given
to me about a fortnight since.

I have had other letters from Dr. Beke, who says that no
tidings have come to hand of either Mr. Rassam or the captives
up to the 6th instant at Suez.—I have, &c.

(signed) C. H. Purpav.

(3) Mr. Hammond to Mr. Purday.*

Foreign Office, January 22, 1866.

S1r,—I am directed by the Earl of Clarendon to acknowledge
the receipt of your letter of this day’s date;, inquiring whether
the instructions given to Mr. Rassam include the release of
the missionaries in Abyssinia, and I am to state to you in
reply, that Mr. Rassam was distinctly desired to ask for
the release of the missionaries; but inasmuch as Her Majesty’s
Government have no right to make authoritative demands on
foreign Powers in favour of any but British subjects, Mr. Ras-
gam was cautioned against making his request on behalf of for-
eigners in an authoritative manner, such as he would be entitled
to do on behalf of subjects of Her Majesty. As Mr. Rassam’s
general instructions,t however, enjoin him to see that all the
prisoners on whose account so much interest is necessarily ex-
cited are set free, Lord Clarendon cannot doubt that no exer-
tion will be spared by him to secure this object, the more
especially as Mr. Rassam was desired to present to King Theo-

* Laid before Parliament, 1867.
+ No. 410.
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dore a letter from the Queen,* in which Her Majesty graciously
expressed her expectation' that the King would dismiss Captain
Cameron, and any other Europeans who may desire it, from his
Court, and would afford them every assistance and protection on
their journey to the destination to which they desire to proceed.
Iam, &c:
(signed) E. Hammonp,

(4)  Colonel Stanton to the Earl of Clarendon (received
february 13.)

Cairo, February, 1866.

My Lorp,—I have the honour to report to your Lordship
that I have communicated to Mr. Palgrave your Lordship’s de-
spatch of the 18th Januaryt on the subject of the statements
made by Dr. Beke in his letter to Mr. Purday, and I beg to for-
ward herewith Mr. Palgrave’s explanation in regard to those
statements.

Mr. Palgrave, as your Lordship will perceive, gives the most
unqualified denial to most of Dr. Beke’s assertions and his ex-
planations as to the remainder will, I trust, exonerate him in
your Lordship’s estimation from everything except great impru-
dence in conversing with a stranger on such subjects,

I have, &ec.
(signed) Epwp. STANTON.

Inclosure} in No. 4.
Mr. Palgrave to Colonel Stanton.
Cairo, January 31, 1866.
Sir,—With reference to a despatch, dated from the Foreign
Office, 18th January 1866,+ and forwarded by yourself to me,
I have the honour to give the following explanation :—

The subject of the despatch alluded to are certain statements
communicated by Dr. Beke to Mr. Purday, and through him

ﬁ‘ See1 ¢* Correspondence respecting Abyssinia, 1846 to 1848,” Inclosure in
0. 451.
t No. 1.

} Great judgment is often needed in treating of inclosures, Tt is usual merely to
refer to them in the INDEX; but in the PrECIS very often they require as much
prominence as the letters which accompany them.
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laid before an officer)of the) Foreign Office, statements chiefly -
relative to a conversation purported by Dr. Beke to have taken
place between myself and him here in Cairo.

Before, however, noticing Dr. Beke’s allegations one by one,
I beg leave first of all to express my regret, and to apologize for
my own indiscretion in having had any communication soever,
especially on serious topics, with an individual regarding whose
‘position, character, and intentions I was at the time compara-
tively uninformed. As it was, Dr. Beke, whom I had never
seen before and little heard of, sought out my acquaintance by
the ordinary means current in society, and I unadvisedly granted
it. T admit my imprudence, and condemn it. .

I will now make the necessary remarks on the special points
of conversation as they stand reported by Dr. Beke, and to
which he has given prominence in his letter to Mr. Purday, and
in doing this I pledge my honour as a gentleman not to overstep
the precise limits of my memory.

1. Dr. Beke says, “Mr. Palgrave tells me that he has seen
the instructions given by the Foreign Office to Mr. Rassam, and
that they are restricted to the release of Captain Cameron.”

This is not true, for I did not tell him so. What I said was
as follows. On Dr. Beke's inquiries as to what was to be done
by Mr. Rassam regarding the missionaries in particular. I an-
swered that, to my certain knowledge, he (Mr. Rassam) was to,
and would, demand their release ; that the first and most im-
perative stress was naturally to be laid on the release of Captain
Cameron for reasons self-evident, but that Government re-
quired also the release of all other captives, whether missionaries
or not.

I may add that in saying this I did not imagine that I was
revealing any secret in the form and tenor of Government in-
structions, or any new thing, nor could I well anticipate Dr.
Beke’s constructions.

2. “ He added, that if Rassam succeeded in bringing away
Cameron he would be quite content to leave the missionaries to
their fate.”

Not T, added this, but Dr, Beke ; he is quoting his own
“words instead of mine,

Mine were thus : I expressed (imprudently, I admit) a fear
lest the length of time involved in Mr. Rassam’s movements and
correspondence should bring risk of illness or death to those of
the prisoners who seem to have been specially ill-treated, viz,
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Dr. Stern and his companions, and added, that in case of their
having'diéd or'beén .put/ to death, Cameron would still be, if he
remained alive, as might be hoped, demanded and brought off,
though alone. My grounds in thinking delay less dangerous for-
Captain Cameron than for the missionaries were, that he was
the more distinguished character, and hence less likely to be
wantonly misused.

But I absolutely deny having said that Mr. Rassam would be
content with such a half result ; and I know that on Dr. Beke’s
subjoining something to that tenor, I said, or certainly implied
saying, exactly the reverse.

3. “I do not see any harm in your communicating this to Mr.
Goodhart (or Reichard® if you think proper, especially as Mr.
Palgrave did not speak to me at all in confidence, and I believe
he has told the same thing to others. How far he is to berelied
on I will not pretend to say, but his communications appeared
to me to be made bona fide.”

That I did not speak to Dr. Beke “ in confidence ” means that,
supposing him, on the one hand, to be a gentleman, and, on
the other, not imagining that I was making him any revelations
for him to communicate,” I neglected to swear him in to
silence, or even to mention truth, honour, and the like. I ack-
nowledge my mistake. I had not calculated on gratuitous mis-
statements, nor had I any idea of talking with him otherwise
than “bona fide,” i.e., as one gentleman talks with what he sup-

es to be another.

Dr. Beke’s belief that I have ¢ told the same thing to others ”
is as unfounded as anything else he may choose to believe.
Neither to him nor to any others did I ever make the statements
he ascribes to me in his letter.

4. “ Dr. Beke then states that Mr. Palgrave told him that
glr. l;aya.rd and Mr, Rassam had a personal dislike to Mr.

tern.”

Partly false and partly distorted, Simply false in what re-
gards Mr. Rassam, of whom I never said any such thing, or
anything capable of implying it, however indirectly,

Distorted in what regards Mr. Layard. While talking over
past events, wholly disconnected from the present Abyssinian
business, I alluded to the circumstance of Mr. Layard having
formerly met and become acquainted with Mr. Stern in Mosoul,
I believe, a circumstance generally known, and to which no spe-
- cial idea of *personal” dislike on either side could attach, cer-

-tainly not in my mind or expressions.
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. But I did say.that Mr. Layard might then have had an oppor-
tunity of ‘appreciating’ Mr. Stern’s character and line of action,
and consequently of judging how far Mr. Stern was likely to
have concurred to the present difficulties in Abyssinia,and to his
own in particular, by imprudence, over zeal, and the like ; not
that I said or hinted that Mr. Layard would make such qualities
a motive of “personal dislike” against the unfortunate mis-
sionary ; that is Dr. Beke’s own saying.

"b. “Before dismissing the subject of Mr. Palgrave, I must
add that he told me that when Earl Russell sent for him and
-desired him to go out, he made it a condition, as is not unusual,
that he should draw up his own instructions. In these he says
he expressly provided for the liberation of all the captives ; and,
in fact, he made it a condition that all British subjects, and all
pérsons under British protection, should be at liberty to leave
the country.”

The true version of what I did (inconsiderately I avow) say to
Dr. Beke, is as follows :—

That when Earl Russell did me the honour of talking over the
matter with me, I laid before his Lordship my view of the case,
namely, that the liberation of all prisoners belonging to the
British flag should be insisted on as absolutely preliminary to
any further step with King Theodore. Secondly, that Earl
Russell had the goodness to express his assent on this point.

Dr. Beke’s version, besides being conceived in a tone and on
8 key quite alien from mine, and gratuitously supplied by him-
self, contains two distinct falsehoods.,

Firstly. That I drew up, or ever said to Dr. Beke, that
I drew up my own instructions, the which were drawn up by,
or at least communicated to me, through Mr. Layard.

Secondly. Tke word or idea of * condition” was mentioned
by me to Dr. Beke relative to the King of Abyssinia, not to the
English Secretary of State.

Here I beg to repeat my apologies and deep regret for having
entrusted any words of mine to the keeping of one capable of so
distorting them as Dr. Beke has done.

. 6. “Palgrave added that when he took these instructions into
the Foreign Office to be putinto an official form, Layard objected
to them, but that he, Palgrave, insisted on them as having been
approved by Earl Russell, and so carried the day against the

nder Secretary.”

This sentence contains three distinet falsehoods :—

"First. That I ever said to Dr. Beke that I took any instruc-
tions into the Foreign Office.
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Second. That I said to Dr. Beke that Mr. Layard objected to
any such’ (imaginary) instructions.

Third. That I either said or implied, having * carried the day’
against Mr. Layard.

The real version of what I said is this : That Mr. Layard and
myself had, during a simple call on my part (which happened
to be at the Foreign Office, because, Mr. Layard had already
gone thither from his lodgings in Piccadilly, whither I had first
gone to call on him, and finding him absent, took the cab on to
‘Whitehall), talked over not any “ instructions,” but the subject.
of what route to Abyssinia might be best suited for me to fol-
low, and that he (Mr. Layard) was at first inclined to recom-
mend that of Massowah ; but, on further discussion, agreed
with me in preferring that of Egypt and Kartoum, an idea
already adopted by Earl Russell.

Neither in substance nor in form is this what Dr. Beke has
invented and put into my mouth.

7. «Palgrave tells me that he is being kept on here with the
pay of £100 a month.

That is, Dr. Beke, while lamenting over his own expenses at
Cairo as excessive, inquired, seemingly for his own economical
guidance, how I managed to meet the high prices of the Egyp
tian capital ; whereupon I, too obligingly, told him that I found
£100, the sum liberally allowed me by Government, fully ade-
quate to meet my monthly bills, &c.

8. “He expects to remain till Earl Russell finds him some-
thing else to do.”

I do not well see what else I should expect or do, in fact,
than to remain where placed by Earl Russell till told to go on.

But I flatly deny, as a downright falsehood (while apologiz-
ing for the coarseness of the expression, but no other would be
appropriate here) what Dr. Beke suggests, namely, my having
implied to him, directly or indirectly, that I conceived Earl
Russell to be in any way pledged towards me for anything
“else to do,” beyond the range of the Abyssinian affair, and
my instructions thereto relative. I deny also having pretended
to know about or to speculate on what Earl Russell’s ulterior
views or intentions might be. Dr. Beke’s words are not a mere:
distortion of, but precisely contradictory to what I know, and
member well having replied when indiscreetly questioned on.

topic.

9, « As the two together have been placed in a false posi-
tion by Layard and Rassam.”
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By thus\conpling)my name-with that of the Premier, Dr,
Beke does me an honour which I never ventured to do to myself,

Secondly. I deny having said that Mr. Layard or Mr. Ras-
gam ever placed me in any position whatsoever, “false *’ or
true. i

The true version of what Isaid is this—and I regret having
said it—1I called my own prolonged delay in Egypt ¢, awkward,”
even “ hazardous,” because indefinite, and because particularly
exposed to the counter-schemes of intriguers. Dr. Beke is an
instance in point. Also, while expressing my hopes, most sin-
cere ones, that Mr. Rassam might succeed, I unguardedly be-
trayed some anxiety lest he should not. It is possible, too,
though of this I am not sure, that I may, while on the same
topic, have alluded to Mr. Layard, so far as the Under Secre-
tary was concerned in the guidance of the affair, as hoping suc-
cess, while fearing the chances of delay and failure disagreeable
to all parties, not to Earl Russell alone. More than this, I
deny having said— .

10. “He says he has written to several of his friends, the
editor of the Pall Mall Gazette among the number, requesting
hem not to agitate the Abyssinian question, or, if they do, not
o bring his name up.”

False again. I have not the pleasure of knowing who is the
editor of the Pall Mall Qazette. Dr. Beke may be better ine
formed on that point ; meanwhile, in my ignorance of the above
editor’s identity, I have neither written to him, nor told Dr,
Beke that I had. N

Now for the truth. The subject of the Pall Mall Gazetts,
and its manner of taking up the Abyssinian question being a
common topic of every-day conversation here, I have incidentally
said more than once, and not to Dr. Beke alone, though to him
also, that I wished the above mentioned gazette would let the
Abyssinian question alone, because they (i.e., the correspondents
whoever they be of the Pall Mall Gazette, on this score), did
harm by writing about what they did not understand ; adding,
that I had already availed myself of some personal acquaintance
with one whom I knew to be a correspondent (magnified by Dr.
Beke into an “ editor,” and multiplied into “several friends,”)
though not, I believe, on the Abyssinian topic, to let him know
this my opinion, and to say that if the Pall Mall Gazette needs
must talk, I hoped they would at any rate do me the favour of
their silence, as I did not wish to see my name in the columns
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of a paper so violently opposed to Government men and mea-
sures. \\|Whatever(beyond this Dr. Beke may say or imply was
never implied or said by me. ’ i
1L« He does not wish to increase the difficulties of Govern-
ment..’

_ I thank Dr. Beke for a word of truth, at last, though put
after his fashion. For I mnever thought enough of myself to
suppose that I could increase the difficulties of Government, if
such there-be, much less to wish it or to say it

12. “He, Mr. Palgrave, hinted, rather significantly, that
under certain circumstances, that is, if Earl Russell does not do
something for him, he might be a thorn in their side.”

This is utterly and, excuse the expression, maliciously false.
I never, in public or in private, * hinted” or said anything of
the sort either to him, Dr. Beke, or to any one else ; no, nor to
my own self, for such an absurdity never entered my thoughts.
The idea, no less than the statement, is solely and absolutely
Dr. Beke’s own, and as strange to me as the rest of his ideas.

‘What follows in Dr. Beke’s letter does not directly regard me
nor require comment or explanation of mine. But as it contains
some more than “hints ” about Parliament, the Jews’ Society,
‘W., and implies an intention of maliciously using statements
maliciously obtained, distorted, and invented, I feel it to be my
duty bound, and the best reparation I can make for admitted
indiscretion, to place this letter, through yourself, and so far
as Her Majesty’s Secretary for Foreign Affairs shall think fit,
at the entire disposal of the Foreign Office and of Her Majesty’s
Government in general, for any use that may by them be judged

TOpET.

\R’ehatever I have written here, I am ready to stand by and
confirm whenever and wherever required by the officers of Her
Majesty’s Government.

In conclusion, I beg— :

Firstly, to renew my expression of sincere regret and self-
blame for my having unguardedly supplied Dr. Beke with any
sort of handle or pretence for his letter, the subject of the pre-
sent.

Secondly, to trust that Her Majesty’s Secretary for Foreign
Affairs in particular, and Government in general, will have the
goodness to overlook such my indiscretion ; and that they will
admit, on the word of a gentleman, this explanation and
apology. It is difficult, would I add, in every-day conversation,
and during an interval of long and anxious suspense, to mea-
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sure every word so carefully as to give no handle whatsoever
to misrepresentation) prepense, and calumny, especially when
one supposes, however erroneously, as in this case, that one has
a gentleman and a friend before one.

Dr. Beke's intention to annoy, through me, the Government
which T have, in some measure the honour of serving, is suffi-
ciently evident. The wrong he has purported to Government
interest by his letter will, I hope, be, in the main, obviated by
what I have here written. May I venture to hope that any
personal detriment intended to myself will be no less obviated
by Lord Clarendon’s gracious acceptation of this my explanation
and apology.

Begging you to have the goodness to communicate the present
letter to his Lordship, and to accompany it by my every as-
surance of respect and duty, I have, &c.

(signed) ‘W. GLIFFORD PALGRAVE.

) Mr. Layard to Mr, Purday.
Foreign Office, February 14, 1866.

Sir,—TI am directed by the Earl of Clarendon to inform you
that Mr. Palgrave has been called upon to explain the statement
made to you by Dr. Beke, which you communicated to his Lord-
ship, “that Mr. Palgrave had told him (Dr. Beke) that he had
seen the instructions given by the Foreign Office to Mr. Rassam,
ond that they are restricted to the release of Captain Cameron,”
and that gentleman not only absolutely denies having made any
such statement, but declares that he told Dr. Beke that to his
certain knowledge Mr. Rassam was to, and would, demand the
release of the Missionaries. -

I am further directed by the Earl of Clarendon to inform you
that if you will call at this Office any afternoon, after to-morrow,
his Lordship will give directions that a letter from Mr, Palgrave
shall be shown to you, in which he answers the other state-
ments alleged to have been made to Dr. Beke.—I am, &c.

(signed) A. H, Lavarp.

6)  Mr. Purday to Mr. Murray.—(Received Feb. 17.)
24, Great Marlborough-street, February 15, 1866.

Sir,—I beg to acknowledge the receipt of a letter from the
Foreign Office, of yesterday’s date, signed A. H. Layard, and
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whilst I have to express my thanks for the offer contained in
that communication) bf showing me Mr. Palgrave’s letter, in
reply to Dr. Beke's statement, I do not see any occasion for
troubling the Foreign Office further on the subject of that state-
ment, as my sole object was to ascertain what Mr. Rassam’s in-
structions were relative to the release of my son-in-law, the Rev.
H. A. Stern, one of the prisoners in Abyssinia, on which mat-
ter the Earl of Clarendon was kind enough to give a satisfactory
reply.—I am, &ec.
(signed) CuarLES H, Purpay.

() Mpr. Purday to the Earl of Clarendon.—(Received Feb, 17.)
24, Great Marlborough-street, February 16, 1866.

My Lorp,—In a letter* received by me yesterday from the
Foreign Office, dated the 14th instant, I am given to under-
stand that Mr. Palgrave ¢ absolutely denies ¢certain statements
alleged to have been made’ by him to Dr. Beke ;” and an in-
vitation is given by the writer, Mr. A. H. Layard, to me to call
at the Foreign Office, and see Mr. Palgrave’s letter, which I
politely declined. I have thought it best, however, lest any
wrong construction should be put upon my declining to see Mr.
Palgrave’s denial, that I should ask your Lordship to give me
(at your Lordship’s convenience) a private interview on the
subject, when I will bring down Dr. Beke’s letter, and give such
an explanation of his statements as I am able.—I am, &ec.

(signed) = Cmarrks H. Purpay.

(8) ' Mr. Murray to Mr. Purday.
Foreign Office, February 20, 1866.

Sir,—I am directed by the Earl of Clarendon to acknowledge
the receipt of your letters of the 15th and 16th instant, declin-
ing to call at this office for the purpose of reading Mr. Palgrave’s
answer to Dr. Beke’s statements, but requesting an interview
with his Lordship, in order to give an explanation in regard to
those statements.

I am to inform you, in reply, that as Mr, Palgrave has an-
swered Dr. Beke's statements, his Lordship is not aware of any
further information which it may be desirable for him to obtain

* Laid before Parliament, 1867.
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from you in regard to them, and he will therefore not trouble
you to ‘¢all'upon him ;-‘but 'if' you have any additional com-
munication to make, Lord Clarendon requests that you will have
the goodness to put it in writing.—I am, &c.

(signed)  James MURRAY.

(9) Mr. Purday to the Earl of Clarendon—(Received Feb. 27.)
24, Great Marlborough-street, February 26, 1866.

My Lorp,—In taking the liberty to present to your Lordship a
copy of Mr. Stern’s Jast letter* (which I trust your Lordship will
read), I am led to make two or three remarks on the correspon-
dence which has lately taken place between myself and the
Foreign Office relative to Dr. Beke’s statement of a conversation
which he had in Cairo with Mr. Palgrave on the subjects of
Mr. Rassam's instructions, &c., and Mr. Palgrave’s denial of
those statements.

Now, if your Lordship thinks it worth while to compare the
letter sent to me respecting Mr. Rassam’s instructions, with the
statements made by Mr. Palgrave to Dr. Beke and to the Foreign
Office, your Lordship will find that there have been prevarica-
tions somewhere.

As to the other revelations of Mr. Palgrave to Dr. Beke, it
is quite obvious that Dr. Beke could not relate what he did not
know anything about until Mr. Palgrave told him, Whether they
are true or not, it is not for me to say ; but one thing is certain,
they are not very creditable.

Begging your Lordship’s excuse for troubling you with this,
I remain, &c.

(signed) CaarLEs M. Purpay.

(10) Mr. Murray to Myr. Purday.
Foreign Office, March 9, 1866.

Sir,—I am directed by the Earl of Clarendon to acknowledge:
the receipt of your letter of the 26th ultimo, sending a printed
copy of a letter from Mr. Stern, and containing remarks on the
recent correspondence between yourself and this Office.

I am at the same time to inform you that his Lordship re-
ceived a telegram last night from Alexandria to the effect that.

* Printed pamphlet.
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Dr. Stern and his companions, and added, that in case of their
having 'died 'or'been put to'death, Cameron would still be, if he
remained alive, as might be hoped, demanded and brought off,
though alone. My grounds in thinking delay less dangerous for-
Captain Cameron than for the missionaries were, that he was.
the more distinguished character, and hence less likely to be
wantonly misused.

But I absolutely deny having said that Mr. Rassam would be
content with such a half result ; and I know that on Dr. Beke’s.
subjoining something to that tenor, I said, or certainly implied
saying, exactly the reverse.

3. “I do not see any harm in your communicating this to Mr.
Goodhart (or Reichardt) if you think proper, especially as Mr.
Palgrave did not speak to me at all in confidence, and I believe
he has told the same thing to others. How far he is to be relied
on I will not pretend to say, but his communications appeared
to me to be made bona fide.”

That I did not speak to Dr. Beke “ in confidence ”” means that,
supposing him, on the one hand, to be a gentleman, and, on
the other, not imagining that I was making him any revelations
for him to ‘communicate,” I neglected to swear him in to
silence, or even to mention truth, honour, and the like. I ack-
nowledge my mistake. I had not calculated on gratuitous mis-
statements, nor had I any idea of talking with him otherwise
than “bona fide,” i.e, as one gentleman talks with what he sup-
poses to be another.

Dr. Beke’s belief that I have « told the same thing to others *
is as unfounded as anything else he may choose to believe.
Neither to him nor to any others did I ever make the statements
he ascribes to me in his letter.

4. “Dr. Beke then states that Mr. Palgrave told him that
Mr. Layard and Mr. Rassam had a personal dislike to Mr.
Stern.”

Partly false and partly distorted, Simply false in what re-

Mr. Rassam, of whom I mever said any such thing, or
anything capable of implying it, however indirectly,

Distorted in what regards Mr. Layard. While talking over
past events, wholly disconnected from the present Abyssinian
business, I alluded to the circumstance of Mr. Layard having
formerly met and become acquainted with Mr. Stern in Mosoul,
I believe, a circumstance generally known, and to which no spe-
- cial idea of ¢ personal” dislike on either side could attach, cer-

-tainly 1ot in my mind or expressions.



FIRST EXERCISE. 29

But I did say.that Mr. Layard might then have had an oppor-
tunity of ‘appreciating’Mr."Stern’s character and line of action,
and consequently of judging how far Mr. Stern was likely to
have concurred to the present difficultiesin Abyssinia, and to his
own in particular, by imprudence, over zeal, and the like ; not
that I said or hinted that Mr. Layard would make such qualities
amotive of “personal dislike” against the unfortunate mis-
gionary ; that is Dr. Beke’s own saying.

5. “Before dismissing the subject of Mr. Palgrave, I must
add that he told me that when Earl Russell sent for him and
desired him to go out, he made it a condition, as is not unusual,
that he should draw up his own instructions. In these he says
he expressly provided for the liberation of all the captives ; and,
in fact, he made it a condition that all British subjects, and all
persons under British protection, should be at liberty to leave
the country.”

The true version of what I did (inconsiderately I avow) say to
Dr. Beke, is as follows :—

That when Earl Russell did me the honour of talking over the
matter with me, I laid before his Lordship my view of the case,
namely, that the liberation of all prisoners belonging to the
British flag should be insisted on as absolutely preliminary to
any further step with King Theodore. Secondly, that Earl
Russell had the goodness to express his assent on this point.

Dr. Beke’s version, besides being conceived in a tone and on
8 key quite alien from mine, and gratuitously supplied by him-
self, contains two distinct falsehoods..

Firstly. That I drew up, or ever said to Dr. Beke, that
I drew up my own instructions, the which were drawn up by,
or at least communicated to me, through Mr. Layard.

Secondly. Tke word or idea of “ condition” was mentioned
by me to Dr. Beke relative to the King of Abyssinia, not to the
English Secretary of State.

Here I beg to repeat my apologies and deep regret for having
entrusted any words of mine to the keeping of one capable of so
distorting them as Dr. Beke has done.

. 6. “Palgrave added that when he took these instructions into
the Foreign Office to be putinto an official form, Layard objected
to them, but that he, Palgrave, insisted on them as having been
approved by Earl Russell, and so carried the day against the

nder Secretary.”

This sentence contains three distinct falsehoods :— ,

"First. That I ever said to Dr. Beke that I took any instruc-
tions into the Foreign Office.
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CURRAGH, OF KILDARE.

Rents, &c., paid by the Secretary of State for War.

By agreement dated 13th January, 1859, for use of a part of
the Curragh for the purposes of a camp £5.

For privilege of taking gravel, from 1st January, 1860, £150.

Rents for lettings of sites for booths in the vicinity of the
camp, average per annum £24.

Small sums collected by the Ranger for gravel taken from the
Curragh either from private persons or by Contractors for County
Roads, average per annum £1. Total, £180

(2) Zhe Honourable J. K. Howard to Major General Sir E. Lugard.
Office of Woods, &c., 24 March, 1864.

Sir,—1I have received your letter of 22nd ultimo, containing
a proposal on the part of the Secretary of State for War, to take
a lease of the Curragh of Kildare, at a rent of £530 per annum,
and have recommended to the Lords of Her Majesty’s Treasury,
that T may receive their authority to arrange the terms and con-
ditions of such a lease, due regard being had to the rights of the
commoners, and to the interests of the Irish Turf Club, in re-
gard to their permissive occupation of such parts of the Curragh
as they may require for racing purposes.

I cannot, however, acquiesce in that part of the arrangement,
under which Lord de-Grey assumes that should the office of
Ranger become vacant during the term of the lease, a reduction
should be made in the proposed rent, as I consider the latter very
moderate, considering the extent of the land to be leased.

T am, &e.

(signed) James K. HowaRD.
Major General Sir E. Lugard, k.c.B.

3) The Honourable /. K. Howard to the Marquis of
- Hartington, M. P.

Office of Woods, &c., 28 April, 1864.

My Lorp,—I have received a communication from Mr. Peel
stating, by direction of the Lords of Her Majesty’s Treasury,
that they authorised me to settle with the War Department the
terms and conditions for granting to that Department a lease of
the Curragh of Kildare, due regard ‘being had to the rights of
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the commonkers).and 30/ the)interests of the Irish Turf Club, in
regard to their permissive occupation of the parts of the Cumgh
required for racmg and training purposes.—I have, &c.

(signed) Jaues K, HowaRrp:

“The Marquis of Hartmgton, M.P.,
&c., &e., &c.

4 The Honourable J. K. Howard to the Marquis of
Hartington, M.P.
Office of Woods, &c., 4 May, 1864.

My Lorp,—Referring to my letter to you of 28th ultimo I
think it right to forward, for the consideration of the Secretary
of State for War, a copy of a letter I received in the month of
June last from the Stewards of the Irish Turf Club in regard to
their interests in the Curragh of Kildare.—I have, &c.

(signed)  James K. HowaRrD.

The Marquis of Hartmgton, M.P.,
&e., &c., &c.

(Enclosure.)

Sm,—Mr. Hunter, Secretary to the Turf Club, has laid before
us, the stewards and members of that body, your letter of the
19th May.

‘We thank you for the opportunity offered to us by you of

 suggestions relative to the protection of the surface of
the Curragh, which we fully concur in opinion with you is a
subject of considerable importance for racing and other public
objects.

JVVe have exercised, through the permission of the Crown and
ite officers, control and privileges over the courses, gallops, and
training-grounds for 4 series of years ; we suggest that the right
of warning off persons from using said courses, gallops, and:
training-grounds, without the consent of the stewards, should be
granted to them.

That the stewards shall be empowered to levy and receive thez
fees, hitherto paid to them through the medium of the ranger,
from the owners of horses who may be trained on the Curragh
or who shall run én any of the courses thereon.

A Schedule of which fees, received by us, is herewith annexed.

On obtaihing this direct power we undertake to spend such
amount on the preservation of the courses, and to defray the
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other expenses connected with the racing establishment on the
h,

The fees specified in the Schedule are similar in amount to
those received by the Turf Club for a series of years, and have
been approved of by the Irish Government.

‘We further beg to state that the expense of keeping the
courses and gallops in repair has considerably increased since the
formation of the Camp, in consequence of the frequent drilling
and exercise of the Artillery, Cavalry and Military Train, so
much so that after every field-day it is necessary to go over the
whole area of ground which bad been used by the troops, and
contains generally a space of six miles in extent.

‘We beg to state that we applied to the War Office to grant us
an annual sum of £150 a-year to aid us in repairing the various
parts of the Curragh damaged by the military.

That our application has not been decided on, but we have
received two instalments on that account.

‘When the Camp was about to be formed we offered no ob-
Jjections, as we were informed that all extra expenses incurred by
military being placed on the Curragh would be defrayed by that
department.

‘We further state, that nearly all our former gallope and training-
grounds, south of Dublin Road, are occupied by the Camp, the
buildings attached thereto, and by the butts used for ball cartridge
firing, consequently the number of gallops being much fewer
than heretofore they are more cut up by the horses.

That several gallops on the north side are constantly injured:
by the training of the military. The. stewards further suggest,
for the safety and convenience of training and running horses,
that the ordinary exercise of the military be confined to those
parts of the Curragh south of the Limerick Road, except only on
special occasions, such as grand reviews.

The stewards also consider it abeolutely necessary, for the
purposes: before enumerated, that the surface of the
should have a sufficient covering of herbage, which can only be
obtained by prohibiting the removal of sheep. droppings, and
limiting the number of sheep to be grazed thereon.—We have, &c.

(signed) M. LoNerELD, St is of the

Wu. Quix,
Epwp. St. ’Gnonan, Turf Club.

(For Marquis of Conyngham.,):
The Hon. James K. Hovmrl:lr.(1 yoghat.)
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Schedule of Fees, referved o in the foregoing Letter, charged to
Winners of Races on the Curragh : ’

For winners of races above £50 - - 4 guineas.
Under that sum - - - 2 »
For Queen’s Plates - - - 2 »
For each horse trained on the Curragh - 1

(Curragh, 8—414.)

{8) Major General Crofton to the Quartermaster-General,
Horse Guards.

War Office, 5 July, 1864.

Str,—With reference to yours of the 6th August. 1863, on
the subject of the occupation of the Curragh of Kildare for
military purposes, I am directed by Earl de Grey and Ripon to
acquaint you, for the information of his Royal Highness the
Field Marshal Commandingin Chief, that his Lordship has been
in communication with Mr. Howard, the Commissioner of Woods
and Forests, regarding the tenure under which this Department
shall continue to hold the Curragh, and that Lord de Grey has
decided that this Department shall take a lease of the ground for
a term of 7, 14, or 21 years, a condition being embodied in the
lease to the effect that a right of pre-emption is to be reserved
to the Department at a price to be named in the lease.

The draft lease has been sent to the C. R. E. in Ireland for
report, with instructions to place himself in communication with
the General Officer Commanding on the subject.—I have, &c.

The Quartermaster General, (signed) J. CrorroN,
Horse Guards. Major General.

(6) 2he Deputy Quartermaster-General to the Under Seretary
of State, War Qffice.

Horse Guards, 12 August, 1864.

8S1e,—~With reference to War Office Letter of the 5th ultimo
on the eubject of the occupation of the Curragh of Kildare
for military purposes, I have the honour, by desire of the Field
Marshal Commanding in Chief, to transmit a letter from the
General Commanding in Ireland, with a report and plan from
4he Commanding Royal Engineer in that country.
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T am to state that his Royal Highness concurs with the opiniom, i
expressed by the Commanding Royal Engineer, that the proposed
lease appears to confer no advantage on the War Department.

I have, &c. -
- (signed) Percy E. HErBERT,
: Deputy Quartermaster General.
The Under Secretary of State,
War Office.

(7)  Zhe Deputy Quartermaster General, Dublin, to the Quarter-
master General, Horse Guards.

Quartermaster General’s Office, Dublin Castle,
10 August, 1864.

Sm,—In returning the enclosed War Office Letter of the 5th:
ultimo, received with your Minute of the 6th idem,
the proposed leasing of the Curragh of Kildare for military
purposes, I have the honour, by direction of the General Com-
manding the Forces in Ireland, to transmit the enclosed Report
from the Commanding Royal Engineer in this country upon the
subject, and to inform you that Sir George Brown entirely con-
curs in the opinion of Colonel Durnford.—I have, &ec.
(signed)  E. R. WETHERALL,

: Deputy Quartermaster General.
The Quartermaster General,

Horse Guards, London.

(Enclosures)
Office of Commanding Royal Engineer in Ireland,
Dublin, 4 August, 1864.

Sir,—Having been desired to_prepare a plan to illustrate the
accompanying draft lease to the War Department of the Curragh
of Kildare, and to report on the conditions thereof, first com-
municating with the General Officer Commanding, I have the
> honour to submit for the consideration of Sir George Brown, the

an and draft lease, on which T have only to observe that the
ll;tter appears to confer no advantages whatever on the War
Department over the existing arrangement ; but on the contrary,
while all the rights, privileges, ‘and emo)uments now exercised
and derived by the Office of Woods are to oontmue (except £150
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a-year now'/paid by'the/ War Department for gravel), as also the
independent powers of the Curragh Ranger, the public rights of
common and rights of way, which are still undefined, and the
use of the Curragh surface by the Irish Turf Club, whose pri-
vileges (heretofore, I believe, exercised only on sufferance) will
now be recognised and established—the Secretary of State for
‘War is required to pay a rent of £530 per annum, instead of £5,
and will have to keep the whole of the Curragh surface and
fences in proper condition and repair.

Before entering upon a new lease, I think it would have been
better to have ascertained and determined what the existing legal
rights of the public and others really are, as was suggested in the
correspondence which accompanied the letter from this office
dated 6th March, 1862 ; and that, subject to those rights, the
Curragh should be leased to the War Department without further
restriction, leaving it to the Secretary of State to concede pri-
vileges which it is desirable he should have the power of regula-
ting, and to deal with all irregularities, trespasses, and encroach-
ments, instead of dividing the control, as is now proposed,
between two different Departments.—I have, &c.

(signed)  Epwarp W. Durnrorp, Colonel,
Commanding Royal Engineer.
The Deputy Quartermaster General.

Drarr LEas or THE CurRAGH OF KILDARE.

This indenture made the day of 1865, Between the Queen’s
Most Excellent Majesty of the first the Honourable James Kenneth Howard,
the Commissioner of Her Majazl ‘Woods, Forests, and lLand Revenues, in
charge of the Land Revenues of the Crown in Ireland, of the second part, and
Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for the War Department, hereinafter

ed“thesaidleuee"ofthethirdtgn-t;Witnueth,thntinwmidmtionoftho
yearly rent hereby reserved, and of the covenants, provisoes, and agreements here-
inafter contained : He, the said James Kenneth E virtne and in exe-
cution of the powers of an Act of Parliament of the 10 Geo. 4, c. 50, and of
uotherActofthel-imdlBVict.e.H,andohlloﬂlerﬁowmmb' him in
this behalf, and with the consent of the Commissioners of Her Majesty’s A

by their warrant: Doth, for and on behalf of her Majesty, demise and
unto the said lessee and his successors, All that land the Curragh

2

-
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HonrdandotherthoCommmonerorOomnmmmbrtbehmbemgdHc
jesty’s Woods, Forests, and Laud Revenues, having the management of the
-aprammhmnm called the eaid Commissioner or Commissioners, to enter
upon the said land, and to cut down, get up, and carry away the said excepted
premises : To have and to hold the said land hereby ject, ne -
tothenseandoecupatlonbytheInsthrfClnbofsnchpartsofthemdlandas
have heretofore been and are now used by the said Club for racing and training
, and also subject to all rights of eommon (if any), nghtl of way and other
easements (if uny) s may be legall, & nxo or over the same, unto the
said lessee and his successors, from elstdayof rﬂ,lSGA,forthefarmofm
ears, determinable as hereinafter mentioned : Paymg, therefor, unto the Queen’s
ajesty, Her heirs and successors, during the said term, mlyearly rent of £530,
free from all taxes, rates, and deductions whatsoever, by ez‘ narterly psyments
on the 1st day of July, thelstdayofOctober the 1 January, and the
1st day of April, in each year, and the first quarterly ttobemadeonthe
1st day of uly, 1864 : And the said lessee doth hereby for himself and his suc-
cessors covenant with the &n ’s Majesty, Her heirs and successors, in manner
following, that is to say, that the md lessee and his successors will pay to the
ueen 's Majesty, her heirs and successors, the said yearly rent of Five and
younds hereby reserved, on the days and in the manner hereinbefore men-
tloned and appoin for the payment thereof, without any deduction or abatement
whatsoever : And, also, will pay and dmcharge all taxes, rates, tithes, or tithe rent-
elmrgv snd all other assessments and impositions whatsoever, already or at any
hereafter during the said term to be taxed, charged, orunposed upon or in
ﬁi})ectofthesmd remises : And, also, that he the said lessee and h is successors
use his and their utmost endeavours to prevent any encroachments being made
upon the said land : And, also, will not dig or suffer to be dug from the said land
tnyundor vel except for, thauseandﬁ:?oeea of the Camponthomd Cur-
ragh, and will keep and preserve the said d the mounds, banks, and fences
thereof in a proper state and condition and in substantial And, also, when
and as often as any turf or sods shall be required to bew&omthemdhnd
for the purposes of the Camp, the said leseee will, immediately after taking the
same, properly level the space or spaces left by the paring of such turf or sods, and
mthenmemthgoodperenmalgrmseeds suitable to the soil and state of the
land eo pared, and will, as often as any of such turf or sods shall not be required
for the purposes for which they were taken, replace the tarf or sods not so re-
quired, on the land pared as aforesaid, and restore the surface of the said land for
pasturage: And, further, thatthemdleaseeorhusnecmonm]lnotungnor
underlet the said land hereby demised, or any part thereof, for the whole or any
pnt of the term hereby granted, without the previous consent, in writing, of the
said Commissioner or Commissioners: Provided, always, that if the yearly rent
lmbzm rved shall be unpaid for the space of 21 days next after either of the
before appointed for the payment thereof, or if any breach or defanlt
shall be made in any oftheeovmhorpwmouhmnhefmemtuned.ltiﬂl
be lawful for the Queen’s Majesty, her heirs or successors, and for the said
missioner or Commissioners, on oftbeQueenquesty to enter into and
‘Elmdtetunpomonofthemdpremsahueby ] and
tually in all respects as if these thhndnevabeenmade itis
hereby oomantedmdagrecd that in case any bemdenndltbn

mmolnt hereinbefore contained, there slmll be the Qneen’s Majesty,
heirs mdnmmnddlhontomynut pmgthomteput

themmngmtforthedwn mrtaroh
ofwmtnptothed:yonwhchmrl hmbmm.?;md’

é’

%v-
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* “always, and, it is hereby and- declared, that this lease and the term hereby
Ernnted may be determined either by the said Commissioner or Commissioners, or
the said lessee, at the expiration of the first seven or the first fourteen years of
t{enidtermofﬂyun, leaving at the office of the other of them six calendar
months’ notice in writing, for that purpose previously to the expiration of sach
seventh or 14th year: Provided also, and it 1s further agreed and declared, that if
the said lessee, or his successors, shall at any time during the said term hereb;
ted, be desirousof purchasingthefreeholdand inheritancein fee simpleof thesai
and hereditaments, ::l‘;;ect to the use and occupation of parts of the said land
by the Irish Turf Club, also subject to the several ﬁ:ighta, subject to which the
said land and hereditaments are hereby demised (but and di from the
exception and reservation to Her Majesty hereinbefore contained), and of such his
or their desire, shall leave at the of the Commissioners of her Majesty’s
‘Woods, Forests, and Land Revenues, six calendar months’ notice in writing, signed
:z:he said lessee, the said Commissioner or Commissioners will, upon payment by
said lessee of the sum of £ ,asthepriceoreomicf;uhan' for
such sale, convey and assure the said land and hereditaments hereby demised, sub-
ject to the use and occupation and to the several rights, sutg:c:‘to which the same
are by these Presents demised (but freed and discharged the tion and
reservation to Her Majesty hereinbefore contained), to the said lessee and his sne«
cessors’ interest for the public service ; and the conveyance of the said heredita~
ments shall be nﬁg:rred in the office of Land Revenue, at the expense of the said
lessoe. And, : That the rent hereby reserved shall continue to be payable,
together with a sroportionnta thereof, up to the day on which the purchase-
money of the said premises have been fully paid. .
In witness whereof, the said parties to these presents of the second and third
parts have hereunto set their luis and seals the day and year first above written.

The Schedule above referred to :

1. The new Stand House let to the Turf Club.

2, Stabling, &c., on the site of the Old Stand House.

8. The Police Barrack, leased to the Constabulary.

4, A garden adjoining, containing about 60 yards by 48 yards, leased to the
Sab-fnsp Algfagoﬁﬂchapd'mdgadmadj" taining sbout

. oining, con one acre,

leased to the trustees. 8

6. Land containing about one rood, near Ballymanny, leased to Ponsonby

Moore, Esq.
k7 . Site of stabling, &c., near the lands of Collaghnock glebe land, leased to
Patricl

8. The Hare Park or Fox Cover, leased, or agreed to be leased, to Lord
Naas, as trustes for the Kildare Huat,

e ————

(8) The Honourable J. K. Howard to the Marquis of
Hartington, M.P.
Office of Woods, 15 September, 1864.
My Lorp,—On the 27th June last the Solicitor to this De-
ent forwarded to the Solicitor of the War Office the draft
for the proposed lease of the Curragh of Kildare to the War
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"Department, and T have to request that your Lordship will be
enongh| | to (give_directions that it be returned approved
with as little further delay as possible.—I am, &o.,
(signed) James K, Howarb,
The Marquis of Hartington, M.P, &e., &c., &c.

() Extract from a Letter, dated War Office, 3 November,
1864, and addressed to the Honourable J. K Howard.

“ With reference to previous correspondence on the subject of
the lease to the War Department of the Curragh of Kildare, and
more particularly to the letter from this Office of 22nd February,
and your reply thereto of 24th March last, I am directed by Earl
de Grey and Ripon to acquaint you that his Lordship is prepared
to approve of the draft lease upon certain points, which have sug-
gested themselves in its perusal, being definitely settled. Iamto
request, therefore, that you will inform me of the length of time
the Ranger will be continued in office, and also the nature of the
rights and powers paramount to those of the War Department
which l:e can exgrcise.

L ] * L ] L ]

¢T am also to observe that his Lordship is still of opinion that
the reduction in the proposed rent of £350 per annum—the sum
paid as salary to the Ranger—should take place on the discon-
tinuance of that office, as the claim for additional rent has been
put forward with a view to reimburse your Department the ex-
penses which the Crown has to sustain from the occupation of
the Curragh as a Royal domain ; however, if you are not pre-
pared to accede to this proposal, Lord de Grey is willing that the
matter should be referred to the decision of the Lords Commis-
sioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury.

I am further to enclose a plan coloured, with a view to a
copy being attached to the lease ; and, in calling attention to the
line of railway shown thereon, to request information as to the
conditions on which possession of the Crown land over which the
railway passes was given to the railway company.

“It is requested that the plan may be returned.”

(10) Extract from a Letter, dated Office of Woods, 9tk Nov.,
1864, and addressed to the Marquis of Hartington, M.P.

I have to acknowledge the receipt of your Lordship’s letter
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of the 3rd instant, on the subject of the gll;opoaederi(laase of i;l‘xlo
Curragh/\of/\Kildare)| . I(propose to notice the several points ad-
verted to in that letter in the order in which they are there
stated.

¢1. As to the Office of Ranger, I transmit a copy of the in-
strument by which the Ranger was appointed, which will, I
trust, supply the inf(irmation desired as 'ro.the office 1:1 question.

* »

“3. As to the proposed reduction of rent on the cession of,the
salary to the Ranger, I collect that it is put on behalf ef the
‘War Department that the payment of that salary is a reason
why a rent in itself fair should be increased by the amount of the
salary, so long as it is payable by this Department.

" “But I apprehend this is hardly the sound view of the subject.
T am quite prepared to agree that Messrs. Clutton should be re-
quested to advise what would be a fair rent for the War Depart-
ment to pay for the Curragh, irrespectively of the salary paid by
this Department to the Ranger, and if that course is assented to
I entertain little doubt that the rent fixed would be considerably
in excess of that which is proposed to be reserved in the lease.

¢ But in the absence of any such reference to a surveyor, I
think the rent should be reserved throughout the entire term,
and the result, in that case, will be that, as the Crown has to pay
the Ranger a salary of £350 per annum, it will not get anything
like a fair income from the property until after the Ranger’s
salary ceases to be payable. On reconsideration, I think Lord de
Grey will concur in my opinion ; but, in case he should not do
80, I am quite ready to submit to the decision of the Lords of
;h;e Treasury, to whom I must ask that a copy of this letter may

sent.

“4, As to the railway, I transmit herewith a copy of the
anveyanoe by me to the Great Southern and Western Railway

mpany. .

« pmt{e event of this explanation being satisfactory to Lord de
Grey, I shall be glad to have the draft lease approved.” :

[Enelosure.] :
- Know all men by these presents, that we, the Right Honourable Henry Pelham
"Clinton, commonly called the Earl of Lincoln, Alexander Milne, Esquire, and the
Honourable Charles Alexander Gore, the Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Woods,
-Forests, Land Revenue, Works and Buildings, under and by virtue of the powers
and authorities vested in us by an Act in the tenth year of the reign of his
MM:{:Z‘MQGM:@ e intituled “An Act to consolidate’ aiid
amend the Laws relating to the Management and Improvement of His Majesty’s
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‘Woods, Forests, Parks, and Chases of the Land Revenue of the Crown within the
of the Exchequer in England, -and of the Land Revenue of the Crown in

Ireland, and for extending certain provisions relating to the same to the Isles of
Man and Alderney.” And of another A“c:tgaued in the second year of the rei|
of his late Majesty King William the Fourth, intitaled “An Act for uniting
Office of the Surveyor-General of his Majesty’s Works and Public Buildings, with
the Office of the Commissioners of his Majesty’s Woods, Forests, and Reve-
nnm,mdfmothanurg:mrehtin to the Land Revenues,” for us and our suc-
cessors, Commissioners for the time being of Her Majesty’s Woods, Forests, Land
Revenues, Works and Buildings, have given and granted, and do by these presents
give and grant unto Robert Browne, of Portarlington, in the Queen’s county,

uire, the office of Ranger of the Royal Chase in Ireland, called the Curragh of
ﬁdm, sitnate in the county of Kildare: And we do hereby for us and our suc-
cessors, Commissioners for the time being of Her Majesty’s Woods, Forests, Land
Revenues, Works and Buildings, authorise, appoint, constitute, and empower the
said Robert Browne, Ranger of the said Curragh of Kildare, to do, rm, and
::decuu all th‘ilnsl bel:nghag or inci(i;nt m;h«:}mmgeﬁnw fg enter into

n, and ins and survey the sai o , and ev
ther:o}?nthisﬁ-eemmdpleasuu,mdtoview,mch,md seetheshtafngg:
dition thereof, and to preserve, maintain, and keep the metes and bounds of the
said Curragh of Kildare, and to prevent encroachment, and intrusion
thereon, and to preserve the game within the same or the limits and precincts
thereof, and to take, seize, and destroy all such dogs, nets, , and other engines
and instruments for the killing and taking of game as be used within the
limits thereof by any person or persons not lawfully authorised to kill the said
game, and to do, perform, and execute all such matters and things as may be ne-
cessary for the preservation of the game within the said of Kildare, and
generally to inspect, mansge, oversee, and superintend the said Curragh of Kildare,
and to do any act, matter, or thing for the improving, bettering, and supporting
the same, and the interest of Her Majesty, her heirs and successors therein in the
most beneficial manner, and to the best advantage as the said Robert Browne
shall according to his discretion and judgment think proper to have, hold, exe-
cute, and enjoy the aforesaid office of Ranger of the CurngTrof Kildare, together
with all the powers and aunthorities and all manner of fees, profits, perquisites,
emoluments, and advantages whatsoever to the said office belonging or in-
ing, or at any time or times heretofore performed, exercised, paid, rendered to, re-
ceived and enjoyed bty the several Rangers for the time being of the said Curragh
of Kildare, or any of them, for and during the will and pleasure of us the said
Earl of Lincoln, Alexander Milne, Esq., and the Honourable Charles Alexander
G-o;:ismd of our successors, Comumissioners for the time being of Her Majesty’s
Woods, Forests, Land Revenues, Works and Buildings: And further, we do
hereby authorise and empower the said Robert Browne to g nht any deputy or
deputies for whose good conduct aad faithful demeanour an viour, he shall
be answerable for all or any of the p aforesaid, with all or any of the
powers of the said Robert Browne as Ranger ; and also from time to time to
dnlt:fa and remove any such depn? or deputies, and to appoint any other in his
or their stead and place, when and so often utohim,thenidlio{ut&ma.
shall seem meet: in witness whereof, we, the said Earl of Lincoln, Alexander
Milne, and Charles Alexander Gore, have hereunto set our hands and seals this
eleventh day of February, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred snd
forty-five, (signed) LiINcoLN.
A. MILNE.
CrARLES GaBx.



SEOOND HXEROISE. 51

(11) Extract from a Letter, dated War Ofiice, 3vd January
addressed 1o the Honourable J. K. Howard, ’

‘With reference to your letter of the 9th November last, and
previous correspondence relative to the proposed lease of the
Curragh of Kildare to this Department, I was directed by Earl
De Grey and Ripon to return to you the draft lease with the
following observations :—

With reference to the office of Ranger, and to the proposed
lease being subordinate to all the rights and powers vested in
and heretofore exercised by the Ranger, I have to observe that,
from the deed of appointment of the 11th day of February, 1845,
it appears that the Ranger is empowered by the Crown to enter
upon and inspect every part of the Curragh at his free will and

easure, to prevent encroachment or intrusion thereon, to pre-
serve the game, destroying all dogs and guns used by any person
for killing game ; to manage, superintend, and do any act for im-
proving and bettering the same, as he shall in his discretion and
Jjudgment think proper ; rights and powers obviously (and properly)
granted to the Ranger when the possession was vacant and the
Curragh was used only as a game preserve, but equally at vari-
ance with necessity where a lessee is in possession on behalf of
the Crown, and the use is allowed to the encampment of large
bodies of men on the Curragh.

‘While the proposed lease is in continuance, the preservation
of game is impossible, and the Secretary of State will, as every
other lease usually does, preserve the property from encroach-
ment ; or, failing to do so, his defaults will not prejudice the
rights of the lessor. As, therefore, the emoluments of the office
are secured to the present Ranger by the reservation of rent in
the proposed lease, no prejudice can arise to him by revoking his
appointment of the 11th February, 1845, and, if necessary, by
re-granting the office in such terms as not to interfere with the.
msion or use of the Curragh by the Secretary of State as

Lastly, under the circumstances stated by you, his Lordship
will not press for the proposed condition that a reduction corre-
sponding with the salary of the Ranger should be made in the
rent on the discontinuance or abolition of that. officer’s appoint-
ment. n
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(12) The Honourable J. K. Howard to Major General Sir
. E. Lygard.

Office of Woods, 26 January, 1865.
S1r,—I have received your letter of the 3d instant, returning,
with observalions, the draft of the lease proposed to be granted

to the Secretary of State for War of the Curragh of Kildare, and:

have to request that I may be informed whether, if the Ranger
of the Curragh of Kildare should be prepared to surrender his
office, the War Department would continue the allowance now
made to him.—I am, &c.

(signed) Jauzs K. Howarp,

Lieutenant General Sir Edward Lugard, K.c.B.

(Curragh, 8—444.)
(13) Zke Marquis of Hartington to the Honourable J. K. Howard.,

‘War Office, 3 February, 1865,

Sir,—1In reply to your letter of the 26th ultimo, requesting
to be informed whether, if the Ranger of the Curragh of Kildare
should be prepared to surrender his office the War Department
would continue the allowance now made to him, I am to request
our attention to the letter from this office of the 22nd February,
864, in reference to the allowance now made to the Ranger by
this Department, and to state that the Earl De Grey proposes that
the allowance in question should cease at the time from which
the new lease will take effect. I am to observe that in the rent
agreed to be paid by this Department the allowance to Mr,
Browne has been provided for, and the Secretary of State has no
intention of paying any further sum to Mr, Browne.—I am, &c,

(signed) HarTINGTON.
The Honourable James Howard,
Office of Woods.
(14)  The Secretary of the Treasury to Major General Sir
E. Lugard. .

Sm,—I am directed by the Lords Commissioners of Her
Majesty’s Treasury to acquaint you that the arrangements be-
‘tween your Department and the Commissioners of Waods, &c.,
‘relative to the grant of a lease to the Secretary of State of the
“Curragh of Kildare, and the consequent adjustment of the office
‘and duties of the Ranger of the Curragh, have been brought
under the consideration of their Lordships by Mr. Howard
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Before my Lords come to a decision on the subject, they would
be glad to kmow if it is the intention of the Secretary of State to
continue the allowance made to the present Ranger for acting as
a magistrate at the Curragh, and what arrangements are contem-
plated with respect o the duties for which that officer is now
responsible, and also the cost of such arrangements.—I am, &c.,

igned F. PexL;
Sir E. Lugard, K.C.B. (egned)

(Curragh, 8—456.)
(16)  Captain Galton to the Assistant Secretary, Treasury.
‘War Office, 25 March, 1865.

Ste,—In reply to your letter of the 17th ultimo, stating the
desire of the Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury to
be informed whether it is the intention of the Secretary of State
to continue the allowance made to the present Ranger for acting
a8 a magistrate at the Curragh, and inquiring what arrangements
are contemplated with respect to the duties for which that officer
is now responsible, and the cost thereof, I am directed to ac-
gaint you, for the information of their Lordships, that Earl de

rey and Ripon, having caused a reference to be made to the
military authorities i';nfrehnd, is of opinion that on the com-
pletion of the lease, by which the care of the Curragh will
devolve on the officers of this Department, there will no longer
be any grounds for continuing the special allowance heretofore
made to Mr. Browne (the Ranger) for exira magisterial duties
imposed on him by the occupation of the Curragh by Her
M?‘esty’s troo) »

am to adt{e'that no increase is contemplated to the members
of the present staff in consequence of the transfer to them of Mr.
Browne’s duties.—1I have, &c., o
(signed) ~ Douvaras GALTON,
The Assistant Secretary, Treasury. ‘
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Correspondence explaining the Arrangements that have been
~ made for permitting Officers in the Naval or Military Service
of Her Majesty to accept Employment under the Government
of China.
Time 8 hours.—See Instructions, page 8.
(1) Myr. Lay to Earl Russell.—(Received June 16.)

Star and Garter Hotel, Richmond,
16th June, 1862,

My Lorp,—In submitting the inclosed brief Memorandum to
your Lordship, I have the honour to state that, should the
project therein referred to meet with the approval of Her
Majesty’s Government, it would be necessary, in order to enable
me to take action in regard to it—

1st. That Sir John Bowring’s Neutrality Ordinance of 1854,
which makes it an offence, punishable by fine or by imprisonment,
to serve the Chinese Government or the rebels in a military
capacity, or to supply either party with munitions of war, be re-

ed

2ndly. That leave of absence be given to officers in H.M.
Navy who may wish to join the proposed naval force.

3rdly. That Her Majesty’s Government notify to our civil
and naval authorities in China, that the organisation of the
naval force in question has the sanction of Her Majesty’s:
-Government.—I have, &c.,

(signed) H. N. Lay,
Inspector-General of Chinese Customs.

[Inclosure in No. 1.—Memorandum.]
(Extract)

The Chinese Government, deeply impressed with the necessity
for the organisation of a European naval force to re-establish
-order throughout the Empire, have authorised the appropriation
-of a portion of the Customs revenue for the purchase of vessels, .
and the engagement of officers and men. The organisation of
.such a force has been entrusted to Mr. Lay, Inspector-General of
~Chinese Customs.
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1. Mr. Lay proposes, as the first step, to obtain the sanction
of her Majesty’s) Government, in order that officers and men,
British subjects, may be at liberty to take employment under
the Chinese Government.

2. Such sanction being obtained, the force would be devoted
to the following objects :—

(a) To re-establish Imperial authority upon the Yangtze, and
commercial security upon the inner waters.

( %) To suppress piracy between the open ports.

. Lay feels sure that this project will recommend itself
ta Her qusty’s Government for the following amongst other
reasons :—

It will relieve this country of a large expenditure at present
incurred in the maintenance of our present fleet in China.

It will in no way compromise Her Majesty’s Government,
while it possesses at the same time all the advantages without the
ineonveniences of direct aid.

2 Mr. Hammond to the Secretary lo the Admirally.
Foreign Office, 17th June, 1862,

81, — I am directed by Earl Russell to transmit to you a copy
of a letter from Mr. H. N, Lay, who is in the service of the
Chinese Government as Inspector-General of Chinese Customs,
submitting for the approval of H.M, Government a scheme for
organising a European naval force in order to re-establish order
throughout the Chinese Empire.

I am to request that you w111 submit this scheme for the con-
gideration of the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, and
move them to favour Lord Russell with such observations as
they may have to offer thereupon.—I am, &c.,

(signed)  E. Hammonp.
{3) The Secretary to the Admiralty to My. Hammond.
(received June 26.).
Admiralty, 25th June, 1862.

Str,—T Kave id bef&: my Lords Commissioners of the Ad-
piraltyr your lstter- of 17th instant, inclosing a-schems by
Be: Ly, Inspector-General of Chinese: Customs, foz orgumising
c]!h:opeur -newaliforce;. in order: to reestablish ordes theouglious
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the Chinese/Empire; and requesting to be favoured with any ob-
servations their Lordships may have to offer thereon. ’

"My Lords desire me to state, for the information of Lord
Russell, with reference to Mr. Lay’s proposition for rescinding
the Order of 1854, prohibiting British subjects entering the ser-
vice of the Chinese Government, &e., that the Order in question-
has already been virtually abrogated by the recent instructions
to British authorities in China, and that Lord Russell can best"
judge whether any more formal repeal is necessary.

My Lords will have no objection to grant leave to any officers
whose services may not be required, and who may apply through
the Foreign Office for permission to join the Chinese force.

" With regard to notifying to our Civil and Naval authorities in
China that the organisation of the Chinese naval force has the
sanction of Her Majesty’s Government, it will be desirable, if the
Secretary of State should think fit to give his sanction to the or-
ganisation of the force, that my Lords should be informed of the
nature of the organisation, and as to the measures which may be
decided upon respecting it.—I am, &c.,

(signed)  C. PaceT.

(4) My. Hammond to the Secretary to the Admiralty.

Foreign Office, 1st July, 1862.
Sir—I have laid before Earl Russell your letter of the 25th:
ultimo, relative to the proposed organisation of a European con~
fingent in China, and I am, in reply, to request that you will
state to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty that, in Lord
Russell's opinion, every officer, naval or military, entering the
Chinese service should have the Queen’s licence for so doing.,
: - I am, &e.,
(signed) E. HaMmMoND.

®y. . . Mr, Hammond to Sir F. Rogers.

e : Foreign Office, 18t July, 1862.
- 8m,~I am directed by Earl Russell to request that you will
move the Duke of Newcastle to cause his Lordship to be informed,
at his earliest conveniénce, whether any Ordinance is now ‘in
force in China to the effect of that of the 17th of January, 185
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(No. 1 of 1855)* enjoining the observance of neutrality by Her
Majesty's subjects between the contending parties in China ; and
& =0, that Lord Russell may be furnished with a copy of it.
I am, &ec.,
(signed) E Hnmoun.

(6)  Sir F. Rogers to My. Hammond. (Received July 2.)
Downing-street, 1st July, 1862.

Sir,—In answer to your letter of this date, I am directed by
the Duke of Newcastle to state, for the information of Earl
Russell, that Sections 3 to 8 of the Hong Kong Ordinance, No.
1 of 1855 (which, after being once renewed, expired on the 1st
January, 1857), were revived and made perpetual by an Ordi-
nance passed in July, 1857 ; but that his Grace cannot find that
there is any Ordinance now in force continuing the provisions of
the 1st Section of the Ordinance of 1855, which section enjoined
the observance of neutrality by her Ma;esty s subjects between
the contending parties in China.—I am, &c.

(signed) Freprrio Roazrs.

) Mr. Layard to the Secretary to the Admiralty.

Foreign Office, 8rd July, 1862.
81r,—With reference to your letter of the 25th ultimo, I am
directed by ¥arl Russell to transmit you a copy of a letter from
the Colonial Office, from which it appears that there is no longer
any Ordinance in force enjoining the observance of neutrality by
Her Majesty’s subjects between the contending parties in China,
and I am to request that, in laying the same before the Lords
_ Commissioners of the Admiralty, you will state that it does not
appear to Lord Russell that there is any legal difficulty in the
way of any of Her Majesty’s subjects entering the military or
naval service of China under licence from the Crown.—I am, &c.,

(signed)  A. H. Lavarp.

(8) Captain Osborn to Mr. Layard.—(Received July 8.)
8, Southwick Street, Oxford Square, London,
8th July, 186¢2.
Str,—The Admiralty having mformed me that the request for
an oﬂioer to be lent to a foreign Government must come tlu'ough

* Commercial Treaties, vol, x. p. 51.
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the Department of the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, I

beg respectfully to request that you will be pleased to move the

Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to grant me leave to

take temporary employment under the Chinese Government, for

- the purpose of organising a naval and military force, for the sup-
pression of piracy in that empire.—I have, &ec.

(signed)  SHERARD OsSBORNE.

9 My, Layard to the Seretary to the Admiralty.
Foreign Office, 8th July, 1862.
Sir,—With reference to my letters of the 1st and 3rd instant,
I am directed by Earl Russell to transmit to you a copy of a
letter from Captain Osborn, requesting that permission may be
obtained for him from the Admiralty to enter temporarily the
military service of the Chinese Government, and I am to request
that you will move the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty
to give the requisite permission to Captain Osborn accordingly.
Iam, &ec
- (signed)  A. H. Lavasn.

(10)  The Secretary to the Admiralty to Mr. Layard—
(Received July 10.)
Admiralty, 9th July, 1862.

8m,—I am commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty to acquaint you, for the information- of Earl Russell,
with reference to your letter of yesterday’s date that permission
has this day been given to Captain Sherard Osborn, R.N., C.B,,
to enter temporarily the military service of the Chinese Govern-

ment, —I am, &c.
(signed)  C. Pager.

(11) My, Zay #o Earl Russell.—Received July 10.)
Reform Club, Pall Mall, 9th July, 1863,
My Lorp,—In obedience to the provisions of the Fomig
Enlistment Act, I have the honour to apply to your Lordship
Her Most Gracious Majesty the Queen’s licence, authorising m
Horatio Nelson Lay, and Sherard Osborn, a Captain in the
Navy, to accept naval and military service in the employ of the
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Chinese Government ;| to fit| out and equip vessels for warlike
purposes in China ; and to enlist British subjects to serve in
naval and military operations in China.

I have the honour to inclose copy of a letter from the Lords
Commissioners of the Admiralty ting leave of ahsence
for the above-mentioned purpose to Captain Sherard Osborn.

I have, &e.

(signed)  H.N. Lav.

YInclosure in No. 11. Zhe Secretary to the Admiralty to Captain
Osborn.)
Admiralty, 9th July, 1862.

Sir,—With reference to a letter dated the 8th instant, received
-from the Under-Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs) I am
commanded by my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to
acquaint you that they are pleased to grant you permission to
enter, temporarily, the military service of the Chinese Govern-
ment.—I am, &c.

(signed)  C. Paamr.

{12) Mr. Layard to My. Waddington.
’ ) Foreign Office, 10th July, 1862
Smr,—I am directed by Earl Russell to tranemit to you a copy
of a letter from Mr. Horatio N. Lay, applying for the Queen’s
licence, to enable him and Captain Sherard Osborn, R.N., (who
has received leave from the Admiralty), to accept military and
naval service under the Chinese Government, and I am to re-
quest that you will lay this application before Secretary Sir G.
Grey for his favourable consideration.—1I am, &ec.
(signed)  A. H. Lararp,

(13) Notice to Officers Volunteering for Service under the
Chinese Government.
~ Bervice performed under the Imperial Government of China
will not be considered as service in the Navy, as regards pay,
time, promotion, &ec.
In the event of the Senior Officer in command having the
power, under the Imperial Chinese Government, of awarding
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promotion in that service to officers serving under his command,
the same' will not be considered as a claim to promotion in the
Royal Navy. .

In the event of an officer being wounded in this service, he
will not be entitled to a pension for wounds; nor, if killed in
action, will his widow be entitled to any more than the ordinary
pension awarded ‘o the widow of an officer dying while on half-
pay.

Admiralty, 12th July, 1862.

(14)  Mr. Clive to Mr. Layard.—(Received July 25.)
‘Whitehall, 25th July, 1862.

8m,—I have laid before Secretary Sir George Grey your
letter of the 10th instant, addressed to Mr. Waddington, inclos-
ing a copy of a letter from Mr. H. N. Lay, applying, as stated
in your letter, for the Queen’s licence to enable him and Captain
Sherard Osborn of the Royal Navy to accept military and naval
service under the Chinese Government, and in which you request
that the application might be laid before Secretary Sir George
Grey for his favourable consideration.

Sir George Grey does not think there could be any objection
to such licence being granted, on the usual terms ; but I am to
ohserve thet Mr. Lay in his letter, applies not only for such
licencs, but also for leave to fit out and equip vessels for warlike
purposes in China, and fo enlist British subjects to serve in naval
and military operations in China. I am, therefore, to request

- that you will acquaint me, for Sir George Grey’s information,
whether Earl Russell is of opinion that it would be expedient to
comply with this request, which is an unusual one, and which
he apprehends could only be complied with under the authority
of an Order of Her Majesty in Council.—I am, &e.

(signed) G. CLive.

(signed)  C. Pacer.

(15) Myr. Layard to Mr. Clive.
. ' Foreign Office, 30th July, 1862,
Sie,—1I have laid before Earl Russell your letter of the 25tk
instant, suggesting, in answer to my letter of the 10th instant,
that leave to enlist British subjects for service under the Chinese
Government could only properly be granted by an Order of Her
Majesty in Council:
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Lord Russell had in the meantime consulted the Law Officers
on the point'’; and T 'am~to'transmit to you, to be laid before
8ecretary Sir G. Grey for his information,.a report from the
Attorney and Solicitor-General, which is to the same effect.

Under these circumstances it is not considered desirable to take
any measure with reference to Mr. Lay’s desire to enlist British
subjects for service in China ; and Lord Russell proposes that
the interference of Her Majesty’s Government should be limited
1o granting licences, under the Royal Sign Manual, to enter the
Chinese service, and also to fit out and equip vessels for the
Chinese Government, according to the opinion of the Attorney
and Solicitor General, that there can be no objection to issuing
such licences.

I am accordingly to request thaiiyron will move Secretary Sir
G. Grey to cause these licences to Mr. Lay and Captain Osborn,
and such other officers as may be selected by Captain Osborn, to
be prepared for the Queen’s signature.—I am, &c.

(signed) A. H. Layarn.

.
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Iv. :
Papers relating to the Loan raised by the Emperor of Morocco in
London,

(Time 3 hours—See Instructions page 8.)

Mr. Drummond Hay to Lord J. Russell—(Received August 15.)\
Dar Ben-el-Ouwad, Meknez, July 26, 1861.

(Extract)

I had an interview last night with the Ooozeer Yamani, at
which Hadj Abderrahman Ajee and Seed Mohamed Maadanee:
Bennees were present.

The Qoozeer repeated the declaration made to me by the Sul-
tan that he had not more than 1,000,000 dollars, but that he
could deliver to the Spaniards grain to the value of another mil-
lion, or sell off that amount in four or five months, and then pay
the Spanish Government. He said that they could not venture,
in consequence of the present strong opposition on the part of
the tribes, to send this money by instalments to the ports for de-
livery to the Spanish Government, unless the evacuation of
Tetuan simultaneously took place, as the Sultan’s authority would
be set at defiance, and revolution break out, and that he hoped
this would be understood at Madrid. He said that there was
money in the country, and long arrears of taxes due from the
Kabail, but that the Sultan did not venture to march into the
interior, and levy taxes as long as Tetuan was occupied, as he
might have to contend with his own subjects.

The Ooozer asked if the British Government could not help
them to obtain a loan of 1,000,000 dollars, and thus, if Spain
would not listen to their supplication for an acceptance of what
they had to offer, assist in preventing & recommencement of the
war, for he assured me that if the annexation of the territory of
Tetuan did take place, the Sultan would be compelled to declare
war, though he would otherwise refrain from hostilities as long as.
he was not attacked.
bei;eg::ld that the British Pgr}l’ianllimt ﬁ:;ﬂd objg to any l':nn.

i e, OT even guarantee er Majesty’s Governmen!

A British merchant resident in{lu’s count:yafxl,[r. Forde, havin,
addressed me since my arrival here, a letter, stating that de co
raise a loan in England at the rate of 10 per cent., I communi-
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cated it to the Mlmster, informing him, however, that I could
not assume the alightest responsibility for the correctness of the
information given me by the British merchant, nor interfere fur-

. ther in the matter than to let Mr. Forde know I had communi-

cated his letter to the Ooozeer, and that, hereafter, should there
be any farther correspondence, it must be carried on direct be-
tween himself and the Moorish Government.

The Ooozeer replied, that as the Sultan was sincere in desiring
to fulfil his Treaty engagements, they would be most t hankful to
any Government or merchants who would help them by a loan,
even if they had to make heavy sacrifices in the way of interest,
and therefore he begged me to write to Mr. Forde, and to request
him to communicate his propositions without delay to the
Moorish Government.

@) Mr. Drummond Hay to Earl Russell,
(Received September 6.)
[Extract.]
Tangier, August 27, 1861.

I learn from Mr. Lewis Forde’s agent at Gibraltar, Mr. Smith,
that the former was supposed to be still at Londonderry. On
the other hand, his agent at Saffee informed me that he was ex-
pected at that port, on his way to the Moorish Court to make
proposals to the Sultan regarding the loan. Ihave written both
to his agents at Gibraltar and at Saffee, to recommend that Mr.
Forde should come here, as Mulai Abbas has counselled the
Sultan to send full powers to himself, or, in his absence, to the
Moorish Minister, to arrange about the terms of the loan, and
guarantees that may be required ; and to send a Royal Edict,
leaving the name of the agent to be appointed in blank, autho-
rizing that person, whether Mr. Forde or another, to make the
loan.

. If Mr. Forde has presented himself at the Foreign Office, and
is in London at the time your Lordship receives this despatch, it
would, perhaps, be advisable, if he still thinks he can negotiate
the loan, that he come out to Tangier to receive his instructions
and the proper authority from this Government. If an arrange-
ment cannot be come to shortly with Mr. Forde, some other
British subject will be selected by the Sultan, and sent to Eng-
land. Asthe Moorish Government would require some months
to realize 1,000,000 dollars from the sale of grain, it will be far
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better that a loan of 2,000,000 dollars should be made instead of
1,000,000, unless the Spanish Government agree to accept the
grain. I think that it is very desirable Mulai Abbas should not
have to treat about the term required to raise the extra 1,000,000
dollars demanded by the Spanish Government, but that his
Highness should be enabled to offer the payment of the 3,000,000
dollars at once, and that the evacuation of Tetuan should take

place simultaneously with that payment.

3) Ear! Russell to Mr. Drummond Hay.
Foreign. Office, September 13, 1861.
S1r,—T have received your despatch of the 27th ultimo, re-
specting the loan whick the Moorish Government is endeavour-
ing to raise in order to pay the Spanish indemnity ; and I have
to state to you, in reply, that the Sultan should empower some
one in London to effect a loan of 2,000,000 dollars.
I am, &e.
(signed) RusseLL.

4) Mr. Drummond Hay to Earl Russéll.
(Received September 27.)
- Tangier, September 16, 1861,

(Extract)

Seed Hadj Abderrahman el Ajee, late Envoy to the British
Court, arrived here a fow days ago with full powers from the
Sultan to enter into any arrangements with Mr. Forde, or any
other person who may be selected by him for contracting the
Ioan in England. Mulai Abbas and the Sultan, as Ajee informs
me, are most desirous that no time should be lost in contracting

" the loan, as the success of Mulai Abbas’ mission greatly depends

on the Sultan being enabled to offer the payment, at once, of the
$,000,000 dollars, inasmuch as His Majesty has not that entire
amount at his disposal just now. A telegram has been sent to’
Mr. Forde to request him to come to Tangier as soon as possible.

® My. Hammond to Mr. Drummond Hay.
Foreign Office, October 7, 1861.

B18,—I am directed by Earl Russell to state to you that, on
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being made acquainted with the nature of the Convention whick
Her Majesty is prepared to 'enter into with the Emperor of Mo-
200c0, in order to assist His Majesty in raising a loan in this
eountry, Mr. Forde has resolved to proceed immediately to Fan-
gier with the view of entering into direct communication with
the Moorish Government on the subject of the loan ; and at Mr.
Forde’s request I am authorized by his Lordship to instruct you
to give that gentleman such support in his communications with
the Moorish Government as in your judgment may&be proper.
am, &c.,

(signed) E. HamxoND,

. (6) Earl Russell to My, Drummond Hay.
(Extract) Foreign Office, October 10, 1861,

It appears from the communication which Mr. Forde has
made, verbally, to me, through Mr. Layard, that the capitalists
in this country, to whom he has applied with reference to the
loan which the Sultan of Morocco is desirous of contracting in
England to enable him to meet the demands of Spain, evince
much hesitation as to embarking in such an undertaking, unless
they can obtain, in some shape or other, collateral security for the
fulfilment of the conditions under which the loan may be con-
teacted.

The security which they would naturally prefer would be the
guarantee of the British Government ; but &.m, as you are well
aware, Her Majesty’s Government are not prepared to give.
They could not do so without the consent of Parliament, and the
Legislature of this country is decidedly opposed, on principle, to
contracting & guarantee of that description, and would not con-
sent to do so except under. special circumstances, which do not
exist in the present case.

Mr. Forde, however, infers that the success of his endeavours
to procure the loan might be much facilitated if the Emperor of:
Morocco were, by Treaty, to engage to assign to an Agent to be
named by His Majesty the. revenue set apart for meeting the
charges for the interest and sinking fund of the loan. Such an
assignment would bear the character of an international engage-~
ment between England and Morocco, and, although it would not
in any way bind the British Government to make good any de-
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ficiencies in the revenues set apart for the purpose, it would give
mwmwt:weulgomm&ag at least as far as the re-
venue went, it wo ithfully appropriated to the purposes
of the loan. For it would be provided in any such Treaty be-
tween Her Majesty and the Sultan that the agent named by Her
Majesty for receiving from the Moorish authorities the appro-

i revenue should, from time-to time, pay over to the con-
tractors of the loan & sufficient sum to meet the charges thereof
for interest and sinking fund, and, if any balance should remain
after doing so, should pay over such balance to the Moorish

Her Majesty’s Government being anxious to contribute, as far
as they can properly do so, to extricate the Sultan from his pre-
sent difficulties, are prepared to adopt Mr. Forde’s suggestion.

The revenue to be set apart for the purposes of the loan is
that half of the Customs duties levied in the Moorish ports which
still remain unpledged fo the Spanish Government, and Her
Majesty’s Government understand that the Sultan is prepared to
assign this revenue as security to the contractors;

) Earl Russell to My. Drummond Hay.
(Extract.) Foreign Office, October 10, 1861.

Her Majesty’s Government understand that the Sultan is pre-
pared to assign for the purposes of the loan to be raised in this
country, to enable him to meet the present demands of Spain,
one-half of the receipts of the Custom-houses at the Moorish
ports, the other half being already pledged to Spain.

It appears also from the communications which have passed
between Sir John Crampton and the Spanish Government, that
the latter disclaim having any lien or claim whatever on the half
:lf; the Customs of the ports of Morocco which is not pledged to

em., .

Mr. Forde, who has been in communication with the capital-
ists in this country on the subject of the loan, appears to be of
opinion that under the security offered by the proposed Conven-
tion, not only may the limited amount now contemplated be
raised on moderate terms, but even a sufficient sum to extricate
Morocco from all her debt to Spain. o

Her Majesty’s Government are however indisposed, as ab
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t advised, to undertake for more than is staied in the Draft
gnvenﬁon. That 'sum-will ‘suffice to meet the present ne-
cessities of Morocco, and the interference of Her Majesty’s Go-
vernment in the manner proposed may be justified not only by
the urgency of the case, which admits of no delay, but also by
the moderate amount of the sum at stake. :

It may also be more to the advantage of the Sultan that his
first trial of the money market should be made on a small scale ;
for if, as Her Majesty’s Government do not doubt will be the
case, the Moorish Government punctually fulfils its engagement
on the present occasion, it would appeal to the British capitalists
. on any future occasion with all the advantage resulting from a

well-established credit.

‘With a view also to the same object, her Majesty’s Govern-
ment are of opinion that the Moorish Government would do well
to provide for the early extinction of the loan now to be con-
tracted, by assigning a liberal per-centage for the sinking fund.
If by reason of the Convention the loan can be obtained at a
lower rate of interest, the Moorish Government might do well to
appropriate for the sinking fund, in addition to any other sum,
the difference between such moderate rate of interest and that
which it is understood they were prepared to pay; and, moreover,
if Morocco really possesses the abundant means which are attri-
buted to it, and only requires some shoyt time and a favourable
opportunity to render those means available, there can be no real
difficulty in stipulating that such an amount should be assigned
in each year for the redemption of the loan as would insure the
extinction of the whole debt within a very limited period.

The%)raft Convention does not specify the particular Agent
of the British Government into whose hands the proceeds of the
Moorish Customs appropriated to the loan should be paid ; but
it will probably be found most convenient in practice that Her
Majesty’s Consular authorities at the several ports should be
charged with this duty under the superintendence of Her
Maijesty’s Consul at Tangier. .

presume that the Moorish Government will not hesitate to
engage in some binding form, until the loan is paid off, not to in-
terfere by prohibitions with the export of Moorish produce of
which the export is now allowed, and to take no steps of a fixed
nature which may interfere with the development of the trade
of Morocco with foreign countries. This might be done by an
official note addgessed to yourself.
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(8) Mz, Drummond Hay to Earl Russell—Received October 11.y
{Extract.) Tangier, October 2, 1861,

Hadj Abderrahman Ajee, the officer who has been sent here
by the Sultan with full powers to make arrangements about the
negotiation of the loan, called upon me this morning to express
the gratitude of the Moorish Government for the proposed aid
of Itlhe Briti;h Goth;o Conventi tnining the

e says he is pre sign a Convention containing
terms yt}),:r Lordship thinks proper to require regarding the
gnarantee to be given, and therefore suggests that the wording
of the stipulation should be drawn up in England.

{9) Myr. Drummond Hay to Earl Russell.—(Received Nov. 1.)
(Extract.) Tangier, October 22, 1861.

I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Lord-
ship’s despatches of the 10th instant.

Ajee says his full powers would hardly authorize him to accede
to the proposed terms, without a reference to the Sultan ; that
a8 the Spanish Cortes were about to meet, it was of the greatest
fmportance no time should be lost ; that it would require about
a fortnight to communicate with the Sultan by letter, and that
written explanations upon subjects little understood by this
Government were a very unsatisfactory manner of negotiation.
He therefore said it would be conferring a very great favour upon
the Moorish Government, and upon himself, if I would consent
to proceed with him by sea to Rabat, where the Sultan had
arrived, and to explain zizd zoce the propositions of the British
‘Government, and to ask that he should receive the fullest au-
thority to settle all matters on the arrival of Mr. Forde, who I
Iearn is expected to arrive at Gibraltar to-day.

Taking into consideration these suggestions, and as I coincided
entirely with Hadj Abderrahman on the importance of settling
all matters, if possible, with the Sultan zizé voce, I applied at
once to Captain Warden, the senior naval officer at Gibraltar, for
-one of Her Majesty’s steamers, and I proceeded to Rabat with
the Moorish Plenipotentiary on the evening of the 18th.

‘We had bad weather, and could not land till the 20th instant.

On my arrival, the Chief Ooozeer called upon me, and fixed my
audience with the Sultan for the following mornihg.

After I had made known to His Majesty the object of my
visit, he expressed himself as being most gmateful to Her



FOURTH NEXERCISE. P

my’e Government for the. strong interest they took in his
w . He remarked that “true friends are known in the
hour of misfortune,” and added that, as he had required the aid
of a friendly Government, it was a great relief for him to feel
that it came from a Government whose actions were always
.marked by disinterested feelings, and whose aim was to promote
. and goodwill between other nations. His Majesty said,
I shall never forget the hand that has been extended to me in
adversity.”

His Majesty informed me that he should give the fullest

owers to Hadj Abderrahman Ajee (after hearing the terms

r. Forde had to propose on the part of the contractors for the
loan) to fill up the blanks of the proposed Convention.

is Majesty informed me that he intended to march to
Morocco when affairs were arranged about the evacuation of
Tetuan; that he had sent several officers with troops to collect
arrears of taxes from districte which had not paid them for three
years ; and he said that before he arrived at Morocco he hoped
to bave collected in taxes alone, in grain and money, upwards of
2,000,000 of dollars, and to have punished those Chiefs who
when they knew the precarious position he had been placed in
during the Spanish war, had set at nought his authority, and
withheld the receipts of taxes received from his subjects. I
must now,” said His Majesty, *show my people I can reward
the subject and punish the traitor.”

His Majesty observed that it was sound advice the British
Government had given him about paying as much as it was in
his power to do towards the sinking fund, so as to extinguish the
debt, and he added that he desired to show not omly to the
British Government that their kind confidence had not been mis-
gaoed, but to gain also the future goodwill and confidence of

ritish capitalists. His Majesty went on, however, to say, that
he confided in my discretion in the arrangement with Mr. Forde,
and therefore would give the fullest powers to 8Seed Abderrahman
Ajee to sign with me the Convention.

His Majesty requested me not only to express to Her Majesty’s"
Government his gratitude for the timely aid they had afforded
him, but also for my visit to Rabat.

After the interview with His Majesty, I embarked yesterday
on board Her Majesty’s steam-ship “Trident,” and arrived here
this morning.

T now await alone the arrival of Mr. Forde, {o learn the terms
of the contractors, to draw up and sign the Convention.
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Hadj Abderrahman-Ajee has exhibited to me the full powers
he has received, and he is prepared to address me a note regard-
ing prohibitions on the exportation of produce in the sense your
Lordship has suggested, ‘after the signature of the Convention,

(10) Earl Russell to Mr. Drummond Hay. .
' Foreign Office, November 2, 1861.

Sm,~1I have received your despatches of the 22nd October,
and I have to acquaint you that I entirely approve of your having
-proceeded to Rabat to have a personal interview with the Sultan
of Morocco. :

I conclude, from a telegram that I have received from Sir John
Crampton reporting Mr. Forde’s passage through Madrid with
the Convention which you had signed with the Moorish Govern-
ment, that Mr. Forde's interview with the Moorish Plenipoten-
tiary resulted in a satisfactory understanding on the subject of
the loan.

Sir John Crampton has reported to me that Mulia Abbas has
concluded a Convention with the Spanish Government, accord-
ing to which Tetuan will be evacuated on the payment of
38,000,000 dollars, but that if the money is not forthcoming
within five months, the Convention will be void ; and that as
regards the remaining 10,000,000 dollars of the indemnity, half
of the Customs revenues of Morocco is to be handed over to a
Spanish Commissioner until the whole sum is paid off.

On this I have to observe, that it seems to me that the Spanish
Government have properly fixed a term for the payment to be
made, which is to be followed by the evacuation of Tetuan ; and
that the Sultan should not hesitate to appeal to the loyalty and
Entriotism of his subjects to enable him to fulfil the conditions

y which that evacuation will be secured. —I have, &c. '

(signed)  RusseLL.

(11) Mr. Drummond Hay to Earl Russell.—Received Nov. 8.)
(Extract.) Tangier, October 24, 1861.

.. Mnr. Forde has arrived, and he has had several interviews with
Hadj Abderrahman Ajee, the Moorish Plenipotentiary, and with

myself,
Mr, Forde could not give Hadj Abderrahman any positive in-
formation regarding the rate of interest which would be required




FOURTH nnom. 14t

by the contractors for the'loan; in consequence, as he said, of the
constant variation that takes place in the money-market. Hadj
Abderrahman therefore observed, that it would be unwise for
him to insert in the Convention the rate of interest, as he was
very ignorant of such matters, and that if he put too large a
rate it would entail a loss, whilst, on the other hand, if he in-
serted a low rate it might stop the negotiation for the loan.

Under these circumstances, and as Mr. Forde had told us that
a copy of the Convention would probably have to be embodied
in the bonds or scrips, Hadj Abderrahman agreed with me in
thinking that to prevent a further loss of time it would be ad-
visable to sign the Convention and send it to your Lordship,
leaving in blank the annual rate of interest and rate by way of
ginking fund. In a letter he has addressed me, he has requested
me to beg Her Majesty’s Government to have the kindness to
fill up these blanks when the loan is arranged with the contrac-
tors,

I trust that if I have erred in consenting to ask Her Majesty’s
Government to accede to this proposition, and in having signed
the Convention without filling up the blanks, I shall be excused
by your Lordship under the peculiar circumstances of the case
and the urgent necessity that no time should be lost.

Should your Lordship disapprove, then the Convention can be
returned.

If your Lordship accedes to the request of the Moorish Pleni-
potentiary, then I might be apprised by telegram of the rate of
interest and rate for sinking fund which may be fixed upon, and
baving inserted these items, I could send the Convention forth-
with for ratification to the Sultan.

I have the honour to enclose herewith a copy of a certificate
given by her Majesty’s Consul to Mr. Forde at his request, con-
taining an average return of the imports and exports of Morocco
durilz‘:g‘-four late years, and certifying also the rate of duties which
are levi

According to this calculation half the receipts of the Customs
would amount to about £161,000.

This leaves an ample margin, and will, I think, afford excellent
security fo the contractors. I have no doubt Mr. Reade’s calcu-
lations are exact, being taken from the Consular Trade Returna.
- I have the honour to transmit herewith translations of the
letter addressed to me by Seed Abderrahman Ajee, of the in-
structions he has given Mr. Forde in two separate letters, of the
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Royal Mandate empowering Mr. Forde to act as his agent, and
of the Royal mandate giving'full powers to Ajee to sign the
Convention. ‘ ‘

From the Inclosure No. 4 your Lordship will learn that Mr.
Forde is instructed by Ajee not to fix the interest or conclude
the loan without a reference to Her Majesty’s Government ; the
reasons given for this step are stated in Ajee’s letter to me,
namely, that he desires to make sure there will be no hitch at
‘Madrid about the evacuation of Teutan, and payment of the
8,000,000 dollars before the loan is made, as the Sultan does
not want the money, except with the view of paying the Spanish
Government for the evacuation of Teutan.

In the letter addressed by Ajee to myself your Lordship will
-also observe that he engages on the part of the Sultan that no
prohibition not existing at the present time will be imposed on
trade; indeed, he tells me he hopes that the existing prohibition
on the exportation of wheat may ere long be removed.

He also engages that the payment of all charges shall be made
in English, Spanish, or French coin, and not Moorish coi
which, though free from alloy, would be inconvenient to transml:%
to England or Gibraltar. French and Spanish gold and silver
‘coins are current throughout this country; English sovereigns
are more rare,

I have further the honour to transmit to your Lordship the
Convention which has been signed this day by the Moorish
Plenipotentiary and myself.

Inclosure 1 in No. 11.
Statement of the Average Annual Value of the Morocco Trade.

This is to certify that the total value of goods imported at the
several ports of Morocco during the years 1856, 1857, and 1858,
es well as during the last mine months .of the year 1860,
amounted, on an average, to about £76,397 per month, or to
£916,764 per annum, whilst the exports at the same ports, and
during the same period, averaged about £77,067 per month, or
£924,912 per annum,

N.B.—The whole of the year 1859, and the first quarter of
the succeeding year, are excluded from the above-stated period,
on account of the general stagnation of trade, which then pre-
wailed at the Moorish ports, in consequence of the war with
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It is hereby further ocertified, that the import duties in this
. country ‘amount to 10 per'cent., and the export duties to about
25 per cent. of the goods upon which they are levied.
Her Britannic Majesty’s Consulate,
Tangier, October 23, 1561.
(signed)  THos. F. REaDR,

Inclosure 2 in No. 11.
Hads Abderrhaman-el-Ajee to Mr. Drummond Hay.
(Translation.)  (Extract.)  (After the usual preamble.)

As you have heard from our Lord the Sultan, in your late
audience, the expressions of his Majesty’s gratitude for the
friendly aid afforded by the British Government in facilitating
the loan, it is unnecessary for us to repeat that we shall never
forget the kindness and sympathy that has been shown to our
Government in & moment of great difficulty.

We will not conceal from you, however, that we have been
somewhat disappointed that a fresh delay has occurred in effect-

- ing the loan, in consequence of Mr. Forde being unable to afford
us any positive information regarding the rate of interest which
may be demanded by the contractors for the loan: he merely
tells us that it may vary from 4 to 7 per cent. We do not like
to fix the rate of interest which is to be paid, lest, in naming too
high a rate, we entail a loss ; and, on the other hand, if we name
too low a rate, there might be difficulty in contracting the loan.
It is on this account, and after due consultation with yourself and
Mr. Forde, and in order not to lose further time by a further re-
ference to England, we decided on leaving in blank in the Con-
vention the rate of interest to be paid, and on asking your
Government to add to the favours already conferred, by insert-
ing in the Convention the rate of interest at which the loan may
be offected ; and we have directed the Moorish Commissioner,
Mr. Forde, as you will learn by the inclosed copies of his in-
structions, to consult with the British Government before the
rate of interest is fixed, and, under any circumstances, before he
concludes the loan. 'Whatever the British Government approves
of and inserts, our Lord the Sultan and we shall accept and ap-

" prove of.

We further acquaint you, for the satisfaction of your Govern-

ment and the contractors of the loan, that no prohibition, not
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existing now, will be imposed on the exports or imports, until
the ‘complete' redemption of the loan takes place. "We have also
to state that the quarterly charges paid to the British Commis-
sioner will be effected in British, French, or Spanish coin.

‘We inclose, for your information, a copy of the mandate sent
by the Sultan to Forde. With this authority, and the instruc-
tions we have given him, he is empowered to sign all bonds or
documents requisite on such occasions. 'We have, however, in-
structed Mr. Forde, before he closes with the contractors for the
loan to apply to your Government. Our object in giving this
instruction is to provide against the contingency of the possi-
bility of the Spanish Government withdrawing from the propo-
gitions they had made, through your Government, that the
Sultan should offer 3,000,000 dollars, and that this sam
would be accepted and Tetuan evacuated. 'We have written to
Maulai Abbas to tell him what has taken place here, and to say
that we believe and hope the 2,000,000 dollars will be ready to
be paid in England before the expiration of the month of
November, and to suggest that he communicate this to the
Spanish Government, saying that he is ready to sign the Treaty
for the payment of the money and evacuation of Tetuan, the day
he hears the money is at hand ; that if the Spanish Government
make no difficulty, Mulai Abbas is to communicate this to the
British Ambassador, who, we hope, will kindly telegraph it to
your Government, and the loan be thus effected.  But, if fresh
impediments are offered, then Mulai Abbas will likewise com-
municate with her Majesty’s Government, who, we hope, would
then suspend the negotiation for the loan until some arrange-
ment be entered into with the Spanish Government, for, as you
well understand, we do not desire to have this money on our
hands and to pay the charges thereon, except for the purpose of
effecting the object we have in view.

We also enclose a copy of the letter we have addressed to
Forde on this subject.

In conclusion, we again beg that every expedition should be
used in bringing this negotiation to a conclusion. It is of vital
importance to our Lord the Sultan, who is most anxious that
Mulai Abbas should return to resume the Caliphat of the Noz-
thern Provinces as soon as he is enabled to arrange, by Treaty,
with the Spanish Government, when the evacuation of Tetuan
and the payment of the 3,000,000 dollars is to take place. If

“fresh delay occurs we know not what might be the consequences.

Peace. 18 Rabea the Second, year 1278, (23rd October, 1861.)
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Inclogure-3in No. 11.
Hadj Abderrhaman-el-Ajec lo Mr. Forde.
(Translation.)
Praise to the one God.
To the English merchant, Lewis Forde, Esq. We salute you.
Be it known to you, our Lord the Sultan (may God protect
him !) having heard of your zeal, intelligence, and fidelity has
been pleased to appoint you as his Commissioner for contracting
a loan of £426,000 sterling in London, and he also empowers you
to pay this sum over to our Lord the Viceroy of the Sultan, Mulal
Abbas, whenever you receive directions to that effect.

‘We send you herewith the Shereefian mandate of our Lord,
bearing his signet, for the general information of yourself and of
all whom it may concern ; and, further, a certified copy of the
full powers given to us by our Lord to conclude the Convention
with the Minister of Great Britain in these dominions, in which
Convention our Lord the Sultan gives, as security for the loan,
half the receipts of all the ports of his dominions, and in which
will be stated the annual rate to be paid for interest, and also a
further annual rate to be paid for the redemption of the loan.

The security as given by our Lord is very ample, and will,
with God’s help, exceed considerably the said charges.

‘We now have to instruct you to proceed to London without
delay. It is most important no time should be lost, We
authorize you to arrange about the rate of interest, and rate for
the redemption of the loan. 'We have further to authorize you,
as in accordance with the authority vested in you by the mandate
of our Lord the Sultan, to sign and seal all bonds or other docu-
ments on behalf of this Government, relative to the loan, or for
the issue of bonds prescribed by the usages on such occasions in
England or elsewhere.

Finished, 18th Rabea the second, year 1278, (23rd October,
1861). The Officer of the Court, exalted by God,

(signed) Hans Aannamnm-n-Amn
‘Whom God assist.

Inclosure 4 in No. 11.
Hadj Abderrahman-e-Ajec to My. Forde.

(Translation.)
In the name of the most merciful God 1
To the English merchant, Mr, Lewis Forde. We salute you.
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‘We send you this private letter in addition to that which we
addressed you under this-date, and we direct you not to come to

any final settlement with the contractor for the loan regarding

the several charges thereon, until you have consulted with the
British Government, and they express their approval ; and like-
wise to consult the British Government about the arrangement
of the rate of interest, and rate for the redemption of the loan,
and act according to their good advice.

‘We have begged them to let you know when to bring o a con-
-clusion the negotiation for the loan, as it is for a particular object
only that the loan is to be effected. A

Finished, 19th Rabea the second, year 1278 (24th October,
1861). The Officer of the Court, exalted by God,

(signed) HADJ ABDERRAHMAM-EL-AJEE.
‘Whom God assist.

Inclosure 5 in No. 11.
» Full Power to Mr. Forde.
(The Royal Signet of the Sultan of Morocco, Seedi Mahomed.)

(Translation.) . »

Be it known from this our letter (may God exalt its validity,
and render it luminous as the sun and moon !) that we have em-
powered the merchant, Lewis Forde, to raise a loan of 2,000,000
dollars from the capitalists (subjects) of the British Goverment,
and that he is also authorized to deliver the amount to whom-
soever may be selected by our brother, the Honourable Mulai
Abbas. May God protect him on account of the Spanish
Government, but that he should not take upon himself (to pay
the money) except at the time and to the person as he may be
directed. '

Peace.

10th Rabea the second, year 1278 (October 16, 1861).

Inclosure 6 in No. 11.4
Full Power to Hadj Abderrakman-el-Ajee.

(The Royal Signet of the Sultan of Morocco, Seedi Mahomed.)
(Translation.) '
In the name of God, the merciful and clement! There is no
, Strength or power but in God, the most high and mighty.
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Be it known' by this our letter, ‘elevated and protected by God,
and luminous as the sun and moon, that we have, by the help of
God, granted to our employed, the Honourable Hadj Abderrah-
man-el-Ajee, full power and authority to conclude with the
Minister, Mr. John Hay Drummond Hay, the Convention, and
to treat with the merchant, Lewis Fords, regarding the arrange-
ments relative to the loan of 2,000,000 dollars, to be advanced
by the British capitalists, and that we shall in no way disapprove
of any one of the arrangements (which he, the said Hadj Abder-
rahman-el-Ajee, may come to in the negotiation), for we have

ceded to him all the authority (requisite) to act in the matter,.

according to his own free judgment, and without having to refer
again to us for instructions. He has our full powers, and what-
soever he may do will be well done. :

Peace.

Done on the 14th day of the present month (of Rabea the

second) of this year (1278) October, 20, 1861).

Inclosure 7 in No. 11.

Convention between Her Majesty and the Emperor of Moroceo, to
enable kim to raise a Loan ; signed at Tangier, October 24, 1861.

His Majesty the Emperor of Morocco being desirous of raising
a loan of four hundred and twenty-six thousand pounds sterling
in London, to enable him to meet his engagements with her
Catholic Majesty, and having requestad the good offices of Her

Majesty the Queen of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and -

Ireland, with a view to facilitate that object ; and Her Britannic
Majesty having agreed to the request of His Imperial Majesty,
Their Majesties have resolved to conclude a Convention on the
the subject, and have named as their Plenipotentiaries (that is to
8ay) :— .
yI)Iet Majesty the Queen of the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Ireland, John Hay Drummond Hay, Esquire, Com-
nion of the Most Honourable Order of the Bath, Her Minister
ﬁaident at the Court of His Majesty the Sultan of Morocco.
And His Majesty the Sultan of Morocco, His Officer the
learned Fakee Seed Hadj Abderrahman el Ajee. ¢
‘Who, after having communicated to each other their respective

full powers, have agrced upon and concluded the following

Articles :— :
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ArTioLE I

His Majesty the Emperor of Morocco engages, that from and
“after the ratification of the present Convention, there shall be
paid over to & Commissioner named by her Britannic Majesty,
fifty per cent. of the Custom duties at all the ports of the Empire
of Morocco.

Her Britannic Majesty on her part engages that, six weeks
before the period at which the half-yearly charges on the loan of
four hundred and twenty-six thousand pounds sterling, which the
emperor of Morocco is about to raise, shall become due, she will
transfer to the agent or agents of the contractors for that loan the
sums so to be received by the Commissioner of Her Majesty, or so
much thereof as may be sufficient to pay the interest [on the said
loan, at the annual rate of per cent., together with a further
annual rate of cent. by way of sinking fund for the re-
demption of the loan].*

But Her Britannic Majesty shall not be liable for the payment
of more than she receives.

In case the sums received should be more than sufficient for
such half-yearly payments, the surplus shall be repaid by the
British Commissionee to the officers of the Emperor of Morocco
duly authorized to receive the same.

ArTioLe II,

‘When by means of the payments provided for in the preced-
ing Article, the whole of the loan of four hundred and twenty-
six thousand pounds sterling shall have been repaid, together
with the interest due thereon, the Commissioner of Her Britan-
nic Majesty shall cease to receive the fifty per cent. of the
Custom duties at the ports above mentioned, and shall repay to
the said officers of the Emperor of Morocco any balance that may
be remmmng in his hands,

Armicr TI1.

The present Convention shall be ratified by Her Majesty the
Queen of Great Britain and Ireland, and by His Majesty the
Emperor of Morocco, and the ratifications shall be exchanged at
'i[l‘a.nglfe:r as soon as possible within forty days from the date

ereo;

hd In the amended Convention, laid before Parliament separately, thess words
to--“nnd nnhng fand on the said loan, the amount of such sums

fifteen per cent. on the above-mentioned sum of
fourhmdmfmdtmty-uxthmndponnhmhng )
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- In witness whereof the respective Plenipotentiaries have
gigned the'present-'Convention, and have fixed thereto their
respective seals,

Done at Tangier the twenty-fourth day of October, in the year
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one, corresponding to the
Moorish date of the eighteenth day of the month of Rabbea the
Seolc:nd, in the year one thousand two hundred and seventy-
eight.

(L.8) J. H. DruMmonD Hay.
(L.S.)  (Signature of the Mocrish Plenipotentiary.)

(12) Mr. Drummond Hay to Earl Russell.,
(Received November 4.)
(Extract.) Tangier, October 24, 1861.

Since I had the honour of addressing to your Lordship my
previous despatch of this date, Mr. Forde has decided upon re-
turning to England via Madrid, in order that he may learn from
Mulai Abbas, or from Her Majesty’s Envoy, as requested by the
Moorish Plenipotentiary, whether the Spanish Government
adheres to their intention of evacuating Tetuan as soon as the
8,000,000 dollars are paid by the Sultan.

The overland route will only cause a delay of two or three
days, and Mr. Forde will, at Madrid, be enabled to learn whether
the loan should be negotiated at once; for if the Spanish
Government withdraw from their intention, as announced to Her
Majesty’s Government previously to my mission to Mequinez,
the Sultan would not, of course, desire to raise the loan, which
would entail on his revenue a heavy annual charge,

(13)  Earl Russell to Mr. Drummond Hay.
(Extract.) Foreign Office, November 26, 1861.

I have received your despatch of the 24th October, reporting
your p: ings in regard to the Convention which you were
authorized to sign with a Moorish Plenipotentiary with a view to
facilitate the raising in this country of a loan to enable the
Moorish Government to meet the pressing demands of Spain,
and so to bring about the immediate evacuation of Tetuan, and
inclosing the Convention which you had signed that day.

I have to acquaint you that Her Majesty’s Government entirely
spprove your conduct in regard to this matter.
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You will have learned by the telegram which, at Mr. Forde's
request, 'way sent to you on the 20th instant, the terms on which
he was enabled to raise the money. Those terms appear to me
to be very advantageous to the Moorish Government, and I doubt
not will be thankfully accepted by them.

You will also have been apprised of my subsequent telegram
of the same date of the alteration which it was necessary to make
in that part of the first Article of the Convention in which blanks,
to be filled up in England, were left at the time of signing, in
order to adapt the terms of the Article to the actual state of
things.

H%: Majesty’s ratification of the amended English version,
alone, is sent to you this day; but it will be necessary that an
amended copy of the Convention, bearing the same date as the
priginal, should be signed in English and Arabic, and trans-
mitted to this country simultaneously with the Emperor of
Morocco’s ratification, which should be, if possible, in both
‘anguages.

(14) Earl Russell to Mr. Drummond Hay.
: Foreign Office, December 3, 1861.

_ Sir,—1I transmit, for your information, copies of & correspon-
dence which has passed with Mr. Forde relative to the Moorish.
loan which is now being raised in this country.—I am, &ec.

(signed)  RusseLL.

Inclosure No. 1 in No. 14.
Myr. Forde to Earl Russell.

YM ILorp,—The contractors for the Moorish loan having
raised a question whether. the language of the Convention be<
tween the Moorish Government and the Government of Her
Majesty extends to the bonus of 15 per cent. proposed to be
given to the subscribers beyond the £426,000, I shall feel
- obliged if, on behalf of the British Government, you will kindly
state in writing that there will be no objection to the extension
of the Convention to cover the nominal value of the proposed loan,
say £501,176; I on behalf of the Government of the Emperor of
Morocco, agreeing that as soon as practicable a supplemental
Convention shall be entered into, by which the terms of the
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existing, Convention shall be expressly extended to the whole
sum of £501,176 10s. and interest thereon.—I have, &c.
' (signed) =~ Lewis Forpe

Inclosure 2 in No, 14,
Myr. Layard to Mr. Forde.
Foreign Office, November 28, 1861.

Sir,—I am directed by Earl Russell to acknowledge the re-
ceipt of your letter of the 27th instant, stating that the con-
tractors for the Moorish loan have raised a question whether the -
terms of the Convention between the Moorish Government and
Her Majesty's Government extend to the bonus of 15 per cent.
proposed to be given to the subscribers beyond the £426,000,
and requesting to know whether there will be any objection on
the part of the British Government to the extension of the Con-
vention to cover the nominal value of proposed loan, say
£501,176, provided you should agree on behalf of the Moorish
Government that as soon as possible a supplemental Convention
shall be entered into, by which the terms of the existing Con-.
vention shall be expressly extended to the whole sum of
£501,176 108, and interest thereom. : : ’

I am directed by Lord Russell to inform you in reply that
Her Majesty’s Government will not, under the circumstances
stated, object to the extension of the present Convention, so as
to make it in accordance with the intentions of the Contracting
Parties as laid down in your letter.—I have, &c.,

(signed) A. H. Lavagrp,

(15) Earl Russell to Mr. Drummond Hay
Foreign Office, December 11, 1861,

8ir,—You will have seen by the correspondence with Mr.
Forde, of which copies were inclosed in my despatch of the 3rd
instant, that it was considered to be necessary that a Supple-,
mentary Convention should be concluded between Her Majesty
and the Emperor of Morocco, by which the provisions of the.
Convention of the 24th of October should be extended to cover
the amount of stock which it should be necessary to raise to pro-
ducs the net sum of £426,000, and to provide for any charges
for bonus. » :
. I have gince the date of that despatch, been in comwunication
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with Mr. Forde, who, you will have seen in the correspondence,
undertook to explain to the Moorish Government the necessity
for a Supplementary Convention, and I understand from him
that he is about to send to Tangier his partner, Mr. William
Henry Smith, to act on his behalf with the Moorish Govern-
ment.

In anticipation of Mr. Smith’s obtaining the concurrence of
the Moorish Government in regard to the Supplementary Con-
vention, I at once authorize you, on learning from Mr. Smith
that he has prepared the Moorish Government for its reception,
formally to announce your readiness to conclude and sign such a
Convention,.—I am, &c.

(signed) RusseLr.

(16) Mr. Drummond Hay to Earl Russell,
(Received December 12.)
(Extract) Tangier, December 4, 1861.

I awaited the receipt of your Lordskip’s despatch of the 26th
ultimo, before I made out the amended copies of the Con-
vention.

This morning, the Moorish Plenipotentiary and I signed the
amended copies, bearing the date of the 24th October. I will
transmit an amended co]iy to England when I receive the Sul-
tan’s ratification, which I expect in a few days.

With regard to the loan, I made Mulai Abbas acquainted with
the terms of the contractors, as reported by Mr. Forde, and I
informed his Highness that your Lordship considered the terms
very advantageous.

His Highness replied that he did not well comprehend the
monetary system by which loans are effected in Europe, but that
your Lordship’s opinion sufficed for their satisfaction, though he
did understand that the aggregate annual amount to be paid was
less than the Moorish Government had been led to suppose
would be required.

(17) Mr. Drummond Hay to Earl Russell,
(Received January 2, 1862.)
Tangier, December 22, 1861.

My Lorp,—I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of
your Lordship’s despatch of the 11th instant respecting a Supple-




mentary Convention to be cancluded between Her Majesty and
the Emperor of ‘Moroecs, extending the provisions of the Con-
vention of the 34th October, 8o as to cover the amount of stock
. which should be raised to produce the sum of £426,000, and to
peovide for any charges for bonus,

I have delayed tuking any steps in this matter until Mr,
William Henry Smith arrives from England.—I have, &c.

(signed) J. H. Drummonp Hav,

(18) Mr. Drummond Hay to Earl Russell,
(Received January 12, 1862.)
Tangier, December 22, 1861.

My Lorp,—1 have the honour to transmit herewith the Sul-
tan’s ratification of the Convention concluded between Great
Rritain and Morocco on the 24th October last, and also the
amended original of that Convention.

I further inclose the document you directed me to transmit to
your Lordship, certifying the exchange of ra.tIifliJcatiox:.

ave, &c.

(signed)  J. H. Drummoxp Har,

(19 Myr. Drummond Hay to Farl Russell.
(Received January 11, 1863.)
(Extract) Tangier, December 30, 1861.

Mr. W. H. Smith arrived yesterday, and had an interview with
Hadj Abderrahaman-el-Ajee, at which I was present.

Hadj Abderrahman sent this morning a telegram to Mr. Forde,
worded as follows :—¢ Conclude loan on terms of prospectus, and
deposit the money in the London and County Bank.”

(20) . My, Drummond Hay to Earl Russell.
(Received January 12.)
(Extract.) Tangier, January 3, 1862.

Mr. Smith has communicated to the Moorish Plenipotentiary
the Supplementary Convention, and I have also made known to
Mulai Abbas why the provisions contained in this Convention
are thought to be requisite. . .

His Highness, as also Hadj Abderrahman-el-Ajee, have replied
that whenever tidings are received that the loan has been con-
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cJuded \on the ftérms of the prospectus which had been communi-
cated to the Sultan, they will he willing to accept the Supple-
mentary Convention ; but, under the present circumstances, ag
some alteration might be required in the wording of the Con-
vention, if the loan is not effected on the original terms, they
think it advisable to awsit further communication from Mr..

Forde regarding the progress of the loan.

(21) Myr. Drummond Hay to Ear! Russell.
(Received February 1.) -
Tangier, January 18, 1862.
- M¥ Lorp,—I have the honour to transmit, herewith, the Sup-
plementary Convention signed this day by Hadj Abderrahman-

el-Ajee and by myself.—1I have, &ec.
(signed)  J. H. DrumMmoxp Hay.
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V.

. Papers respecting the Assassination of Dr. McCarthy at Pisa.
: (Time 3 hours.—See Instructions Page 8.)

@) Consul Macbean to Earl Russel.
(Received January 28.)
(Telegraphic.) Leghorn, January 28, 1862.

Dr. McCarthy was stabbed in his own home, at Pisa, on Wed-
-mesday afternoon, the 15th instant, by one of two luggage-porters
who insisted on following him from the railway terminus on his
return from visiting patients at Leghorn.

The assassin claimed payment, although he had done no work;
when refused, he became grossly abusive, and, on being turned
out of the house, stabbed Dr. McCarthy in the thigh and in the
abdomen,

Surgical and medical assistance was promptly obtained.

Both the porters were arrested the same evening, and are in
custody, awaiting trial.

Mr. Burnside, of this Consulate, called that night at Dr.
MecCarthy’s house to offer assistance, and afterwards went to as-
certain that the assassin was in custody.

The Vice-Consul went, on Thursday, and conferred with the
Prefect and Pretors of Pisa. He assisted, on Friday, taking Dr.
McCarthy’s deposition. He was summoned on Saturday, and

‘sat up that night with Dr. McCarthy, remaining with him until
he died, at 3 P.M. on Sunday afternoon, the 19th instant. Dr.
McCarthy suffered most intensely. His wounds were more ex-
tensive than at first imagined. His wife much stunned by the
_shock, but bearing up wonderfully. :

(2) Sir_J. Hudson to Earl Russell—(Received January 19.)
. - Turin, January 19, 1862.
My Lorp,—I have the honour to inclose to your Lordship,

herewith, copy of a letter from Consul Macbean, reporting the
assassination of Dr. McCarthy at Pisa.—I have, &c.

(signed)  Jamzs Hupson.

-
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Inclosure in No. 2.
Consul Macbean to Sir J. Hudson.
Leghorn, January 17, 1862.

. 81r,~I have to report to you that a British subject, Dr.
George McCarthy, was stabbed at Pisa, by a luggage-porter, at
about § P.u. on Wednesday, the 15th instant.

Dr. McCarthy has been for several years established at Pisa,
where he practises during the winter, but he is frequently called
over to visit English patients in Leghorn.

On the morning of the 15th Dr. McCarthy came to Leghorn.
He returned to Pisa by the 4-20 p.M. train, accompanied by an
English lady, who went over on a visit to Mrs, McCarthy, taking
with her a small bonnet-box or trunk. I understand that their
carriage was followed from the railway terminus by two porters ;
that at first Dr. McCarthy did not think it necessary to employ
either ; that one of the men, however, carried up the box, and
was paid for doing so ; that the other man then came forward
and demanded to be also paid ; that Dr. McCarthy having refused
to pay the second porter, the latter became abusive, and Dr,
McCarthy pushed him out of his house, upon which the porter
drew his knife and stabbed Dr. McCarthy in the abdomen.

Mzr. Burnside, the Clerk of this Consulate happening to be
that night in Pisa, called at Dr. McCarthy’s to offer assistance.
Yesterday I sent over the Vice-Consul, who saw the Prefect
-and Prsetor on the subject, and at the suggestion of the latter,
the Vice-Consul returned this morning to Pisa, to assist at the
taking of Dr. McCarthy’s deposition.

I regret to say that the medical men in attendance represent
the wound as very serious, and Dr. McCarthy’slife to be in very
groat peri )

The occurrence has caused much sensation here, as well as at
Pisa, where Dr. McCarthy is held in much estimation on account
of his professional skill and benevolence of character.

I have, &c.
(signed)  ALkXx. MaoOBEAN.

8) Sir J. Hudson to Earl Russell—(Received Jan. 29.)
Turin, January 23, 1862, .

My Lorp,—With reference to my despatch of the 19th instant,
I'have the honour to inclose herewith to your Lordship extract
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from a letter from Consul Macbean giving further details re-
specting the assassination and subsequent death of Dr. McCarthy.
—1I have, &ec.

(signed)  James HubpeoN,

Inclosure in No. 3.

(Extract.) Consul Machean to Sir J. Hudson.
Leghorn, January 21, 1862.

At noon, on the 18th, the Vice-Consul was telegraphed for,
in consequence of the wish expressed by the medical attendants
of Dr. McCarthy that the identification of the assassin on the
part of the victim, should no longer be delayed. ~On communi-
cating with the authorities the Vice-Consul was informed that
the evidence against the murderer was such as to allow them to

dispense with the formality of identification.

" The Vice-Consul sat up with Dr. McCarthy on Saturday night,
and remained with him to the last. The patient was calm and
collected, his intellect clear to within a very short time of his
death, which occurred at 3 p.m., on Sunday. From the first he
allowed no angry or vindictive expression against his assassin to
escape him. On Sunday the Holy Communion was adminis-
tered by Mr. Green, the English clergyman.

A post mortem examination was made, when it was found
that the wound could not have proved otherwise than fatal

Dr. McCarthy was regarded as a very able man, and his death
~will be mourned by many who bad benefitted by his skill and
attentions.

The lawlessness of the facchini and hoatmen has long been a
subject of complaint on the part of the Tuscans as well as
strangers, and the authorities profess not to have at their dispo-
sal the means of repressing or protecting against such violence.

(4) Sir J. Hudson to Earl Russell.
(Received January 29.)
Turin, January 26, 1862.

My Lorp,—With reference to my despatches of the 19th
and of the 23rd instant, reporting the assassination and death of
Dr. McCarthy, of Pisa, I have the honour to inclose herewith
copy of a letter which I have received from Mr. John Fergus,
Chairman of a meeting convened at Pisa for taking into conside-
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.zation the insecurity to life arising from the lawlessness of the
rters, 'and .inclosing (for! itransmission a Memorial to Baron
icasoli, together with copy of my reply to the Chairman.—I

have, &c, .
(signed)  Jamms Hupson.

Inclosure 1 in No. 4.
Mr. Fergus to Sir J. Hudson.
Casa Gellatti, Pisa, January 23, 1862.
May it please your Excellency,

As Chairman of a meeting of British subjects, visitors, and
residents at this place, and by desire of the meeting, I bheg to
send you a Memorial to Baron Ricasoli, which you are respect-
fully requested to present to him.

The more immediate occasion of the meeting was the murder
of Dr. George M‘Carthy by one of the facchini, of which your
Excellency is no doubt apprized. But that deplorable event is
only one illustration among many which might be adduced of
the evils suffered by the community here from the inadequate
provision made for the prevention, the detection, or the punish-
ment of crime. I am directed by this meeting very earnestly to
solicit your Excellency’s interference for the protection of Her
Majesty’s subjects at Pisa, a large proportion of whom are
invalids seeking health from the climate, and especially sensitive
to the constant alarms and annoyances, as well as the frequent
-dangers, arising from the want of any efficient police.—I have, &c.

(signed) JonN FEraus.

Inclosure 2 in No. 4.
Sir J. Hudson to My. Fergus.
Turin, January 26, 1862.

. Smr,—T have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your
letter of the 23rd instant, which, as Chairman of a meeting of
British subjects, visitors, and residents at Pisa, you have ad-
dressed to me on the recent melancholy and horrible assassination
of Dr. M‘Carthy.

. Prior to its receipt I had been in possession of the facts of the
case by Her Majesty’s Consul at Leghorn, and I immediately
eommunicated the intelligence to this Government, which had,
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_I-found, already taken such measures as the atrocity of the case
demanded: :

This 'morning I waited upon the President of the Council, and
presented to his Excellency the Memorial which you transmitted
to me.

Baron Ricasoli deplores this most untoward event. He stig-
matized the act in those terms which I expected from a Minister
of the Interior. He was the first to depict in strong colours a
fact, notorious to all who have any acquaintance. with Pisa and
Leghorn, namely, the brutality of that particular class to whom
our unfortunate countryman bas fallen a victim ; and he ex-
pressed his determination to take such immediate measures for
their future guidance and control as will effectually meet the
object and desire of that meeting of which you are the Chair-
man, and which measures, I sincerely hope, will be sufficient to
calm present apprehension, and avert and prevent future dangers
and inconvenience,—I have, &c. :

’ (signed) Jdames Hupsow,

(&) Sir J. Hudson to Earl Russell—(Received February 11.) -
Turin, February 6, 1862.

- My Lorp,—1 have the honour to inclose to your Lordship
herewith copy of the Report of Her Majesty’s Consul at Leg-
horn of further particulars attending the assassination, death, and
burial of the late Dr. McCarthy of Pisa. :

- T have also the honour to inclose the copy of a letter and
memorial which I have received from the British residents and
visitors at Florence, on the subject of the porters of Florence. °

I have declined to present that Memorial to: Baron Ricasoli
for the reasoms stated in my reply to the Chairman of the meet-
ing of the residents, a copy of which reply I have also the

Benour to inclose herewith.—I have, &ec. :

g (signed)  James Hunson,

 Taclosure 1 in No. &
Cansil Machoan by Sir [, Khndion.
Yeghorn, Fanuary 96, 1862,
8m,—Y haws the honour to acknowledge receipt of your das,
bk of the Y8tA instant, in which, with reference to my
ot (dated I7th January) of the assessination of Dr,

o
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McCarthy, by & luggage-porter at Pisa, you instruct me to in-
form you if the assassin is already in custody, and to use my best
endeavours to have him brought to trial.

‘On Sunday evening, the 19th instant, I acquainted you, by
telegraph, that Dr. McCarthy died that afternoon after intense
‘suffering. - .

I have now to report that the assassin was arrested the same
evening that Dr. McCarthy was stabbed. The case has besn got
up for trial with most mnusual expedition ; for when the Vice-
Consul called on the Procuratore Regio of Pisa, on the 28th
instant, to make inquiries on the subject, he was informed that
‘the procés was complete, and that it had been returned by the
Pretore, and by the Juge & Instruction, to the office of the Pro-
curatore Regio, for transmission of Camera di Consiglio. The
Vice-Consul was, at the same time, informed that the other
porter, who had forced his services on Dr.. McCarthy, was still
in custody, but would probably be liberated, nothing having
transpired to inculpate him with the assassination.

In continuation of my despatch of the 17th instant, I beg
leave to state that the surgical assistance of Dr. Cuturi and of
Professor Marcacei, of Pisa, was promptly obtained, and that
Dr. Wilson, of Florence, passed the nights of the 15th, 16th,
and 17th instant in Dr, McCarthy’s house. .

I believe that everything was done for the deceased that sur-
gical skill could devise, for Dr. McCarthy was quite alive to
what was being done for him, and most wonderfully brought
his own professional knowledge, which was of a high order, to.
bear upon his own case. .

I stated, in my despatch of the 17th instant, that the Vice-
Consul had gone over that morning to Pisa to assist at the
taking of Dr. McCarthy’s deposition, when he acted as sworn
interpreter. It is due to the Pretore of Pisa to state that
nothing could exceed the consideration which he exhibited in
the taking of Dr. McCarthy’s evidence,

It results from the evidence that on Dr. McCarthy’s paying
the porter who had carried up the small box, referred to in my
former despatch, the assassin claimed payment alse, and, on being
refused, became grossly abusive, and was shut out of the house,
Dr. McCarthy retired to his own room, but the noise continuing
¢n the staircase, he became anxious lest it should disturb a
Russian lady who was not well, Madame de Tcheffkine, who'
resided on the first-floor apartment, underneath Dr. McCarthy's,”
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-and he went |out; for|the purpose' of going down stairs to close

-the street-door, It appears that he passed, on the staircase, the

-porter who had been paid, and that after getting beyond the
-door of the first-floor apartment; while turning a corner of the

" staircase, he came up to his assassin, who stabbed him in the

thigh and in the abdomen. Dr. McCarthy’s clothes are cut in
"other places, indicating that those were not the only thrusts
made at him, but all occurred so rapidly that it was only after
he had been wounded that he saw that his assailant was armed
with a knife,

I have carefully inquired into the circumstances attending
this atrocious murder, and I am relieved-to find that there is no
evidence whatever of Dr. McCarthy’s having given provocation,
or of his having drawn it ppon himself. Although very grossly
.abused, he did not strike the man, nor had they any scuffle to-

" gether, ag was at first insinuated.

On Saturday, the 18th, Dr. McCarthy became so rapidly
worse that the surgeons in attendance desired that the identifi-

" cation of the assassin by the victim, which they had at first ob-

jected to, should be no longer delayed. The Vice-Consul was
telegraphed for, and, on his communicating on the subject with
the authoritics, he was informed that the evidence was so con-
clusive as to allow that usual formality to be dispensed with.
The Vice-Consul sat up that night with Dr. McCarthy, and
remained with him until his death, which occurred at 3 p.m.,
on the 19th instant.

At the post mortem examination, it was found that the
wounds were more extensive than was at first supposed.

Dr. McCarthy was interred in the British cemetery here on

. the 22nd instant ; the funeral was numerously attended, some
. persons having come expressly from Pisa and Florence to testify

their respect for his memory.
I understand that the assassin will probably be sent for trial

- befors the Royal Court at Lucca, the case not being within the
. competency of the Tribunal at Pisa, which is only of First
Instance.—I have, &c.

(signed) . -Azex, MAOBM.

Inclosure 2 in No. 5.
.Lord W. Compton to Sir J. Hud.wt

Florence, Janudty- 28, 1868
Sm,—I do myself the honour to inclose copy of a Memorial
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which it has been deemed advisable to present to his Excellency

the Marchase Torre Arsa, Prefect of the Province of Florence,

on the part of the British residents and visitors in Florence,

drawing his Excellency’s attention to the want of regulation in

ﬁ;rogardtothepayment of facchini, and the evils that arise there-
m.

I am requested to beg that your Excellency will transmit the
Memorial to Baron Ricasoli should you deem it advisable.
I have, &c.

(signed) W. M. Coxeron.

Inclosure 3 in No. 5.

Memorial,

‘We, the Undersigned British residents and visitors in Florence,
most respectfully call the attention of your Excellency to the
following circumstances.

On the 15th current, Dr. McCarthy, a British resident at Pisa,
‘was stabbed by a facchino from the railway station, in conse-
quence, as is understood, of a refusal to pay an unjust demand,
and died of the wounds so inflicted on the following Sunday. -

" 'We believe that such a lamentable event was in consequence
" of the absence of all regulation regarding the payment of such

As a similar want of system has long existed in Florence, from
which the British residents and visitors, and indeed all classes,
have been put to serious inconvenience, and even personal risk,
we are apprehensive that unless some eﬂ‘ectnafe regulations
are adopted the like unhappy results may be here experienced.

Influenced by this feeling, a meeting of the British residents
and visitors in Florence has been held, at which it was deter-
mined respectfully to memorialize your Excellency, requesting

ou to adopt such measures as in your wisdom may seem best
calculated to regulate the payment of porters, and thus in a great.
degree to prevent the occurrence of such deplorable eollisions at
Florence. . - :

“'We do not bring this grievance under your Excellency’s
notice as of recent origin, and we feel convinced that your Ex-
cellency on inquiry will be satisfied of the urgency of the case
we now venture to bring to your notice.

In conclusion, we trust that while so many other improve-

. menta have been iniroduced under the rule of the present
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Government, thesame benignant care will be extended towards
the removal of the evil in question by the establishing of fixed
rules of payment for facchini, as we believe to be the case at
“Turin and Genoa.~On behalf of the meeting.

{signed) ‘W. M. Courrox, Chairman.

Inclosure 4 in No. 5.
Sir J. Hudson to Lord W. Compton.
’ Turin, February 6, 1862.

My YLorp,—1I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of
Yyour letter of the 28th ultimo (received yesterday), inclosing the
copy of a Memorial which the British residents and visitors in
Florence have addressed to the Prefect of that city, drawing his
‘Excellency’s attention to the want of regulation in regard to the
payment of facchini, and the evils that arise therefrom, and re-
-questing me fo transmit that copy to Baron Ricasoli, if I should
-deem it advisable.

In reply I have the honour to observe that I do not think it
would be proper to present to the Baron Ricasoli, as the Prime
Minister of the King of Italy, the copy of a Memorial which has
been addressed to his subordinate officer.

I see nothing to object to either in the manner or the matter
of the address, provided it be addressed directly to the Prime
Minister, and I shall readily comply with the wishes of the
British residents and visitors at Florence in this respect, should
they think proper to draw up a Memorial eddressed to his Ex-
<cellency directly, and not indirectly to the Prefect of Florence.

I have, &c.
(signed)  James Hupson.

{6) Sir J. Hudson to Earl Russell.
(Received February 12.)
Turin, February 9, 1862.

My Lorp,—The assassination of Dr. McCarthy beeamHester-
dlay the subject of a question which was put to Baron Ricasoli,
in the Chamber of Deputies, by the Deputy M. Gallenga.

I have the honour to inclose, herewith, a copy and translation
of the question, and of the answer given to it—1I have, & -

(signed)  Jawes HubpsoN,
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Inclosure in No. 6. .
(Question put by M. Gallenga in the Italian Chamber of Deputies,
February 8, 1862,

Gallenga.—Had read in an English journal the account of the
assasgination at Pisa of an Englishman, killed by railway porters,
discontented with the remuneration given them for carrying a
trunk. This murder had produced a most painful and profound
sensation among the English in Tuscany, and would have not
less painful echo in England. He (Gallenga) exhorted the
Government to take the necessary steps to prevent the recur-
rence of such crimes, as otherwise foreigners would say we have
not sufficient energy in Italy to prevent and repress them.

President of the Council.—Admitted the crime had been com-
mitted, but did not see how the Government could be made
responsible for it, as within an hour of the murder the assassin
and his accomplice were arrested. The prosecution had been
immediately set on foot ; and by a Decree of February 1, the
Tribunal of First Instance, declaring itself incompetent, had sent
the case before the Criminal Court at Leghorn. Such crimes
occurred, unhappily, too often at Pisa, and particularly at Leg-
horn, where the porters were notoriously violent and exacting.
At Genoa, on the contrary, they were remarkably well-behaved :
and the Government were ready, if necessary, to bring in a law
to subject: the Leghorn porters to the same regulations as those
at Genoa. He hoped, for the rest, that this deplorable case had
proved once more that Government were on the watch to com-
pel respect for and observance of the laws.

) Sir J. Hudson to Earl Russéll.
’ (Received February 12.)
) Turin, February 9, 1862.

My Lorp,—With reference to my previous &espatch of this
date, I have to report to your Lordship that a new complaint of
the violence of the railway porters at Pisa has reached me from
Dr. Daubeny (Professor of Botany in the University of Oxford) ;
and that I have again addressed a letter to the Baron Ricasoli

on this subject, copy of which I have the honour to inclose here-
with to your Lordship.—I have, &c.

(signed)  James Hupsow.
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Inclosure|in No. 7.

Str /- Hudson to Baron Ricasoli.
Turin, February 9, 1862.

Sm,—1I have received a note from Dr. Charles Daubeny (Pro-
fessor of Botany in the University of Oxford) dated the 6th in-
stant, calling my attention to the continued exactions of the
railway porters at Pisa, who, on non-compliance, by way of in-
timidation, have alluded to “the Englishman now lying dead in
the town, for not having paid a porter his due” (referring to
Dr. McCarthy’s murder) ; whilst it appears that the hotel-
keepers, from terror of this class of persons, assist their imposi-
tions.

Dr. Daubeny states, that the day before he writes (the 4th
instant), his three nieces, accompanied by & man servant, having

a carriage to convey them to a railway station, were
subject almost to personal violence from the driver, for not com-
plying with his exactions, although he had been paid three
francs and a-half in lieu of one franc and a-half, which was the
tariff fare.

The driver actually seized the railway-ticket from the hand
of one of the ladies, and held another by her dress to prevent
her from taking her place in the carriage. .

An officer of the railway interfered, but recommended sub-
nission to the driver’s demands by payment of one and a-half
franc more, which she found it expedient to do.

I have the honour to request your Excellency to inquire into
this frightful state of affairs, in the hope that you will be able
to employ the means which are at your disposal for the punish-
ment of these offenders, and the due subordination of their com-
panions,—I avail, &c. .

(signed)  James Hubson.

(8) Sir J. Hudson to Earl Russell.

(Received March 21.)
Turin, March 16, 1862,

Mr Lorp,—I have the honour to inclose to your Lordshlp
herewith, copy of Consul Macbean’s report of the trial of
Puccmelh, the assassin of Dr. McCarthy, which took place at
Lucca on the 10th instant. Your Lordship will remark that Mr.
Macbean states that the authorities have acted with great con<
sideration, promptness, and efficiency in this case.—1I have, &c;
(signed)  James Hupsow. -



] CIViL SERVICR PRECIS.

Inclosure in No. 8.
Consul Macbean to Sir J. Hudson,
Leghorn, March 13, 1862.

° 8ir,—TI have the honour to report that I went to Lucca at.
8 a.m. on the 10th instant, to attend the trial of the late Dr. G.
McCarthy’s assassin, which took place before the Criminal See-
tion of the Royal Court of Appeal in that city. -

The trial, which lasted nearly six hours, took place before s
full bench of six judges. I was present in Court during the
proceedings, and I telegraphed to you the result the same even-
ing from Lucca.

The prisoner, Francesco Puccinelli, described as a native of
Pisa, aged 41 years, as married and the father of two chil
as following the occupation of a luggage porter, was indic
for * omicidio improviso,” or unpremediated manslaughter.”

Fight witnesses were examined on the part of the prosecu-
tion, viz. :—

1. Campera, the coachman who drove Dr. McCarthy from the
railway terminus on the evening of the assassination.

2. Santi Lotti, servant of the late Dr. McCarthy.

3. Maria Lotti, ditto.

4, Harlick, a Hungarian footman in the service of M. Tcheff-
kine, Russian Conseiller d’Etat and Consul-General at Palermo,
who resides on the first floor of the Casa Cordon at Pisa.

5. Dr. C. Cuturi, one of the surgeons who attended the late
Dr. McCarthy.

6 and 7 Ghilardi and Colombagini, gendarmes who effected
the arrest of the prisoner Puccinelli.

8. Torrini, an employé at the Pisa hospital, who bandaged
Puccinelli’s finger on the evening in question.

A ninth witness, the Russian Consul-General, De Tcheffkine,
had been summoned from Palermo, but he declined attendiag
the trial on the ground of official occupation and ill-health,

The prisoner’s Counsel took occasion, from M. de Tcheffkine’s
non-appearance, to apply for an adjournment of the trial on the”

und that his evidence might be of great importance to the
g:i'enco of the prisoner; the Court, however, overruled the objec-
tion, and decreed that the trial should be proceeded with, but it
granted the prisoner’s application that M. de Tcheffkine’s pre=
cognition, taken at Pisa, before his return iu Palermo, should
be read and received as evidence on the trial,
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‘Without occupying your attention with a detailed account of
the evidence' of'each witness, it may, perhaps, suffice that I
should state to you the finding of the Court, as set forth in the
sentence, which was read by the President to the prisoner. The
sentence declared it to have been proved that on the afternoon
of the 15th January last, the late Dr. McCarthy returned from
Leghorn to Pisa, accompanied by a lady, having with him a small
box which was placed outside on the driving-seat of the carriage
which conveyed them to Dr. McCarthy’s residence ; that the
carriage was followed to Dr. McCarthy’s house by two porters
named Gelli and Puccinelli, the former of whom seized hold of
the said box, and carried it up to Dr. McCarthy's apartment on
the second floor of the Casa Cordon ; that the other porter, the
prisoner Puccinelli, followed very unnecessarily ; that Dr.
McCarthy gave the porter Gelli 30 centimes for his unsought-
for services ;" that the money was handed over by Gelli to the
prisoner Puccinelli, who objected to the payment as insufficient,
snd demanded a franc and a-half ; that g)r. MecCarthy refused
to give anything in addition ; that the prisoner Puccinelli be-
came abusive ; that he threatened to stab Dr. McCarthy if he
caught him outside his house ; that he refused to quit Dr.
McCarthy’s apartment, and even went so far as to shut the door,
remaining himself inside ; that, after having been got outside,
the prisoner continued to use the same loud and abusive lan-
guage on the staircase, when Dr. McCarthy, impelled either by a
feeling of humanity towards an invalid lady (Madame de Tcheff-
kine), who resided on the first floor of the said Casa  Cordon, or
perhaps irritated by the prisoners conduct, quitted his own
apartment for the purpose of turning the porters out of the
building ; that the late Dr. McCarthy had then in his hand &
slight cane, or walking-stick, which he was in the habit of carry-
ing, but which no person remarked him to have on his return
from Leghorn ; that it does not result from the evidence that
Dr. McCarthy struck the prigoner Puccinelli with the said stick ;
that, on Dr. McCarthy'’s coming down stairs to where the porters
were, the Hungarian servant, Harlick, saw several thrusts with
& knife made at Dr. McCarthy by one of the porters, whom he
ﬁ[arlick) identifies as the prisoner Puccinelli; that Dr,

cCarthy, on being wounded, immediately returned upstairs, at
the same time calling out to his servant to take care, as the
prisoner had a knife in his hand ; that the prisoner made off
without delay, and told the coachman, Campera, whom he met



98 OIVIL SBERVICE PRECIS.

* on the staircase coming o ascertain what was the matter, that
he did not know what the noise was about ; that the porter,
Gelli, feeling that he had nothing to fear, remained in the neigh-
bourhood of the Casa Cordon until he was arrested ; that the
prisoner Puccinelli then went to the Pisa Hospital, and insisted
on having a bandage applied to the index-finger of his right
hand, stating that he had incautiously wounded himself; that,
on its being proposed by the witness Torrini to send for a
surgeon, as prescribed under such circumstances by the regula-
tions, the prisoner insisted, with blasphemous oaths, that Torrini.
should dress his wound, which accordingly he did, under inti-
midation ; that, when arrested, the prisoner offered resistance ;
that a knife with blood-spots was then found on his person ;
that the said knife has been declared by the surgeons who were
delegated to make the post mortem examination, to have been
the weapon with which the wounds were inflicted which caused
the late Dr. Mc Carthy’s death ; that, on meeting the porter
Gelli at the lock-up house, the prisoner said, “ Gelli, did you see
the pistols which the Englishman had in his hands ¥’ and that,
upon Gelli’s replying, “I saw mo pistols,” or, “There were no
pistols,” the prisoner turned to the gendarmes and said, “ I was
in such a state that had I had a cannon I could have fired it off
at him;” and that, later in the evening, the prisoner added,
‘“Perhaps by this act I may have secured to myself bread for
life ; that everything that skill could suggest was resorted to,-
but that the wounds inflicted on Dr. Mc Carthy were of so
serious and deep a nature as to produce inflammation and morti-
fication of the intestines, occasioning death after four days of
intense suffering ; that the identification of the assassin by the
victim had been objected to by the medical attendants:as likely
to produce excitement and to accelerate the death of the patient,
and that the authorities, seeing that the ends of justice were not
likely to suffer by the omission, had acted with discretion and-
consideration in dispensing with that formality ; that thus the
feelings of the victim and of his family were saved ; that the Court
rejected the fact that the prisoner Puccinelli had been confined
in the hospital of Pisa on suspicion of insanity, inasmuch as his.
detention there on both occasions was very short, and that his
malady was supposed to have been caused by over-abuse of
spirits ; and, taking  into consideration that the prisoner had,
some years ago, been sentepced to six months’ exile for wounding:
another person ; that he ought afterwards to have been punished



. FIFTH EXERCISB., - 99

for injuries inflicted with a stick upon his own wife, which.
phnishment/ ho 'had 'thé good 'fortune to escape under a Royal
amnesty, and that he has repeatedly occasioned trouble to the-
executive police, the Court condemned Puccinelli to ten years’
confinement in the Casa di Forza, to pay an indemnity to the
family of the deceased, and to forfeit the knife with which the
wounds were inflicted. _

The prisoner may appeal against the sentence within five days
from the time that.a copy of it is served upon him. .

The sentence was applied in virtue of Article 310 of the Tus-
can Criminal Code, which declares “unpremeditated” man-
slaughter is punishable by imprisonment in the Casa di Forza
for seven to twelve years.

. I beg leave to remark that although the Court sentenced the
prisoner to ten years of the Casa di Forza, the Public Prosecutor
in his summing up of the evidence had only asked for eight.
years of the Casa di Forza.

The efforts of the defence were directed solely to the mitiga-
tion of the punishment : 1st, on the ground that Puccinelli had
been under restraint for insanity ; 2nd, because M. de Tcheffkine
declared in his deposition that the late Dr. McCarthy had offered
provocation, and had beaten the prisoner, conducting himself
altogether as he would not have dared to do in England ; further,
because M. de Tcheffkine declares on the authority of Dr.
Cuturi, that Dr. McCarthy had expressed his regret as a dying-
man for having so behaved towards Puccinelli: but the
deposition of the Russian Consul-General De Tcheffkine was
not even borne out by the evidence of his own servant; on the
contrary, it was declared by Harlick, who saw the stabs inflicted
on Dr. McCarthy, that the latter did not strike or ill-use the
prisoner. Dr. McCarthy also declared that he had not struck
him, and the prisoner said the same at his first examination.

Dr. Cuturi, having disavowed the interpretation put by M. de
Tcheffkine on what he had told him, and having been called
upon by the Court to explain what Dr. McCarthy had really
said, renarked that M. de Tcheffkine had, from first to last,
throughout this business entertained views peculiarly his own ;
that Dr. McCarthy had certainly expressed to him regret, but
that such regret had reference to his own imprudence in ven-
ttﬁn;ng out of his apartments after he bad, as it were, got rid of

rters.

I pl;)ave to add that the case was most carefully got up, and
that the examinations were conducted with great regularity and
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ability; It was very evident that the proceedings were watched
with interest by members of the Bench and Bar who were no$ -
mixed up with the case. The other business of the Court was:
made to give way to it, and as regards the expedition with which -
the case was carried through, it ought to be remembered thas:
two months have not yet elapsed since the commission of thse.
crime.

I believe that no- authorities could have acted with greater
consideration, promptness, and efficiency than the Italian
-authorities have done in the present case.

- Bome people may take exception to the punishment as tee:
Jenient for taking a man’s life, but the punishment of death has
been abolished in Tuscany, and if the sentence of the Royal
‘Court is only carried out, it is by no means a light punishment,
The detention in the Casa di Forza implies solitary confinement
in a cell, with work according to the capacity of the prisoner,

- and the regulations prescribe the strictest silence. Puccinelli

Yooks strong and healthy, but it may well be doubted whether
e can live out the term of his sentence in solitude.

: I have, &e.,

(signed)  ALEX. MaCBEaN.
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. % Copy 'of all Correspondence between the Jernsalem Consulate
and the Foreign Office, and the Jerusalem Consulate and the
Constantinople Embassy, from the year 1850 to the year
1863, on the affairs of the Abyssinians at Jerusalem,”*

With subsequent Correépondenoe presented by Her Majesty’s
Command : 1865—1867,

1) Consul Finn to Viscount Palmerston,
(Received December 19.)
Jerusalem, November 30, 1850.

* My Lorp,~I have the honour to relate that, some months
ago, a small party of Abyssinian priests brought to me a letter
of recommendation for good offices from Mr. Plowden, Her Ma-
jesty’s Consul in Abyssinia.

Shortly afterwards they appealed to me for protection from
the insults of Mahometans, who annoyed them for wearing white
turbans ; they protested that it is the custom of their country,
and that, being foreigners, they are not amenable to customs. or
rules of Turkish subjects. After some time, however, they
adopted the dark-coloured turbans worn generally by Christians
bhere. They were frequently to be seen at the house of his
Lordship our Bishop.

On the 10th of last month they came to complain that the
Armenian ecclesiastics were endeavouring to take from them
their church and convent ; that his Lordship had advised them
to seize the key by a stratagem from the Armenians, who had
previously usurped its possession, and now the latter wished tp
beat them o get it. restored.

Ihad then a long conversation with his Lordship, who re-
lated to me that the Abyssinians had been formerly a flourishing
body here, in intercommunion with the Armenians and Copts,
- avingalargelibrary and valuable documents ; but that at the time
.ef the last plague, about twelve years ago, they had all died away.
Fhe Turkish authorities, at the instigation of the Armenisns,
- fhen burnb all their books and papers. undex the pretext of

danger of infection ; and that ever since, then tha Abysainians

* Given (frst fifteen lettors} January, 2869,
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resorting hither regide in the last relic of their former possessions,
‘and subsist for the most part as paupers upon miserable food
given them by the wealthy Armenian convent. That the latter
had for some years kept possession of the key of the little church
attached to the Abyssinian convent, only occasionally admitting
the Abyssinians to divine service, but had lately kept it altogether.
That his Lordship had advised the latter to regain it by a
stratagem, and to keep it.

The next day the poor people came to me again, and in the
afternoon a deputation of the Bishops and other Elders of the
Armenians came to me on the same subject, declaring that the
church had been well known as their property for 400 years
past; that the Abyssinians are like wild beasts, going hither
and thither, not fit to be trusted with property, but yet had
stolen the key, and were encouraged in it by the English
Bishop, &c,

At length I proposed, and the Armenians consented to it, that
‘the church should be kept open to both parties till the new
Patriarch shonld arrive (and he was expected shortly), when
-the case might be impartially examined from documents, in pre-
sence of the Bishop and myself.

In a conference with his Lordship, which I had after they
had left me, he accused the Armenians of being cunning liars ;
for he knew the church and convent to have been Abyssmm.n
property about twenty years ago, and that an inscribed tablet
exists in the wall of the church of the Holy Sepulchre, from
ancient time, declaring to the same effect. That the Armenians
had had a long interview with him before going over to me, and
advised that in case of an arrangement being made, such as. X
had above suggested, the key should be deposited every night
‘with some party not concerned in the matter, as, for instance,
the Pasha or the Prussian Consul.

_Accordingly I drew out a paper to that effect, but the Arme-
‘nians would not consent to the last clause. They would keep
the key themselves, “for the sake of honour.”

A few days afterwards the matter came before the Pasha, and
his Lordship proposed (he has since told me) that the Abyssi-
‘nians should keep the key of the-church door, entering from
their convent : and the Armenians keep the key of the other
dobr, entering the church from the Great Church of the Hon
Sepulchre, until the airival of the new Patriarch.

On the 17th X went to mspect the Abyssinian ¢ gonvent and 1ts
little church.
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I hayve heard that his Lordship has had some transactions
with the Pasha and his Council since that time, upon the sub-
ject ; and some correspondence has been kept up.

On the 19th instant the new Patrisrch, named John, arrived,
and was inangurated on the 23rd. I have, &c.,

(signed) J. Finw,

2 Viscount Palmerston to Consul Finn.

Foreign Office, December 28, 1850.

Sir,—I have received your despatch dated the 30th of No-
vember last, on the subject of the differences between the
Abyssinians and the Armenians in Jerusalem, respecting the
possession of the small church belonging to the former, adjoining
the Great Church of the Holy Sepulchre ; and I have to state
to you my approval of the steps you took and the advice you
gave to the parties, as reported in your before-mentiIoned despatch.

am, &c.,

(signed) PALMERSTON.

3) Consul Finn to Viscount Palmerston.
: (Received February 3, 1851.)
[Extract.] Jerusalem, December 9, 1850.

I have the honour to report to your Lordship that, in harmony
with the opinion of his Lordship our Bishop, I have been able
to effect a reconciliation between the Armenian Convent and
the Abyssinians, until some future and complete investigation
can be made as to the right of property in dispute.

. To understand the case fully, your Lordship will remember
that the Copts and the Abyssinians, together thh the Syrians
and Armenians, subsist in one ecclesiastical intercommunion—
the Armenian Convent bemg the wealthy and powerful patron
of the other three.

Your Lordship will perceive by the enclosed plan* that the
Coptic-and Abyssinian Convents are near together, and that the
Copts have no access to their Church but through the Abyssmmn
.Convent and Chul‘ch.

‘. The plan heré referred to gives the relative ponhon of Armenian, Cophc, and
Abyummn Convents and Churches at Jerusalem.

3
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Such is the present relation of affairs, though the Abyssinians
lay claim'not/ only fo) both ‘Chiirches, as well as to the Coptic
Convent and small Armenian Convent, with much property
ground, besides property in the great Armenian Convent in &
distant part of the city,

At the time, however, of the last calamitous pestilence, the
Copts, under the direction of their patriarch in Cairo, and of
the Armenians in Jerusalem, had the Abyssinian documents
burned, and got possession of all the keys of the two Churches
and Convents. These they have kept ever since, allowing the
'Abyssinians, who continue to come annually as pilgrims, (in-
creasing in number every year), to reside in the dilapidated ruin
of their ancient Convent, but locking them up there every night.

The Abyssinians naturally assumed some degree of hope when
Bishop Gobat arrived ; they met him at the city gate, and the
first words that his Lordship uttered within Jerusalem were
‘addressed to them in their own language. Since that time some
of their clergy have brought a letter from their King Ras Ali to
his Lordship, and a letter of recommendation to me from Mr.
Plowden, Her Majesty’s Consul for Abyssinia.

Then came the interval between the decease of the late, and
the arrival of the present patriarch, of the Armenians, in which
space of time the patriarchal vicar, a clever and cunning man,
acting together with the Coptic Patriarch of Cairo, used the poor
Abyssinians with great severity, beat them, chained them, and
refused them access to the Church except at rare intervals ; but
all this time they were laying their grievances before his Lord-
ship our Bishop, and reminding him of their claims to large pro-
perty, though unable fo produce documents in support of those
claims, except a certain stone inscription near the Church of the
Holy Sepulchre,

At length his Lordship advised them to the course which they
adopted, that of seizing the key of their church, immediately
sfter Divine service, while the Coptic deacon was looking in
another direction, The object aimed at was not only to recover
possession of the key, but.to throw upon the Copts and Armre-
nians the burden of proving their right to regain it
 Then followed the circumstances in which I had a share, as
detailed in my last despatch to your Lordship.

But during my excursion to Safed at the end of October, his
Zordship wrote upon the subject to Colonel Rose, and an Onder
arrived in Jerusalem from bhis Excellency Wamesk Paaha (&y
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whose means obtained I know mot), that the key should be re-
stored to the same holders as before the troubles began.

Then arrived his Grace the new Patriarch of the Armenians,
and found several abuses to rectify. In this case particularly he
has adopted a different policy from that of the vicar and bishops.
He has rebuked them in presence of the Abyssinians, then of
our bishop’s dragoman, and also of myself, professing himself
the parent of both Copts and Abyssinians, and asking why
should a father take a Church from one of his children to give
it to another ?

On the 5th’ instant I had a long conference with his Grace,
who used expressions of ardent friendship, thanked me for
bringing a green olive-branch, &c. It was at length agreed that
the church is to be kept free for both convents, though the Copts
. are to hold the key. The practice of locking up at night is
abolished ; and should the Abyssinians have any cause of com-
plaint, their complaint may be made through the British Con-
sulate to the Patriarchate. This arrangement to be in force til}
bOtllll sides are able to enter upon documentary proof of property
right, :

This is & very important concession ; for now the Armenians
will no longer be able to beat the Abyssinians, or chain an iron
collar round their necks, with a screw to tighten the collar, as
they have done less than two years ago.

And again, the Armenian Convent can no more demand the
Abyssinian Convent and Church for their own property, over-
looking the Copts, as they did lately in a letter to his Lordship
our bishop, and verbally to myself.

The present arrangement will not interfere with the daily
feeding of a certain number of Abyssinians by the Armenians,
‘Whether this is a distribution of alms, or a commutation for
usurped landed property, may be discussed prébably hereafter.

I have further to remark that those most conversant with
such politics believe that the Patriarch is afraid of driving the
Abyssinians to desperation, lest they should throw themselves
upon the Anglican Church (especially as they are now constantly
reading for themselves the Holy Scriptures, given by our
Bishop), which might give them subsistence, and in virtue of its
protection rebuild the Abyssinian Convent, which not only
adjoins the Holy Sepulchre Church, but covers the subterranean
chapel where it is believed Saint Helena found the crosses.

Finally, I should observe that the English influence is acknow-
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ledged in these transactions, in consequence of the letter of King
Ras Ali'to'his'ancient-acquaintance, our bishop, and of the letter
from Mr. Plowden to myself ; but more especially because his
Lordship has repeatedly assured myself and the Armenian
authorities that King Ras Ali has petitioned Her Majesty’s
Government to have the Abyssinians in Jerusalem placed under
British political protection ; and his Lordship tells me that he
is endeavouring to obtain the same by means of his Grace the
Archbishop of Canterbury.

) Viscount Palmerston to Consul Finn,

Foreign Office, February 15, 1851.
Str,~—I have received your despatch of the 9th of December

last, detailing the steps taken by you and the Bishop of Jeru- .

salem to effect a reconciliation between the Armenians, the
Copts, and the Abyssinians residing in Jerusalem ; and I hawve
to state to you my approval of the steps taken by you, as detailed
in your despatch. I am, &e.

(signed) PALMERSTON.

%) Bishop Gobat to the Earl of Malmesbury.
(Received July 6.)
9, Carlton House Terrace, June 29, 1852.
My Lorp,—I have the honour to forward to your Lordship

two letters to Her Majesty, which were inclosed to me for further-

conveyance by their authors, Ras Ali and Dejajmatch Oobeay,
the two independent Chiefs of Abyssinia, with a literal transla-
tion, the contents of both being exactly the same, with the ex-
ception of one or two words, which do not in the least affect the-
meaning. The letters have no date, but I have reason for sup-
posing that they were written about the beginning of the present
year, in consequence of a meeting of the two Chiefs at Gondar
with the King and some of the most influential ecclesiasties

of Abyssinia, in which meeting it was resolved that the twe:

Chiefs should write to Her Majesty the Queen of England,
to ask her to authorize me to superintend and protect thefr-
oountrymen visiting or residing in Jerusalem, and to authorize
her represcntative to lend me his assistance when needed.
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The Abyssinians not being in the habit of writing, your
Lordship might have some difficulty to find out the precise pur-
port of these two letters, and the practical point in question.

I therefore take the liberty of forwarding to your Lordship.
the accompanying statement relative to the subject in question.

’ I have, &c.,

(signed) 8. AnaeL. HIEROBOL.

Inclosure 1 in No. 5.

Letter from Ras Ak to Her Majesty the Queen.

{Translation.)

From the head of the judges, Ali, the Servant of God, the
King of kings, wha is one in the Godhead and three in person,

May this reach the Queen of England ! How are you? Are
you well, equal to heaven and earth? (That is, my desire for
your well-being is infinite.) I desire and expect to be in
friendship with you ; may you also desire my friendship. "What
ig it that, whilst you exist, my inheritance is_taken from me %
‘Whilst every one abides in his inheritance, I am deprived of
mine. Now do (what is necessary), that I may not be deprived
of my inheritance ; (for) T have been deprived of the portion of
ground belonging to Abyssinia (in Jerusalem). To be deprived
of one’s inheritance is a hard thing ; for the inheritance of the
earth (of Jerusalem) is the inheritance of heaven. Let not my
people (/i., my relatives) be deprived (of their own) during your
reign. Let, I pray you, Samuel Gobat be their keeper, that my
relatives may not be removed from my inheritance. I pray you
(&4, the matter is now in your hand) send me word for what-
eyer you want, apd I shall send it.*

Inclosure 2 in No. 5.

A Statement concerning the Present State of Abyssinians at
Jerusalem.

The Ahyssinians affirm, and there are hints in ecclesiastical his-

tary to the same effect, that in former times they had consider-

* The above is a literal translation of Ras Al’s letter to Her Mnjm
on of the

Dejajmatch Gobeay’s letter contains exactly the same, with the omissi
lant sentence. . )
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able possessions in Jerusalem, of which they have been deprived,
8o that/now there’remains/only the convent called Deir Essultan
(in which there are at present about sixty pilgrims) in their
possession ; but that such property, of which they have from
time to time been deprived, really belonged to them they cannot
prove by any documentary evidence, unless such evidence could
be found in the Archives of the local Government ; for about
twelve or fourteen years ago, when all the Abyssinians residing
at Jerusalem had died of plague, their library, containing many
valuable manuscript books, was entirely burnt by order of
Ibrahim Pasha, with all the documents which might have served
them o recover their property in these better times. I have
myself seen the library twenty-five years ago, together with such
documents ; and that all those books and documents were con-
signed to the flames on the aforesaid occasion is most notorious
in Jerusalem. The question, however, is not now about what
was, I conceive irretrievably, lost on that occasion, but about
ge consequences of that conflagration, and of the remedy
ereof,

‘When the last Abyssinian had died of the plague, about the
year 1838, the Coptic priest took the keys of the Abyssinian
convent and of a chapel belonging to it, at the instigation of the
Armenian Patriarch, who has since claimed the right to dispose
of both the convent and the chapel.

After these events new Abyssinian pilgrims arrived in such
numbers that in the years 1849 and 1850 their average number
was never less than one hundred, many of whom were both
intelligent and respectable. Yet they were treated like slaves,
or rather like beasts, by the Copts and Armenians combined ;
they could never enter their own chapel but when it pleased the
Armenians to open it ; and on one occasion, in consequence of
which I felt it my duty to interfere, they could not get their
chapel opened to perform the funeral service of one of their
number. The key of their convent having remained, since the
plague aforesaid, in the hands of their oppressors, they were
Jocked up in their convent in the evening until it pleased their
Coptie jailor to open it in the morning, so that in case of any
severe attacks of illness, which are frequent there, even in small
families, they had no means of going out to call for a physician.
- Things were in such a state when, about two years ago, I
received letters from the King of Abyssinia, from Ras Ali,
Dejajmatch Oobeay, and several influential priests, asking me
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to take!their . convent.@nd)the pilgrims under my jurisdiction
and protection, to choose one of the pilgrims, whom I considered
most fit for it, and appoint him head of the convent, responsible
to me alone, &c. To this I answered that I was most willing to
give good advice, and to do for them all that was in my power
as a friend to their people and country, where I had fgrmerly
been hospitably received, but that I could do nothing for them
officially, unless I was authorised to do so by the Queen of Eng-
land. And now it is in consequence of this hint that Ras Ali
and Dejajmatch Oobeay were requested by the King and a
meeting of priests and others, to write to the Queen, as they
now e done, to ask her to authorise me and (although the
writer forgotten it) the Consul of Jerusalem to take their
countrymen and their convent under our superintendence and
protection.

{6) Chevalier Bunsen to the Earl of Malmesbury.

Royal Prussian Legation, London,
9, Carlton House Terrace, July 5, 1852.

My Lorp,—1I have the honour to inclose a letter of the Lord
Bishop of Jerusalem, transmitting to your Lordship petitions
directed to Her Majesty by the two independent Chiefs of
Abyssinia, Ras Ali and Dejajmatch Oobeay, and accompanied by
a statement on the subject of the claims of these Chiefs who ask
for the Queen’s protection.

As the protection granted by the British Government to these
influential men, whose claims seem just, would essentially con-
tribute to promote the authority of the bishopric of Jerusalem,
in which Prussia and England take an equally great interest, I
take the liberty to recommend this question to your Lordship’s
kind consideration. I have, &c.,

(signed)  Bunsen.

K1) The Earlof Malmesbury to Bishop Gobat.

Foreign Office, July 10, 1852,
My Lorp,~I have had the honour to receive your letter of
the 29th of June enclosing two letters addressed by Ras Ali and
Dejajmatch Oobeay to the Queen in pursuance of a resolution
adopted at a meeting stated to have been held at Gondar between
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those Chiefs, the King, and some of the most influential ecclesi-
astics of Abyssinia, to the effect that Her Majesty should be re-
quested to authorize you to protect and superintend their
countrymen visiting or residing in Jerusalem, and to authorize
the British agent residing at Jerusalem to lend you his assistance
for that purpose when required.

I have to state to you in reply that Her Majesty’s Government
cannot undertake to protect ofticially the natives of Abyssinia
who may chance to be residing in the territory of the Sublime
Porte. But Her Majesty’s Consul at Jerusalem will be in-
structed to use his good offices for them in case of need, as mem-
bers of a Christian church in spiritual communion with the
-established church in this country. .

In regard to yourself, the licence from the Crown under which
you were consecrated, enables you to exercise spiritual jurisdic-
tion as well in Abyssinia as in Syria ; and I think it on every
account desirable that, as a purely spiritual authority, you should
confine your interference in behalf of Abyssinians visiting Jeru-
salem exclusively to spiritual matters.—I am, &e.

(signed) MALMESBURY.

8) Tke Earl of Malmestury to Chevalier Bunsen.

Foreign Office, July 10, 1852.

M. pE CHEVALIER, —I have the honour to acknowledge the
receipt of your note of the 5th instant, inclosing a letter from
Bishop Gobat, communicating memorials addressed to Her Ma-
Jjesty by two independent Chiefs of Abyssinia, and I have the
honour to transmit to you under flying seal the reply which I
have returned to Bishop Gobat’s communication. I am, &ec.

(signed)  MALMESBURY.

) The Earl of Malmesbury to Consul Finn.

Foreign Office, July 10, 1852.

81r,—T transmit to you herewith copies of a letter, and of its
-inclosures, which I have received from Bishop Gobat, and of the
answer which I have returned to it, respecting the wish which
seems to have been expressed by the Rulers of Abyssinia, that
the natives of that country visiting or residing at Jerusalem may
be taken under British protection.
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In parstance of what T have stated in my letter to the Bishop,
T have to authorize you, in case of need, to use your good offices
for the protection of any Abyssinians who may chance to be in
Jeruealem, as being members of a Christian Church in spiritual
communion with the Established Church in this country.
Iam, &,
(signed) ~ MALMESBURY.

(10) Consul Finn to the Earl of Malmesbury.
(Received September 18.)

Jerusalem, August 17, 1852.

. My Lorp—TI have the honour to acknowledge receipt of your
Lordship’s despatch dated 10th July, authorising me, in case of
need, to use my good offices in favour of the Abyssinian com-
munity in Jerusalem.

I shall very willingly attend to those instructions in favour of
the poor and oppressed people, but I fear it will often require
delicate management in using those friendly offices, since they
have powerful enemies in the rich Armenian community and the
vindictive Copts, and are themselves of very hot temperament.

Especial delicacy will be required if they should undertake to
rebuild or make repairs in the convent.

Our benevolent aid will be certainly misunderstood, for the
Oriental ecclesiastical establishments will not fail to regard this
“species of protection as an indirect step of the Protestants towards
gaining a portion of the Church of the Holy Sepulchre, which
they could not obtain otherwise. The Abyssinian Convent
covers part of the sanctuaries, especially the reputed place of °
finding the crosses. ~ I have, &e.

. (signed) J. Finxy.

(11) The Earl of Maliesbury to Consul Finn.
Foreign Office, September 28, 1853,

81r,— With reference to your despatch of the 17th of August,
I have to instruct you most carefully to avoid taking any step
which may seem intended to obtain for the Protestant com-
munity at Jerusalem a portion of the Church of the Holy

.8Bepulchre. I am, &c.,
(signed) MavLuEsBURY.
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(12) ConsulDFinn Oty thel Earl of Malmesbury.

(Received July 12.)
(Extract.) Jerusalem, June 21, 1858.

I have the honour to report the unusual circumstance of a

visit to Jerusalem of persons in high rank, natives of Abyssinia,

These were, a Councillor of State (Maccar) named Michail (or

Guebra Yussos), and a military comnander of 3,000 Infantry

and 7,000 Cavalry, as we were told. They were attended by a

military officer on the part of His Highness the Viceroy of
t.

Tﬁeir residence was in the Coptic convent, the adjoining
Abyssinian convent being in too ruined a condition for their
reception. And they repaired to the sacred localities of the
Christian religion in Jerusalem and Bethlehem.

On the 10th instant I visited them, with which they expressed
themselves much pleased.

I reminded them of their people, when in this country, being
under Her Majesty’s gracious protection, by your Lordship’s
directions in 1852 ; and, that, aware of their depressed state in
Jerusalem, I had lately taken advantage of a deputation returning
thither to address a letter to the King, informing him of their
protection here, and of my desite to carry out Her Majesty’s
benevolent intentions.® That I had lately established one of
themselves as President over the rest, and should be glad if some
effectual measures could be taken for confirming them in their
right to their own convent here, which, although known by all

. parties to be theirs, a3 long as it is kept out of a legal Court,
might be lost to them if contested, since all their documents were
destroyed some years ago, probably at the instigation of the
Copts and Armenians, under pretext of danger of plague.

The Maccar promised to recommend to his King the sending
of a properly appointed officer to superintend the Abyssinian
affairs in Jerusalem.

Of late years I have had Abyssinian servants always in my
household, and one of these has left this country in the train of
the Maccar, in order to return with him to his home,

I find them an undisciplined but high-spirited people ; prond
of being independent of Mahometans, and, in their own country,

* No copy of this letter was sent home by Consul Fiun, .
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ableto cope with-and, resist the latter, on more than equal terms,
in the name of Christianity.

They seem to me far more susceptible of improvement than
the Arab peasantry.

Tt is a remarkable fact that the Mahometans are in the habit
of citing ancient traditions to the effect that the Abyssinians are
destined to destroy Mecca and Medina.

And not less remarkable is the extraordinary reverence which
?In Abyssinia is paid to persous or objects reaching them from

erusalem,

(13) Consul Finn to the Earl of Malmesbury.
(Received July 5.)

Jerusalem, May 27, 1859,

My Lorp,—I have the honour to represent to your Lordship
that the Abyssinian Colony in Jerusalem have lately been
thrown into extreme terror by a report that the Grand Duke
Constantine of Russia was about to purchase their convent from
the Copts, who have no right whatever to that property, and to
eject them from it.

This seems to have arisen from the circumstance of the Copts
having sold to the Russians a small piece of land, undoubtedly
their own, adjoining the convent of the Abyssinians, and from
some Russian officer having been lately seen to inspect the
latter with a paper in his hand. .

It is the intention of the Russians to build their Consulate
on the piece purchased as above mentioned, and there can be
no doubt that the Abyssinian convent would be very ad-
vantageous for Russian objects, seeing that it lies between the
intended Consulate and the Greek Church of the Holy
Sepulchre,

But I bave not been able to learn that any steps have been
really taken for procuring that property.

This alarm, however, has awakerred my attention afresh to
the tenure of the convent by the Abyssinians which, as I have
had the honour to report on several occasions, is unsupported by
any remaining documents, for all documents of that nature were
burned at the instigation of the Armenians many years ago, on
pretence of their harbouring the plague.

I have formerly mentioned a stone tablet built into the wall
of the Holy Sepulchre Church as being said to substantiate their
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claim to'the propertyl; (but on/ proceeding to take a copy of it by
photography some years ago, it was found to be in the Georgiait
language, and probably refeiring to a Georgian convent which
was formerly in that neighbourhood.

The truest demonstration of the Abyssinian claim lies in the
fact of its recognition by universal oral testimony, and of its
being undisputed by any existing party in Jerusalem.

Still, to obviate possible danger in future, it may be expedient
‘0 obtain some document from the Porte in which their right
should be acknowledged ; and perhaps this might be had by
means of some petition of the Rulers of Abyssinia requesting
Her Majesty’s good offices with the Sublime Porte for that
object, such, for instance, as a renewal of that presented in June,
1852,

For myself I should be rather inclined to leave the question
atb rest, and to watch carefully whattakes place, in fact ; inasmuch
a8 every year adds to the value of oral testimony and actual
possession, There might be a danger also of the Porte, when
asked for a document, attempting to fetter the Abyssinians by
an asgertion of the Sultan’s supremacy over their country.

But I believe it useful to enter the matter on record, at this
period, by writing the present despatch.

-+ My former despatches regarding the Abyssinians are dated
November 30 and December 9, 1850 ; and June 21, 1858.

The documents which I have received from Her Majesty’s
Governjent on the subject are contained as inclosures in your
Lordship’s despatch of July 10, 1852. I have, &ec.

(signed)  James Finw.

(14) Consul Finn to Earl Russdl,
, (Received March 31.)

Jerusalem, March 13, 1862,

My Lorp,—1I have the honour to inclose copy of my despaich
'of the 11th instant to Her Majesty’s Embassy, respecting the
Abyssinians in Jerusalem, and to request from your Lordship
whatever relief may be possible on their behalf, by means of a
recognition of that people as independent of Turkey, and, in this
country, under English protection. I have, &c.

(signed)  Jaumes Frvw.
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Inclosure in No. 14.
Consul Finn to Sir H, Bulwer.

Jerusalem, March 11, 1862.

Str,—T have the honour to report to your Excellency that
recently a quarrel took place on a Sunday during Divine Service
in the Church which is common to both Copts and Abyssinians,
within the convent of the latter. From this circumstance, namely.
that of position, such disputes do sometimes occur, especially
respecting the keys, which are kept in duplicate. The Copte
lately proceeded even to take off the old locks and replace them
by new ones.

The Pasha immediately on hearing of the disturbance, repaired
to the place with a whole battalion of Infantry, whom he
stationed at their principal gate, namely, in the open square before
the Church of the Holy Sepulchre, into which Church he sum-
moned the Abyssinian President, and then placed a guard at the
small upper gate of the convent. .

The larger force had orders fo prevent the exit of the
Abyssinians. : .

On this the poor timid people thought it time to call for my
aid, and contrived to send me a messenger. I went thither to
inquire into the proceedings.

As soon as I arrived the Abyssinian President found himself
released ; and he came to tell me that the Pasha had threatened
to make him, by force, surrender the church and the way to it
entirely to the Copts, which order, however, he steadily refused
to obey, on the ground that he and his people are not Turkish
subjects, but have an independent nationality, under English
protection in this country. ‘ )

And here we come to the real point at issue, ]

The Abyssinians in religion are under the same Patriarch as
the Copts, and both are in perfect intercommunion of doctrine..
The Turkish Government, therefore, regards them practically as
one nation, and it is very much to be feared that some day the
-helpless Abyssinians will have to succumb to the Copts, under
.the powerful dictation of the Armenians, unless they be fully
recognised by & formal document, to be foreigners to Turkish rule.

And I think the time is now come to ask for such a document.

I have the honour to refer your Excellency to my despatch
of the 27th May, 1859, to London, copy of which I inclosed fo
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Her Majesty)s Embassy on the 7th of June of that year, which
gives full information on the subject of the Abyssinians.

His Excellency Sureya Pasha employs his utmost efforts to
avoid recognizing them as non-rayahs. I have, &c.

(signed) Jaues Finw.

(15) Consul Finn to Earl Russell.
(Received May 19.)

Jerusalem, May 7, 1862,

My Lorp,—TI have the honour to state to your Lordship that
‘his Excellency Sureya Pasha came to me lately to impress upon
my attention the political principle that the Sublime Porte will
never recognize the Abyssinians as a people independent of their
dominion, and to assure me that all ancient Firmans or other
documents issued on their behalf used to pass through the hands
of the Civil Governor of Jeddah.

His Excellency informed me that he had been directed by his
‘superiors to represent this to me in a friendly conversation.

I observed that Jeddah may have no more to do with
Abyssinia than Calais has to do with England ; and that as far
as regards religious matters, in which the Abyssinian Church is
subordinate to the Armenians in this country, this proves no
more than the same relation of the Pope of Rome does to the
Austrian, French, and Spanish Consuls here, who are yet inde-
pendent of each other nationally.

Ithen reminded his Excellency that three or four years ago
the Abyssinians were actually at war with the Pasha of Egypt,
-and gained some considerable advantages over him.

The Pasha contended that this proves no more than does the
rebellious state of certain outlying towns in the Desert, which
-are yet counted in the Pashalic of Jerusalem.

As the conversation proceeded, I mentioned the political dis-
ruption of Algiers and of Greece from Turkey, and asked why
the Porte did not claim those countries also.

His Excellency replied by asking sharply, * Has the Porte
ever recognized her loss of Algiers ¥’ and said that, on the con-
trary, ¢all Algerines coming to this country acknowledge them-
selves to be Turkish subjects. As to Greece, that its inde-
pendence had been acknowledged because England had joined
with the other powers to compel the recognition,” ' '
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I made no reference to the common idea that the Sultan claims
to be King/of Indis also, because I wished to exclude all contro-
versy between ourselves that did not directly bear upon the
question before us, namely, the nationality of the Abyssinians.

The conversation concluded by my stating that I am awaiting
directions from your Lordship and from Constantinople, and my
promising to give him a letter on the subject of my protection of
Abyssinians.

I here inclose copy of what I sent. '

I also promised to use my friendly efforts to accommodate
matters now in dispute between the Copts and Abyssinians.

For this he thanked me, but refused to join me in the task,
a8 he could not recognize my right to exercise any jurisdiction
in Abyssinian matters,

I have the honour to represent to your Lordship that this is
not a mere matter of theory, such as the recognition of Algiers
or of India to be free from Turkey, but that the Abyssinians
are in danger of losing the last poor remains of their large ancient
possessions in Jerusalem, if placed under a Turkish Pasha and
so under the convents of their oppressors the Armenians and
Copts, who are Turkish subjects.

For myself, I can have no interest, nor can Her Majesty’s
Government have any interest, in the question, except that of
advocating the cause of a persecuted people.

I should explain to your Lordship, in conclusion, that I have
been in the habit of giving passes to Abyssinians on their re-
turning hence to their own country, but no other documents
whatever on any occasion. I have, &o,

(signed)  James FINw.

Inclosure in No. 15.
Consul Finn to Sureya Pasha.

Jerusalem, May 2, 1862.
ExorLLENOY,—In reply to your question of yesterday, I have
the honour to state that whatever I have hitherto done on behalf
of the Abyssinians here has been done by virtue of directions
received from my Government in London ten years ago, after
the King of Abyssinia had written a letter to Her Majesty the
Queen of Great Britain, asking to have his people placed under

British protection while in Jerusalem. Yours, &o.
_(signed) ~ Jaues FINw,
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Nore.— Though the, Commissioners gave only the fifteen lktters
above to'the’ candidates under-examination, I think it better o
print the whole corvespondence, the remaining letters being admirably
adapied for an additional exercise.

(16) Earl Russell to Consul Finn,
Foreign Office, May 29, 1863.

Sir,—I have received your despatch of the 7th instant, re-
porting what has passed between you and Sureya Pasha relative
to your protection of Abyssinians at Jerusalem, and I have to
refer you, for the guidance of your conduct in this matter, to the
instructions given to you by Lord Malmesbury in his despatch
-of the 10th of July, 1852.

I have nothing to add to those instructions except to e1join
you to act upon them with caution and prudence.

I am, &ec.
(signed) RusseLL.
C——
17) Earl Russell to Sir H. Bulwer.
Foreign Office, June 5, 1862, -

Sie,—Her Majesty’s Consul at Jerusalem has communicated
to your Excellency a copy of his despatch of the 7th ultimo,
relative to his protection of Abyssinians at Jerusalem ; and
now transmit for your information copies of the answer which I
have returned to Mr. Finn, and of the former instruction which
-was addressed to him on this subject by the Earl of Malmesbury,

I am, &c.

(signed)  RussELL.

(18) Siyr H. Bulwer to Earl Russell.
(Received June 13.)
Constantinople, June 1, 1862,

My Lorp,—I have the honour to transmit to your Lordship
herewith, a copy of a despatch which has been addressed to me
by Mr. Consul Finn respecting the protection which, as it would
.appear, he has been in the habit of according to the Abyssiniang
-established at or visiting Jerusalem.

On referring back to previous correspondence on this subj
1 find that Mr. Finn alludes to an instruction from the Earl o
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Malmesbury, dated July 10, 1852, but I am not aware that a
oopy of 'that'despatch was'ever communicated to the Embassy.
I am consequently somewhat at a loss to perceive under what
authority Mr. Finn has assumed the protection of these people,
and should feel obliged by your Lordship’s instructions on the
sabject. I have, &o

(signed) Hesry L. BULWER.

Inclosure 1 in No. 18.
Consul Finn to Sir H, Bulwer.

Jerusalem, May &, 1862,
Note.—This letler is a verbatim copy of No. 15,

Inclosure 2 in No. 18.
Consul Finn to Sureya Pasha, May 2, 1862.

[See Inclosure in No. 15.]
{19) Consul Finn to Earl Russell,

(Received June 23.)
Jerusalem, June 3, 1862.

My Lorp,—TI have the honour to inclose for your Lordship’s
inspection, a copy of my despatch of this day’s date, addressed to
Her Majesty’s Ambassador at Constantinople, respecting the ill-
treatment of the Abyssinians here.

The two despatches from me to his Excellency, referred to in
the commencement of the inclosed, I have already sent in copy
to your Lordship, on the 13th of March and 7th of May
respectively. I have, &c.

James FiNn.

Inclosure in No. 19.
Consul Finn to Sir H, Bulwer.
Jerusalem, June 3, 1863.

S, have the honour to state to your Excellency, in con-
tinuation of my despatches of the 11th March and of the 5th
May respecting the Abyssinians in Jerusalem, that their neigh-
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bours the Copts have lately taken to beating them more than
formerly, ‘both' men-and-‘women, and otherwise in several petty
ways ill-using them, besides breaking open the locks of the
church: And I am unable to obtain any redress on their behalf,
as the Pasha is absent or: a journey, and the Local Council acting
for him in the city refuse (as they say by his direction) to hear
any Abyssinian complaint in which the English Consul inter-
feres, and in which these people do not come into Court as éonaz
Turkish subjects.

I beg to add that this is a case of real hardship, and likely to
lead to further evils, the Turkish authorities maintaining obstin-
ately that the Abyssinians are their subjects, and the Copts and
Armenians taking advantage of this principle being asserted to
tyrannise over them.

As long as this question remains unsettled, we are unable to
enter into the details of dispute in order to promote a final
arrangement of them. I therefore beg of your Excellency to
furnish me with instructions on the subject as early as possible.

I have, &c.
(signed)  James Finw,

(20) Consul Moore to Earl Russell.
(Received October 15.)
(Extract.) Jerusalem, October 3, 1863.

. I have the honour to transmit herewith, for your Lordship’s
information, copy of a despatch which I addressed to Her Ma-
jesty’s Ambassador at the Porte on the 28th ultimo.

I have, &c.

(signed) =~ Noen Tempis Mooms.

Inclosure in No. 20.
Consul Moore to Sir H. Bulwer,

Jerusalem, September 28, 1863.

Sie,—1I have the honour to state to your Excellency that the
long standing dispute between the Coptic and Abyssinian Com-
munities established at Jerusalem respecting the proprietorship-
of the convent and chapel adjoining the Church of the Holy
Sepulchre, lately broke out afresh. The Convent has hitherto
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been in the possession of the Abyssinians, whilst the chapel was
common t0\/ both/ parties. O/ The ownership of the building was
claimed by either sect.

The Copts having laid their case before the Turkish aunthorities,
the Abyssinians addressed themselves to me. I soughtan inter-
view with Khourshid Pasha with the view of using my good
offices in favour of the Abyssinians for the purpose of bringing
about an amicable adjustment of the dispute. On stating to the
Pasha the object of my visit, his Excellency at once met me
with the inquiry whether there existed in the Consulate any
Firman or Vizirial Letter instructing the Governor of Jerusalem
to recognise the British protection of the Abyssinians. I had
to reply in the negative. He then said that in his own general
instructions the Abyssinians were designated as Turkish sub-
jects, and proceeded to read to me extracts from some official
documents which certainly appeared to bear out his statement
on this head ; his Excellency added that under these circum-
stances he could not entertain any representations or admit
any right of intervention on my part on behalf of the Abyssi-
nians, and concluded by inviting me, if not satisfied, to write
to him officially on the object of my visit.

As to the second alternative proposed by his Excellency, I did
not consider myself authorised, looking to my predecessor’s
instructions and correspondence on the subject of the Abyssinians,
to adopt it, and I moreover felt that it could but lead to the
same conclusion already thus verbally announced by the
Goveruor. .

The case was proceeded with at the Medgliss, under the pre-
sidency of the Pasha himself, and in the presence of both parties.
The decision of the Medgliss was given in favour of the claims
of the Copts, with the proviso that the Abyssinians were to be
allowed to make use of both the convent and chapel under
certain conditions. : :

Not having assisted at the inquiry I am unable to form an
opinion as to the justice of this verdict. It appears that neither
party had more than oral testimony to adduce in support of their
respective pretensions, but the Abyssinians could add to this the
fact of possession. They also allege that their written titles
were burnt, purposely, by the Armenians and Copts during the
panic and confusion of the last visitation of the plague in this
city, at the time of the Egyptian domination.

Alyssinisns came to me with complaints of the injustice
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of the decision lof the Medgliss. I told them that if they would -
address to me a statement of their case, with all the evidence
they could furnish, I would undertake to submit it to your -
Excellency for your consideration, with such recommendation to
your Excellency’s favourable notice as I could properly give.
This they have not done, and it is understood that they are pre-
paring to abandon Jerusalem altogether and return to their
country, a course their head priest has already followed.

21) Earl Russell to Consul Moore.

Foreign Office, September 27, 1865.

Sir,—The attention of Her Majesty’s Government has been
drawn to a statement that one of the causes of the ill-treatment
of British subjects has arisen out of your not having afforded to
Abyssinians in Jerusalem that protection which was given to
them by your predecessor, and of having asserted that in thus
acting you were obeying the orders of Her Majesty’s Government.

I have now to desire you to inform me whether this statement
is correct, and, if so, to what orders you refer as prohibiting you
from rendering assistance to Abyssinians, and as superseding the
positive orders given by the Earl of Malmesbury, in July, 1852,
to Her Majesty’s Consul at Jerusalem, to use, in case of need,
his good offices for the protection of any Abyssinians who might
chance to be in Jerusalem, as being members of a Christian
Church in spiritual communion with the Established Church
of this country, and which orders were repeated by me in May,
1862, and are still in force for your guidance. I am, &e.

(signed) RusseLL.

(22) Earl Russell to Consul-General Eldridge.

{(Extract.) Foreign Office, September 27, 1865.

I transmit to you a despatch which I have addressed to Mr.
Consul Moore at Jerusalem, respecting an allegation which has
become a matter of public notoriety, that he has failed to afford
to Abyssinians in the Holy City the good offices ordered by Her
Majesty’s Government to be given to them.

This allegation is somewhat confirmed by the tenor of a report
which I find that Mr. Moore made to Sir H. Bulwer on the 28th
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- S8eptember, 1863, a copy of which I inclose, and by which you
will see’ that, instead ‘of carrying out the instructions of Her
Majesty’s Government, he offered no remonstrance to objections
raised by the Turkish Governor to his interference, nor to the
assertion of the Pasha that Abyssinians were Turkish subjects.
Mr. Moore’s predecessor had rendered good offices to Abyssinians
as members of a Christian Church in spiritual communion with
the Church of England, and Mr. Moore should equally have
remonstrated against the language of the Pasha and acts of the
Turkish authorities ; but if a British agent submits, without
protest at the right time, to whatever may be said to him by a
foreign authority and thus leaves the instructions of his Govern-

. ment to be dealt with in a different spirit to that in which they

were framed, such agent becomes practically of little use.

(238) Consul Moore to Earl Russell.
(Received November 12.)

Jerusalem, October 21, 1865.

My Lorp,—I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of
your Lordship’s despatch of the 27th ultimo, directing me to
inform your Lordship whether a statement that I had not
afforded to Abyssinians in Jerusalem that protection which was
given to them by my predecessor, and that I had asserted that
in thus acting I was obeying the orders of Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment, is correct.

I have the honour, in reply, to say that this statement, in
both particulars, is not correct. What actually occurred was
duly reported by me to Her Majesty’s Ambassador at the Porte
in a despatch of which I transmitted a copy to the Foreign
Office, in my despatch of October 3, 1863, and of which I beg
leave now to annex a copy. .

The contents of my report show that I used my good offices
for the protection of the Abyssinians, which I did to the full
extent of the authority given to me, it follows that I could not
have made the assertion that I had received orders not to do so.

My report elicited no reply or intimation from the Embassy.

I may add that assistance would have been worse than useless,
‘it would have led to profitless collision with the Turkish authe-
rities ; Khourshid Pasha was peculiarly jealous of Consular in-
tervention in any form, and, although I explained to his Excel-
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lency\that/my/interposition_was one of good offices, he could
not, or would not, see the distinction between that and official
interference.—I have, &c. ’

(signed) = Norn TempLe MooORE.

P.S.—Khourshid Pasha, the then Governor of Jerusalem, is
the present Finance Minister of Turkey. N. T. M.

(24) Consul-General Eldridge to the Earl of Clarendon.
(Received February 7,)
(Extract.) Beyrout, January 29, 1866.

With reference to Earl Russell’s despatch of the 27th of
September last, I have the honour to inform your Lordship
that, during my recent visit to Jerusalem, I devoted much of
my time to a careful investigation into Mr. Consul Moore’s pro-
ceedings in regard to the Abyssinians.

In order fully to understand the whole question, I examined
with much diligence the correspondence of Mr. Consul Finn on
this subject from the year 1850 to the year 1862.

From this correspondence it appears that Mr. Finn repeatedly
represented both to the Foreign Office and to Her Majesty’s
Embassy, that, in order to afford to the Abyssinians any
efficient protection against their powerful enemies and oppressors,

it would be necessary to procure their recognition by the Porte
as foreigners, and as under British protection ; foretelling, what
has since occurred, that, unless this could be done, they would
be deprived of their property in Jerusalem in favour of the Copts,
with whom the Turkish authorities persisted in treating them as
identical, and obstinately denying the right of the English Consul
to intervene in their affairs.

On the other hand, I find that, in answer to these representa-
tions, Mr. Finn is referred by Earl Russell’s despatch of the
29th May, 1862, to the original instructions of 1852, authorizing
him to use his geod offices for the protection of any Abyssinians

ho may chance to be in Jerusalem, as being members of a
ghnshan Church in spiritual communion with the Established
Church of England ; and Earl Russell modifies this sythority
hy an injunction to use it with caution and prudenca. l&erl@-
Jesty’s Ambassador also, when appealed to by Mr, Finn,.in Jupe,
4863, desliges to interfore in the matter. o
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As the despatch from the Embassy here referred to may not
exist in the Archives/of the Foréign Office, I have the honowr
to inclose a copy. .

Such appears to have been the position of affairs when M.
Moore succeeded Mr. Finn. In 1863, when the quarrel between
the rival sects concerning the ownership of the Abyssihian' coh-
vent seems to have reached its culminating point, Mr. Moore
attempted to use his good offices in behalf of the Abyssinialis,
with a view of protecting them from spoliation and assisting it
bringing about an amicable adjustment of the dispute ; but on
being met with the old objection that the Abyssinians &re
Rayahs, and that he had no right to interfere, he did not con-
sider himself justified in risking a compromise of his position: by’
trying to sustain by official correspondence a right whicH he:
could not substantiate, and took the prudent and cautious course-
of reporting the circumstances to his superiors, and awaiting
further instructions should it be decided advisable to adopt more:
formal and energetic measures.

In regard to the alleged influence of Mr. Moore’s condtict
upon the treatment of British subjects in Abyssinia, I am mors
inclined to attribute any blame there may be to the injudicious
zeal of his predecessor, who, from his despatch of the 21st June;
1858, appears to have informed some Abyssinians of distinctibn
who visited Jerusalem, that their fellow-countrymen were, in
this country, under Her Majesty’s gracious protection, and to
have addressed a letter to the King of Abyssinia to the same
effect.

Inclosure in No. 24,
Sir H. Bulwer to Consul Finn.
Constantinople, July 3, 1863.
Sir,—As I perceive by an instruction addressed to you on the:
29th of May last, that Earl Russell has already informed you of
the course you should adopt relative to the qualified protectidm:
you are anthorized to accord to Abyssinians at Jerusalem, I dos
not think it necessary to interfere any further in regard. tor the
In#tters adverted to in your despatch of the 3rd ultimo.
1 aim; &t:
(For Sir H. L. Bulwer)
(signed) E. M. Ensxiva.
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(28) Memorandum respecting| the Abyssinians al Jerusaiem, by
the Rev. W. W. Mald, formerly and for len years in the
Bomtay Civil Service, July 22, 1867.

During a visit I paid to Jerusalem between the 1st and 20th
of June, 1867, I became acquainted with the heads of the
various Christian communities there, viz., Greek, Latin, Arme-
nian, Syrian, Coptic, and Abyssinian,

Of this last, Father Saleeb, a priest, is at present Superior.
Their convent consists of miserable huts and caves adjoining the
ruins of a hospice of the Knights of St. John of Malta,* close to-
the Church of the Holy Sepulchre, and the well-built convent
of the Copts. In this community of Abyssinians there are now
seventy-one members, four of whom are priests. For four years
past they have not been able to have their “Eucharist,” a holy
communion, on account of being without a place for worship,
{.e, a chapel and altar in the Church of the Sepulchre—like all
the other communities. Saleeb was much hurt at this, and said,
¢ it was taking life from them.” Till four years ago, for a long
time, they had used the same chapel and altar as the Copts, who
had now obtained exclusive use of it.

Mr. Finn, the British Consul, had wished them to continue
their right ; but when a dispute arose, it went before the Court
at Constantinople, where they had no one to speak for them.
At one time the Copts forced open the door of the chapel when
it was the Abyssinians’ turn to have it from Mr. Finn. The

" British Consul had been directed to use his influence to obtain
justice for them ; but when the violence of the Copts was re-
ported by him to the British Ambassador, Sir Henry Bulwer, at
Constantinople, the Consul could not obtain a reply, so he could
do nothing. King Theodorus had been informed of the whole
matter, but he was so engaged in war that he could not send
any one to plead for them.

Saleeb knew that several English were in prison in Abyssinia,
and was very sorry for it. The Copts were rich, and had paid
large sums of money at Constantinople to obtain their ends ;
but the Abyssinians had no money.

The above information was given to me by Saleeb during an
interview I had with him in his miserable dwelling. He re-
quested me to take to England a book he had written for Lord

. mwm&mawmg:m«:m..nm Solomon.
mve
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Bute ; he also sent me a letter to Lord Bute concerning his
grievances; and showed mie the following testimonial :—

¢ Jerusalem, September 14, 1866.
“T am requested by Father Saleeb, Superior of the Abyssinian
convent here, to give him a certificate that I am now having a
copy of the Athiopic Missal transcribed for me by one of his
religious. I may take the opportunity of saying that I believe
there could not be another object found more deeply needing
charitable offerings than this community.

“(signed)  Bume”

They call the language “ Amharic.” Theyshowed me several
manuscript copies of the four Gospels beautifully written by
them. The language is not printed apparently :—

“On the 19th of June I met Benjamin, a Greek, and very
learned Professor of the Theological Seminary at the Greek Con-
vent and College of St. Cross, two miles from Jerusalem. He
said the Greeks were well disposed towards the Abyssinians, who
had been hardly treated. He believed that the continuance of
the captivity of the English by Theodorus was caused by this
treatment, viz., the privation of the holy place in the Church of
the Resurrection. The British authorities at first defended the
Abyssinians, and then deserted them. He had heard that an
Armenian had been employed to intercede with the King on
behalf of the prisoners, which was absurd : for, firstly, the
Armenians, taking advantage of the poverty of the Abyssinians,
had deprived them of their property ; and, secondly, they were
a people unknown to King Theodore. Professor Benjamin said
the plan would be to get the Coptic Patriarch at Cairo, and the
Greek Patriarch at Alexandria, to intercede with Theodorus, and
at the same time the British Government to treat with the King,
and offer, by way of ransom, to supply the Abyssinians in their
convent with food to the same amount as the Armenians do,
who, being relieved of this obligation, might be induced to give
up part of the vast space they have in the Church of the
Sepulchre, for a chapel to the Abyssinians, in which the Sultan
could greatly assist, as the Armenians are his subjects. The
Armenians supply the Abyssinians daily with two large casaroles
of soup and seventy-five small loaves of bread at the cost of
about 40 piastres, or ten francs, per diem, which might be dis-
charged at once by & comparatively small sacrifice for England,
say, about £3,000. The custom began 160 years ago, when the
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Abyssinjans wére starving; and when to obtain this allowance of
food they gave up to the Armenians all that space in the Church
of the Sepulchre which now is occupied by their convent in the
precincts and their chapels, reserving only a small chapel for
themsslves and the Copts in common, their worship being the
same.’

I saw the poor Abyssinians wandering about the vast courts
and passages of the church as if broken-hearted, urging their
prayers and reading their bibles against the stone walls.

Their patience and devotion is worthy of a better fate, and
their poverty is deserving of pity from the British nation.

From the kindness which I received from the Armenian
Patriarch at the Convent of St. James, on Mount Sion, I feel
sure he would listen to terms in behalf of these poor people ;
and if my services be required in this affair by Her Majesty’s
Government, I am quite willing to return to Jerusalem in No-
vember next. The Armenian Patriareh had all my credentials,
e.g., passports—Iletter commendatory from the Archbishop of
Cauterbury ; letter from the Association for Promoting Reunion
of Christendom ; letter from the Society of St. Joseph for Eng-
land ; letters of Priests’ Orders—translated into his language,
and then gave me permission to use his Chapel of the Holy
Spirit for celebration of Holy Communion at Whitsuntide.

To arrange the matter with the Armenians would, of course,
take more time ; but the fact of its being entertained by Her
Majesty’s Government and by the Sultan (while he is still in
England) being communicated at once to King Theodorus from
the Queen and the Sultan, would probably turn him to show
mercy to the suffering captives. Surely it would be worth
trying, before making warlike preparations against him.

It is the common saying in Jerusalem that ¢ formerly the
Abyssinians were under the protection of the British Govern-
ment, and then they were able to worship at Jerusalem, but now
they have been ¢ discharged’ from that protection, and the Copts
have gained all by money.”

(signed) ‘Wirtiay WyNpHAM MALET,

Vicar of Ardeley, Herts (on leave). Pilgrim to

Jerusalem in 1867, for the Association for

Promoting Union of Christendom, consisting of

near 10,000 members.

Pheenix Club, 17, St. James’s Place,
London, July 22, 1867,




SEVENTH EXERCISE. ' 189

ENLISTMENT OF KREWMEN.

A oopy ¢ of a letter of Mr. Spence, relative to the enlistment of
Krewmen :”

“ And memorandum of interview between the Court of Directors
of the East India Company and Mr. Spence relative thereto,
and all subsequent correspondence and instructions relative
thereto ; together with memorandum of the amendment re-
quired in the Mutiny Act, to enable the East India Company
to enlist and attest in the same manner as Her Majesty’s
Government.”

Time, 3 hours.—(See directions page 8.)

19, Adam-street West, Oxford-street,
11 March, 1858.

Sir,—1 should have written to you before, but have abstained
from doing so until the hurry of election was over. I have
landed from the West Coast of Africa only a few weeks ago, and
was surprised by the news of the Indian mutiny, and an idea
struck me, which, if carried out, would be of the greatest service
to the country, as it is both practicable and feasible. On the
‘West Coast of Africa there is one of the finest races of men in
the world—the “ Kroo Boys ;” and this people has long been
employed, not only by the British merchants, but by the British'
navy, as being most useful in working under a burning sun,
where Europeans could not possibly stand it. Now these people,
taken to India, would make a most useful transport corps, or an
irregular rifle brigade, they being dead shots ; and they are never
so happy as when fighting. I would engage in three weeks,
properly authorised, to raise a thousand men, whose services
would prove invaluable in India ; their pay, too, is very trifling,
and their principal food rice. Should you be pleased to consider
this suggestion, I should be most happy to give you every infor-
mation in my power ; and would be honoured by waiting on'you,
and explaining personally any particulars you might wish to

know. I am, &c. .
(signed)  Jomn Seenom, LR. C.S.E.
General Peel.
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Memorandum.

On the 18th instant the chairman and deputy chairman had
an interview with Mr. John Spence on the subject of the
practicability of enlisting negroes, and particularly Kroomen, on
the West Coast of Africa, for service as soldiers in India.

Mr. Spence stated that he doubted whether Kroomen would
engage for more than four years, but that he thought they might
be induced to enlist for seven years.

The towns where they could best be sought he stated to be—

Bareby, Fish Town,
Cabalby, Grande Cestres.
Tabore,

The Kroomen obtain wages in Africa of from 10s. to 15s. per
month, paid in goods at theend of the term of service, together
with food and a single body-cloth once a month. They are
never paid money wages till end of term of service ; meanwhile
they are fed.

Their food is rice, and if supplied with a sufficiency of it, they
require no other food. They can work hard upon it. They
have no prejudices as to food or as to religion. They would
wear clothes, and are fond and proud of dress. They will bear
flogging if they deserve it.  Are healthy ; will drink, but don’t
getdrunk. The average height is five feet nine inches.

They are very well-limbed men, not like negroes in that
respect. They are dead shots. They would not take their
women to India and settle there.

They speak a smattering of English.

Pay at the rate of 15s. per month he thinks would satisfy
them ; perhaps less.

o They would require warm clothing for a voyage round the
ape.

Mr. Spence thinks he would get 1,000 men.

Mr. Campbell, the Consul-General at Lagos, might go down
to assure the men as to the nature of their employment in India ;
or some public officer (query, the Governor) from Sierra Leone.
The Kroomen would trust them.

The Kroo country lies in latitude about four or five degrees
- north ; longitude from seven to ten degrees west.

The nearest point where the mail packet touches is Cape
Coast Castle,
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' Mbr. Spence stated that he would proceed to the West Coast
of Africa for the purpose of carrying out the plan of enlisting
Kroomen. He would require a free passage out and home, and
be granted compensation about £150.

East India House,
20 March, 1858.

Memorandum.

It appears to be necessary that the powers given by the 60th
and 61st section of the Annual Mutiny Act for the enlistment
and re-enlistment of soldiers abroad, should be extended to en-
listment for the East India Company’s service, otherwise the
negroes enlisted for that service cannot be legally attested. The
Mutiny Bill is now in progress, and the necessary additional
words can, it is found, be added on Monday.

East India House,

20 March, 1858.

Enlistment and Re-Enlistment abroad.

LX. And whereas it is expedient that provision shoald be made for enlisting
and attesting of soldiers desirous of re-enlisting or of enlisting abroad ; be it
enacted, that it shall be lawful for Her Majesty, by any warrant signed by the
Secretarg at War in that behalf, to authorise the governors of colonies, and of the
several Presidencies in India, to appoint any person, not being a general officer
nor holding any regimental commission, to enlist and attest, or for any justice of
the peace or magistrate acting for the place of such enlistment, and not being a

neral officer nor holding any regimental commission, to enlist and attest, out of

reat Britain or Ireland, any soldiers or persons desirous of enlisting or re-
enlisting into Her Majesty’s service, or into the service of the East India Com-
pany ; and any person so appointed shall have the same powers in that behalf as
are by this or any other Act of Parliament given to justices in the United Kingdom.
for all such purposes of enlistment and attestation; and all such apb;:)intmenb,
past and fature, and everything done or to be done under them, shall be valid and
of full effect, notwithstanding the expiration of this Act or of any other Act of
Parliament ; and any person so enlisted or re-enlisted shall be deemed to be an
attested soldier ; and as often as mLcofi;‘m shall be relieved or disbanded at any
station beyond the seas it shall be lawful for any officers thereunto authorised by
the officer commanding in chief at such station to receive as transfers as many of
the soldiers belonging to the corps leaving the station as shall be wm&
formioeformyoolzuppointedtoremain;-mdeveryaoldier 80 is
hereby deemed to be di from his former corps, and an attested certificate
of transfer shall be delivered to the soldier; and every infantry soldier consenting
to be transferred to the cavalry or artillery shall upon such transfer becoms liable
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1o serve the limited period prescribed for the cavalry or artillery, as the case
ﬁoﬁginalmgagementhminthein&n&yforalhonrﬁ’

be, !;%twithshnding

iod.
Pei}XI.A]lnegrouorpemmofeolourwho, not born in any of Hes
Majesty’s colonies, territories, or i have volunf enlisted!

into Her Majesty’s service, or into that of the East India Company, while

serving, be deemed to be soldiers le&d.ly enlisted into Her Majesty’s service, or

that of the East India Company, as the case may be, and be eatitled to all the

Hi' of nataral-born subjects ; and all negroes purchased by or on account of
er

jesty previous to the total abolition of slavery throughout the British
Colonie?,e:.?ﬁgervin in any of Her Majesty’s forces; and all negroes who have
been seized and con as prize under the Slave Trade Acts, and appointed to
serve in Her Majesty’s army, shall be deemed to be and shall be entitled to all the
dvmtngesofnﬁgmuorpmomofwlouvdumﬁly,enﬁatedhmnwldim
in any of Her Majesty’s colonial forces.

East India House, 22 March, 1858,

81r,—The Court of Directors having been apprised that yom
are ready to proceed by the mail steamer of the 23rd instant to
the Gold Coast on public duty, I am desired to inform you that
a passage has been engaged for you in that vessel. Passages
have also been engaged for Lieutenant W. H. Solly, who is
hereby placed under your orders, and for Mr. John Spence, who
has been engaged to accompany you.

On your arrival at Cape Coast Castle, you will report your-
self to the Governor, Sir Benjamine Pine, and act entirely under
his orders. Mr. Spence having an intimate personal knowledge
of many of the tribes on the coast, particularly of the Kroomen,
will be able to give you information and advice, to which you
will pay every attention.

The objects in view are to ascertain whether negro recruits are
obtainable for service in Indis, on what terms, and in .what
numbers.

The East India Company are prepared to enlist negroes from
the fribes of the Golraoast and its neighbourhood, provided
they will enlist for not less than seven years, on the same terms
a8 to rates of pay and pension as are granted by Her Majesty's
Government to the men of the Gold Coast Corps.

~ The East India Company will undertake to bring the negroes
back to the Gold Coast, or to the place of their enlistment, if
such shall be their desire, at the expiration of the stipulated
term of enlistment, commencing from the date of their departure
for India; or to rémew the engagement for a farthey term ift
desired by the negroes, and by, their employers.
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If it shall be found thatthe recruits can be procured in suffi-
cient numbers to form. a corps of 500 men, measures may be
immediately commenced upon for raising them.

The Governor of the Gold Coast will, it is hoped, be able to
furnish staff serjeants for the purpose of carrying on the necessary
preliminary drill .

It is very important that the recruits to be entertained should
have some knowledge of the English language, if such recruits
well qualified in other respects are to be procured.

The recruits must be attested according to the terms prescribed
by law. Forms of attestation will be sent by the next mail
packet.

‘Whilst employed on this duty, you and Lieutenant Solly will
receive the pay and Indian allowances of your regimental rank.

Mr. Spence’s passage, out and home, will be defrayed by the
East India Company. The travelling expenses of the whole,
whilst in Africa, are also to be defrayed by the Company.

The expenditure on this account is entrusted to you. Bills
for the same, attested on honour, are to be sent to me by every
mail. Until an officer genior to you shall be appointed, you will
report to me in detail all your proceedings under the above in-
structions. .

You will draw upon me, as Secretary to the Court of Direc-
tors, for the funds you may require for the discharge of this
duty. I have, &ec.,

(signed)  J. D. Diokingon, Secretary.

Lieutenant Arthur Hawes.

East India House, 22 March, 1858.
S1m,~I have received the instructions of the Court of Direc-
tors to acquaint you that they have accepted your offer to proceed
by the mail packet of the 23d instant, under the orders of Lieu-
tenant Arthur Hawes, of the Bengal army, for the purpose of
ascertaining whether a body of negroes can be enlisted on the
Gold Coast and its neighbourhood for service in the East Indies.
You will be granted the pay and Indian allowances of your
rank whilst so employed, and your bora fide travelling expenses
will be defrayed by the Company. A passage has been engaged

for you by the mail steamer of the 23d instant.—I have, &c.,

(signed) J. D. DickinsoN, Secretary.

Lieutenant Solly,
&th Bengal L. Cavalry.
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East India House, 22 March, 1858.

S1r,—T have received the instructions of the Court of Direc-
tors to acquaint you that they have accepted your offer to proceed
to the West Coast of Africa for the purpose of giving your advice
and assistance in carrying out an experiment with the view of
ascertaining whether negroes of the Gold Coast and its neigh-
bourhood, including the Kroomen, are willing to enlist as soldiers
to serve in the East Indies.

The Court have accordingly agreed to provide you with a
passage to Cape Coast Castle by the mail steamer of the 23d
instant, to defray your dona fide travelling expenses whilst in
Africa, to provide you with a return passage, and to grant you,
on your return, as remuneration for your services, the sum of
£150.

You will be pleased to act in concert with Lieutenant Arthur
Hawes, who, with Lieutenant Solly, proceeds by the same packet,
to discharge, under the orders of the Governor of Cape Coast
Castle, all the military duties connected with the experiment. A
copy of the instructions to Lieutenant Hawes is herewith en-
closed for your information.

You will be pleased to communicate to me from time to
time, through Lieutenant Hawes, all the information which you
may collect on the subject of this mission.—I have, &c.,

(signed)  J. D. DickinsoN, Secretary.

John Spence, Esq.

(Immediate.)

Mr. Dickinson presents his compliments to Lieutenant Hawes,
Lieutenant Solly, Mr. Spence, and begs to inform him that the
intention of sending him to Cape Coast Castle is suspended for
the present.

East India House, 23 March, 1858.
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NEW COURTS OF JUSTICE.

Copy “of Treasury Minute of the 22nd day of December,
1865 7 «Of the Award of the Judges :” ¢ And further
Correspondence relative thereto.”®

Time 3 hours—(See directions page 8.)

(1) Copy of Treasury Minutz of 23 December, 1865,

The Financial Secretary states to the Board that a deputation
from the Courts of Justice Commission waited on him to-day by
appointment, and informed him that they were delegated by the
Commission to ascertain the views of this Board as to the part
which the Commission would be expected or authorised to take
in the preparation of the plans of the new building.

By the 4th section of the Act 28 Vict, c. 48, the functions of
the Commission in this respect appear to be hmlted to advising
-and concurring with the Treasury “in the determination of the
plan upon which the said buildings shall be erected, and the
necessary arrangements for the proper and convenient accom-
modation of all the courts and offices to be provided for therein,
-and for proper accesses thereto;”” but it was suggested by the
deputation, and it appeared to Mr. Childers desirable, that in the
preliminary steps to be taken for preparing this plan, harmonious
action between the Treasury and the Commission should be
secured.

Mr. Childers adds, that he had consulted the first Commis-
‘sioner of Works in the matter, and that he made the following
‘proposal to the deputation, with Mr. Cowper’s concurrence.

1. That so soon as the instructions for the competing archi-
tects, now in course of preparation by Mr, Burnet, have been
-settled by the Commission and approved by the Treasury, a
-committee of five judges be formed, two being named by tho
Commission, two by the Treasury, and the fifth being the Fu‘st
-Commissioner of Works, as Chairman, '

2. That the question of limited or unlimited competition, and
in the event of the former being adopted, the election of the

* Given at a Competitive Examination, April, 1869.



136 OIVIL SERVICE PREOIS,

competing architects, should be decided by the committee of
judges, the'amount of the premiums to be awarded being fixed
after reference to the Treasury.

3. That the notice or invitations to compete be issued by the
committee of judges, and that their award should be final.

4. That the plans and drawings, having been prepared by the
successful architect and approved by the Treasury, should receive
the final confirmation of the Commission by the signature of the
Chairman being attached to them when the contracts are en-
tered into.

The deputation having expressed their concurrence in this
proposal, Mr. Childers submits it for the consideration _of their
Lordships.

My Lords approve. -

Send copies of this Minute to the Lord Chancellor, as Chair-
man of the Commission, and to the First Comnussmner of
‘Works.

(2) Mr. Cowper to the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury.
Curzon-street, 30 July, 1867.

My Lorps,—I have the honour to inform your Lordships that
the Judges of Designs appointed to adjudicate on the competition
for the Courts of Justice having carefully and anxiously con-
sidered the designs, and also the reports and correspondence
communicated to them, have been unable to select any one of

. the designs as the best in all respects ; but they are of opinion
that the design of Mr. Barry is the best in regard to plan and
distribution of the interior, and that the design of Mr. Street is
the best in regard to merit as an architectural composition ; and
they recommend that an offer be made to those two architects to
act conjointly in the preparation of the final plan to be executed,
Mr. Barry being chiefly responsible for the internal arrangements
of the building, and Mr. Street for the elevations.

I have, &¢.,
(signed) ‘WmLiam CowpER.
The Lords Commissioners of
Her Majesty's Treasury.
48) Treasury Minute, dated 12 August. 1867,
‘Write to the Chairman of the Judges of Designs for the New
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Courts of Justice; that-my Lords have received his communication
of the 30th ultimo, informing their Lordships that the judges
have been unable to select any one of the designs as the best in
all respects, and recommending that an offer be made to Mr.
Barry and Mr. Street to act conjointly in the preparation of the
final plan to be executed.

My Lords have before them the instructions issued to the
competing architects by the Courts of Justice Commission, and
approved by this Board. They contain in paragraph 66, a
memorandum which commences as follows : —

“ A payment of £800 to be made to each competitor, except
the successful one, who is to be employed as the architect of the
building.

“The architect employed shall receive 5 per cent. commission
an the amount of the contract or contracts, and on any extras the
amount of which shall have been distinctly and previously autho-
rised by the Treasury.”

It appears to their Lordships that this memorandum contem-

lated the selection of one of the competitors as the architect to
ge employed, and that the expression of opinion on the part of
the judges of designs, contained in Mr. Cowper’s letler, “that
the design of Mr. Barry is the best in regard to plan and distri-
bution of the interior, and that the design of Mr. Street is the
best in regard to merit as an architectural composition,” coupled
with a recommendation that those gentlemen should be invited
“ to act conjointly in the preparation of the final plan,” is not such
aselection as was indicated by the above-mentioned memorandum
as intended to be made, nor such an award as their Lordships’
predecessors, by Minute of 23rd December, 1865, agreed should
be considered as final.

My Lords would, moreover, invite the attention of the judges
to the 54th section of the instructions to the comnpeting architects,
which contains the following intimation :—

“The estimate on which the Acts of Parliament relative to

" the new Courts have passed, has assumed that there will be
£750,000 applicable to the erection of the building, The
architect is requested, if possible, to design such a building as
may be erected for that sum, and to state the cost at which he
estimates his design could be carried out. An independent sur-
veyor will be named to test the estimates so sent in, in concur-
rence with the several architects or their respective surveyors.

. “The comparative cost of carrying out each design will be an
important element in determining the competition.”
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Mr. Gardiner was, subsequently appointed, with the approval
of this Board, 'to-test the estimates accordingly.

Since the receipt of Mr. Cowper’s letter my Lords have re-
ceived from the Secretary to the Commission a copy of Mr.
Gardiner's Report upon the estimates, and by the date of that
Report, namely the 3rd August, it would appear that when the
Jjudges of designs came to the conclusion that they were unable
to select any one of the designs as the best in all respects, the
result of Mr. Gardiner’s examination of the estimates had not
been before them,

My Lords are unable to say in what way, without the assis-
tance of his Report, the judges dealt with the question of ¢ the
comparative cost of carrying out each design,” which the Com-
missioners had intimated would be “an important element in
determining the competition.”

Adverting to these considerations, my Lords would venture
to hope that the judges of designs will, after further deliberation
and with the additional information that has been supplied by
Mr. Gardiner’s Report, now before them, be able to make such
an award in favour of some one of the competing architects as
may be taken as final,

(4) Mr. Cowper to the Secretary to the Treasury.
‘ 21 August, 1867.
Sir,—I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your
letter of the 13th instant, referring to my communication of the
30th July, and I beg to assure you that I will communicate it
to the other Judges of Designs as soon as I have an opportunity
of doing so.—1I have, &c.,
(signed) WiLLiam CowPER.

The Secretary, Treasury.

(5) Mr. Cowper to the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury.
Curzon-street, 28 November, 1867.
My Lorps,—The Judges of Designs for the Courts of Justice
have met for the consideration of your Lordships' letter of 28th
August.
‘We regret that we could not agree to make such an award as
was contemplated in the Treasury Minute, and the instructions




KIGHTH EXERCISE. 139

to the architects, but having arrived at the conclusion that the
design of 'Mr. Barry is the best in regard to plan, and that of
Mr. Street in regard to elevation, we considered that the best
course of procedure we could adopt under the circumstances was
to tender our recommendations to your Lordships, that those
two architects who were the first in the two branches of the
competition should be entrusted conjointly with the preparation
-of that final design which it was understood, between the com-
petitors and your Lordships, would be adopted subsequently to
the exhibition of the competitive designs. :

On reviewing our proceedings, no course appears to have been
open to us better than that we have taken, but whether we
judged rightly or not, it is clear that we have no power to render
further assistance in this matter.

" 'With reference to Mr. Gardiner’s report on the measurements
and estimates of the competitors, I may observe that it does not
contain anything to affect our previous decision.

I have, &c.,
(signed) ‘Wu. CowrER.
The Lords Commissioners of the Treasury.

6) Mr. G. A. Hamilton to the Secretary to the Courts of Justice
Commission,

Treasury Chambers, 10 December, 1867.

Str,—I am desired by the Lords Commissioners of Her Ma-
jesty to transmit to-you, to be laid before the Courts of Justice
Commissioners, the enclosed copy of a letter, dated 28th No-
vembar last, from the Chairman of the Committee of the Judges
of Designs, stating their regret that they could not agree to
make such an award as was contemplated in the Treasury Minute
of 23rd December, 1856 last, and the instructions to the
architects. I am, &e.

(signed) Geo. A. Hamivron.
The Secretary
To the Courts of Justice Commission,
&e. &e. &e.
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(V) Zhe Secretary to the Courts of Justice Commission to the
Secretary to the Treasury.

- Courts of Justice Commission,
33, Lincoln’s-inn Fields,
» 14 December, 1867.

Sir,—By a resolution of the Courts of Justice Commission, at:
a meeting held yesterday, I am directed to acknowledge the
receipt of your letter of the 10th instant, transmitting to me the
copy of a communication from the Chairman of the Committee
of Judges of Designs, in which the judges state their regret that
they could not agree to make such an award as was contem-
plated in the Treasury Minute and the instructions to the
architects.

You do not acquaint the Commission with what object (ex-
cept that they may be informed of what has occurred in the
matter) this communication is made to them ; but their atten-
tion bas been called to the reply given on the 29th November
last, by their Lordship’s Financial Secretary, to a question in
the House of Commons, in which Mr. Hunt stated that in this
matter “the Treasury propose to do what the Act of Parliament
laid down, and to seek the advice of the Commission.” The
Commission accordingly conclude that the letter from the judges
of designs is sent to them in order that they may advise the
Treasury upon it.

The Commission desire me to observe that, in strictness, the
Courts of Justice (Building) Act 1865, 8. 4, only requires the
advice of the Commission as to *the plan upon which the
‘buildings shall be erected, and the necessary arrangements for
the proper or convenient accommodation of all the courts, and
offices to be provided for therein and for proper accesses thereto.””
‘The selection of the architect rests with Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment, and the arrangements under which the concurrence of the
Commission with the Treasury, in this and other preliminary
steps for preparing the plan, was ensured, are based on the Trea-
sury Minute of the 23rd December, 1865, adopted by the Com-
mission on the 15th January, 1866,

On advising, therefore, the Treasury at the present juncture,
the Commissivn are not acting under their statutory powers.

I am, however, to state, that it appears to them most desirable
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that the selection’of the-architect should be made in accordance
with the terms of the Memorandum which forms Section 56 of
the instructions to the competing architects, signed by Lord
Cranworth on the 17th April, 1866 ; and that the opinion of
the Attorney General, by whom all questions which may arise
in the interpretation of that Memorandum are to be determined,
should be taken, whether the decision of the seven judges should
be recognised as naming Messrs. Barry and Street, the two
equally successful competitors, so that they may be jointly em-
ployed accordingly, if prepared to accept such employment, and
to share the architects commission on the conditions already

settled. I am, &e.
(signed)  Epwin W. Frerp,
Secretary to the Commission.
The Secretary to the Treasury.

(8) The Secretary to the Treasury to the Secretary to the Courts
of Justice Commission.

Treasury Chambers, 26 May, 1868.

S1r,—I am desired by the Lords Commissioners of Her Ma-
jesty’s Treasury to transmit herewith, for the information of the
"~ Courts of Justice Comunissioners with reference to previous
correspondence, the enclosed copy of the opinion of the Attoruey
General on the decision of the Judges of Designs as to the selec-
tion of an architect for the New Courts of Justice.

I am at the same time to state that, having regard to the
terms of that opinion, my Lords now consider themselves free to
make any appointment they may think proper, and that they
will forthwith proceed to consider what appointment should be
made, Iam &ec

(signed)  G. SoraTER-Boors,

To the Secretary of the Courts of
Justice Commission, &ec. &ec. .

{9) Copy of Treasury Minute, dated 30th May, 1868.

The First Lord of the Treasury and the Chancellor of the
Exchequer state to the Board that, after the decision which my
Lords have come to, as expressed in their Minute of 22nd May,
10 the effect that they considered themselves free to appoint any
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- architect for the mew Courts of Justice Buildings, and after con-
sultation with the First Commissioner of Works, they recommend
that Mr. G. E. Street should be appointed the architect.

My Lords approve.

Transmit copy of this Minute to Mr. Field, for the informa-
tion of the Court of Justice Commission, and to the First Com-
missioner of Works.

Transmit a copy of this Minute to Mr. Street.

(10) Mr. G. E. Street to the Secretary to the Treasury— Courts
of Justice Competition.

51, Russell-square, W.C.,
15 March, 1868.

Sir,—As I observed that one or two very incorrect statements
were made by Members of the House of Commons last night,
may I bring before your notice the state of the case in regard to
one most important portion of the subject, that of the comparative-
cost of the buildings shown in the various designs.

I observe that Mr. Pease asserted that I estimated the cost of
my design at £300,000 less than the surveyor appointed by the
Treasury. The real difference between our estimates was less

-than £200,000. But Mr. Pease omitted to notice, and I am
particularly anxious to call your attention to the fact, that the
surveyor appointed by the Treasury calculated the cost of my
design at a price per cubic foot lower than the designs of all the
other competitors, save Mr. Abrabam and Mr. Garling.

I need hardly say that it is the price per cubic foot which is
the real test of costliness in such a building, For, as not two-
competitors have proceeded exactly on the same data as to the ini-
portant dimensions of the heights of rooms and offices, it is
obvious that a comparison of the total cubical contents of the
various schemes i8 not really a just comparison. For instance,
I find that if 1 were to reduce the heights of the rooms used as
offices throughout the building, from the height shown on my
plan, to that which is shown on Mr. Waterhouse’s plan, the
cubical contents of my building would at once be so much re-
duced as to make the cost of my plan, according to the surveyor's.
estimate, less than that of Mr. Waterhouse’s plan. I have, &c.

(signed) GeorGE EDWARD STREET.
To the Secretary of the Treasury.
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(11) Mr. E. M. Barry to the Secretary to the Treasury.

21 Abingdon-street, 8 June, 1863.

Sir,—I am informed that Her Majesty’s Government propose
to disregard the award of the Judges of Designs for the New
Law Courts, and to appoint Mr. Street sole architect of that im-
portant work, notwithstanding that they have been twice officially
informed by the Right Honourable W. F. Cowper, the Chair-
man of the Judges of Designs, that the judges have decided that
my design is the best in regard to plan, and that of Mr. Strect
in regard to elevation only.

The conditions of competition provide in the -most stringent
manner that excellence of plan and internal arrangement is to be
preferred to all other considerations. The conditions state on
page 11, “The chief points to be kept constantly in view, and
to be treated as superseding, as far as they may conflict, all con-
siderations of architectural effect, are the accommodation to bo
provided and the arrangements to be adopted, so as in tho
greatest degree to facilitate the dispatch and the accurate trans-
action of the law business of the country, and, in carrying out
this design, the first object should be to provide ample uninter-
rupted communication and accommodation for those who have
legitimate business in the new building. On page 7 we read,
“The arrangement of the courts and offices is of vital moment,
on it chiefly depends the success or failure of their concentration,
and its importance cannot be over-estimated. For the interior
of such a building, and in such a locality, a requirement of the
first magnitude, and one having a very important bearing on the
question of arrangement, is abundant window light. It will be
next to impossible to give too much to any of the offices. Almost
every room throughout the building being devoted to purposes
of writing or reading, will necessarily require the fullest extent
of light which can be obtained.” Again, on pages 8 and 9.
« But whilst the question of a sufficiency of light is of very great
importance, and must necessarily have influence in the arrange-
ment of the rooms, a necessity of almost equal moment is gqu.et.
In short, the utmost precautions must be taken, and means pro-
vided, by which the quiet of the courts may be secured. The
comparative degrees of quiet required for the different offices,
are meant to be indicated in the schedules ; thus, q?, q°, q°; sig-
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nifying respectively quiet, quieter, and quietest.”” Again, on
page 13, Thd | convenient working of the whols arrangement de-
pends on the manner in which facilities of communication are
afforded.” 'The above extracts are but specimens of the spirit
which animated the conditions throughout, laying down the
principles to be followed in the selection of the architect, and
their requirements are summed up in the general heading in the
index, “ Utility to be attended to before effect.”

Few practical persons will fail to admit the good sense of these
instructions, or the difficulty of complying with them, in respect
of a building which is to be one of strict utility. Fewer still
will be prepared to find that the result of the competition is to
disregard them as if they had never been written, and to choose
a design avowedly recommended by & preference for its elevation
alone,

The Judges of Designs have twice officially recorded their
judgment in their award, that “the design of Mr. Barry is the
best in regard to plan and distribution of the interior.”” Two of
their number, Messrs. Shaw and Pownall, who were &pecially
appointed to advise the Royal Commission on points of profes-
sional detail, have recorded their opinion, seriatim, on the several
points referred to in the insfructions to the competing architects,
and have reported in my favour under the following heads :

Vice-Chancellor Wood's Court and
rooms.

Spare Court of Equity.

Registrars’ Offices.

Enrolment Office.

Visitors in Lunacy.

Queen’s Bench Judges’ Chambers.

Common Pleas Judges’' Chambers,

Light and Air.

Quiet.

Relative position of departments.

Accesses and staircase.

Communication between different sets
of offices.

Separation of traffic,

Private road, Clement’s Inn, Bell

Yard,and Strand. Exchequer Judges’ Chambers.
Queen’s Bench Court and rooms, Queen’s Bench Master's Office.
Common Pleas Court and rooms, Common Pleas Master’s Office.
Exchequer Court and rooms. Queen’s Bench Associate.
Exchequer Chamber. Common Pleas Associate.
Spare Conrt. Exchequer Associate.

Lords Justices’Court and rooms.

Vice-Chancellor Kinderley’s Court
and rooms.

Vice-Chancellor Stuart’s Court and
rooms,

Circait Associates,

Crown Officers’ rooms.
Royal Commissions Offices.
Spare rooms.

Waterclosets and urinals,

By this report, a copy of which is annexed, my design is
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selected as the best for@lmost all the courts and most important
-offices, and is specially preferred in the all-important matters of
light and air, quiet, accesses, general arrangements, &c.. which
-are the vital points to be attended to, and for the neglect of
which, no exterior, however attractive, will furnish compensation.

Mr. Street’s design is only specially noticed four times, first,
a8 to condition No. 5, as being inconsistent with the condi-
tions, in the important matter of the size of the courts, which is
stated to be deficient ; secondly, and thirdly, as to area of site
-and tramways, on which points it is preferred ; and fourthly, it
is put on an equality with the designs of seven other competitors,
in the provision made for the Receiver of Wills Department.

‘When the architects were invited to compete, they were in-
formed by a Treasury Minute, dated 23rd December, 1865, that
“ the notices for invitations to compete” should “be issued by
the committee of judges, and that their award should be final ;”
-and though I have been willing, in deference to the award, to
‘waive my special claims, and to consent to act jointly with Mr.
Street, I must, in justice to myself, maintain that, by the award
of the judges, my claims were made superior to those of any
other single competitor, and no other ought to have been preferred
to me.

I write in no spirit of hostility to my friend Mr. Street; but it
is impossible not to see that my design has been selected for
what I have done, in respect of those important points which the
-competitors were told were of vital moment. The solid grounds
of my selection are plainly and intelligibly recorded, so that all
the world may judge of their importance ; while Mr. Street is to
be appointed from an ssthetic preference for his elevation alone,
in defiance of the clearest statement that such preference was not
to determine the competition. Moreover, as Mr. Street’s eleva-
tion is altogether inconsistent with the plan approved, and cannot
therefore be carried out, he is.selected not for what he has done,
but for what he may yet do, a ground upon which he might as
well have been chosen without any competition at all. I have
every confidence in Mr. Street’s ability to design and carry out
- building worthy of the nation, but I regret to say, that I cannot
acquiesce in the justice of the course proposed to be adopted, as
it is directly at variance with the letter and the spirit of the con-
ditions, on the faith of which, I, in common with the other
<competitors, agreed to devote my time and attention to this work.

Having conformed to the regulations of the Cormission,



146 CIVIL SERVICE PRECIS.

having compliedwiththe-conditions, and having the award of
the judges in my favour, I have a right, very respectfully but most
urgently, o ask that the QGovernment should, on their part, abide
by their engagement jformally recorded in a Treasury Minute,
that the award of the judges should be final. 1 therefore most
earnestly appeal to their Lordships, not to turn my hardly-
earned success in this arduous competition into a serious loss
and injury, by denying to me, after a long and trying suspense,
my just reward, and excluding me from all connection with this
great national work, with which they have allowed my name to
be publicly associated during the last twelve months.
I have, &ec.

(signed) Epwarp M. Barry.
@G. Sclater-Booth, Esq., M.P.,
Secretary to Her Majesty’s Treasury.

Inclosure in No. 11,
Courts oF JUSTICE COMMISSION.

Report of Mr. Shaw and Mr. Pownall on the Competitive Designs
for the New Courts of Justice.

Courts of Justice Commission,
33, Lincoln’s-Inn Fields, 13 May, 1867.

My Lorps aNp GENTLEMEN,—We have now the honour to
present the Report of our investigation of the competitive designs
for the Courts of Justice on the several points contained in the
instructions furnished to the competing architects.

‘We should have been glad to feel that this Report, made we
believe in conformity with the instructions contained in your
Minute of the 23rd day of Marth, would have enabled the
Commissioners to determine “which of the designs upon the
whole afforded the greatest advantages.”

‘We fear, however, that this is not the case, and that although
we have expressed a definite opinion on all the most important
requisitions, the number of those requisitions is so considerable,
and they vary so much in their relative importance, as to make
it extremely difficult, if not impossible, for the Commissioners
upon the Report alone to arrive at a satisfactory conclusion as to
which of the designs does offer the greatest advantages, having.
reference as well to the relative compliance of the several com-
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petitors/with. theinstractions /in detail, as to the equally im-
portant points of thegeneral arrangement and combination of the-
design as a whole.

‘We beg to submit the following observations for the considera-
tion of the Commissioners :

‘We have been deeply impressed with the great talent exhibited
in the designs, and with the unwearied application which must
have been devoted to their preparation, and to the difficult task
of compressing into the allotted space the large extent of accom-
modation called for by the instructions.

‘We are, however, decidedly of opinion that it is impossible
properly to provide this extent of accommodation on the proposed
gite, and that, in order to obtain sufficient light and air to the
numerous courts and offices, it is essential that the area of
ground should be enlarged.

This enlargement, it appears to us, is further desirable as
facilitating the placing the courts and some of the more frequented
and important offices on a lower level than has been found
practicable in any of the present designs.

‘We consider this change in the level important, both as regards
the convenience of the judges as well as of the numerous persons
attending the courts and offices in question.

On the subject of warming and ventilation, we beg to suggest,
that while as regards the courts, halls, and corridors, some general
system of hot air or hot water should be adopted, it would be
desirable to warm and ventilate all the rooms by means of
ordinary fire-places and sash-windows opening, not into covered
courts, but directly to the external air.

The Commissioners will be fully aware that the opinions we
have expressed in the Report have been formed entirely without.
reference to the relative merit of the designs as architectural
compositions, that part of the subject not having been referred
to us, We have, &c.

(signed)  JoEN SHaw,
GEORGE PowNaLL.
To the Royal Commissioners,
&ec. &e. &e.
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Accommodation.

As to No. 4. Public Hall.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Lockwood offers the greatest advantages,

As to No. 5, Area of Courts and Rooms.—The designs of Mr. Street
-aud Mr. Waterhouse as regards the courts are not in accordance with the
instructions, being deficient in the prescribed area on the floor level ; the
rest of the designs are in accordance with the instructions. Our opinion
of the advantages they offer will be given in a latter part of the report
under the head of each court.

As to No. 6, Height of Rooms.—The designs in our cpinion offer equal
advantages, :

As to No. 7, Level of Floors.—This subject is referred to in the letter
which accompanies our report. )

As to No. 8, Shape of Courts.—No observation appears to us to be
necessary.

As to Nos. 9, 10 and 11, Extra Courts and Offices.—We are of opinion
that the design of Mr. Seddon offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 12, Spare Rooms.—We are of opinion that the design of
Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 18, Housekeepers, Police, and Firemen’s Residences.—No
observation appears to us to be necessary.

As to No. 14, Housekeepers’ Accommodation in the Building, Lifts,
&c.—The designs in our opinion offer equal advantages.

As to No. 15, Waterclosets and Urinals.—We are of opinion that the
design of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages. :

As to No. 16, Refreshment Department.—We are of opinion that the
design of Mr. Burges offers the greatest advantages. :

As to No. 17, Block Plan of Site.—No observation appears to us to
‘be uecessary. ]

As to No. 18 (referring also to Minutes, pages 113, and 142), Area of
Site.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Street offers the greatest
advantages. Mr. Seddon’s design is not in conformity with the instruc-
‘tions, by reason of its encroachment upon Carey-street.

As to No. 19, Extent of Ezcavation.—We are of opinion that the de-
sign of Mr. Scott offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 20, Probate gor;:t Tower.—We are of opinion that the de-
sign of Mr. Scott offers the greatest advantages.

Arrangement.
As to Nos. 21 and 22, Arrangement, Proximity, and Communica-
tion.—Having read the Reports of the heads of the several departments as

to—
The Lord Chancellor’s Court and Room—We are of opinion that the do-

signs of Mr. Burges and Mr. Abrabham offer equal advantages.
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Lord Justices Court and Rooms.—¥e are of opinion that the design of
Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages,
Master of the Rolls Court.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Deane offers the greatest advantages.
Vice- Chancellor Kindersley’s Court and Rooms.—We are of opinion that
the design of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.
.Vice-Chancellor Stuart’s Court and Rooms.—We are of opinion that the
design of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.
_Vice-Chancellor Wood’s Court and Rooms.—We are of opinion that the
design of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.
8pare Court of Equity.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry
offers the greatest advan
Master of the Rolls’ Chambers.—We are of opinion that Mr, Scott offers
the greatest advantages.
Vice-Chancellor Maling’ (late Kindersley) Chambers.—We are of opinion
that the design of Mr. Lockwood offers the greatest advantages.
Vico-Chancellor Stuart’s Chambers.—We are of opinion that Mr. Scott’s.
design offers the greatest advantages.
Vice-Chancellor Wood’s Chambers.—We are of opinion that the design
of Mr. Brandon offers the greatest advantages.
Registrars’ Offices.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry
offers the greatest advantages.
Taxing Masters’ Offices.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Scott
offers the greatest advantages.
* Accountant General’s Offices.—We are of opinioa that the design of Mr.
Scott offers the greatest advantages.
Record and Writ Office.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Scott
offers the greatest advantages.
Petty Bag Office —We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Lockwood
offers the greatest advantages.
Examiners’ Office.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Lockwood
offers the greatest advantages. .
Enrolment Office.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry offers
the greatest advantages.
Masters in Lunacy.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Burges
offers the greatest advantages.
Visitors in Lunacy.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry
offers the greatest advantages.
Registrar in Lunacy.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Lock-
wood offers the greatest advantages
Solicitor to the Suitors’ Fund.—We are of opinion that the designs offer
equal advantages. .
Queen’s Bench Courts and Rooms.—We are of opinion that the design
of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.
Common Pleas Courts and Rooms.—We are of opinion that the design
of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.
Exchequer Courts and Rooma—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Barry offers the greatest advantages.
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Exchequer Chamber.——We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry
-offers the'greatest advan
Spare Court.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry offers the
test advantages.
Judges’ Chambers, Queen’s Bench.—We are of opinion that the design
of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.
Judges’ Chambers, Common Pleas.—We are of opinion that the design
of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.
Judges’ Chambers, Exchequer.—We are of opinion that the design of
Mr. Ban;y offers the greatest advantages.
Queen’s Bench, Masters’ Offices.—We are of opinion that Mr. Barry’s
-design offers the greatest advantages.
Common Pleas, Masters’ Offices,—We are of opinion that the design of
Mr. Burry offers the greatest advantages. )
Exchequer, Masters’ Offices.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
“Scott offers the greatest advantages.
Queen’s Bench Associates.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Barry offers the greatest advantages.
Common Pleas Associates.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Barry offers the greatest advantages.
Exchequer Associates.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry
offers the greatest advantages.
Crown Office.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Lockwood offers
the greatest advantages.
Queen’s Remembrancer.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Brandon offers the greatest advantages.
Circuit Associates.—We are ot opinion thai the design of Mr. Barry
offers the greatest advantages.
Acknowledgment Office, Married Women.—We are of opinion that the
design of Mr. Lockwood offers the greatest advantages.
Court of Probate, Divorce, and Matrimonial Causes,—We are of opinion
the design of Mr. Scott offers the greatest advantages.
Registry,—We are of opinion that Mr. Scott’s design offers the greatest
advantages. ’
Seats Department.—We are of opinion that the designs of Mr. Scott and
Mr. Waterhouse offer equal advantages.
Correspondence Department.— We are of opinion that the designs of Mr.
Scott and Mr. Waterhouse offer equal advantages.
Personal Application Department.—We are of opinion that the designs
of Mr. Seddon, Mr. Scott, and Mr. Waterhouse offer equal advantages.
Clerk of Papers Department.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Scott offers the greatest advantages. :
Divorce Department.—We are of opinion that the designs of Mr. Scott
and Mr. Waterhouse offer equal advantages. -
Record Keepers’ Department —We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Bcott offers the greatest advantages.
Inland Revenue Department.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
8cott offers the greatest advantages.
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Receiver of Wills Department.<~Weare of opinion that the designs of
‘Mr. Garling, Mr. Lockwood, Mr. Seddon, Mr. Scott, Mr. Waterhouse, Mr.
Btreet, Mr. Deane, and Mr. Brandon offer equal advantages.

The Sealer.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Scott offers the
-greatest advantages,

General Position of the Registry.—We are of opinion that the design of
Mr. Burges offers the greatest advantages.

Admiralty and Ecclesinstical Courts and Offices.—We are of opinion that
the design of Mr. Scott offers the greatest advantages.

Appellate Conrt.—We are of opinion that Mr. Braudon’s design offers
the greatest advantages.

Crown Officers” Rooms.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry
-offers the greatest hdvantages.

Court of Bankruptcy.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Lock-
wood offers the greatest advantages.

Land Registry.—We are of opinion that thedesigns offer equaladvantages,

Registry of Judgments.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Waterhouse offers the greatest advantages.

Middlesex Registry.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Burges
-offe:s the greatest advantages.

Royal Commissions Offices.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Barry offers the greatest advantages.

+As to Nos. 28 and 24, Light and Air.—We are of opinion that the
design of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 25, Quiet.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry
-offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 26, Tramways.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr.
Street offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 27, Position of Courts.—We are of opinion that all the de-
signs sufficiently conform to the instractions.

As to No. 28, Relative Position of Courts.—We are of opinion that all
4he designs sufficiently conform to the instructions.

As to No. 29, Floor Level of Courts.—We are of opinion that Mr.
Leddon’s design offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 80, Relative Position of Departments.—We are of opinion
that the design of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 81, Probable Amalgamation of Offices.—We are of opinion
that the desigus offer equal advantages,

As to No. 32, Accesses and Staircases to Offices.—We are of opinion
that the design of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 88, Communication between different Sets of Offices.—We
-are of opinion that Mr. Barry’s design offers the greatest advantages.

As to No. 84, Speaking T'ubes, &c.—No observation sappears to us to
Je necessary.

As to Nz. 85, Telegraphic Communication.—No observation appears
40 us to be necessary. . . -

As to No. 86, Intercommunication, &c.—We are of opinion that Mr.
Barry’s design offers the greatest advantages.
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As regards Firegroof Separation, the report of Captain Shaw, of the
Metropolitan'Fire Brigade, will reénder any remark from us unnecessary.

As to No. 87, Subways for Public.—None of the designs appear to us.
adequately to meet this requirement.

As to gfo 88, Separation of Traffic.—We are of opinion that the de-
sign of Mr. Barry offers the greatest advantages.

As to Nos. 89 and 40, Private Road, Clement's Inn, Bell Yard and
Strand.—We are of opinion that the design of Mr. Barry offers the greateat
advantages.

General Subjects.

As to No. 41, Chief point to be kept in view.—No farther observatio
appears to us to be necessary. :

As to No. 48, Ventilation and Acoustics.—As to Ventilation, the Re-
port of Dr. Peroy will render any remark from us unoecessary.

As to No. 48, Heating.—The designs of Mr. Brandon, Mr. Burges, Mr.
Garling, Mr. Street, and Mr. Waterhouse, provide for conveying the smoke
from the fireplace in the several rooms by means of descending flues, cul-
verts, and smoke towers ; the rest of the designs provide for this object in
the ordinary way by separate shafts, by which the smoke will ascend ; but
all the designs will admit of this arrangement.

As to No. 44, Fireproof Construction and Water Supply.—All the
designs are capable of being constructed fireproof, and they provide for
adequate water supply.

As to Nos. 45 and 46, Police Accommodation, dic.—We have no ob-
servations to make on these heads.

As to Nos. 47 to 53, inclusive, Illustration of Dm;gm.—We are of
opill:ion that the conditions have been most fully and satisfactorily complied
with.

B eaflf to No. b4, Estimate.~—~We bave no observation to make on this
(signed) JOoHN SHAw.
13 May, 1867. . GEO. PowNALL.

(12) Mr. G. E. Street to the Secretary to the Treasury.

51, Russell-square, London, W.C,,
22 June, 1868.

81r,—It seems to be mecessary that I should say a few words:
in reply to the protest which Mr. E. M. Barry has published on
the occasion of my appointment as architect to the New Courts-
of Justice, and I have accordingly prepared a memorandum, of
which I enclose a copy herewith. I have, &e.

(signed) GEorGE EDMUND STREET,
G. Sclater-Booth, Esq., M.P., .
Secretary to the Treasury. °
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Ineclosure in No. 132.
THE NEW LAW COURTS.

Some Remarks on Mr. E. M. Barry's Protest against the appoint-
ment of Mr. Strect as Architect.

The protest against the decision of the Treasury in the case of
the New Law Courts, which has been prepared by Mr. E. M.
Barry, is a most incomplete and very one-sided statement of
facts.

,In order to prove this, it is necessary to recapitulate what has
passed. The instructions issued to the competing architects in
April, 1866, were very strict in three points, viz. (i.) extent of
site, which was generally understood to be a block 700 feet x
510 feet, but as to which there was so much doubt, that Mr.
Barry took a frontage of about 30 feet .more than Mr. Street, to
the very great advantage of his plan ; (ii.) the arrangement of
courts and offices, which was said to be of vital importance, and
which was to be treated as “superseding, so far as they may
conflict” [no further], «all considerations of architectural effect ;
and (iii.) cost, as o which the instructions said, ¢ An independent
surveyor will be named to test estimates,” and * comparative cost
of carrying out each design will be an tmportant element in
determining the competition.”

The designs were sent in January, 1867, and, in order to aid
the judges of design in arriving at a conclusion, ¢hres separate
tnvestigations were carried on by direction of the Royal Com-
mission :—

(@) A joint committee of bar and solicitors was appointed
to examine and report on the plans, and to prepare certain
recommendations and resolutions which should be binding
on the architect who was employed to prepare the final
plan. This was the most important inquiry of all.

(b) The designs as to each department were laid before
the judges and officers of that department, and their opinion
was asked as to the comparative merits of the various plans
An detail.

(¢) In December, 1866, iwo gentlemen (Messrs. Shaw
and Pownall) were employed to make an independent
investigation, and report upon all the plans. They examined
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the, plang|and reported on them ; and a few days afier they
had reported they were added to the number of the judges
of design, and the inevitable consequence was, that these
two gentlemen stood apparently pledged to their report,
which was mainly in Mr. Barry’s favour, withoat having
geen the report of the Barristers’ and Solicitors’ Committee,
or the reports of the heads of departments, or the estimate
of the comparative cost of the plans.

It is on this one preliminary report, to the entire exclusion of
the others, that the whole of Mr. Barry's protest is founded ;
and Le appears to corsider that it has a special value and im-
portance over and above that which attaches to the other reports
which were presented to the judges of design, and indeed thatit
has so much force as to be binding both on the judges of design,
and even now that the whole competition has come to an end
upon the Government. In short, that the real decision in this
competition was arrived at and announced by Messrs. Shaw and
Pownall before they were even appointed judges of design, and
without leaving to the other eminent men appointed to be judges
of design any opportunity of exercising their powers.

Mr. Barry has rested his case on this preliminary report for
the very obvious reason that it is, as he says, much in his favour.
Yet it is to be observed that, to take one instance, even Messrs.
Shaw and Pownall were unable to commend the extraordinary
arrangement of the Probate Department proposed by Mr. Barry,
and that if, as certainly must have been the case, he was com-
pelled to move this enormous fireproof department from the
centre of the building above the central hall where he had placed
it, to some safer and more accessible position, he would have
been compelled al once to alter the whole arrangement of his
plan, and to reduce largely the spaces for light and air which he
had obtained by stowing away in an impracticable place this
large section of the building.

f Mr. Barry’s plan is examined in connection with the recom-
mendations of the Bar and Attorneys’ Committee, and the reso-
lutions founded on them and agreed to by the Commission, it
will at- once be found that it no longer standsin the position
which he claims for it upon the strength of the other report.
They expressly condemn in his case: (1). The ‘level of the
central hall ; (2), its very complicated plan ; (3), the position of
the Courts of Chancery (Mr. Barry’s is_the only plan of the
dleven condemned in this most important particular) ; (4), the
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lack of proyision for ingress and egress from both sides of the
courts ; (5), the position of the bar rooms ; (6), the position
and the level of the rooms appropriated to attorneys:; (7), the
position of the offices of the Probate Court, which has been
placed, they say, “by Mr. Bary, in the centre of the building,
80 as to increase the concourse of persons into that part to an
extent which, in the opinion of the officers of the Probate De-
partment, cannot but interfere with the general utility of the
building.” :

Finally, the Commission protest warmly against the portion of
Messrs. Shaw and Pownall’s report, referred to in Mr, Barry’s
protest, which condemns the plan of the Courtsin Mr. Street’s
and Mr. Waterhouse’s schemes, and resolve that their arrange-
ments are properly made in order to secure greater quiet in the
courts, and that, so far from being defective, they are really
better than the rest.

. This important report and the resolutions founded on it, form
the data on which the selected architect now has to proceed in
preparing the final plan. .

It need hardly be said that it is altogether unfavourable to
Mr. Barry’s plan (far more so than it is to Mr. Street’s), and
opposed, therefore, tn foto to the spirit of the report of Messrs.
Shaw and Pownall, which, in point of fact, is superseded.

It is necessary next to examine the report of the officers of
the various courts and offices. They may be supposed to know
what they require, and each office was furnished with a copy of
so much of the plans as referred to it. The results of their re-
port, when examined carefully, are startingly different from
those at which Messrs. Shaw and Pownall arrived. Theyreport,
in the case of Mr. Barry, on thirty-seven offices ; of these they
consider the arrangement, &c., of nine to be good, those of ten
to be moderate, and those of eighteen bad. In the case of Mr.
Street’s plan they report 12 good, 12 moderate, and 11 bad. So
that, judged by the reports of men who ought to have been able
to form a very good opinion, Mr. Street’s plan was more con-
venient than Mr. Barry’s. .

Finally, Mr. Barry has ontirely ignored the surveyor's estimate
of cost, and for a very obvious reason. Mr. Gardiner, the sur-
veyor employed by the Treasury, reports that Mr. Street’s design
could be executed for £87,600 less than Mr. Barry’s, so that on
this head, which was to be * an important element in determining
the competition,” Mr. Street possesses a great, clear, and incon~
testable superiority over Mr. Barry.
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The judges of design bracketed the designs of Mr. Barry and
Mr. Street as equal ; they could not decide (so their Chairman
said in the House of Commons) to which to give the preference.
But this must have been because they sent in their award before-
they had received Mr. Gardiner’s estimate as to cost ; for as the:
merits of the two plans were, in their opinion, equal before that
estimate was seen, it is clear that they ceased to be so after its.
presentation, and that Mr. Street was fairly entitled to the posi-
tion which has now been accorded to him.

It remains to observe that when Mr. Barry asserts that his
plan was selected “for what he had done,”” and Mr. Street’s
“for what he might yet do,” he makes an entirely misleading
statement. He knows, as indeed all the competing architects
knew from the first, that after the competition was over, a “ final
plan ” would have to be prepared, founded on the resolutions
which the Commission ¢ame to after an examination of all the
schemes, These resolutions were so entirely hostile to Mr.
Barry’s plan, that if he had been appointed architect he must
have re-arranged every part of it from one end to the other.

Mr. Barry adopts the somewhat extraordinary assumption,
that in a building of this magnitude and purpose, architectural
merit is of comparatively little importance. On the contrary, he
ought to know that whilst most men of intelligence and good
ability, if they have definite instructions, can plan a fairly
convenient building, it is given to comparatively few to be able
to clothe their plans with really noble architectural features.
If this can be done without extravagant outlay, so much the
better ; and it is worth remark, therefore, that Mr. Gardiner’s
-estimate of the cost of Mr. Street’s design is not only so much
‘lower than that of Mr. Barry’s, as has been stated, but that he
estimates its oost per cubic foot at a lower rate than the designs of
all the other competitors, except Mr. Abraham and Mr. Garling.
8o that Mr: Street has not only earned the judges' award for
having produced the design which ¢ has the greatest merit as an
architectural composition,” but he has done so, according to the
Government surveyor, at a most moderate rate of cost.
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Correspondence with the Government of the Two Sicilies re-
specting the presence of the British steamers at Marsala on
the occasion of the landing of General Garibaldi at that port.

Time, 3 hours.—(See directions page 8.)

Mr. Elliot to Lord J. Russell.
(Received May 22.)
Naples, May 14, 1860.

My Lorp,—I have the honour to inclose the copy and trans-
lation of a note from M. Carafa, relative to the armed expedition
which has landed at Marsala, together with the acknowledg-
ment which I returned.

A similar communication has, I believe, been addressed to all
my colleagues, including the Marquis Villamarina, who informed
me that he intended, in reply, simply to acknowledge its recep-
tion, and to state that he would transmit it to his Government,
but that, in the mean time, he could not accept as facts, all that
the Neapolitan Minister for Foreign Affairs advanced in proof
of violation of international duties by the Sardinian Govern-

ment. I bave, &ec.
(signed) Henry ELvior.

Inclosure 1 in No. 1.
Mr. Caafa to Mr. Elliot.
(Translation.)
Naples, May 12, 1860.

An acl of the most barbarous piracy has been perpetrated by
-a horde of brigands, publicly enlisted and armed in a not hostile
State under the very eyes of that Government, and in spite of
its promises to prevent it.

The Royal Government having been informed of the prepara-
tions which were being made with the most bare-faced impu-
dence in Genoa, Turin, Leghorn, Milan, and Sienna, for an
-expedition against the Kingdom of Naples, hastened to call the
attention of the Piedmontese Government to such an outrage
against the rights of nations and international obligations. The
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evasive .angwers,iof that Government in the first place, and
secondly its promises to impede such an expedition, should have
sufficed to convince the Royal Government of the sincerity of
*its assurances and assertions, whlch confirmed the good harmony
and reciprocal policy of non-intervention which we have never
ceased to have the intention of preserving.

Nevertheless, the King’s Government has continued to watch
the plotting of the insurgents, who united themselves in Genoa
and Leghorn for a well-known purpose, and has followed their
ﬁoceedings, the account of which is abridged in the inclosed

emorandum.

Vainly hoping that the departure of those pirates would he-
prevented after their embarkation in Genoa and Leghorn in
three merchant-vessels, of which two were Piedmontese and one
English, the two first of the said vessels, having started from
Leghorn, directed their course to the port of Marsala, where
they arrived yesterday without any flag, and were preparing to
land the bands which they had on board, when the two Royal
-ships of the squadron cruising near opened a fire on the aggressors.
But the fire was obliged to be suspended to give two English
steamers, which had arrived a few hours before, time to take on
board their officers who were on shore, and when these were
embarked, the steamers put to sea, and then only was the firing
on those pirates resumed, nevertheless without being able any
more to impede their landing in Marsala, city of the Province
of Trapani.

‘With this sketch of the scandalous attempt, the disastrous
consequences of which, in our insular dominions, where the
insurrection had hardly been repressed, the short time does not
permit us to foresee, the Undersigned, charged with the portfolio
of Foreign Affairs, has the honour to communicate to Mr. Elliot,
&ec., &c., the details of the occurrence, in order that he may
inform his Government ; and in order that, whatever the conse-
quences may be of an attempt perpetmted against all right, in
violation of international law, and by reason of which Italy may
find itself plunged in the most bloody anarchy, compromising at
the same time the whole of Europe, the responsibility of such an.
act may not fall on any others than tho authors, the aiders and
abettors, of the barbarous invasion which has taken place.

The Undersigned, &e. .
(signed)  CARAFA.
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Inclosure’2 in No. 1.

. Memorandum,
{Translation.) May 9, 1860.

Since the 28th of April, the concentration has been apparent
in Genoa of Italian emigrants (principally Sicilians), Lombards,
Piedmontese, natives of the Romagna, and Tuscans, of notoriously
extravagant political opinions, and more especially of a crowd of
those volunteers from amongst whom Garibaldi, during the
recent war, formed his corps of “Cacciatori delle Alpi,” who
afterwards were enrolled in the regular army, and who, according
to a generally believed report, had recently been expressly
discharged.

These numerous persons have assembled both by sea and by
the railroads, and it has not yet been denied that they were
enabled to travel with entire liberty, and absolutely at free cost.

Garibaldi, who was known to be in Genoa, and who from time
fo time became invisible and impossible to find, latterly esta-
blished himself in the Palace Passano at Quarto: and there
were assembled in crowds, and concentrated, not only foreigners
who were constantly arriving, but those numerous Genoese
whose antecedents, namely, their being members of shooting-
clubs, and otherwise remarkable, rendered them conspicuous as
ultra-Liberals. This concourse excited the attention and the
fears of all, excepting of that Government which it seemed im-

ible to move by any means.

‘Whilst the intention of effecting an armed disembarkation in
Sicily, in order to foment the revolution, was openly manifested
by public notices, by public speeches, by theatrical representa-
tions, and by other means publicly made use of, without an
attempt at concealment of any kind, arms and ammunition were
carried to the Palace Passano, which had become an arsenal.

Arms and implements of warfare, not belonging to the army
or the ordnance, were carried about freely in the city.

By these and other means, the announcement of preparations
against Sicily having become public, the departure of the expedi-
tion having been several times postponed, and finally it being
announced that it would be concentrated in Malta, we arrived at
the 65th of May.

After noon on that day, 100 men armed, having in two boats
left the western side of the port (every approach is guarded by
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sentries), embarked on board of the Sardinian commercial
steamers ‘ Piemonte ' and ' “ Lombardo” (the property of the
Company Rubattino, the same to whom the “Cagliari” be-
longed). The first-named of those two steamers had arrived the
day before from Tunis ; the other was not to have left before
the 9th for the Italian line. Nevertheless in both vessels the
lockers were found full of combustibles, and probably they were
amply provided with provisions. The captains were absent ;
and in one case, at least, perhaps the “ Piemonte,” the enginear
also. Giuseppe Orlando, a Neapolitan emigrant, a partner in a
foundry in Genoa, undertook the duties of these men.

‘Without any impediment being offered either by the port
guard-ship, by the Sardinian ships of war which were thers, by
a Spanish war-steamer, by two French ships who were also
present, by the naval arsenal which was quite close, or lastly, by
the land batteries, the aggressors lighted the engine’s fires on
one of the ships, then waited unmolested till the steam was got
up and had sufficient strength to turn the paddles (an operation
which, at least, must have required an hour), and, having taken
the other vessel in tow, left the port to anchor almost within
range of cannon shot, and before the military post of the harbour.

Here a quantity of boats were waiting, with a considerable
number of those enlisted for the service, a crowd which was in-
creased by curious spectators.

Under the direction and superintendence of Garibaldi the
embarkation commenced ; and those who left, for the most part,
went in carriages, accompanied by their friends cheering
vociferously.

Before sunset, the embarkation, which had been subsidiarily
effected from the port itself, was not completed, which circum-
stance, though it seemed to be pretended that the steamers were
taken by force, proves clearly that the business was transacted
in open daylight.

It is reported that one of the steamers, after leaving the
harbour (which was effected at daybreak on the 6th), took in
tow a Greek sailing-vessel fitted, like the steamers, as an arsenal
for the use of those Sicilians who might follow the present
movement,

In the course of the night Garibaldi embarked from Quarto
on board a launch, and, with others, boarded the steamers to
inspect them. They, with their large and remarkable cargo
(certainly arins and ammunition) pursued the same course,
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It has /been, moreover; asserted that, in the same way, six
rifled cannon were embarked, which were taken from the shore
at Nervi.

« At daybreak the steamers were sighted off the *Riviera di
Levante,” and it is believed that they stopped at various points -
to communicate with the land.

- On his examination, the captain of the steamer “Amalfi,”
bearing the Royal flag, has declared that he distinctly saw them
leave the Gulf of Spezzia between6 and 7 p.u., full of passengers.

Amongst those on board are the pilots of three merchant-
ships of Palermo, who deserted on the 5th from Genoa.

All the inhabitants of Genoa could have been eye-witnesses
of these facts, inasmuch as all are certainly cognizant of them,
owing to their notoriety.

Inclosure 83 in No. 1.
Mr. Elliot to M. Carafa.

Naples, May 13, 1860.

The undersigned, &c., has the honour to acknowledge the
receipt of the mnote which His Excellency the Commander
Carafa, &c., has done him the honour to address to him, relative
to an armed expedition which has landed on the coast of Sicily,
and to state that he will not fail to transmit this communication
1o Her Majesty’s Government by the earliest opportunity.

The undersigned, &e.
(signed) Hexry Evuior.

{2 Mr. Elliot to Lord ]. Russell.
(Received May 22.)
{(Extract.) Naples, May 14, 1860.

In the account of the landing of the expedition at Marsala,
your Lordship will observe that it is stated by M. Carafa that
the fire of the Neapolitan men-of-war was impeded by two
British vessels, but that it is not said that they were men-of-
war, as was intimated in the first account which I heard. .

I took the earliest opportunity of seeing M. Carafa to inquire
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info the matter, when His ,Excellency, by the King's desire, put
into my hands the original despatch that had been received, and
from which it neither appeared that the steamers were men-of-
war, nor that they had intentionally placed themselves so as to
cover the landing.

This telegraphic despatch simply announced to the Govern-
ment that a landing had been effected at Marsala, and then added
the words embodied in the comuunication from M. Carafa.

(3) Mr. Elliot to Lord ]. Russell.
(Received May 26.)
(Extract.) Naples, May 18, 1860.

I informed your Lordship by telegraph that upon the recep-
tion from Vice-Admiral Fanshawe of the report of Commander
Marryat, I immediately protested against the statement of the
Neapolitan Government, that the fire of their vessels upon the
expedition landing at Marsala had been impeded by two British
steamers. i

I have the honour to transmit to your Lordship a copy of the
note which I addressed to M. Carafa, forwarding the substance
of Captain Marryat’s report.

The time has been too short for me yet to receive any reply
to my note ; but it is evident to me that, even before its recep-
tion, the Government had begun to have doubts of the accuracy
of their statement ; and I was this afterncon assured by M.
Carafa that the King had told him ‘that, if a further report
which he had ordered to be made did not confirm the first, the
rectification must be made as publicly as the original statement.

I said I expected no less from the candour of the Neapolitan
Government ; for that the statement which they had put forth,
bad, without distinctly expressing it, undoubtedly produced the
impression that the landing had proved successful mainly-owing
to the presence of the British ships-of-war, and had left every
one to form his own opinion as to whether this was the result of
accident or design cn the part of the officers commanding them.
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Inclosute 1 in No. 3.
Mr. Elliot to M. Carafa.
Naples, May 17, 1860.

~ In the narrative of the recent landing of an armed expedition
at Marsala, which his Excellency the Commander Carafa, &c.,
did the undersigned, &c., the honour to forward to him on the
12th instant, there occurs the following passage :—‘ But the
firing was obliged to be suspended to give two British steamers,
which had arrived a few hours before, time to take on board their
officers, who were on shore, and who being embarked, the
steamers put to sea, and then only was the firing on the pirates
resumed, nevertheless without being able any more to impede
their landing in Marsala, city of the Province of Trapani.”

However satisfied the undersigned might be that no officer of
Her Majesty’s navy had intentionally thrown any obstacle in
the way of the operations of the Neapolitan vessels, he lost no
time in communicating with the Admiral Commanding-in-chief
at Malta, and in begging him to inquire into the circumstances
of the case; and he has now received a full report from the
captain of Her Majesty’s ship * Intrepid,” which was one of the
vessels at Marsala at the time.

The undersigned does himself the honour to transmit herewith
to his Excellency M. Curafa the substance of this report, the
accuracy of which cannot be called in question, and from which
it is clearly evident that neither intentionally nor unintentionally
did the officers of Her Majesty's ships offer the slightest impedi-
ment to the free action of the Neapolitan vessels.

It is not the intention of the undersigned to accompany the
inclosed document with any lengthened observations of his own ;
but as the Neapolitan Government have communicated to the
Representatives of all the foreign Courts at Naples a narrative
calculated to convey the impression that the landing of the
expedition might have been prevented if it had not been for the
presence of the British men-of-war, the undersigned must be
permitted emphatically to protest against a statement which can
only have been made on the most imperfect knowledge of what
had taken place, and which throws a most uncalled-for reflection
upon the officers of Her Britannic Majesty, which the undersigned
is convinced the Government of His Sicilian Majesty will be-
anxious to rectify as far as lies in their power.

. The undersigned, &e.
(signed)  HenrY ELuor.
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Inclosure 2 in No. 3,

Statement of Facls connected with the recent Disembarkation at
Marsala, as reported by Captain Marryatl, of Her Majesty's
ship % Intrepid.”

The “Intrepid” and *Argus” arrived at Marsala between
half-past 10 and 11 A.u., on the morning of the 11th.

Commander Ingram, of Her Majesty’s ship ¢ ” con-
sidering it likely that he would have to stay there three or four
days, anchored his ship about three miles out, where the book
of directions states the best holding ground to be. I on the
contrary, knowing I was to remain but a few hours, brought up
as close to the shore as I could, distant from three-quarters of a
mile to a mile from the lighthouse at the end of the mole.

At 11.30 we landed, having got pratique, and being met by
Mr. Cossins, the gentleman acting for the Vice-Consul, proceeded
to his house, where some other English residents shortly arrived,
and we then drove through the town with these gentlemen,
visited the Cathedral, and eventually went out to their wine
stores, which are three in number, distant or rather extending
from half-a-mile to one mile and a-half from the city.

‘Whilst here an Englishman came to report that two steamers
were coming in from the north-west with Sardinian colours
flying.

yWe immediately ascended to a look-out place, and with a tele-
scope watched the whole proceeding.

The headmost and smallest steamer had a boat in tow which
gave us the ides, at the time, of having been seized off the land,
and made to do the duty of pilot. There was no hesitation
shown in bringing the vessels in ; they steamed round the bows
of the “ Intrepid,” and steered direct, for the mole, where they
arrived about 2 P.M., the first one getting in all right, the second
grounding within 100 yards of it.

At this time there were three Neapolitan vessels-of-war in
sight, cruising between Marsala and Mazzara, a town twelve
miles to the southward, viz., two steamers and a sailing frigate,
six miles only from the Sardinian vessels,

Before the Neapolitan arrived within range, the first Sardinian
had discharged all her living cargo, which consisted of armed
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men to, all appearance well disciplined, as they fell into com-
penies on landing, shouldered their muskets, and marched off in-
perfect order.

The one which had grounded, however, having to land all
ber men in boats, had not succeeded in getting more than one-
fourth out of the ship when the Neapolitan came within easy
range of his guns ; his bulwarks were down and guns laid, and
we watched with some curiosity to see the result of his firing.

Before this I had advised the owners of two or three English
schooners to get their vessels out of the port, as they seemed to
me to run the risk of being hit ; but the wind being dead in,
tc]laley could not be removed, consequently they had to take their

ance,

The Neapolitan, however, instead of opening fire, lowered a
boat, and sent it towards the Sardinians; but when half the
distance between the two ships had been traversed, the officer
suddenly turned his boat round and pulled back to his own vessel
a8 fast as he could.

‘We now made sure the firing would commence, but we were
surprised to see him paddling out towards the ¢ Intrepid,” in-
stead of frustrating at once the further landing of the expedition,

The commanding officer of the ¢ Intrepid * states that he was
hailed by the commander of the Neapolitan, and asked if there
were any English troops on shore : the reply he received was,
“No; the Commanders of two English men-of-war are on shore,
and two or three officers.”

Shortly afterwards an officer came on board ard asked for me,
and seemed anxious to know when I should return : a boat had,
however, been sent to me before his arrival, and I had sent an
officer into the town to recall every one to his ship,

By this time all the expedition had landed (4 o’clock), and he
then began to open fire. Commander Ingram, Mr. Cossins, and
myself, now went on board to see tho Commander of the Nea-
politan : he informed us that large bodies of armed men had
landed, and that he was obliged to fire on them ; to which not
the slightest objection was made, and nothing more passed than
& request from us that he would respect the English flag wher-
ever he saw it flying, which he promised faithfully fo do.
‘Whilst we were on board he continued his firing, and even
offered a kind of apology for the shot going so low ; but he said
he did not wish to fire into the town, only on the men marching
from the Mole to the city gate.
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As we left the steamer, the frigate arrived under sail and fired
a useless broadside ;' but’before they could reload the guns, the
new arrivals were safely inside the walled town of Marsala.

On my return to the ¢ Intrepid,” I found an officer from the
other Neapolitan steamer on board ; he had come to ask me to
gsend a boat to the Sardinian vessels with him to get them to
surrender.

This I declined to do. A short time after my refusal, boats
manned and armed were sent in, and the vessels being totally
abandoned were taken possession of, and the Sardinian colours
hauled down.

It is hardly necessary for me to add that the report current in
Naples, as conveyed to you by telegraph from Her Majesty’s
Minister, is entirely without foundation: to say that it is mis-
chievous, is to use too mild a term, as it brings a false accusation
against the Commanders of two English vessels of war, who hap-
pened to be there by the merest chance at the time of this occur-
rence, and who were as much astonished at it as people never
dreaming of such a thing could be.

(signed) J. ™. Marrvarr, Commander.

“) My, Elliott to Lord J. Russell.

(Received June 5.)
Naples, May 28, 1860.

My Lorp,—I announced to your Lordship by telegraph that
the Neapolitan Government had recognized that there were no
grounds for the imputation thrown upon the officers of Her
Majesty’s ships “Intrepid ” and “Argus,” of having impeded
the operatious directed by the Neapolitan navy against the land-
ing of Garibaldi and his companions at Marsala.

I have now the honour to transmit copy and translation of
M. Carafa’s note in reply to my protest, stating that the officers
of Her Majesty’s ships had not intentionally or unintentionally
interfered with any of the Neapolitan operations ; and as a

“similar communication has been addressed to the Representatives
of all the foreign Governments at Naples, Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment will, I imagine, consider that all necessary reparation has
been made for the unfounded accusation.—I have, &c.,

(signed)  HexgY Erviof;
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Inclosuré in No. 4.
(Translation.) Naples, May 26, 1860.

The Undersigned, charged with the portfolio for Foreign
Affairs, has received the note addressed to him by Mr. Elliot,
Her Britannic Majesty’s Envoy Extraordinary, &c., to which
was annexed the report transmitted by the Admiral of the British
squadron at Malta, intended to relate the conduct observed by
the two DBritish men-of-war, the ‘Tntrepid” and *‘* Argus,”
which were anchored in the waters of Marsala at the time of the
well known disembarkation of the Garibaldians on the 11th
instant.

The Kipg’s Government has observed, with pain, in the above-
mentioned note, the disagreeable impression produced, as it is
therein stated by one of the passages of the note of the 12th
instant, addressed to the Representatives of the foreign Govern-
ments at this Court, containing a genuine narrative of the facts
of the disembarkation, written for the purpose of communicating
to them the first reports transmitted from the theatre of the
event, by the Commandant of the division of the Royal ships
which were obliged to act against the aggressors.

The above-mentioned Commandant, and still less the Royal
Government, had never the intention of casting any blame, nor
impugning the responsibility of the operations of those on board
the British ships, but was desirous simply of stating all the cir-
cumstances in which the Royal vessels found themselves, and
under which they acted, and, above all, to bear witness to the
scrupulosity with which their Commanders had acted up to the
stringent instructions they had received, to respect, as far as their
duty permitted, the persons and property of foreigners; thence
the above-mentioned wished to point out in their reports that
they omitted nothing which could possibly prevent the loss
which might thus result to the officers who then found them-
selves on shore, to the English ships as well as to the English
_ subjects, who are in much greater numbers in Marsala than
other foreigners, owing to the numerous establishments they
possess there,

His Excellency Mr. Elliot has thought proper to protest against
the manner in which the facts have been reported, ascribing it
to an incorrect knowledge of the circumstances as they occurred ;
but the true meaning of the statement enables the Undersigned
to protest, in his turn, against any wrong explanation or unfa-
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vourable interpretation which might have been given to the nar-
ration of the facts, in which it is frankly admitted that the
officers of the British navy had not, either intentionally or
otherwise, acted in a way to impede or retard the operations of
the Neapolitan ships.

This explicit and frank declaration must therefore refute the
observations occasioned by the above-mentioned passage in the
statement of the events which took place on the shore of Mar-
sala, having direct reference to the officers of the British ships ;
and the Undersigned, in making such a declaration to His Ex-

. cellency Mr. Elliot, that he may be pleased to inform his
Government thereof, begs to add that he will not omit to address
a similar communication to all those foreign Representatives to
whom was addressed the circular note of the 12th instant, which
has given rise to his Excellency’s remonstrances.

(signed)  Carara.




.

TENTH BXEROCISE, 169

Copy of Extracts of all Correspondence relating to the Importa-
tion of South Sea Islanders into Queensland.

DESPATCHES FROM THE GOVERNOR.*

Time 3 hours—(See directions page 8.)

(1) Extract of a Despatch- from Governor Sir G. F. Bowen,
G.CM.G., to His Grace the Duke of Newcastle, K.G.; dated
Government House, Brisbane, Queensland, 16 September, 1863.

A cotton plantation has been commenced near Brisbane by
Captain Towns, a highly respectable and influential merchant
and shipowner of Sydney, lately appointed by the Crown to be
a member of the Legislative Council of New South Wales.
About a month ago this gentleman imported, in one of his own
ships, 60 South Sea Islanders from the Polynesian group, to
work on his plantation. The only law regulating this kind of
immigration which is in force here applies to Indians alone ; but
my Government agreed with me that it would be desirable to
make some inquiries from Captain Towns, who immediately fur-
nished full information respecting his dealings with these immi-
grants. I enclose printed copies of his engagements, and of his
instructions to his agents. The greatest possible publicity was
given to these documents, by laying them before the Colonial
Parliamenty by which they appear to have been considered satis-
factory. I enclose further a copy of a circular addressed by
Captain Towns to the missionaries in the South Sea Islands.

Enclosure 1, in No. 1.
1863.

QUEENSLAND,—LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY.

Soute SeA IsLANDERS (IMPORTATION OF).

( Ordered to be printed by the ng:slatiw Assembly, 26tk August,
1863.)

® Given to Candidates at a Competitive Examination, April, 1869.
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Sydney, 30 May, 1863.
Memoranduml of Agréement_for engaging Natives for my Cotton
Plantation in Queensland, for Six or Twelve Months,

Witnesseth : Robert Towns, hereby engage and undertake
to pay as wages to any able adult native that may be hired for
my service, at and after the rate of 10s. (ten shillings) per month
in such trade as he may prefer at the end of his agreement, and
to return him to his home within 12 months, should he require
such.

2. I also agree to find the natives huts or houses, or tents,
until huts can be put up, and to supply them with good and
sufficient food, such as they are accustomed to, and to provide
them with cooking utensils, and in every way watch over and
protect them, during the period of their servitude.

3. The labour these natives will be required to perform will
be chiefly field labour, of a light and easy description, such as
cleaning and picking cotton when in season, and any other work
they may be called on to perform.

‘Witness my hand this 30th day of May, 1863.
(signed)  R. Towns.

Sydney, 29 May, 1863.

Sir,—Referring to our verbal agreement for your present em-
ployment on the intended expedition of the “ Don Juan,” after
a number of natives to be employed on my cotton fields in
Queensland. .

I now give you my written instructions for your guidance,
and as I understand you are no scholar, Captain Grueber will
read them for you, and-explain what is required of you.

First, you will proceed to, and call at such islands as you are
known to the natives, and then explain to them what your object
is, namely, to engage for me from 50 to 100 natives, all male,on the
%resent voyage, until they are better known in the district and

olony.

I will prefer young lads, from 14 and 15 to 18, in preference
to older men, as the bulk; you must have some old hands
amongst the lot to induce the young ones to enlist.

In engaging or persuading these people, you must tell them
exactly what they will have to do, that is, their chief work will
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be in the'cotton fields, and that/they will have good huts to live
in, a kind master to protect, and that you will take them back
within twelve months, perhaps in six, and that you will be on
the station to explain and interpret for them, and that they will
be paid in goods at the rate of 10s. per month (over and above
their rations) for the able men, and the others according to their
worth and value.

I presume you will call at Leifoo or Ware first, and then to
Sandwich ; I leave this for you and Captain Grueber to arrange ;
and while I am on this, I must here remind you, that while you
are on board the ship you are to act, and do the duty in every
way, as second mate, for which service you have signed the arti-
cles of the vessel, and in which capacity you will be paid at
and after the rate of £5 (five pounds) per month, which pay will
be continued you on the station so long as you remain, or other
arrangements are made.

In conclusion, I must remind you of my earnest desire that
the natives are treated with the greatest kindness, and on no
account allow them to be ill-used by the crew or any person on
board ; if such is offered to them, it is your duty to report the
same to the captain. I will be satisfied with 50 young men
and boys if you can get them, but will be better pleased with
70, if the vessel can bring so many comfortably ; but on no
account crowd them, or delay the vessel for the purpose.

You must endeavour all you can to keep the natives in good
humour and friendly, and on good terms with each other ; on no
account allow them to quarrel or have any of their national dis-
putes on board ; keep all such quarrelling from them ; if you
tind such, unfortunately, to take place, at once separate them,
and put up bulkheads between them. Take care none of the old
beach-coomers (European sailors) smuggle themselves on board
with the natives. -

You had better call at Leifoo before Hayes gets there, and
leave before he may arrive.

I think I have now said all I have to mention, and hope you
may have a successful voyage.—I am, &c.,

Mr. Ross Luin, (signed) R. Towns,

29 July, 1863.

DEear Sir,—Your vessel is now ready, and victualled with
sufficient for the voyage and return with natives, you will at
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once proceed.to sea, and make the best of your way to the Isle
of Leifeo, or such'other island as you may first make, for the pur-
pose of procuring natives for the cotton fields, with which you
will return to Moreton Bay with all possible despatch, where I
will in all probability be to receive and direct you. The above
is an outline of your intended voyage.

I will now proceed more in detail to instruct you for your
future guidance.

The nature of your voyage is, as before stated, to proceed to
the different islands of Leifoo, Ware, and Sandwich, and any
other islands you may find it necessary to proceed to for the
purpose of selecting the natives, and with a view to collect a
useful class of men, lads, and active boys. I have engaged Mr.
Ross Luin, who speaks the native language, and is well known
amongst the islands. This man, now shipped as second mate,
will do the needful in engaging the men, which I promise to
return to their native land within twelve (12) months from the
time they leave. You must endeavour to convince the friends
of the people, as well as themselves (those you engage), the
honesty of our intention, and if there should be any legal au-
thority, give them guarantee to the same object that the people
will be returned in accordance with their agreement.

And as the natives-may not be cognisant with our language,
I wish you to be present when these arrangements are made
through the interpreter. I have sketched out a memorandum
for Mr. Ross Luin to explain to the natives in your presence the
terms of their engagement, and the work they have to do ; also -
the rations they will receive ; at the same time assuring them
of every protection the British law will afford them. In this,
you will please to observe we wish you to act as our agent, and
not allow any advantage to be taken of the natives, even to our
interest.

And when engaged, I look to you to see that they are pro-
perly cared for, that they have proper food and attention, and
tllxey are made to keep the place in which they live thoroughly
clean.

I have put on bord two suits of shirts and trousers for 100
natives. You will please serve out one suit when they first em-
bark, keeping one for their landing. If you can procure 70
natives in all, you may do so; but half the number will do.
If you find much difficulty in getting them, on no account
attempt force to take the people against their own free-will and
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consent. 'If you find any missionaries at the islands, make their
acquaintance, and tell them from me what my object is in en-
gaging the natives to leave the island they belong to, and engage
for a short season to serve me in cultivating cotton. The labour
will be light, in weeding, cleaning, and picking cotton ; and I
will engage to provide them comfortable huts, and regular rations
of rice, meat, pumpkins, potatoes, and yams (if they will grow),
and return them to their homes within the twelve months, very
likely within six months.

And you may also mention to the missionary, that it is my
intention to bring over their wives with them next year if they
like the place, and answers my purpose to do so.

I will make their wages for the best men equal to 10s. per
month, with others in proportion. These natives will have
every protection equal to Europeans in Queensland, which is a
climate as warm as the one they leave. This much you may
tell the missionaries ; and if they can find a reader or interpreter,
I will gladly receive him, and pay him for what he may be
worth, over and above his food and lodging, which I suppose
will be little ; but he will learn civilisation.

I mean to exchange these people every six or twelve months,
and bring over their wives and famijlies with them when they
get accustomed to the country and the work.

I have now shadowed forth my views and intentions, and
leave you to carry them out ; and, in conclusion, I will again
repeat, on no account allow the natives to be ill-used. They are
-a poor, timid, and unoffending race, and require all the kindness
you can show them. You may lead them to anything, and I
will not allow them to be driven.

If you find it difficult to procure the natives through Mr.
Ross Luin, you had better run over to Erromangas, to Mr.
Henry's station, and he may be able to assist you, should such
be necessary, but it will be a disappointment to me if you cannot
procure for me from 50 to 70 natives for the purpose required.

In reporting your ship inwards from the islands, be particular,
and state the number, names, and ages you have on hand as
passengers for Mr. Towns’ cotton plantation ; let everything be
clear in your proceedings. Mr. Palmer, my agent in Brisbane,
will have my instructions respecting you, if I am not in Queens-
land, to which you will please attend.

Use your utmost endeavour to get over the ground, and land
the people as soon as possible. You must be a little easy with
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Mr. Ross Luin, but if he fails to give you satisfaction, go to Mr.
Henry, ‘at'Erromanga, of ' Underwood, at Anataw, and they will
put a man on. Yours, &c.,
(signed)  R. Towns.
Captain Grueber, “Don Juan.”

Inclosure 2 in No. 1.
To any Missionary into whose hands this may come.

Sydney, 29 May, 1863.

Rev. Sir,—Should this meet the eye of any gentleman in
that sacred calling, I beg to explain the nature of the voyage on
which I am about to despatch the bearer, Captain Grueber, witk
the schooner “ Don Juan.”

If I now address an old resident among the islands, my name
will be familiar, and justify a belief in the sincerity of my
mission to which I am about to explain, and solicit your friendly
aid ; if, on the other hand, the reader has not heard of the
writer, I may refer him to Captain Grueber, or any man con-
nected with these islands for the last 20 years.

Suffice to say, I have embarked considerable capital in Queens-
land, in-the cultivation of cotton, and as so much depends on
the rate of labour in the ultimate success of this important
enterprise, I am endeavouring to try our natives from the
immediate adjacent islands, whose habits, although not strictly
industrious, may be rendered most serviceable in the light work
of the field labour, in weeding and picking cotton, as the seasons
may require. Such being my views on the subject, I have sent
. this my pioneer vessel to enlist a supply, and will be much
obliged if you will kindly assist us in this our worldly mission,
and, as I have told your worthy brotherhood, Messrs. Inglis and
Geddes, that I with my cotton emigration (returning them every
gix or twelve months) will do more towards civilising the natives
in one year than you can possibly in ten ; they will see what
civilisation is, and aim to follow it ; and if you can supply me
with a native teacher or reader, as they may be termed, it will
very much hasten the object ; at all events if you cannot assist
me in this particular, you may be able to point out to the poor
unsuspecting natives that they have nothing to fear, as I will
bind myself to return them within 12 months from the time
they may leave, and more likely in six months.
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If my’scheme ‘prospers; it is' my intention to bring over the
wives and families of these poor fellows, as a superior race to
the ordinary coolie from India, about whom we hear so much ;
and for the light work of cotton-picking they are well calculated.

I send an interpreter, a man who says he can speak the
language ; this is very important to make the poor fellows
understand.

Trusting to your kind assistance, I remain, &e.

(signed) R. Towns.

8) Copy of a despatch fiom Governor Sir George F. Bowen,
G.C.M.G., to the Right Honourable the Earl of Carnarvon.

Government House, Brisbane, Queensland,
16 November, 1866.

My Lorp,—In continuation of many previous despatches
addressed to your predecessors respecting the progress of cotton
cultivation in Queensland, I have the honour to transmit here-
with an interesting account which has been recently published,
of the “ Townsvale ” Plantation, situated at about 40 miles from
Brisbane, and the largest hitherto farmed in this Colony. Itis
the property of Captain Towns, a well-known Australian mer-
chant and shipowner, and a Member of the Legislative Council
of New South Wales, and of his partner, Mr. Brooks, a Member
of the House of Commons (for Weymouth). I have visited this
plantation on several occasions, and believe that the account
now forwarded is substantially correct. Some details respecting
the South Sea Islanders employed there will be found in my
despatch, No. 49, of 16th September, 1863.

2. 1 transmit further a return of the quantity of cotton grown
in this colony during the past season. It amounted to 183,680
Ibs., or 612 bales of clean cotton, fit for shipment. Of this
number, 267 bales were furnished by Messrs. Towns and Brooks,
from the plantation described above. The crop of cotton raised
iu Queensland during the last three seasons was as follows —

In1864 - - - - - 38730Ibs.

In 1866 - - - - - 145,820 lbs,
In 1866 (first ten months) - - 183,680 lbs.
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I am informed that a much larger area of ground will be
cultivated’ 'for | cotton in'' the'season of 1867. I need scarcely
remind your Lordship that during the first 60 years of the pre-
sent century the export trade in cotton from America grew up
from much smaller beginnings than those already made in
Queensland to an annual amount valued at 40 millions sterling.

3. A summary of the progress and prospects of cotton cultiva-
tion in Queensland will be found in my despatches, Nos. 3 and
13, of 1866, and in the copies sent therewith of letters addressed
by me (in answer to his inquiries) to Mr. Cheetham, m.p., the
President of the Cotton Supply Association at Manchester. As
it appears that the intelligence lately received in England
respecting the last cotton crop in America is far from encouraging,
I venture to submit that it would be well to forward to the
Cotton Supply Association a copy of the present despatch and of
its inclosures. I have, &c.

(signed) G. F. BoweN.

(1) Copy of a Despatch from Governor Sir George F. Bowen,
G.CM.G., to His Grace the Duke of DBuckingham and
Clandos.
Government House, Brisbane, Queensland,
13 July, 1867.

~ My Lorp Dukg,—In my despatch, No. 49, of 16 September,
1663, I reported that a small number of South Sea Islanders
from the Polynesian group had been lately employed on his cot-
ton plantation in Queensland, by Captain Towns, a wealthy
merchant and ship-owner of Sydney, and a Member of the
Legislative Council of New South Wales. I added that Captain
Towns had furnished full information to the Government of
Queensland respecting these immigrants, and I transmitted copies
of his engagements with them, of his instructions to his agents,
of a circular on the subject addressed by him to the European
missionaries in the South Sea Islands, and of his official letter to
the Chief Secretary of this Colony (Mr. Herbert), explaining his
plans and operations. The greatest possible publicity was given
to these documents at the time by laying them before the Queens-
land Parliament, by which they appear to have been considered
satisfactory. I further observed that even if Captain Towns’
position and character were not a sufficient guarantee for his fair
treatment of these South Sea Islanders, his plantation was only
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40 miles from |Brisbane, under the eye of the Government, of
. the magistracy, and of a vigilant press; and that I intended to
visit myself occasionally.

2. I bave now the honour to report that on the 25th April
ultimo, Captain Luce, R.N., of H.M.S. “Esk,” then the senior
naval officer in Australia, addressed to me an official letter,
stating that he had lately received accounts of the loss of several
vessels, and of the murder of several Europeans at certain of the
South Sea Islands ; and that it appeared, from a letter written by
a trader in those seas, that *the natives say that they are perpe-
trating these atrocities in revenge for the loss of many of their
countrymen, who were carried away three years ago to Queens-
land and the Fiji Islands, by Europeans, who hired them as
labourers, and promised to return them home in 12 months,”
Captain Luce asked for whatever information on this subject the
Government of Queensland might be able to afford him.

3. Ilost no time in bringing Captain Luce’s letter under the
consideration of my Responsible Advisers, and I now enclose a
copy of the Minute of the Executive Council, containing their
views upon it, and giving all the information procurable in
Queensland ; Captain Towns, the principal employer of the
South Sea Islanders, being resident at Sydney, where Captain
Luce could place himself in direct communication with that gen-
- tleman.

4. I sent a copy of this Minute to Captain Luce, further in-
forming him that the official returns show that in the aggregate
only three hundred and eighty-two (382) South Sea Islanders
have landed in Queensland, of which number seventy-eight (78)
have returned to their homes. It is stated that those already
sent back were under an engagement for one year only; that
most of the remainder are under an engagements for three years ;
and that they will be provided with passages to their native
islands when that period shall have expired. I added that the
principal employer of these labourers, after Captain Towns, of
Sydney, is Captain Whish, formerly an officer in Her Majesty’s
14th Light Dragoons, and now the resident owner of a sugar
plantation near Brisbane.

5. It will be seen from the accompanying Minute of Council,
that the Government of Queensland in common with myself
“are anxious to punish all fraud and injustice wherever com-
mitted, and to secure the inhabitants of the Colony, of every
class, in the full enjoyment of their rights;” and that “should
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it be proved/thatifurtherlegislation is required for the due pro-
tection of the South Sea Islanders, the Council do not doubt that
the Colonial Parliament will be ready to pass any measure which
facts and documents hereafter to be laid before them may show
to be absolutely necessary ;” and that “in the meantime the
police magistrate of the district is ordered to inspect periodically
the plantations on which any such islanders may be employed.”

6. In reply to my Despatch, transmitting to him a copy of the
Minute of Council, with the above-mentioned information, Cap-
tain Luce stated (in a letter, dated June 4th ultimo), that he “is
now well satisfied that the South Sea labour traffic to Queens-
land will continue to be carried on with justice, and will be of
great benefit to the natives themselves.”

7. I am advised that the ‘“Master and Servants” (25 Vict.,
No. 11), now in force in Queensland, applies to labourers en-
gaged in all ¢ foreign countries,” and that (as it has been already
stated) the Colonial Legislature will be ready to pass any further
measure which may be proved hereafter to be necessary to ensure
the maintenance of just and proper relations between the South
Sea Islanders and their employers. It will be recollected that,
in 1862, Queensland Parliament passed an ¢ Act to give the
force of law to regulations for the introduction and protection of
labourers from British India” (26 Vict., No. 5), and that the
regulations published under the authority of that Act received "
the sanction of the authorities of British India, and the approval
of the Imperial Government. Hitherto, however, no advantage
has been taken of the provisions of this Act, for those settlers
who lovk to the employment of coloured labour on their sugar
and cotton plantations seem to prefer South Sea Islanders to
Indians, on the ground (as I am informed) that the former are
at once stronger and more tractable than the latter.

8. I have on several occasions visited the principal plantations
on which immigrants from the South Sea Islands are engaged ;
and, last week, I made it my business to inspect the plantation
of Captain Towns, who is (as it has been already said) the first
and by far the largest employer of this kind of labour. One
hundred and sixty (160) islanders were then paraded before me ;
and they all seemed to be well fed, well clothed, and contented.
Many of them aretobesoon restored to their homes at the cost of
Captain Towns, as the period of their engagements is about to
expire ; and several of these men stated that they would retarn
to Queensland shortly, and would induce their wives and num-
bers of their countrymen to accompany them.
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9. In, my  Despatch, of -the 16th November ultimo, I
transmitted a full account of the Townsvale Plantation referred
to above, and of the general progress of the cultivation of cotton
in Queensland, Mr. Charles Cowper, for many years at the
head of the Administration in New South Wales, is now a
partner in the firm of Towns and Co., and accompanied me on
my recent visit. From him I learned that at least four hundred
(400) bales of cotton, of the average value of about £15, will be
exported dm'ing the present year from this single plantation.

I have, &ec.,
(signed)  G. F. Bowxn.

Enclosure in No. 3.

Extracts from the Minutes of Proceedings of the Executive Council
of Queenslund.

At the Government House, Brisbane.
Present :—His Excellency the Governor in Council,

His Excellency the Governor lays before the Council a letter

g‘ia'oed 25th April, 1867) a .dressed to His Excellency by Captain

uce, R.N,, now commanding her Majesty’s naval forces on the
Australian station.

This letter states that Captain Luce had lately received re-
ports of the loss of several vessels, and of the murder of several
Europeans at certain of the South Sea Islands; and that it
appears, from a letter written by a trader in those seas, that “the
natives say that they are perpetrating these atrocities in revenge
for the loss of many of their countrymen, who were carried
away three years ago to Queensland and the Fiji Islands by
Europeans, who hired them as labourers, and promised to return
them to their homes in 12 months.”

Captain Luce asks for information on the subject from the
Government of Queensland.

The Council deliberate. They observe that the first and
principal importer of South Sea lslanders as labourers into this
Colony is the Honourable Robert Towns, Member of the Legis-
lative Council of New South Wales, and resident at Sydney, but
the owner of a cotton plantation in Queensland. This gentle-
man can give Captain Luce more information on the subject than
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any othér/pérson) @and. theyl. suggest that personal application
should be made to him. Moreover, it is believed that the small
number of South Sea Islanders who have hitherto come to work
in Queensland on the new sugar and cotton plantations have all
been landed from ships belonging to Sydney.

The Council further observe that the Masters’ and Servants’
Act (25 Vict., No. 11), now in force in Queensland, provides for
the due enforcement by both parties of labour contracts, whether
made in this colony or in foreign countries. Shoyld it be proved
that further legislation is required for the due protection of the
South Sea Islanders, the Council do not doubt but that the-
Colonial Parliament will be ready to pass any measures which
facts and documents hereafter to be laid before them may show
to be absolutely necessary. ’

It need scarcely be said that the Responsible Ministers
are anxious to punish all fraud and injustice whenever com-
mitted, and to secure the inhabitants of the Colony, of every
class, in the full enjoyment of their rights.

The Council advise that the proper Government officers be
directed to procure the information respecting the number of
South Sea Islanders now in Queensland, &c., as asked for by
Captain Luce, R.N.,, and also that the police magistrate of the
district be ordered to inspect periodically the plantations on
which any such islanders may be employed, and report to the
Colonial Secretary the results of such inspection.

(signed) A. V. Drury,
Clerk of the Council.

(4) Copy of a despatch from Acting Governor O’ Connell to His
Grace the Duke of Buckingham and Chandos.

Government House, Brisbane, Queensland,
: 27 January, 1868.

My Lorp Duke,—1I have the honour to transmit to your
‘Grace herewith a petition for presentation to the Queen, pur-
porting to be a petition from a number of the inhabitants of the
Colony of Queensland in public meeting assembled in the City
of Brisbane, praying that Her most gracious Majesty will be
pleased to prohibit this traffic in human beings (meaning the
importation of natives of the South Sea Islands into Queensland
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for employment | owsugar jand)cotton plantations and on sheep
and cattle stations), as being a development of the slave trade,
with its attendant evils, in its most modern form.

2. This petition was brought to me by a deputation consisting
of Mr. “Alderman Jeays, who signs it, and who was formerly
mayor of this city, and Mr. Robert Short, a gentleman connected
with the press, and one who has delivered several public lectures
adverse to the importation of South Sea Islanders.

3. The petition being couched in respecttul terms, and the
deputation waiting on me to request that it might be forwarded,
being inhabitants of this city of good fame and respectability,
I have deemed it my duty, in view of the common right of Her
Majesty’s subjects to lay their grievances before Her by petition,
to enclose this to your Grace for presentation.

4. The subject to which this petition refers, is one which has
already been brought under your Grace's notice by Governor
Sir G. F. Bowen in his despatch (of the 13th July, 1867),
and I directed your Grace’s answer to that despatch (of
the 9th November, 1867), which was received by the last mail,
to be laid before both Houses of Parliament during the last week.

5. I may inform your Grace that there is a Bill now before
the Parliament of Queensland, and which has already passed the

- Legislative Council, intended to protect and regulate the immi-
gration of South Sea Islanders into this Colony, and that this
Bill contains all the provisions for their protection, pointed out
in your Grace’s despatch, aboye alluded to, of the 9th November,
1867. :

6. I believe and trust the fears of the persons who now peti-
tion Her Majesty in reference to the employment of South Sea
Islanders in this Colony are unnecessarily excited ; at least, I
am sure that when once within the boundaries of the Colony
they will be safe from any treatment which by any stretch of
imagination can be termed slavery.

7. I do not feel so certain, however, as to the mode in which
they have hitherto been allowed to be engaged by unauthorised
persons on the islands from whence they came ; but the Bill, of
which I enclose a copy in its latest stage, endeavours to provide
a remedy in this respect, and T have no doubt your Grace’s com-
munication to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, as
mentioned in your despatch (No. 40, of 9th November, 1867),
will have a beneficial effect. I have, &c

(signed) M. C. O'CoNNELL.
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(5) Copy of a Despatck from Acting Governor O Connéll to His
. Grace the Duke of Buckingham and Chandos.

Government House, Brisbane, Queensland,
23 March, 1868.

My Lorp Durg,—Inasmuch as the employment of labourers
from the Polynesian Islands in the Colony of Queensland has
been made the subject of remonstrance by certain well-meaning
persons here, who are apprehensive it may in some measure
revive the evils which formerly attached to the Slave Trade, and
as I had the honour to enclose to your Grace, under cover of my
despatch of the 27th January, a petition. for presenta-
tion to Her Majesty in reference to this subject, I deem it better
to accompany the copy of the Act “to Regulate the Introduction
and Treatment of Polynesian Labourers,” which I send under
another cover by this mail, with a separate communication
having reference only to the general bearing of this measure.

2. I beg, therefore, to inform your Grace that I have signified
the Royal Assent to this Bill under the advice of the Attorney-
" General of the colony, Mr. Pring, given in the following terms
in his Report, forwarded through my private Secretary :— .

“In reply, I have the honour to report that, in consequence
of the continued increase and importation of the South Sea
Islanders into this colony, it appears to me urgently necessary
that this Bill should be brought into immediate operation ; and
although it may be characterised as a Bill of an extraordmary
nature, still it does not fall within the class of Bills specified in
the Royal Instructions for. reservation for the signification of
Her Majesty’s pleasure, there is, in my opinion, no objection
%olhis Excellency, the Acting Governor giving his assent to this

ill.”

3. This subject, of the employment of Polynesian labourers
in Queensland, was first brought under notice in a despatch
(of the 16th September, 1863) from Governor Sir George
Bowen to his Grace the Duke of Newecastle, and it has furnished
the matter of several subsequent communications, fo the last
of which your Grace’s despatch of the 9th November, No. 40,
was a reply.

4. In this latter communication your Grace very justly sur-
mises, that “as the experiment seems to have succeeded with
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Captain Towns and Captain) Whish, the principal employers of
these labourers, it is probable that other settlers may desire to
follow their example ;”” for I have now to report that such has
been the case.

6. I have obtained from the Collector of Customs in this port
a Return, which I enclose, showing the number of vessels entered
at the different ports of the colony with Polynesian labourers
" during the four months ending 29th February. 1868, by which
it appears that during that time seven vessels, arriving in five
different parts of the colony, brought to these shores nine
hundred and eighteen (918) of these people ; and I can add that
some are employed, not only on cotton and sugar plantations, but
also on sheep stations. )

6. The time, therefore, seems to have fully arrived when it is
necessary to provide for their protection and their just treatment
by some law more applicable to"their particular cases than the
ordinary one which provides for the enforcing of engagements
between masters and servants would be, if standing alone.

7. The law to which I am now referring seems to me amply
to meet the case in point ; it establishes in the Government a
sort of protectorate over these persons and their engagements ;
and as far as possible it provides that they shall not be engaged
except under precautions which ought to prevent any chance of
kidnapping.

8. I perceive, by your Grace's despatch, No. 1, of the 8th
January last, received this day, that the Lords Commissioners of
the Admiralty have instructed the senior naval officer on the
Australian station to make inquiries, and report whether any
person has been improperly transported to the Fiji Islands by
British subjects, and I can assure your Grace that the Govern-
ment of this colony will be prepared to give every assistance and
support to such inquiries should any cases of the nature referred
to be found to attach to the emigration of Polynesians into

Queensland. I have, &c.
(signed) M. C. O'CoNNELL.

Inclosure in No. 5.

Return of the number and tonnage of vessels entered at the
different ports of the Colony with Polynesian Labourers
during the four months ending 29th February, 1868 :—

Into the port of Brishane—3 vessels, with a tonnage of 537,
and 523 labourers
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Into the/port of Marlborotigh==1 vessel, with a tonnage of 99,
and 84 labourers.

Into the port of Rockhampton—1 vessel, with a tonnage of 177,
and 104 labourers. :

Into the port of Mackay—1 vessel, with a tonnage of 85, and
78 labourers, )

Into the port of Bowen—1 vessel, with a tonnage of 132, and
129 labourers.

Total, 7 vessels, 1,030 tonnage, and 918 labourers.

D. W. Somerser, for Collector.

Custom House, Brisbane,
23 March, 1868.

DESPATCHES FROM THE SECRETARY OF STATE.

(1) Copy of a Despatch from the Earl of Carnarvon to
Governor Str George F. Bowen, G.C.M.G.

-Downing-street, 1 February, 1867.

S1r,—I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your
Despatch of the 16th November, respecting the progress
of cotton cultivation in Queensland, and inclosing a printed
account of the “Townsvale” plantation.

A copy of your despatch has been sent to the Board of Trade
a8 well as to the Cotton Supply Association at Manchester.

I have, &c.
(signed) CARNARVON.

(8) Copy of a despatch from His Grace the Duke of Buckingham
and Chandos to Governor Sir George F. Bowen, G.C.M.G.

Downing-street, 9 November, 1867.

Sir,—1I have to acknowledge the receipt of your despatch, No.
36, of 13th July, on the subject of the employment in Queens-
land of the natives of some of the South Sea Islands.

The practical question which arises on your despatch is,
whether any measures beyond those already in force can be taken
for the protection of these islanders.

So far as regards the people now in the colony, there seems no
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reason to doubt that they have been treated kindly and loyally ;
nor apparently would there be any ground for apprehension if
the immigration remain as limited as it is at present. But as
the experiment seems to have succeeded with Captain Towns and
Captain Whish, the principal employers of these labourers, it is
probable that other settlers may desire to follow their example,
especially if the cultivation of cotton in Queensland should, as
may be expected and hoped, prove remunerative, in which case
the adoption of some fixed regulations for the protection of these
people may be desirable.

It would not be necessary in the case of the small number of
South Sea Islanders likely to be introduced, to establish such
detailed and elaborate regulations as those made by the Act of
1862, regulating the introduction of Indian immigrants into
.Queensland.

But if the Legislature should be willing to entrust the Governor
with a power similar to that conferred by the above Act, of
making rules for the protection of South Sea Islanders, all that
is necessary might be done.

The following are, I think, the principal points to which such
rules should be directed :—

1. That the ships to be employed in the service should have
adequate accommodation, should be properly found, and should
not carry above a prescribed number in proportion to their
deck area.

2. That no one should be allowed to introduce these immi-
grants except under a non-transferable license from the Govern-
ment.

3. That the general tenour of the contract to be entered into
with them should be prescribed by the Government, and that
the contracts, to be valid, should be countersigned by the immi-
gration agent on the arrival of the immigrants.

4. That the immigrants should be placed under the special
superintendence of the local magistracy ; and, as a consequence,
that none should beallowed to estates so remote as to be with-
drawn from such superintendence.

5. That a power should be reserved to the Government of
cancelling a contract in case of the ill usage of the immigrant by
his master, or of the non-fulfilment of the conditions of the
contract.

6. That the contract should not be for a period exceeding five
years ; and,

N
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-7. That security should be taken for the reconveyance of the -
immigrant/to| his own country)at the time stipulated in the con- -
tract, and for the grant to him of fair compensation for any un-
reasonable delay in fulfilling that condition. . :

A regulation might also be added to provide for the re-engage-
ment of an immigrant who may not wish to return to his country
at the end of his five years’ contract. In this case the liability -
to provide for a back passage would rest with the new employer,
the first employer paying the immigrant some compensation in -
lieu of passage.

I shall be glad to learn what course your Government may -
propose to pursue in the matter.

I have informed the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty
of the steps taken in consequence of Captain Luce’s statement
regarding the abduction of the South Sea Islanders to Queens-
land, and have left it to their Lordships to take such measures
as would seem to them practicable and expedient, in order to
ascertain whether any persons had been improperly transported
to the Fiji 1slands by English subjects. I have, &,

(signed)  BuokiNeHAM AND CHANDOS,

(3) Copy of a despateh from His Grace the Dukeof Buckingham
and Chandos to Officer Administering the. Government.

Downing-street, 8 January, 1868.

S1r,— With reference to the last paragraph of my despatch to
Sir George Bowen, No. 40, of 9th November, on the subject of
proposed introduction of South Sea Islanders into Queensland,
I have to acquaint you that the Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty have stated their intention to instruct the Officer on
the Australian Station to make inquiries and report whether any
person has beeu improperly transported to the Fiji Islands by
British subjects. T have, &c.

. (signed) BucrineHAM AND CHANDOS,
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CORRESPONDENCE

RESPECTIXG THE

REMOVAL AND SUSPENSION OF COLONIAL
JUDGES.*

(V). Extract from a Despaick from Governor Sir Harry St.
Gerge Ord, R.E., C.B., to the Duke of Buckingham and
Chandos. Dated Government House, Singapore, July 14,
1868,

{No. 145).

¢“In compliance with the request contained in a letter from
Mr. Carmichael and others, which I have the honour to enclose,
I forward to your Grace a Petition Drawn up by these gentle-
men in pursuance of certain Resolutions passed at a Public
Meeting held at the Town Hall on the 22nd June, together with
a copy of the reply I have caused to be addressed to them.”

Enclosure 1 in No. 1.

Singapore, 14th July, 1868.

Sir,—We have the honour to call His Excellency the Go-
vernor’s attention to the following Resolutions, passed at a
Public Meeting held in the Town Hall on Monday, the 22nd
June :—

1. “That the people of this Settlement have long enjoyed, in
common with their fellow-subjects in the United Kingdom and
India, the great advantage of having the Judge of the Supreme

" Court independent of the control and interference of the Execu-
tive Government, and the meeting desires to record their strong
sense of that advantage.” :

2, “That the meeting views with concern and alarm the un-
<onstitutional power possessed by the Governor of suspending

* @iven at an Examination held 29th November, 1870,
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any Judge/of [thesnpreme Court, and considers the existence of
such a power as most injurious to the administration of justice.””

3. “That the Ordinance constituting a Supreme Court of
Judicature is incomplete, in so far as no provision is made
therein to secure the independence of the Judges from interfe-
rence on the part of the Local Executive.”

4. “That a Petition of the inhabitants of Singapore, embody-
ing the resolutions just carried, be forwarded to the Secretary
of State for the Colonies through His Excellency the Governor.”

The accompanying Petition has been prepared in accordance
with these Resolutions, and we now beg to lay the same before
His Excellency, for transmission to Her Majesty’s Principal
Secretary of State for the Colonies.—We have, &c.,

(signed)  A. T. CARMICHAEL, Chairman of Public
Meeting above referred to.
‘Wu. ApaMSON.
JoHN 8. ATCHISON.
H. F. Plow, Eeq., Secretary to His Excellency.

P.8.—We would call His Excellency’s attention to the fact
that the Petition is signed not only by a large majority of the
principal European inhabitants, but also by the most influential
of the Arab, Chinese, and Indian traders resident in Singapore.

Enclosure 2 in No. 1.
Singapors, 30th June, 1868,

May 1T PLEASE YOUR GRACE !'—We, the undersigned inlabi-
tants of Singapore, have learnt with great concern and alarm
that the power possessed by the Governor of the Colony to sus-
pend public officers extends to the judges of our Supreme Court.

Ever since the establishment of that Court, now sixty years
ago, the Straits Settlements have enjoyed the inestimable ad-
vantage of having justice administered by Judges entirely inde
pendent, not only of the local Governors, but even of the Go-
vernors-General of India; and that position of dignified inde-
pendence secured to the Judges the entire respect and confidence
of the various communities, both Native and European.

‘We deem it essential to the pure administration of justice
that this independence should be preserved intact, and that the
Judges should never be in a position in which they might be
suspected of being vndar the influence of the Executive : any
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<hange in/this| respect we should consider deeply injurious to
the best interests of the Colony.

‘We therefore pray that your Grace will take such measures as
may be fitting to restore that complete judicial independence
which we enjoyed under the Government of India.

And your Petitioners will ever pray, &c.

(signed) Tros. Soorr.
R. Lirtir, M,D.

and by 200 others.
To His Grace the Duke of Buckingham and
Chandos, Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary
of State for the Colonies.

. Enclosure 3 in No. 1,

Government House, Singapore, 15th July, 1868

GeNTLEMEN.—I am directed by the Governor to acknowledge
the receipt of your communication of the 14th instant, calling
His Excellency’s attention to certain Resolutions passed at a
Public Meeting held in the Town Hall on the 22nd June, copies
-of which are given in your letter, and enclosing a Petition which
has been prepared by you in accordance with those Resolutions,
and which you request His Excellency to transmit to Her Ma-
Jesty’s Principal Secretary of State for the Colonies,

2. His Excellency’s instructions require him to transmit
documents of this description to the Secretary of State with all
reasonable despatch, accompanied by such Report as their con-
tents may appear to him to require ; and His Excellency will
have much pleasure in forwarding your communication and the
Petition to His Grace the Secretary of State for the Colonies by
the Mail of the 18th instant.

In the Report which it is His Excellency’s duty to make on
these documents, it will be necessary that he should call His
‘Grace’s attention to the circumstances that they proceed upon
the assumption (1st Resolution), that the people of the Settle-
ments have long had the advantage of having the Judges of the
Supreme Court independent of the control and interference of
the Executive Government, and that this judicial independence
{Petition) will not be preserved if the Governor be entrusted
with the powers possessed by all Governors of Colonies of sus-
pending the judges of the Court.
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4. Ttis; of course, open to|question whether the independence:
of the Judge is in any way affected by the existence of this re-
gulation ; but His Excellency must point out to His Grace the
error which has been committed, in assuming that the Judges
have hitherto enjoyed a position of dignified independence of
the Governor.

5. A reference to the Charter, which defines the duties and
position of the Judges, will show that the Judges of the Court
were the Governor, the Resident Councillor of the Settlement,
and the Recorder ; and that the two former not only possessed
equal authority and power with the Recorder, but that their
decision in any judgment, rules, orders, or act of authority or
power whatever, was binding, even though in opposition to that
of the Recorder.

6. The Governor thinks it due to the signers of the Petition
that they should be made aware of the exception he is thus
compelled to take to one of its prominent statements.

7. His Excellency has not failed to observe, and will bring
to His Grace’s notice, that, with the exception perhaps of the
members of the legal profession, the Petition is signed by a
large majority of the principal European inhabitants uncon-
nected with the Government, as well as by the most influential
of the Arab, Chinese, and Indian traders resident in the Settle~

ment,.—I have, &c.,
(signed) H. F. Prow.
A. T. Carmichael, Esq., and others.

(2). Copy of a Despatch from the Duke of Buckingham and
Chandos to Governor Sir Harry St. George Ord, R.E.,
C.B.

Downing-strect, September 21, 1868.

S1r,—I have to acknowledge the receipt of your Despatch
(No. 145) of the 14th of July, transmitting a Petition signed by
Mr. Scott and other inhabitants of Singapore, in which they
pray that I will take such measures as may be fitting to secure
the complete judicial independence which the Petitioners enjoyed
under the Government+of India.

From the introductory sentences of the Petition, it appears
that the Memorialists object to the power conferred by Her
Majesty on the Governor of the Straiis Settlements, as on the
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Governors\of /other Colonies; to suspend Judges of the Supreme
Court, and that they are under the apprehension that the
‘existence of this power will lay the Judges open to the suspicion
of being under the influence of the Executive.

I infer that, on the same grounds, they would still more
strongly object to the power of “amoving” Judges, which is
conferred on Colonial Governors by Act of Parliament (22 George
IIL, c. 756.) In both of these cases the power can only be
exercised with the concurrence of the Executive Council ; but
the suspension must be confirmed by the Crown before it becomes
a dismissal, while the amotion becomes at once complete, and can
.only be set aside by an expensive appeal to the Privy Council.
The power, therefore, which is conferred on the Governor by
statute is even greater than that which is conferred on him by
the act of the Crown.'

The system which now exists in the Straits Settlements pre-
vails in all Crown Colonies, and, with scarcely a modification, in
all Colonies not possessing Responsible Government ; and I am
aware of no reason for doubting that whatever is, in this respect,
best for the Straits Settlements, would also be best for Ceylon
or Hong-Kong, and other Colonies not possessing Responsible
Government. The real question, therefore, which is raised by the
Memorial is, whether it is or is not for the public iaterest that
Judges of such Colonies shall be liable to suspension or removal
by the Governor and Council

Her Majesty’s Government are fully alive to the importance,
or rather to the paramount necessity, of enabling Colonial
Judges to administer the Jaw of the Colony, in all cases which
‘may be brought before them, without any prospect or apprehen-
sion of direct or indirect interference from the Executive. But
on this, which is true judicial independence, the Governor’s
power of suspension or removal has scarcely any bearing what-
ever. It is not by so rude and dangerous a method as undeserved
dismissal that a corrupt Governor could, in these times, endeavour
to interfere with the course of justice.

Nor, again, can any argument be properly drawn from the
analogy of this country. I am far from undervaluing the know-
ledge and abilities of Colonial Judges and lawyers. But it is
evident that no lawyer can be advanced to a place on the English
Bench without & professional trial longer and far more severe
than that which would qualify him for a colonial appointment ;
and that an English Judge performs s functions under the eye
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of a numerous and highlyreducated Bar, with the assistance and
under the correction of colleagues who are among the first lawyers
of the world, and subject to the observation of a critical and well-
informed Press. Lastly, the engrossing nature of his own duties,
and the magnitude of the sphere in which he acts, render it
improbable that he will so entangle himself in local, personal,
or political controversies, as to impair his credit for judicial
impartiality. Thus chosen and thus circumstanced, there is little
danger that an English Judge will neglect his duties, or abuse
his great powers. In the Colonies, I need scarcely point out,
these securities for judicial propriety exist in a very mitigated
form ; and while, with the Memorialists, I hold it indispensable
that no Governor should influence, or attempt to influence, or (if
possible) have the power to influence, a decision of the Supreme
Court. I do not think it for the good of the community that a
functionary who is not, like an English Judge, immediately under
the control of an enlarged public and professional vpinion, nor,
like the Governor, subject to the direct authority of the Crown,
should be relieved from that general responsibility to the Local
Executive which is confessedly necessary in the case of all other
public officers.

I may add, that if he were thus relieved from responsibility to
any local authority, he would occupy a position, in some respects,
sven more advantageous than that accorded to English Judges,
who perform their functions under the observation of a body
which is capable of removing them in case of improper behaviour
—the Parliament of the United Kingdom.

I am by no means prepared to say that the conditions under
which Colonial Judges are removable are incapable of improve-
ment ; but I am clearly of opinion that the alterations which
are indicated by the Memorialists would not be for the public
interest. As guardian of that interest, I am, therefore, unable to
recommend their adoption ; and I think it right to express my

-conviction, founded on the experience of this Department, that,
if adopted, they would cause far more apprehension and dis-
content in other Colonies than the introduction of what I will
call the Colonial System has occasioned the Memorialists,

You will communicate to them a copy of this Despatch in
answer to their petition.—1I have, &c.,

(Sizned), BuckineHaM & CHANDOS.
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Memorandum by Sir Frederic Royers, Bart.

The Removal of Colonial Judges.

(1.) Modes of Removal :—

(a.) The Act called Burke’s Act extends to all Colonies,

and to all Colonial Judges appointed by Patent
(which is the usual, if not universal, mode of ap-
pointment), whether they hold during good beha-
viour or during pleasure,

This Act enables the Governor and Council to
“ amove,” or dismiss, a Judge, subject to an appeal
to the Privy Council.

(4.) The Queen’s Commission and Instructions authorise

the Governor, after taking the advice of his Council,
not to remove, but to suspend, any officer liable to
dismissal by the Crown. This suspension becomes
dismissal if confirmed by the Queen, who would
in general act on the advice of the Secretary of
State, but in the case of a Judge might invoke the
Judicial Committee.

The Governor may act contrary to the opinion
of his Council, but, of course, would not do so
except in a most extreme case.

These powers extend to all-Judges holding
during pleasure, and the same method is considered
applicable, in the absence of any statutory pro-
vision, to Judges holding during good behaviour.

{¢.) In most Colonies having Responsible Government, a

Judge may be removed by the Queen on Addresses
from the two Houses of the Legislature.

It has been determined that the Queen is nota
passive agent, but is bound to ascertain the pro-
priety of a removal, which would probably be done
by p ings before the Judicial Committee.

y
(d.) The Judicial Committee will, if requested by the

Secretary of State, exercise the power of trying a
Judge on complaint made by a Colonial Legislature
against him. This has been done in cases of
Judges holding during pleasure,

In this stale of things various questions have arisen, viz :-



194 OIVIL SERVICE PREOIS,

‘What, Judges| ought, to -hold. during good behaviour, and what
Judges during pleasure? What questions coming to England
should be decided by the Secretary of State, and what by the
Judicial Committee ¥ Whether it is more convenient to proceed
under Burke’s Act, or under the Queen’s Commission, or by resort,
in the first instance, to the Judicial Committee, and so on ?

The general tendency has been to consider: (1.) That every
Judge should be treated as holding during good behaviour ; the
difference being that where the tenure was nominally during
“pleasure, the rules of evidence are to be less rigidly applied, and
the condition of “good behaviour” to receive a larger accep-
tation.

(2.) That Judges should be appointed formally during good
behaviour, where the salury is such as to command a superior
class of lawyer, and where there exists a sufficient combination of
the following conditions : a reasonably extended public opinion,
a tolerably efficient press, colleagues, an intelligent Bar, and a
society large enough to make the Judge’s personal habits no
great element in the improvement or corruption of Colonial
society.

But that, where no such combination exists, it is advisable to
possess a somewhat more ready mode of getting rid of officers
who, if they turn out ill, can disorganise the whole society and
administration of the place.

The salaries of Colonial Judges vary from £500 to £2000
ayear. And the Judges are lawyers who have had no such
practice as renders them unwilling to accept this scale of

ment.

(3.) As to the mode of proceeding. An efficient inquiry on the
spot, where all the witnesses are, and details are understood, is,
of course, indispensable. To transfer all this to England would
make justice as against a Judge unattainable in the case of a
small Colony, and inordinately expensive in all cases. It is ap-
prehended that the Judicial Committee prefer that questions
should be brought before them on appeal rather than in the first
instance. And Secretaries of State have been, perhaps, inclined
to “amotion” under Burke’s Act, with appeal to the Judicial
Committee, rather than suspension under Instructions with appeal
to themselves. ‘

All this appears pertinent to the issue now raised, which is,
whether all questions relating to the removal of a Judge (except,
it is presumed, in Colonies having Responsible Government)
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should not be referred in the first iustance to some tribunal at
home, without'any local decision whatever?

The question has arisen with reference to the Judges in the
Straits Settlements. Before these Settlements were (about two
years ago) placed under the Colonial Office, the Judges held
their offices in entire independence of the Local Executive, and
were responsible solely to the Minister of the Crown. Now
they are removable according to the colonial system, and
against the introduction of this (there novel) system complaints
have been made.

In this case we have to consider the case, not of judicial
officers in some of the smaller Colonies—men more of the
class of English police magistrates than of English Judges—but
of Judges having, like the other Colonial Supreme Courts, all
the criminal and civil jurisdiction which belongs to the Courts.
of Chancery or the Queen’s Bench in this country.

e following reasons are alleged for exempting the Judges

from all responsibility to the Local Executive :—

1. They ought, as far as possible, to be exempt from all
influence likely to affect the impartial discharge of
their duties, and the influence most likely to aflect
them seems to be that of the Governor. He reports
confidentially on their conduct and efficiency, and in-
fluences by his reports their prospects of advancement.

2. The more we can adhere to the principle on which
Judges are romovable here the better.

3. The Legislature does not come into close contact with
English Judges. It is not influenced with reference
to them by likes or dislikes. It has to decide on
charges against them in the face of day, and, except
in times of vehement and abnormal party excitement,
it will never condemn a Judge unjustly. Its decision
is final, but its operation is slow. There is no place
under our system for cases such as Cloété’s, or that of
the other Judge suspended in Natal (p. 24 of Mr.
Napier’s pamphlet).

All these conditions are far better fulfilled by a
Secretary of State than by a Governor. The Secretary
of State is not in personal contact with Colonial Judges.
He is responsible to Parliament for his acts. His de-
cision is tinal. He does not wound—he strikes home.
Ilis action is slow, not precipitate—not too slow. A.
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month|will; | in most-cases, bring the case before him,
and the telegraph, if necessary, may carry back his
decision.

4. Can it be a question which system is most likely to se-
cure the impartial administration of justice? How
are mischievous quarrels likely to be avoided by the
subordination of Judgesto Governors, except so far as
this subordination makes the Judges subservient to
to the Governors ¢ It was Mr. Burke’s opinion that
¢ Colonial Judges should hold their offices during their
good behaviour, and should not be removed therefrom
but when the said removal should be adjudged by the
Sovereign in Council, upon a hearing or complaint
from the General Assembly, or on a complaint from
the Governor, or Council, or House of Representa-
tives, severally, of the Colony in which they have
exercised their office.”

This shows, at all events, that the arguments from the su-
perior ficility of getting evidence on the spot, and from the
ahsence of an educated and powerful public opinion in Colonies,
had no controlling weight with Mr. Burke.

For a Local Tribunal there are the following reasons :—

1. Promptitude. A Judge’s refusal to perform his duties,
or abuce of his powers, may be such that it is neces-
s&ln'y at once to arrest his proceedings, or supply his
place.

2. The local inquiry will be conducted with more com-
pleteness, and questions pushed more home, if the
inquirers are responsible for arriving at a conclusion.

3. The transfer of the decision to England will encourage
the manufacture of evidence, plausible on paper,
though not to persons on the spot, which, if it does
not mislead the Home Tribunal, will lead to references
and correspondence.

4, It will deprive the Home Tribunal of the assistance de-
rivable from the opinions pronounced under a sense of
responsibility by persons who examined the witnesses
personally, and are cognizant of local usages and cir-
cumstances.

5. 1t will deprive the accused person of the advantage of
an appeal. One tribunal will pronounce a final de- -
cision,
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6. It will invite anunfairGovernor and Council to harass
a Judge, by sending for decision at home complaints on
which they would not themselves venture to pro-
nounce an adverse decision.

7. On an intelligent and upright Judge the change would be
wholly inoperative. If it rendered a weak Judge more
aclually and apparently independent for good, it would
render an ignorant, dishonest, or perverse Judge more
independent for evil.

8. And the evil is more real than the advantage, as, prac-
tically, the complaints of perverse or discreditable
Judges who require control are frequent; whereas
complaints do not reach the Colonial Office, either of
weak Judges who are in the hands of a Governor, or of
upright Judges who are harassed by charges against
them. When suspensions have been reversed, they
have rarely involved a substantial acquittal of the
Judge.

‘With a view to balancing these advantages and disadvantages,
it should be observed : —

(1.) That it is very difficult in a small Colony to substitute
any other Local Tribunal for the Governor and Exccu-
tive or Legislative Council.

(2.) That it is primé facie to be presumed that a Council
composed of the principal officers of the Colony will
act fairly in a matter of importance concerning a col-
league more than able to defend kimself, and in which
their act has to be confirmed by the Secretary of State ;.
while the Governor is more responsible to the Home
Government than any other officer, being liable not
only to removal, but to loss of reappointment.

(3.) That the argument from promptitude is diminished in
force by present facilities of communication,

The present arrangements, having been the growth of circum-
stances—almost of chance—may probably be improved. But
Burke’s Act cannot be modified but by Parliament.

(4.) MEMORANDUM with reference to the Practice of the Privy
Council in the Removal of Colonial Judges.
The Lord President, in answer to the questions submitted to
this Department and to the Lords of the Judicial Committee by



198 CIVIL SERVIOE PRECIS.

direction of Earl Granville, has caused the following Memoran-
dum to'be prepared, - for' the' 'purpose of explaining the views
taken by their Lordships on the subject of the Removal of Colo-
nial Judges, as far as they may be gathered from reported cases,
and from the experience of the last thirty years,

1t is obvious that some effectual means ought to exist for the
removal of Colonial Judges charged with grave misconduct, and
that these means ought to be less cumbrous than those existing
for the removal of one of Her Majesty’s Judges in this country.
The mode of procedure ought to be such as to protect Judges
against the party and pereonal feelings which sometimes sway
Colonial Legislatures, and to insure to the accused party a full
and fair hearing before an impartial and elevated tribunal
Hence, it was considered in the case of Mr, Justice Boothby,
that although the Legislature of South Australia had passed
Addresses to the Crown for his removal, that measure did not
suffice, as it would have done in England ; and that, although
the Legislature might act as his accuser, it rested with the ad-
visers of the Crown in England to dispose of the charges against
him,

All the forms of suspension or removal which are in use lead
by different roads to the same result—viz., a hearing before the
Privy Counecil.

When a positive ‘“amotion” has been made by a Governor
under Burke’s Act, the appeal to the Queen in Council is strsc-
2issimi juris, being provided by the statute itself

When an order of suspension from office has been made, the
matter has commonly been referred by the Queen to the Judicial
Committee, on the recommendation of the Secretary of State,
though not invariably so, as in some cases the Secretary of State
has himself advised the Crown to confirm or to disallow the
suspension.

The reference may be made to the Judicial Committee, or to
8 Committee of Council generally ; but if it be. made to the
Judicial Committee, it is desirable that the Lord President and
the Secretary of State for the Colonies should sit with the Judges
on the hearing. This course has been pursued with advantage
in severa] instances. .

When charges are brought by a Colonial Assembly against a
Judge, in the shape of a Petition to the Queen in Council for
-his removal—as in the cases of Chief Justice Boulton from New-

“foundland, Mr. Justice Sanderson from Grenada, and Chief
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Justice Beaumont from British Guiana—the Privy Council ex
ercises a'species 'of ‘'original jurisdiction on these Petmons, which
shall be considered presently.
" It may be remarked, generally, that it is exiremely d1ﬂicu.lt.,
.and might be highly injurious to the public service, to lay down
an inflexible rule as to the mode of procedure to be adopted in
all cases of this nature. When a Judge is charged with gross
personal immorality or misconduct, with corruption, or even
with irregularity in pecuniary transactions, on evidence sufficient
to satisfy the Executive Government of the Colony of his guilt,
it would be extremely improper that he should continue in the
exercise of judical functions during the whole time required for
a reference to England, or a protracted investigation before the
Privy Council. Immediate suspension is in such cases & neces~
sity, if much greater evils are to be avoided. But it must be
borne in mind that a Governor who resorts to such a measure
takes it at his own peril, and is bound to make out a complete
case in justification of it. 'When such cases come to be investi-
gated at home, both the Governorand the Judge are in reality on
their trial ; and to have taken unwarrantable proceedings against
a Judge would doubtless be regarded as a most serious offence
on.the part of an executive officer.

On the other hand, when the charges against a Judge consist,
not in any alleged acts of personal mlsconduct but in a cumu-
lative case of judical perversity, tending to lower the dignity of
his office, and perhaps to set the community in a flame, it is
more difficult for the Local Executive to act on its own respon-
sibility. It isin cases of this description that Petitions for
the rcmoval of Judges have been addressed to the Queen in
€ uncil by Colonial Legislatures.

This last-mertioned mode of proceeding has been found by
the Lords of the Judical Committee to be more dilatory, more
expensive, more onerous to the parties, and less satisfactory to
their Lordships, than the mode by way of previous suspension
or ‘‘amotion ; and that for the following reasons :—The Privy
Council, accustomed to act as a Court of Appeal, that is, to
review the evidence and decision of inferfor tribunals, has by
ite constitution considerable difficulty in exercising an original
Jurisdiction, especially when the evidence has to be transmitted
from the Colonies. No regular system of pleadings and proce-
dure can be said to exist in such cases. The consequence is,

that the charges being often loose, vague, and multifarious, thei#
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Lordships have not found it easy to reduce them o distinct ana
positive issues of facts-or of law, such as are mnecessary to the
maintenance of a quasi-criminal proceeding.

As in ecclesiastical suits for the correction or removal of
clerks, to which these proceedings offer some unalogy, it is essen-
tial that the articles should be clearly expressed, and that the
accused person should have full notice of all that is to be proved
against him,

‘When the issues are settled, comes the difficulty of the evi-
dence. Both sides produce affidavits and other written testi-
mony from the Colony. When a batch of affidavits has been
filed on one side, application is made by the other side for time
to answer them. Great delay and expense ensue ; and as in the
case of Mr. Beaumont, this kind of irregular pleading may pro-
tract the hearing of the case for two or three years, during
which time the Judge, whom the Colony is seeking to remove,
retains his office. 'When the case is completed, by the parties or
their agents, and brought on for argument, it is often loaded
with a mass of irrelevant matter. Over these proceedings, regu-
lated as they are by the advice of counsel on either side, their
Lordships can exercise but little control in the preliminary
stages of the case, being themselves unacquainted with the
merits of it. i

The mode of “amotion” with the right of appeal, or of tem-
porary suspension with a reference to England, is not open to
these objections. The evil of an inefficient or discredited judicial
officer is at once removed. The Governor, who feels called
upon to take so decided a step, is bound to give to the accused
person full notice of all the charges brought against him, to call
upon him for his answer, and to hear it. This, therefore,
affords a solid groundwork for his subsequent proceedings.

Furthermore, the Governor, knowing that his decision will be
reviewed in England on appeal, is bound, for his own justifica-
tion, to send home the proceedings and evidence on which that
decision rests in a clear and intelligible shape ; and provision is
made for the performance of this duty by Nos. 83, 84, 85, and
86 of the Colonial Regulations.

If the matter is then referred by Her Majesty in Council to -
the Judical Committee, their Lordships are at once in a position
to deal with it, The delay and expense incidental to getting
up a case at a distance from the original scene of dispute,
vanish, Tha case is, or ought to be, already complete. And it

-
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it be at once submitted to the judgment of their Lordships in s
complete’ form, -there’is' no’'reason that it should not be heard
and disposed of in a very short time, and at a small expense,
M. Cloété’s case (8 Moore, 484) is a fair sample of a proceed-
ing judiciously conducted in this manner. That gentleman had
been improperly removed from a judical office on the 12th of
April, 1853—he was restored to it by their Lordships on the
20th of February, 1854 ; and, although he had undoubtedly
saffered an injustice, their Lordships expressed their desire that
he should be idemnified for the expense he had been unjustly
ut to—and he was, in fact, soon afterwards promoted to a
igher judicial office.

It is scarcely necessary to add that, in Colonies having Legis-
lative Assemblies, those Assemblies cannot be deprived of their
undoubted constitutional right to address the Crown for the
removal of a Judge ; and the exercise of this right is altogether
independent of the course which the Governor of the Colony
may think fit to adopt. When the charges against a judicial
officer originate with Assemblies, the form of Address or Peti-
tion is perhaps the most correct, though not the most conven-
ient, form of proceeding. When the action for removal origin-
ates with the Governor, he has the power to give effect to it in
his own hands, subject to the control of the Home Authorities.

The experience of the Lords of the Council, therefore, strongly

corroborates the arguments stated in Sir F. Rogers’ Paper iz
favour of proceedings by the Governor, subject to a review by
the Secretary of State or Privy Council in England ; and they
have invariably found, that in the cases in which proceedings
kave originated with the Local Assemblies, the delay, uncer-
tainty, and expense have been greatly agumented.
" At the same time, when the misconduct charged is purely
judicial, and therefore not properly amenable to the decision or
the executive authority, acting on the advice of Law Officers or
advisers of inferior rank, it would seem that the due mainten-
ance of the independence of Judges requires that judicial acts
should only be brought into question before some tribunal of
weight and wisdom enough fo pronounce definitively upon
them ; and this function appertains with peculiar fitness to the
Privy Council, which, as a Court of Appeal, has to review the
‘qlecisions of all the Colonial Courts.
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Observations by Lord Chelmsford upon the MEMORANDUM with
reference to the Practice of the Privy Council in the Removal

of Colonial Judges.
a 9th April, 1870.

I concur gonerally in the views expressed in this Memor-
andum.

The question of the removal or suspension of a Colonial
Judge is one of great delicacy and of some difficulty; but,
upon the whole, I think thatin all cases, except those which
sometimes occur of judicial indiscretion or indecorum, the best
system is that which leaves the respomsibility in the first in-
stance to the Governor of the Colony, subject to an Appeal to
the Queen in Council. Of course so serious a step as the re-
moval or suspension of a Judge ought not to be taken without
a distinct communication being previously made of the specific
charges of misconduct imputed, and without an ample oppor-
tunity being afforded to the Judge of answering these charges.
In every instance of this kind, it seems to me that it would be
better that the matter should be brought before the Privy
Council, rather than that the final decision should rest with the
Secretary of State—because the reasons for the determination
iun the latter case are not made public (publicity in an accusa-
tion of a Judge being always desirable), and because an impres-
sion sometimes prevails that there is an inclination in the
Colonial Office to uphold their Governors upon any subject of
complaint which arises in the Colonies.

‘When I speak of judicial indiscretion or indecorum, it may
be difficult to explain my meaning in words, and yet it will
probably be sufficiently understood. As an illustration, I would
mention ebullitions of temper and intemperate language, lead-
ing continually to unseemly altercations and undignified exhibi-
tions in Court. Upon occasions like these, different opinions
may be entertained whether the conduct of the Judge is such
as to render him unfit to continue upon the Bench. I think
the evil of allowing such a Judge to exercise his functions
while his conduct is being inquired into, would not be so great
a8 permitting a Governor to determine upon his own judgment
and discretion that the beheaviour of the Judge was so incom-
patible with the temperate and dignified administration of jus-
tice, as to render it desirable on public grounds that he should
be removed. In these cases it would be better, in my opinion,
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to inform the; Judge of the.specific instances in which it is
alleged that he has not preserved the decorum of his judicial
character, and to call upon him for distinct answers to the
charges, with an intimation that the whole will be sent home
for the decision of the Privy Council.

These observations do not apply to grave charges of judicial
delinquency, such as corruption, or to cases of immorality or
. -criminal misconduct. Instances of this kind ought to be visited
by immediate removal from the Bench (of course, not before a
full opportunity has been afforded to the accused Judge to defend
himself.) Such serious cases ought to be brought before the
Privy Council, either by Appeal on the part of the removed or
-suspended Judge, or upon the recommendation of the Secretary
-of State. .

CHELMSFORD.

Opinion of the Right Hon Stephen Lushington, D.C.L., late
Judge of the Admiralty, on the Removal of Colonial Judges.

14th April, 1870.

It is, I think, perfectly clear that all inquiries into the alleged
misconduct of Colonial Judges must be attended with difficulty,
.and in most cases with some mischievous consequences,

I entertain no doubt in my own mind that the most efficacious
means of proceeding, and productive of the least evil consequences,
8 that the Governors of the Colonies respectively should be
entrusted with the power of investigating any alleged charges
-against the Judges, and if in their opnion need be, of suspending
them. Of course all the proceedings, and the evidence upon
which they act, should be remitted without delay to the Colonial
Office, and, if need be, Her Majesty will be advised to remit the
-case to the consideration of the Privy Council. I apprehend that
the Judicial Committee has no peculiar claim to take cognizance
-of such a case.

I think that the propriety of the Colonial Governor being
invested with this power, great as it is, would be more apparent
if cor:lt.rasked with any other mode of proceeding than that sug-
geste

I forbear to enter into those particulars, not only because they
are obvious, but also because I feel confident the consideration
-of them would naturally occur to all who have to look into this
question. 8. L.

P
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Opinion of the Right Hon!\Sir\ Edward Ryan on the Removal of
Colonial Judges.
21st April, 1870.

I entirely concur in the opinion expressed by Lord Chelmsford
and Dr. Lushington, and in the Memorandum, that the best
mode of proceeding, and productive of the least evil consequences,
in most cases, will be to leave the responsibility, in the first
instance, to the Governor of the Colony, subject to an appeal to
the Queen in Council.

I agree with Dr. Lushington in thinking that the Judicial
Committee has no “ peculiar claim” to take cogmizance of such
cases, though probably the Secretary of State would generally be
desirous of referring such cases to that body. In the case of
‘Willes and Gipps (6 Moore), the then Lord President (the Duke
of Buccleuch) and Mr. Gladstone-sat on the Judicial Committee
upon an appeal against an Order of Amotion.

I concur in the arguments stated in Sir F. Rogers’ Memoran-
dum in fazvour of proceedings by the Governor, subject to a review
by the Secretary of State, o7 the Privy Council, and generally in
the view so clearly stated in the Memorandum as to the courze
of proceeding in cases of this nature before the Privy Council.

E R.
(5.) T0 the Right Honourable the Lords Spiritual and Temporal
in Parliament Assembled.

‘The humble Petition of the undersigned Landowners, Merchants
Traders, and others, being inhabitants of Singapore.

Singapore, 3rd January, 1870,

SeEWETH : That the Supreme Court of these Settlements was
founded by Royal Charter in 1807, which was extended by
another in 1826, and amended by a third in 1855, and that from
its first institution until 1867, the Judges held their office in
entire independence of the Local Executive, and were respon-
sible solely to the Minister of the Crown.

That under this tenure, which is the same as that of the Judges
of the Supreme and High Courts of India to this day, these
Settlements possessed, practically, all the advantages ehjoyed in

England in the tenure of the judicial office ever since the Revo-
ution of 1688,

oo
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That, under | this, system;, sanctioned by Her Majesty’s prede-
<essors and by Her Majesty herself, the administration of justice
was always respected, and harmony and good understanding
bitween the Governor and the judges were rarely disturbed.
If the conduct of the latter was ever questioned, it was sub-
nmitted to a Great Officer of State, who, not mixed up in the
controversy and free from all local and personal feelings, de-
cided with impartiality. The Judges, though naturally less
experienced than those of the Courts at home in certain details
of professional experience, and though their sphere of action
was distant from the authority which alone had the power to
remove them, and though they were exposed to no other eriti-
cism than that of a colonial bar, press, and public, were at the
same time called upon to administer the law in all its various
phases, and in so doing wers never found inferior in purity and
honour, and were always respected and trusted by all classes as
upright and fearless. Much of this respect and confidence was
founded on the knowledge that they were independent of the
Local Executive, and that they had therefore no motive for
fearing or propitiating it.

That upon the transfer of these Settlements to the Colonial
Office, in 1867, the Judges became liable to suspension by the
‘Governor, for any cause that might appear to him sufficient, by
virtue of a power contained in his Commission, and even to
removal by him and the Executive Council, by virtue of the Act
of the 22 Geo. 3, c. 75.

That great uneasiness and alarm are felt, quite as much among
the various Eastern races as among the British residents of these
Settlements, by this alteration. It is opposed to a fundamental
principle which has been regarded at bome for nearly two cen-
turies, and now also by every other civilized nation, as one of
the most solid securities of the liberties of the people ; and your
Petitioners think that there is no solid reason why the purity
and dignity of the judicial office should be less guarded here,
They regret and fear this change further, because they have
reason to believe that the system now introduced is prejudicial
to the Colonies in which it is in force. They believe that any
suspension of a Judge by the Local Executive must be detri-
mental to the community where it takes place, by impairing the
public confidence in the Executive or in the judicial authority,
by lowering the position of the Judge, and by introducing dis~
discord between the heads of the two departments.
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The  means; jof communication between this Colony and Eng-
land are now so frequent and rapid, that your Petitioners appre-
hend no practical inconvenience from any delay likely to arise .
from referring the conduct of a Judge directly to the Secretary
of State. But they consider that any delay would be a much
lesser evil than the loss of judicial independence: not only
would a local scandal be avoided, but the decision of the
Minister would be accepted with respect and confidence, besides.
having the incidental advantage of being at once final. :

Your Petitioners believe that the form of corruption to which
Judges are in these times exposed is that which is affected not.
by vulgar bribery and dishonesty, but by fear or favour ; and to-
place judges in subordination to the Local Executive is to ex-
pose them to the influence of such feelings in a manner which
may often disastrously affect their judgment,

Deeply impressed with the conviction of the paramount ne-
cessity of possessing judges strongly attached to the principle of"
independence as the only means of securing them, your Peti-
tioners pray that their judges may be restored to that position
of Independence which they held under the Government of
India ; and that the people of this Colony may have their judi-
cial institutions again placed on a basis to which both reason
and experience have taught them to attach the greatest value,
and the loss of which they regard as impolitic and deeply inju-
rious to them.

And your Petitioners will ever pray.

(Signed) W. H. Reap, Member, Legislative Council.

Tros. ScorT, ”» » »
W. R. SCOTI’, 3] ” ”
‘W. ApamsoN, ,, » »
W. CARMICHAEL, M&Iiadgi:.r, Chartered Bank of

Jose D’AruEipa, Consul for Portugal and Brazil,
and Justice of the Peace, and
by 103 others,
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OFFICECOF WORKS.

Copy of Papers “relating to the recent Changes in the Estab-
lishment of the Office of Works.”*

e 0. § ACTON 8. AYRTON.
) The First Commissioner of Works to the Lords Com-
missioners of the Treasury.

Office of Works, &ec., S.W.,
January 1869.

My Lorps,—In consequence of the resignation of Mr. Alfred
Austin, it is necessary to make immediate provision to com-
plete the staff required to discharge the duties of this depart-
ment. I recommend that, in order to render more efficient the
control of this office over the expenditure of public money, two
secretaries should be appointed in the place of a secretary and
assistant secretary ; and that one secretary should have the
management of all financial matters, and the general correspon-
dence of the Department, together with the supervision and
control of the office under direction of the First Commissioner,
and the other, with the title of “Secretary for Works and
Buildings,” should have the superintendence of the works and
buildings undertaken by this department, the supervision of the
architects’ plans and estimates, and a general control over the
expenditure connected with public edifices under the charge of
the Office of Works, it being understood that it shall be a part
of the duty to act generally under the direction of the First
Commissioner in matters connected with public works which
may be referred to the Office of Works.

Adverting to the experience and qualifications of Mr. George
Russell, the Assistant Secretary, I think it right to observe thag
I consider him fully competent to fill the office of Secretary,
and I venture to recommend him to your Lordships’ favourable
consideration as Mr. Austin’s successor.

i * Given at an Examination held on October 11th, 1869, and given a
second time on 10th November, 1870.
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I reconinend| thatCthie) ealary assigned to the Secretary for
‘Works and Buildings shall be not less than £1,000 a-year.

The supervision which under the proposed arrangement that
officer will be able to exercise over public buildings, when in
the course of erection, will be new to this office, and will tend
very materially to an economical expenditure of public money.

_I trust that if your Lordships should concur in these recom-
mendations the appointments will be made without any unneces-
sary delay, as owing to the pressure of public business much
inconvenience will ensue unless they are immediately filled up.

I am, &ec.,
(signed) A, H. Lavarp.
The Right Honourable
the Lords Commissioners of
Her Majesty’s Treasury.

2) The Secretary to the Treasury to the First Commis-
sioner of Works.

Treasury Chambers, 14 January, 1869.

S1r,—The Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury
have had before them your letter of the 4th instant.

Their Lordships desire me to state, in reply, that they are
pleased to sanction the new arrangement of the Secretariat of
the Department under your control, according to the recommen-
dation contained in your said letter, namely, that it should con-
sist of a Secretary, to have the mauagement of all financial
matters and the general correspondence of the Iepartment,
together with the supervision and control of the Office, under
direction of the First Commissioner, and likewise the manage.
ment of the public parks and gardens: and a Secretary of
‘Works and Buildings, who should have the superintendence of
the works and buildings undertaken by the Department, the
supervision of all architects’ plans and estimates, and a general
control over the expenditure connected with public edifices,
under the charge of the Office of Works, it being understood to
be a part of his duty to act generally under the direction of the
First Commissioner in matters connected with pablic works. -,

My Lords are of opinion that a salary of £1,000 a year should
be assigned to the Secretary, and £1,000 a-year to the Secre-
tary for Works and Buildings.

I am to add that their Lordships are pleased to appoint Mr.
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George/Russell to the officel of 'Secretary, and Mr, James Fer-
gusson to that of Secretary of Works and Buildings, the salary
in each case commencing from 1st instant, and that they have
given instructions for the preparation of the necessary warrants
of appointments.
I am, &ec., :
(signed) G. A. HamiLToN.
The First Commissioner
of Works,

(8)  Copyof Treasury Minute, dated 14th February, 1869.

The Chancellor of the Exchequer states to the Board that it
appears that the new arrangement of the Secretariat of the
Office of Works, sanctioned by their Lordships’ Minute of the
14th January, 1869, does not work satisfactorily with regard to
the proper discharge of the duties connected with that Depart-
ment ; and he submits, therefore, that a Committee should be
appointed, with directions to inquire and report in what man-
ner and under what arrangement the duties of the Secretariat
of the Office of Works can be most efficiently performed ; the
Committee to consit of Mr. Hamilton, Mr. Stephenson, and
Mr. Austin, .

My Lords approve.

4 Report of Committee.

In conformity with your Lordships’ directions we have felt it
our duty to enter into a full inquiry with regard to the position
and duties of the Secretary, the Secretary of W orks, as consti-
tuted under the Treasury Minute of 14fh January, 1869, and
also of Mr. Pennethorne and Mr. Hunt.

As the new office of Secretary of Works appears to have been
created in order to supply a deficiency in the Department con-
nected with works, we propose, in the first instance, to explain
the position of Mr. Pennethorne and Mr. Hunt.

The office held by Mr. Pennethorne appears in the Estimates
for 1868-70, under Class IL, Vote 11, as “ Salaried Architect

.and Surveyor,” with a salary of £1,600, and likewise in the
samg Class, Vote 18 (Woods and Forests), as * Architect, &c.,”

_with a salary of £850. But this, according to the evidemee
given by Mr. Pennethorne, and the documents to which we haye
referred, appears somewhat at variance with Mr. Pennethorne’s
actual position and duties,
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His present appointment was the result of an inquiry and
report,in June) 18569, ceonducted by Mr. Blackburn, M.P., then
one of the Lords of the Treasury, Mr. Arbuthnot, and Mr. Hol-
land. It appears that Mr, Pennethorne, who had previously
rendered professional services to the then combined department
of Woods and Works, was placed on the establishment in 1840
as joint surveyor and architect with Mr. Chawner : “that most,
if not all, of the metropolitan improvements were intrusted to
them ;” “that they were very little employed on architectural
works ;” “ that the business of the department had increased
so much, in consequence of the metropolitan improvements, that.
Messrs, Pennethorne and Chawner found it necessary to with-
draw from their private practice, and give their entire and un-
divided attention to the office.” By Minute, 16th December,
1845, it is stated that neither Mr. Pennethorne nor the officer
to be appointed in the room of Mr. Chawner (who had retired)
will be at liberty hereafter to engage in private professional
business of any kind. No successor having been appointed to
Mr. Chawner, Mr. Pennethorne thenceforth continued to act as
sole architect and surveyor to the Woods, including the distinct
duties connected with metropolitan improvements, which, since
1850, were placed under the Office of Works, The Committee
proceed to state that they could find no trace of any distinct
appointment of Mr. Pennethorne to be the architect of the
‘Works Department, although he continued to be employed by
them, and the Committee declare his position to be as follows :—
He is “architect and surveyor to Woods and Forests, but the
Board have always reserved to themselves the right to appoint a
person to act with him. He is bound by the regulation of the
Treasury to refuse all private practice, which restriction gives
him a title to a retiring allowance. He is surveyor to the Board
of Works in relation to metropolitan improvements, and has
been largely employed since 1843 in public buildings, but he
has never received any appointment as architect to the Depart-
ment of Works.”

The Committee, after entering upon questions connected with
a claim he had made to be fully employed, proceed to state that
his position shall be reconsidered by some distinct arrangement
made for the future ; but they lay it down that he has no vested
right to be fully employed, and they add that they could not,
%znsistently with the public interest, recommend that it should

80,
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They then recommend that he should be paid, as officiak
architect/and| surveyor,Cal fixed annual salary for all services,.
other than new buildings and ornamental designs ; that he should
be paid for such buildings and designs a remuneration of a per-

centage, with the understanding that for such work he is not. ™

entitled to preference over any other architect whom the Go-

vernment may think fit to employ ; that he should not be pre-

cluded from employment as architect for public buildings, upon
which, if employed, he should receive the usual commission.

It was to be part of the arrangement that in return for such

fixed salary, Mr. Pennethorne should advise the Board on such

questions generally as might be referred to him relating to works.
and public buildings, and that he should not accept any private
or public business without the consent of the Chief Commis-
sioner of Works. Such arrangement to include the services.
which he renders to the Woods.

As remuneration for these services under both offices the-
Committee recommended a salary of £1,500 a year, and a sum
of £850 a year to cover the expenses of his office and estab-
lishment.

This arrangement was sanctioned by Treasury Minute, 13th
June, 1859. By a subsequent Minute, 29th Juune, 1859, it is.
stated that as the average payments to Mr. Pennethorne from
the Woods and Land Revenues had amounted of late years to-
£850, that sum-should be apportioned as the payment from that
department, and £1,560 as salaried architect and surveyor of
the Board of Works ; such salary to be considered as remu-
neration for his general services, other than ornamental designs
and public buildings.

Mr. Pennethorne states that his establishment of clerks, &o.,
costs him £600 a year, so that his actual emoluments from the
Office of Works are £900 a year. ~Your Lordships will observe-
that by the terms of the Report of 1859, as sanctioned by the
Treasury, new buildings and ornamental designs are excluded
from the arrangement under which Mr. Pennethorne is to
render his services to the public in consideration of the remu-
neration referred to; and that, if employed in connection with
new buildings or ornamental designs, he is to be paid for that
service by the usual commission ; and moreover that, although
precluded from private practice, he is not precluded from em-

loyment extra his salaried duties in the public service ; and

e has been employed in several important public buildings,.
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the Record  Office;London University, Patent Office, Probate
Court, and others, and been paid accordingly.

His salaried duties he describes as comprising negotiations
with the metropolitan railway companies in their dealings for
Government property, valuing and purchasing property for all
public buildings, such as the National Gallery, the northemn
blocks of Parliament-street, the management, valuation, aale
and letting of the ground about Battersea Park, the making
sketches and laying out of the ground at Burlington House ; and,
as regards the Office of Woods, he has charge of the whole of
their London property, and advises with respect to the granting
leases, the letting of property, &c. His entire time, he states,
is fully occupied in these public duties.

We have entered into this detail with regard to Mr. Penne-
thorne’s position and duties, because it appears, primd facie,
questionable why public buildings, which are construed %0 mean
not only any new building but any alteration in an old one, and
ornamental designs, should have been excluded from his salaried
duties, and because we are of opinion that their omission has ieft
the First Commissioner in the position of having no adviser in
some of the most important parts of his functions, namely, the
forming a judgment upon the designs of public buildings and
controlling their execution, whether in the construction of new
buildings or the alteration of old ones.

Mr. Hunt was appointed Surveyor of Works in 1856, by Sir
Benjamin Hall ; he was to attend one day in the week, and %o
have a permanent assistant. His busicess was to be the ox-
amination of estimates prepared by architects for buildings pro-
posed to be erected, and estimates of the probable cost of erect-
ing buildings upon given sites for particular purposes berore
architects were employed to prepare designs ; he was to maka
approximate estimates for acquiring lands for public buildings
or improvements, and generally to control the expenditurs or
public money upon public buildings, whether as regards new
buildings or the ordinary works of repair to existing buildings.
He was, therefore, to be in every respect a consuiting survayor,
and not in any sense an executive officer. It was no part of
‘his duty as surveyor to examine plans with reference to their
architectural merits or defects, but he was ‘o examine all the
architects’ certificates from time to time, and to advise the
Board upon the contracts which are made with builders, and
generally to see that the architects’ certificates and specifications
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and the conditions of contract are such as to secure the Board
against'additional expenditure. ' In consideration of these ser-
vices, Mr. Hunt was to receive a salary of £1,000 a-year.

Instead, however, of confining himself, according to his
agreement, to one day in the week, it appears that Mr. Hunt
has freely and gratuitously given a very large portion of his
valuable time to the public. He has, on various occasions, at
the instance of the Treasury, undertaken missions to Liverpool,
Manchester, Edinburgh, and Dublin, in connection with Post
Office and other public builings, and has served upon several
important and public commissions. To use his own words:
« Generally, I have advised, I think, upon almost every trans-
action of importance—indeed, upon every transaction, great and
small, pertaining to the conduct of business in connection with
contractors and otherwise, ever since I have been here, Instead
of devoting one day a week, which I was bound to do, and
giving such occasional assistance to the First Commissioner as
might be required of me, I have very often been here every
day in the week, and instead of giving one-sixth of my time,
I think I have prabably giving one-third. I have done all my
work in my department with a desire to make myself useful to
the public, and I have done it with great satisfaction to myself.
It is an office of importance and position, and I did not consi-
der the trouble which the charge gave me; but my desire has
always been to render myself as efficient as I possibly could in
the discharge of what I considered an important public duty.”
Mr. Hunt adds, that although he does not think he ever made
any bargain with Sir Benjamin Hall that he was not to be em-
ployed in purchasing land for the Government which he had
valued, he had refrained from seeking such employment ;
although, as he states, he thus shuts himself out from consi-
derable professional emoluments.

Having described in detail the position and duties of Mr. Pen-
nethorne and Mr. Hunt, we have to observe that it rests with
neither of them to supply the defect in the office of the First
Commissioner, which was intended to be met by the recent
creation of the office of Secretary for Works and Buildings ; the
former having such works expressly excluded from his duties,
unless specially employed and paid, and the latter being advising
surveyor, and in no sense an executive officer.

In the First Commissioner's letter of 14th January, 1869
(206), it is stated that this office, with the title of Secretary for
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“"Works\and |Buildings, should have the superintendence of the
works and buildings undertaken by the department, the super-
vision of the architect’s plans and estimates, and a general control
-over the expenditure conneccted with public edifices under the
charge of the Office of Works ; it being understood that it should
be a part of his duty to act generally under the direction of the
First Commissioner on matters connected with public works
which may be referred to the Office of Works. .

‘We examined Mr. Ferguson with regard to his actual posi-
tion and duties since he entered upon his office.

Referring to a statement which he submitted to the First
Commissioner, he appears to have accepted the office under
the impression that he was to be a consulting architect, or
rather a professional adviser to the First Commissioner ; that
he was to advise with regard to the designs of buildings,
and with regard to the expediency, and also with regard to the
expense ; that he was not to be burthened with secretariat
duties or other details, beyond such as were necessarily con-
nected with these specific objects, but should be in a position
to devote his mind principally to architectural questions, and
larger questions. He adds, that he finds now, under the ar-
rangement of the Treasury Minute of 14th January, 1869, that
about one-half of the ordinary duties of the office would de-
volve upon him, and that in the absence of the Secretary he
would be charged with the whole secretariat duties.

He further states, that when he accepted the office, he un-
derstood that it would be his business and duty to visit and
inspect, and report upon public buildings, in all parts of the
country, including the superintendence of public monuments or
other public buildings, such as Carisbrook Castle, the Tower
-of London, &c.; that the proper discharge of these duties
would require his absence from the office for a considerable part
-of his time ; whereas he finds that his secretariat duties oblige
him to confine himself to the office all day, and leave him no
time to visit and inspect bublic buildings.

Lastly, we examined Mr. George Russell. Previous to his
appointment as Secretary, Mr. Russell, in his capacity of Assis-
tant Secretary, had charge of the parks, a large and impor-
tant service, involving an annual expenditure of upwards of
£100,000, and requiring much correspondence and personal
.inspection, and very frequent personal interviews in the office.

Under the new system as Secretary, Mr. Russell has all the
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work which belonged fo-him- as Assistant Secretary, and, with
the exception of the business of passing the estimates of cer-
tain offices, which takes about three-quarters of an hour three
days in the week, and the correspondence connected therewith,
he has, in addition, the same duties as those discharged by Mr.
Austin, the late Secretary.

He states that under the present arrangement he can never
leave the office for an hour; that it would be impossible for
him ever to have a vacation ; and that in the event of illness, it
would be found extremely difficult, if not impossible, to pro-
vide for the efficient discharge of his duties.

Having given the whole subject our most careful consider-
ation we have arrived at the conclusion that the business of
the Office of Works cannot be satisfactorily or efficiently per-
formed under the arrangement of the 14th of January, 1869.

As to the secretariat, the whole tenour of the evidence before
us, and Mr. Austin’s opinion in confirmation, satisfy us that
the only safe course is to revert to the system of a Secretary
.and Assistant Secretary. The duties of the Secretary’s depart-
ment are very various and extensive, and they are increasing
from year to year. The estimates for permanent services in
charge of the office, voted by Parliament, exceed £300,000
annually ; and there are important permanent services, the
funds for defraying which are derived from other sources. It
must be borne in mind that this large outlay by the Board
1akes place, for the most part, in comparatively small items of
repairs and maintenance of public buildings, maintenance of
parks, furniture of Government offices, supply of fuel, water,
and gas, &c., police, rents, rates, &c., which necessitate an exami-
nation of details, in the majority of cases very minute, and an
amount of correspondence greater than might appear to be in
proportion to the total expenditure. In order to effect economy
on the aggregate, attention to details is absolutely necessary.
To impose, therefore, on the Secretary an amount of work by
depriving him of the aid of an Assistant Secretary, which
would render it impracticable for him to control these details,
would, in our opinion, be the opposite of sound @onomy. It
also appears to us that the transfer of any part of the functions
of the Secretary to Mr. Fergusson, as implied by the Treasury
Minute of the 14th of January 1869, would entail confusion of
duties and embarrassment in the transaction of the business of
the office. 'We are, therefore, of opinion that any secretariat

-

-
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duties which he has performed under the existing arrangement
should/henceforth) be restored 'to the Secretary. T

‘We consider that the First Commissioner requires the aid of
an officer conversant in a high degree with architecture, in re-
ference to questions connected with existing or contemplated
public buildings. The business of the Office of Works has
been of late largely increased, and considerable additions will
shortly be made to it by the projected New Courts of Justice,
New Government Offices, National Gallery, &ec., and it may be
found expedient that public monuments and historical buildings
generally should be placed in the care of the First Commis-
sioner, some of them being already in his charge.

The department is at present unprovided with sufficient
means of practically inspecting buildings or works in progress
of a more important description. That duty does not come
within the province of Mr. Hunt, who is a consulting officer
only. The deficiency of the office in this respect has been long
felt, and the want of a competent officer to personally examine,
from time to time, works in progress of any degree of impor-
tance, and to bring to the notice of the Board matters demand-
ing their interfercnce, has been much felt in the course of the
last few years, and such an appointment was, indeed, in contem-
plation by the late First Commissioner. It is not only desirable
that the designs of large buildings or proposals for extensive
alterations should be examined and approved by such an officer
for the information of the First Commissioner, but that their
proper execution should also come under his observation.

Under these circumstances we recommend that the office held
by Mr. Fergusson should be designated that of Inspector of
Public Buildings and Monuments with a salary of £750 a
year, which we consider will be an adequate remuneration for
the performance of those duties which we have indicated.

Having, incidentally to our inquiry, considered Mr. Hunt’s
duties, we feel bound to express our sense of his efficiency and
value as a public servant, and of the liberality with which he
has devoted so large a portion of his time to the Office of
‘Works. think it due to him, at the same time, to direct
your Lordships’ attention to the fact of his not having been
professionally employed by the office as Surveyor in purchases
of property required by the Government, and other similar
matters. In some recent cases, for example, viz., the purchdse
of the site for the New Law Courts, that for the New Post_
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Office, in ‘St." Martin’s-le-Grand, and the property at the south
end of the Houses of Parliament, the Board have employed
surveyors on their behalf not connected with the office. Com-
paring Mr. Hunt's salary with theservices he renders the Board,
we think the practice in this respect should be reconsidered,
and that Mr. Hunt should not be debarred from the benefit of

. transacting such business. A possible occasion may arise on
which it may be desirable that Mr. Hunt should not be em-
ployed professionally ; but in nearly every case that occurs,
we see no reason for depriving him of that advantage. On the
contrary, his eminent position and acknowledged capacity in
his profession are reasons for his being so employed. By not
employing him the Board loses the benefit of his superior ex-
perience and knowledge ; and it also loses the advantage of his
strong interest in the welfare of the office, which is not pos-
sessed by strangers. The conscientiousness with which Mr.
Hunt has hitherto acted in regard to this subject affords ample
security for his not seeking to be employed in any case in
which his official postion might give rise to an objection. We
strongly recommend, therefore, both in the public interest and
in justice, to Mr. Hunt, that your Lordships should expressly
sanction his being retained by the Board in purchases and
other surveying business which they now place in the hands
of professional men not otherwise connected with them. We
think the change will improve the position and proceedings
of the Board, and at the same time be an advantage to the

public. .
(signed) G. A. HamirToN.
W. H. STEPHENSON.
4 March,-1869. . A. AusTmiv.

(9) Mr. W. Law to the First Commissioner of Works.
Treasury Chambers, 8th March, 1869,

Sir,—I am desired by the Lords Commissioners of Her Ma-
jesty’s Treasury to transmit to you, for any observations you
may desire to offer thereon, the enclosed Report of the Com-
mittee of Enquiry into the position and duties of the Secretary
of Works, as constituted under the Treasury Minute of 14th
January 1869, and also of Mr. Pennethorne and Mr. Hunt.

I am &c.
(signed) Wu. Law,

The First Commissioner of Works &c.
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(6) v\ M. |GeorgeRussell-to the Lords Commissioners of
the Treasury.

Office of Works, &c., S. W.
11th March, 1869.

My. Lorps,—In the absence of the First Commissioner of
Her Majesty’'s Works, &c., and by his directions, I have the
bonour to return to your Lordships herewith the Report for-
warded to him with Mr. Law’s letter of the 8th instant, and
to forward at the same time a copy of & memorandum which the
First Commissioner has drawn up containing all the observa-
tions which he desires to make thereon.

I am, &c.
. (signed) George RuUssELL, Secretary.
The Right Honourable '
the Lords Commissioners of
Her Majesty’s Treasury.

Enovosure Iy No. 6.

MEeMORANDUM by the First Commissioner of Her Majesty's
Wourks, &vc., on the Report of Messrs. Hamilton, Stephenson,
and Austin, forwarded to him in the Treasury letter of the
8tk Marck, 1869.

I have read and attentively considered the report of the com-
mission of Inquiry into the position and duties of the Secretary
and the Secretary of Works. I beg to- make the following
observations upon it :

When I entered upon my duties as First Commissioner, I
found that Mr. Austin had determined to resign his office of
Secretary, and a few days afterwards he placed his resignation
in my hands. It was necessary to fill up his place at once. - It
appeared to me that whilst the duties imposed upon the Secre-
tary were very heavy, and of a very responsible nature, he had
no control over one very extensive and increasing branch of
public expenditure, that connected with large public buildings
and monuments. He could not check the architects’ estimates
‘nor modify or change their plans and elevations. There was no
one connected with the Office of Works who could advise the
First Commissioner upon these subjects. I thought it abso-
lutely necessary, considering the large number of Public build-
ings which were about to be constructed, that there should be
some officer attached to the Board who could revise the plans
and elevations of architects, advise the First Commissioner with
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respect/\to/\ themyf cand ccontrol) the expenditure connected with

em.

The Report of the Committee has shown that neither Mr.
Pennethorne nor Mr. Hunt was in a position to discharge these
duties. No such control as was necessary to economy existed.
The wasteful and unrecessary expenditure on the New Foreign
Office, the manner in which space has been thrown away in
providing for the different scientific societies in the new build-
ings on the Burlington House site, and several other instances
might be mentioned in proof of the necessity for this control,
It appeared to me that some one was required at the Office of
‘Works who could advise the First Commissioner upon such
matters, some one sufficiently well acquainted with architecture, -
carrying with him a certain weight with the public and with the
architectural profession, and of business-like habits. The only
person who occurred to me as uniting these qualities was Mr,
Ferguson, and on my recommendation he was appointed Secre-
tary of Works and Buildings. This appointment has been fully
Jjustified by the important services which Mr. Ferguson has
already rendered to the department, and by tho general approval
which it received from the public and from the Architects.

I did not recommend Mr. Ferguson as a consulting architect;
on the contrary, I distinctly told him that my object in recom-
mending him as Secretary of Works was to have an officer
closely connected with and dependent upon the department.
Mr. Ferguson happened to be, to a certain extent, an architect
by profession, although I believe that he has not practised, but
I did not recommend him as an architect. An engineer officer,
such a man as Captain Fowke, or Colonel Scott, now attached to
South Kensington Museum, might, with great advantage to the
public service, be selected for this post.

‘When recommending that there should be two Secretaries,
the one financial, and having the general superintendence of the
routine business of the office, the other for inspection of public
buildings and monuments and control of expenditure connected
with them, 1 had contemplated several important reductions in
the business of the office. I bad expected that a recommenda-
tion which I had made, with the approval of Mr. Stephenson,
that the supply of coals, firewood, oil, candles, soap, and other
articles of a similar nature, o the public offices (a duty neces-
sarily involving a portion of the timo of the Secretary), should
be discontinued, would have been adopted, and I had further

Q
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hoped to have been able to-reduce the various processes throngh
which the supply of articles of furniture to public departments
now goes, and thus, to remove from the Secretary a number of
trivial but troublesome routine duties hitherto imposed upon
him, and which occupy a great deal of his time. The Trea-
sury, however, have declined to accede to-the recommendation
of coals, &c., and I have not thought it expedient for the pre-
seut to advise any further reforms. The result has been that
whilst the Secretary for Works has had to deal with a number
of highly important matters, new in almost every case to the
office, . which have fully occupied his time, the Secretary, Mr.
Russell, has had to discharge the duties previously performed
by the Secretary and Assistant-Secretary, and has been so much
occupied that I have only as yet been able to inspect with him
(on a Sunday afternoon) one of the parks, the management of the
parks being one of his principal duties, and it being absolutely
necessary that I should occasionally visit them with him.

Under these circumstances I agree with the Committee of
Inquiry in thinking that it is absolutely necessary to revert to
the old system of a Secretary and Assistant-Secretary, Mr. Rus-
sell being quite unable to discharge. in a satisfactory manner,
the heavy duties now falling upon him, and there being no one
to replace him in case of absence or illness.

At the same time I think it equally necessary for the public
service, and especially at a time when many public buildings
of great magnitude and importance are about to be constructed,
that Mr. Ferguson should be attached to the office; and I
concur in the recommendation of the Commission that his title
should be Inspector of Public Buildings and Monuments, and
that the duties specified in the Report should be discharged by
him. But I would wish it to be distinctly understood that the
office filled by Mr. Ferguson need not necessarily be filled by an
architect, and I altogether object to the title of Consulting
Architect. It will be his duty to advise the First Commissioner
on all matters connected with public buildings and monuments,
and on the plans, elevations, and estimates of architects, and to
exercise a control over the expenditure arising out of the erec-
tion of public buildings ; his time should not be occupied by
any of the routine business of the office, nor should he be bound
to attend there at fixed hours every day.

Mr. Ferguson’s office must be considered as an entirely new
one, yet as one imperatively required for the public service,
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-especially with |8 view, to-secure-economy. Had such an officer
been connected with the Office of Works, a very large saving of
public money might have been effected, and many things con-
nected with our public buildings and monuments, which have
brought discredit upon the department, and indeed upon the
country, might have been avoided. ’
Office of Her Majesty’s Works, &c.
11th March, 1869.

(1)  The First Commissioner of Works lo the Lords Com-
missioners of the Treasury.
47 Office of Works, &c., S.W.,
16th March, 1869.

My Lorps,—I beg leave td inform your Lordships that in
my opinion the office of salatied architect and surveyor to this
Department, now held by Mr. Pennethorne, should cease to
exist, but that it should continue for a period not exceeding
six months, in order that the current business in that gentle-
man’s charge may be wound up.

If your Lordships consent to this proposal, I beg to suggest
that it will only be necessary to provide for half of Mr. Penne-
thorne’s salary in the Estimates for the year ending 31st March,
1870.

In my opinion, also, the recommendation of the Committee
appointed to inquire into the condition of the Office of Works,
that an Assistant Secretary should be appointed, should be car-
ried out, and I propose that that office should be restored, with
a salary of £600 a-year, rising to £800 by an annual increment
of £25.

' I am, &ec.
(signed) A. H. Lavarp.
The Right Honourable )
the Lords Commissioners of
Her Majesty’s Treasury.

(8) Mr. W. Law to the First Commissioner of Works.
Treasury Chambers,
: 18th March, 1869.
Sir,—I am desired by the Lords Commissioners of Her
Majesty’s Treasury to state that their Lordships, having had un-
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der consideration the Report of Messrs. Hamilton, Steplenson,
and Austin, |your(Mémorandam upon that Report, dated 11lth
instant, and your Letter of the 16th instant, are pleased to
sanction the following modifications in the arrangement of the
Department under your control, viz. :

1. My Lords think that it will be undesirable to alter the
title of Secretary of Works and Buildings, assigned by their
Minute of 14th January last to the appointment of Mr, Fer-
guson, but they approve of the proposed alteration of his duties
as suggested by the Committee, and, considering that he will be
relieved of much of the routine office work by the appointment
of an Assistant-Secretary, they concur in the opinion that his
salary should be fixed at £750 a-year.

2. Mr. Pennethorne’s employment, under the Office of Works,
will cease on the 1st of October, 1869, and provision will ac-
cordingly be made in the Estimates for 1869-70, on account of
his salary for six months only.

Upon Mr. Pennethorne’s retirement, the office which he has
held as salaried architect and surveyor to the Office of Works
will cease to exist.

3. My Lords, for the reasons stated in the Report of the
Committee, approve of the appointment of Mr. Hunt, by the
Office of Works, when occasion shall arise, upon business other
than that for which he receives a fixed salary at the usual pro-
fessional rates of charge; but they are of opinion that, in con-
sideration of the advantage which he will derive from this ar-
rangement, his salary should in future be £750 a-year.

4. My Lords sanction the revival of the office of Assistant-
Secretary, but, under the circumstances, they consider that it
will be sufficient to fix the salary of that officer at £500 a-year,
rising by annual increments of £20 to & maximum of £700 a-

ear.
v I am, &c.
(signed) ~ W Law.
The First Commissioner of Works.

9) The First Commissioner of Works, to the Lords Com-
missioners of the Treasury.
Office of Works, &c., S.W.,
19th April, 1869.
My Lorps,—I beg leave to transmit to your Lordships a copy
of a letter of the 16th instant, and of the enclosure referred to
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therein, which has been addressed to me by Mr. Pennethorne
upon the'subject of 'his appointment in this office.
I am, &c.,
' (signed)  A. H. Lavarp.
The Right Honourable
the Lords Commissioners of
Her Majesty’s Treasury.

Enclosure in No. 9.
7 Whitehall-yard, 15th April, 1869.

Sir,—I have the honour to acknowledge Mr. Russell’s lotter
of the 13th instant, enclosing (with other papers) extracts of a -
letter of the 18th ultimo, received by you from the Treasury,
the extracts being such as have reference to my own appoint-
ment in the Office of Works. .

‘With regard to this communication, I beg leave to lay before
you the enclosed copy of a letter I have this day written to Mr.
Charles Gore, the Commissioner of Her Majesty’s Woods, and
I have to request the favour of you to move the Treasury to
allow the subject to remain in abeyance until they have heard
his views respecting it.

The abolition of my office would not only necessitate the re-
signation of my appointment at the Office of Woods, but would
compel me, as suddenly, to discharge all my assistants, four of
whom have been with me for periods varying from 15 to 30 years,
and whose cases I should have to submit to you and to Mr.
Gore, in the hope of procuring them other employment, they
being intimately acquainted with the details of the business of
both offices. I should also have some observations to make in
regard to myself, and to the period of my retirement, which, un-
der any circumstances may, I hope, be extended to June, 1870.
But at present I forbear, trusting that you may be able to ad-
vise the Treasury to continue me at the Record Office, if that
should proceed ; and to place under my superintendence one of
the large buildings about to be commenced, thereby to enable
me to continue my establishment.

I have, &c.
. (signed) ~ JAMES PENNRTHORNB.
The Right Honourable
the First Commissioner of Her
Majesty’s Works, &c.
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[Enclosure.]

7 Whitehall-yard, 15th April, 1869.

Sir,—Herewith I have the honour to lay before you the copy of a letter to
xvnvynelf from Mr. Geo. Russell (Secretary to the Commissioners of Her Majesty’s
orks, &c.), with also the copy of extracts from a leiter from the Treasury to
the First Commissioner of Works, dated the 18th ultimo, both received by me
on the 13th instant with other papers. I also enclose a copy of my reply to the
'A C(n’immmio:er'i‘rumry] t is proposed by the Go bolish
ceording to the etter, it is pro) y the Government to aboli
on the lst gctober next, my office of * ga.laried Architect and Surveyor to the
O atep e o ded by the Report of the Treasury Co
is step was not recommen the Report of the mmissioners,
dated 4th March last, nor by the sugseqnent Minate or observations of the First
Commissioner of Works, dated the 11th altimo; no cause whatever has been
assigned for it in any paper forwarded to me, and, as yet, I am uninformed of the
reasons which have occasioned it,

If my office as Architect and Surveyor to the Office of Works should be
abolished, it wanld involve of necessity my resignation of the office I hold under
you ; for in such case I should not have the means to maintain an office establish-
ment in London, and should be obliged to abandon my profession altogether.

As you are aware, I have for above 49 years been more or less connected with
the Office of Woods, and during that period been in personal sofwn confidential)
communication with the several successive Commissioners and Secretaries ; and
for 29 years I have been a salaried officer of the department with which (as re-
spects myaelf) I must include the Office of Works ; the duties required from me
having commenced in 1840 with the two united, and only been, since 1851,
rendered to each distinctly on account of the separation of the two offices.

Being now under 68 years of age with (as I hope) my intellect and powers of
exertion equal to the performance of those duties, I had expected to continue to
serve both offices some years longer, and it is painful to me to have that connec-
tjon severed so suddenly and without cause assigned.

I shall forward to the First Commissioner of Her Majesty's Works. a copy of
this letter, with a request that he will move the Treasury to allow the subject to
remain in abeyance until you have had an opportanity to express to the Treasury
your views upon it,

T have, &e.,

igned JAMES PENNETHORNE.
The Hon. C. A. Gore, (signed)

(10)  Zhe Seretary to the Treasury to the First Commis-
stoner of Works.

Treasury Chambers,
3rd May, 1869.

81r,—With reference to your letter of the 19th ultimo, trans-
mitting copies of letters from Mr. Pennethorne dated the 15th



TWELFTH EXERCISE. 225

ultimo, addressed to yourself and Mr. Gore, I am commanded
by the Lords’ Commissioners of  Her Majesty’s Treasury to re-
quest that my Lords may be favoured with your views thereon,
particularly as regards Mr. Pennethorne’s request to be conti-
nued at the Record Office, and to have one of the large build-
ings about to be commenced, placed under his superiniendence,
80 as to enable him to continue his establishment.
I am, &c.,
(signed)  ActoN 8. AYRTON.

The First Commissioner of Works,

(11)  T%e First Commissioner of Works to the Lords Com-
missioners of the Treasury.

Office of Works, &c., SW.,
5th May, 1869.

My Lorps,—I have to acknowledge the receipt of Mr. Ayr-
ton’s letter of the 3rd instant, requesting, by your Lordships’
command, my views upon the letters, copies of which I trans-
mitted to your Lordships on the 19th ultimo, addressed by Mr.
Pennethorne to Mr. Gore and myself on the 15th ultimo, par-
ticularly as regards Mr. Pennethorne’s request to be continued
at the Record Office, and te have one of the large buildings
about to be commenced placed under his superintendence so as
to enable him to continue his establishment.

In regard to these two points, I beg leave to inform your
Lordships that I see no objection to the continuance of Mr.
Pennethorne as the architect to the additional new buildings that
may be proceeded with at the Record Office; and that, in my
opinion, the eminent position he holds in his profession would
alone entitle his claims for employment to be considered in the
event of its being necessary to engage the services of an archi-
tect for carrying on extensive building works,

In regard to Mr. Pennethorne’s request, that the subject of
his retirement from office may remain in abeyance until your
Lordships shall have heard Mr. Gore’s views respecting it, and
to the hope which he expresses that under any circumstances the
period of his retirement may be extended to June, 1870, I have
no observations to make, except to remind your Lordships that,
agreeably to your instructions, contained in Mr. Law’s letter o

ol
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the 18th March last, provision has been made in the Estimates
for the'current'financial year-for the payment of Mr. Penne-
thorne’s salary for six months only.

I am, &c.,
(signed)  A. H. Lavarp,
The Right Honourable ’
the Lorde Commissioners of
Her Majesty’s Treasury.

[*.* The candidates were not required to write a Précis of
Letters, 12 and 13.]

(12)  The Secretary to the Z%e;zsury 20 the First Commis-
sioner of works.

Treasury Chambers, 3rd July, 1869. -

Sir,—I am commanded by the Lords Commissioners of Her
Majesty’s Treasury to transmit to you herewith a copy of a
Minute of this Board, dated the 3rd instant, as to the further
employment of Mr. Pennethorne as architect and surveyor to
your Department aud the Office of Woods ; and I am to re-
quest that my Lords may be favoured with your opinion with
regard to the proposed arrangement as respects yO\In- Depgxtment.

am, &c.,

(signed) G. A. HamiLToN.
The First Commissioner of Works,

&e. &e. &c.

Enclosure in No. 12.
CoprY or TrEASURY MINUTE, dated 3rd July, 1869.

My Lords have under consideration the position of Mr. Pennethorne with re-
ference to the recent reorganisation of the Office of Works as regards the secre-
tariat, and the architect, and surveyor.

Under the arrangement then made, the employment of Mr. Pennethorne is
to cease on the 1st October, 1869, and the office now held by him as salaried
architect and surveyor to the Office of Works will then cease to exist.

Mr, Pennethorne, it appears, has been for some time past, and is still, en-
gaged in the following works :— -

- The Buildings of the University of London.
"The aequitton of the Iand required for the Natioosl Gallcy, unde
unisition of : i v Nati , under
th:?.cu passed for that dpmuurpon - i
The acquisition of the land required for the Public Offices in Down-
ing-stroet, under the Acts already passed for that purpose. - -
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It seems to my Lords that inconvenience might arise from a new architect or
lurve{lo: being called in tocompleta these works, on Mr. Pennethorne ceasing to
hold hi t office under the Office of Works, and an increased expense to the
public might thereby be oocasioned,

My Lords have further to observe, that it wounld be necessary to appoint an
architect and surveyor to the Department of Woods and Forests on Mr. Penne-
thorne’s retirement, as he could not be compelled to continue in that office alone ;
and it would not be expedient to make such appointment at the present time.

Under these circumstances, my Lords would be disposed to sanction the fol-
lowing arrangement with Mr. Peanethorne, by which the inconveniences referred
to may be obviated. -

1. Mr. Pennethorne to continue in his present office as architect and surveyor
to the Department of Works, and also to the Commissioners of Woods and
Forests, until the 80th June, 1870, when he will retire from the public service.

8. Heisto en, to complete the works above mentioned, including the
fittings of the buildings, although they may extend beyond the period named for
his retirement. :

8. He is to berelieved, from the present time, of all ‘other duties in connec-
tion with the Office of Works.

4. He is to be paid in respect of his duties under the Commissioners of Woods
and Forests, at the rate of the allowance now received by him from that Depart-
ment, viz.,, £850 a-year up to the date fixed for his retirement.

8. He is to be paid the sum of £3,000 in full of all salary, commission, and
expenses which he may claim to receive from the Department of Works. This
amount to be issued by the Office of Works from time to time, according to the
progress made in the works above stated.

6. Heis to be paid as heretofore his accounts made out for the work done up-
to the 25th June, 1869,

7. In computing the salary and emolnments for the pui of determining the
su nnlx:tigl:; the average of threc years ending the Sétg June, 1869, is to be

en as the basis.

(¥3)  Zhe First Commissioner of Works to the Lords Com-
missioners of the Treasury.

Office of Works, &c., S.W.,
15th July, 1869.

My Lorps,—I beg leave to acknowledge the receipt of Mr.
Hamilton’s letter of the 3rd instant, transmitting a copy of
your Lordship’s Minute of the same date as to the further em-
ployment of Mr. Pennethorne.

Having caused a copy of the letter and Minute to be sent to-.,
Mr. Pennethorne, I-have received the reply from him, of which .

a copy is enclosed herewith.

The only observations I have myself to make upon the Minute
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relate to the duties from which Mr, Pennethorne will be re- -
lieved as\soon’ as/theCarrangement proposed by your Lordships
takes effect. In regard to those duties, I am of opinion that,
with the exception of such as are connected with Battersea
Park, they can be performed with the existing machinery of
the department. As long however as the property at Battersea,
intended unltimately to be sold, remains vested in the Battersea
Park Commissioners it will be necessary for them to incur some
-expense in the care and management of it, :
I am, &c.,
_ (signed) A. W, LaYaRD.
The Right Honourable
the Lords Commissioners of

Her Majesty’s Treasury.

Enclosure in No. 18,

7 Whitehall-yard, 14th July, 1869,

Sir,—~Herewith I retarn the copy of Treasury Minute, dated 8rd July, 1869,
respecting m; x;sition with reference to the recent re-organisation of the Office o
Works, which Minute was forwarded to me with Mr. Russell’s letter of yesterday.

By this Minute it is proposed for me to continue in my present office till the

-80th June, 1870, to be relieved forthwith from all my duties at the office except
four, and for those to be paid a flxed sum of £8,000.

As it has been deemed expedient to abolish my office, and I am powerless in
the matter, I have only to express my acquiescence in the amnﬁement proposed ;
but, considering that the last forty years of my life have been devoted entirely,
zealously, and diligently to the service of the public, and that during such
%eriod I have conducted most important and re:gonsiblo worls (such as all the

Ietropolitan Improvements up to the time of the establishment of the Metro-
politan Board of Works, the formation of Victoria Park.and Batterses Park,
the construction of several large buildings, &c., &c.), I would respectfally sub-
mit to the Lords of the Treasury that [ am entitled to request them to place on
record that I have not been dismissed but retire with honour, and only in con-
sequence of the re-organisation of the department having rendered necessary the
abolition of my office.

The only condition in the Minute I wish to observe upon is the second; this
would require me to comf]eh “the fittings ” of the two buildings named; and
though I do not object, I hope my Lords will leave themselves at liberty next

_year to relax or modify this conditition, for the sum £8,000 allowed for these
works is less than I should have been entitled to under the existing agreement ;
the fands for such fittings may be voted even next year, and then it would be-

-come unreasonable to detain me in London during an unlimited period for so
small a cause, after I shall have been placed on a retired allowanoce. :

ling the mode or details for carrying out the Minute, I wovld submit to

: Aggut. tltwonldlpfnirtofny me the month’s salary which will be due on the

th instant, Seeing that I bave continued to perform all my duties, and caunot
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suddenly cease them, and that in the remaining ten days I shall have to report on
and retarn\ to\you | the( papers relating) to the several subjects now before me,
chiefly the four cases in Battersea Park, the sales of properties in Spitalfields,
Endell, &c., the letting of the Small Arms Factory at Millbank for the War De-
grtngenmng the inquiry into the light and ventilation of the Ball Room at

ucking
The salary having been paid to me hitherto by monthly instalments, it would.
be convenient to me in like manner to receive the £3,000 by payments of (say)
£220 a month. :
I have, &e.,

(signed) JaAMES PENNETHORNE,

The Right Honourable
the First Commissioner of Her Majesty’s
Works, &c.



www.libtool.com.cn



www.libtool.com.cn



www.libtool.com.cn



1
i
|
{
i
‘
|
El

N

GR\WEY,

A0,
ey




www.libtool.com.cn



